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Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual
report: As of December 31, 2018, there were 13,699,727 ordinary shares, NIS 0.20 par value per share, outstanding.
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes ☐ No ☒
If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such
files).
Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or an emerging growth company.
See definition of “large accelerated filer, “accelerated filer,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large Accelerated Filer ☐

Accelerated Filer ☒

Non-Accelerated Filer ☐
Emerging Growth Company ☐

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by checkmark if the registrant has elected
not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing:
U.S. GAAP ☒
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ☐
Other ☐
If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the registrant elected to follow.
Item 17 ☐
Item 18 ☐
If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes ☐ No ☒
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INTRODUCTION
Except for the historical information contained herein, the statements contained in this annual report on Form 20-F, or this Annual Report, are
forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, regarding future events and our future results
that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act. These statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the industries in which we operate and the
beliefs and assumptions of our management.
As used in this Annual Report, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “RADCOM” and the “Company” mean RADCOM Ltd. and its subsidiaries, unless
otherwise indicated.
References herein to our “solutions” or “solution” are intended to refer to our products and related services as the context requires.
Omni-Q® is our only registered trademark. A trademark for the term “RADCOM” is pending before the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, or USPTO. All other trademarks and trade names appearing in this Annual Report are owned by their respective holders.
i
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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report contains express or implied “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 and other U.S. Federal securities laws.
These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

our plans to become the market leader for service assurance to leading communication service providers, or CSPs, and increase our sales;
our plans to focus our expansion efforts in tier 1 and other leading CSPs in the North American, European, and Asia-Pacific markets and our
success in doing so;
our ability to leverage our technology leadership and our cumulative experience to implement one of the largest and most comprehensive
network function virtualization, or NFV, deployments;
our expectations to maintain our technological advantage over our competitors;
our failure to meet any guidance we may give to the public from time to time;
our ability to successfully deliver and implement our solutions to AT&T Services, Inc., or AT&T, and other CSPs;
our ability to identify, market and sell our solutions to CSPs migrating to the NFV, LTE, VoLTE and 5G networks;
our ability to release and deploy newly launched product offerings;
the potential continued growth of our workforce, operations and related expenses;
our expectation that the NFV market will gain momentum;
trends in our industry as a whole and their effect on us; and
our expectations regarding CSPs’ implementation and usage of next-generation services and the resulting potential need for our solutions.

In some cases, forward-looking statements are identified by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “intends,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.
Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or performance to differ
materially from those projected. These statements are only current predictions and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other
factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those anticipated
by the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those
discussed under “Item 3.D-Risk Factors” and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forwardlooking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Except as required by law, we are
under no duty to (and expressly disclaim any such obligation to) update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, after the date of this Annual Report.
ii
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PART I
ITEM 1.

IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2.

OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3.
A.

KEY INFORMATION
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

We have derived the following selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 and
the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 from our audited consolidated financial statements and notes included in
this Annual Report. Our selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, have been derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included
in this Annual Report. We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S.
GAAP.
You should read the selected consolidated financial data together with “Item 5—Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” and our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. All references to “dollars,” “U.S. dollars” or “$” in this
Annual Report are to United States dollars. All references to “NIS” are to the New Israeli Shekels.
Statement of Operations Data:
2018
Revenues:
Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and Support

$

Cost of revenues:
Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and Support
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Less - royalty-bearing participation
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Financial income (expenses), net
Income (loss) before taxes on income
Taxes on income
Net income (loss)
Basic net income (loss) per ordinary share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
compute basic net income (loss) per ordinary share
Diluted net income (loss) per ordinary share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
compute diluted net income (loss) per ordinary share
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital
Total assets
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)
2017
2016
2015

13,529
12,218
8,303
34,050

$

7,457
26,179
3,597
37,233

$

8,642
17,534
3,334
29,510

$

15,500
622
2,551
18,673

$

2014
18,342
2,205
3,089
23,636

4,851
2,825
1,190
8,866
25,184

4,680
5,321
487
10,488
26,745

5,603
2,902
477
8,982
20,528

3,924
117
285
4,326
14,347

7,863
487
343
8,693
14,943

$
$

15,503
1,648
13,855
11,426
3,391
28,672
(3,488)
1,136
(2,352)
(63)
(2,415) $
(0.18) $

10,562
1,599
8,963
10,996
4,191
24,150
2,595
389
2,984
(83)
2,901 $
0.24 $

8,047
1,693
6,354
8,528
4,523
19,405
1,123
816
1,939
(24)
1,915 $
0.18 $

6,071
1,582
4,489
7,834
2,393
14,716
(369)
(433)
(802)
(121)
(923) $
(0.11) $

5,812
1,664
4,148
7,295
2,262
13,705
1,238
(332 )
906
(180)
726
0.09

$

13,630,793
(0.18) $

12,039,176
0.23

13,630,793

12,351,566

$
$
$
$

76,860
89,531
78,480
643
1

$
$
$
$

74,842
91,909
76,396
628

$

10,406,897
0.18

$

10,779,547
$
$
$
$

38,854
54,568
40,143
523

$
$
$
$

8,572,681
(0.11) $

8,088,974
0.08

8,572,681

8,592,387

9,643
20,135
9,863
372

$
$
$
$

10,062
20,318
10,262
361
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Exchange Rate Information
The following table shows, for each of the months indicated the high and low exchange rates between the NIS and the U.S. dollar, expressed as
NIS per U.S. dollar and based upon the daily representative rate of exchange as published by the Bank of Israel:
Month
April (through April 15, 2019)
March 2019
February 2019
January 2019
December 2018
November 2018
October 2018
September 2018
to $1.00.

High (NIS)
3.626
3.636
3.662
3.746
3.781
3.743
3.721
3.627

Low (NIS)
3.561
3.600
3.604
3.642
3.718
3.668
3.620
3.564

On April 15, 2019, the daily representative rate of exchange between the NIS and U.S. dollar as published by the Bank of Israel was NIS 3.561

The following table shows, for each of the periods indicated, the average exchange rate between the NIS and the U.S. dollar, expressed as NIS
per U.S. dollar, calculated based on the average of the representative daily rate of exchange during the relevant period as published by the Bank of Israel:
Year
2019 (through April 15, 2019)
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014

Average (NIS)
3.638
3.597
3.600
3.841
3.884
3.577

The effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our business and operations is discussed in “Item 5.A—Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects—Operating Results—Impact of Inflation and Foreign Currency Fluctuations.”
B.

CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Not applicable.

C.

REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.

D.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our ordinary shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below before investing in our
ordinary shares.
Our business, operating results and financial condition could be seriously harmed due to any of the following risks, among others. If we do not
successfully address the risks to which we are subject, we could experience a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition and our share price may decline. We cannot assure you that we will successfully address any of these risks.
2
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Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
Our business is dependent on a limited number of significant customers and the loss of a significant customer could materially adversely
affect our results of operations.
Our business is dependent on a limited number of significant customers. For example, our two largest customers accounted for approximately
66% of our revenue in fiscal 2018 and 78% in fiscal 2017. The loss of any significant customer, a significant decrease in business from any such
customer, or a reduction in customer revenue due to adverse changes in the terms of our contractual arrangements, market conditions, customer
circumstances or other factors could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Revenue from individual
customers may fluctuate from time to time based on the commencement, scope and completion of projects or other engagements, the timing and
magnitude of which may be affected by market or other conditions.
The pace in which we grow our business depends on our customers’ internal processes and decisions regarding the transition to NFV.
The pace of transition to NFV and timeframe for reaching a mature infrastructure for NFV is dependent on CSPs’ internal decisions regarding
NFV technology implementation, timing, nature of virtualization and budgeting. Such decisions may be affected by the overall pace of NFV adoption in
the industry as well as by other technology trends such as the deployment of 5G networks. The pace in which we deploy our solutions is directly affected
by the pace of CSPs’ internal processes and the pace of maturation of the NFV market. To the extent that CSPs require more time to reach the decision to
virtualize, decide to delay virtualization while the market develops, or elect not to transition to NFV, our sales cycles may lengthen, and the growth of our
business may be adversely affected.
A reduction in some CSPs’ revenues and profitability could lead to decreased investment in capital equipment and infrastructure which
may, in turn, affect our revenues and results of operations. A continued slowdown in our customers’ investment in capital equipment and
infrastructure might materially and adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.
Our future success is dependent upon the continued growth of the telecommunications industry as well as the specific sectors that we target,
which currently include NFV transformation, 4G cellular, Triple Play networks, VoLTE, 5G and Internet of Things, or IoT. During the last few years,
some of the CSPs have experienced a reduction in their revenues from subscribers and lower profitability, which affected their spending budgets. This
trend may continue. The global telecommunications industry and various sectors within the industry are evolving rapidly and it is difficult to predict its
potential growth rate or future trends in technology development.
Our future success also depends upon the increased utilization of our solutions by next-generation network operators and specifically virtualized
networks, who may not adopt our technology.
During the last few years, developments in the telecommunications industry have had a material effect on our existing and/or potential customers
and may continue to have such an effect in the future. Such developments include changes in general global economic conditions, industry consolidation,
emergence of new competitors, commoditization of voice services, regulatory changes, and changes in the plans of CSPs to shift, transform and adapt
their network operations to NFV. Over the last few years, the telecommunications industry has experienced financial pressures that have caused many in
the industry to reduce investment in capital intensive projects, and in some cases, have led to restructurings. While the transformation of network
operations to NFV arises out of the desire of CSPs to reduce network infrastructure expense, thus creating opportunities for us, it also creates a downward
pressure on the prices of our solutions.
3
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The market for our solutions is characterized by rapidly changing technology and we may be materially adversely affected if we do not
respond promptly and effectively to such changes.
The telecommunications industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology, network infrastructure, and customer requirements and by
evolving industry standards and frequent new product introductions. These changes require us to constantly adapt and improve our solutions to meet
changing industry requirements. If we are unable to stay ahead of industry trends or to timely and successfully complete the development of solutions
supporting new standards and technologies such as 5G, our business may be affected as new requirements could reduce or shift the market for our
solutions or require us to develop new solutions.
Additionally, because new or enhanced telecommunications and data communications-related products developed by other companies could be
incompatible with our solutions, our timely access to information concerning changes in technology, in customer requirements, and in industry standards,
as well as our ability to anticipate such changes and develop and market new and enhanced solutions successfully and on a timely basis, will be
significant factors in our ability to remain competitive.
Our future success will depend on our ability to develop and maintain long-term relationships with our customers and to meet their
expectations in providing solutions and related services.
We believe that our future success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to develop and maintain long-term relationships with
successful CSPs who have the financial and other resources required to invest in significant ongoing Service Assurance and Customer Experience
Management, or CEM, solutions. Our business and our results of operations could be adversely affected if we are unable to develop sustainable customer
relationships, or to meet customers’ expectations in providing solutions and related services.
We may enter into long-term sales agreements with large customers. Such agreements may prove unprofitable as our costs and product
mix shift over the terms of the agreements.
We may enter from time to time into long-term sales agreements with large customers. We may be required under such agreements to sell our
solutions at fixed prices over the terms of the agreements. The costs we incur in fulfilling the agreements may vary substantially from our initial cost
estimates. Any cost overruns that we cannot pass on to our customers could adversely affect our results of operations.
In the future, we may also be required under such agreements to sell solutions that we may otherwise wish to discontinue, thereby diverting our
resources from developing more profitable or strategically important solutions.
Our large customers have substantial negotiating leverage, which may require that we agree to terms and conditions that may have an
adverse effect on our business.
Large CSPs have substantial purchasing power and leverage in negotiating contractual arrangements with us. These customers may require us to
develop additional features and may impose penalties on us for failure to deliver such features on a timely basis, or failure to meet performance standards.
As we seek to increase our sales to large CSPs, we may be required to agree to unfavorable terms and conditions which may decrease our revenues and/or
increase the time it takes to convert orders into revenues and could result in an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Similarly, some of our contracts may contain change in control provisions which may have an adverse effect on our business and results if
exercised following a change in control transaction or, in the alternative, may act as an impediment to certain change in control transactions.
Global economic conditions may adversely affect our business.
Changes in global economic conditions could have a negative impact on business around the world and on the telecommunications sector.
Conditions may be depressed, or may be subject to deterioration, which could lead to a reduction in consumer and customer spending overall and may in
turn have an adverse impact on sales of our solutions. A disruption in the ability of our significant customers to access liquidity could cause serious
disruptions or an overall deterioration of their businesses, which could lead to a significant reduction in their orders of our solutions and the inability or
failure on their part, to meet their payment obligations to us, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and liquidity. In addition, any disruption in the ability of our customers to access liquidity could require us to assume greater credit risk
relating to our receivables or could limit our ability to collect receivables related to purchases by affected customers. As a result, we may have to defer
recognition of revenues, our reserves for doubtful accounts and write-offs of accounts receivable may increase and we may incur losses.
4
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Our plans to focus most of our sales efforts on tier 1 and other leading CSPs in the North American, European and select other markets
may not be successful.
We believe that the significant share of NFV deployment activity is expected to take place in North America, Europe, select CSPs in AsiaPacific and select CSPs in developing markets such as Latin America. We have accordingly enhanced our presence and focused our sales and marketing
resources in these markets. While we expect the selection of our NFV solutions by AT&T and another tier 1 CSP to enhance the opportunities available to
us, we may not be successful in expanding our business as we plan.
Our expectation that the NFV market will gain momentum may not materialize.
We believe that most of the industry’s leading CSPs will transform their network to NFV or are at the very least, evaluating their transformation
to NFV. Our expectation is that the NFV market will materialize and gain momentum. However, our expectations may not be correct, and the actual pace
of NFV transformation may take longer than we anticipate or may not occur at all. If the demand for NFV does not continue to grow, our business,
financial condition and results of operations may suffer.
We have a history of quarterly fluctuations and unpredictability in our results of operations and expect these fluctuations to
continue. This may cause our share price to fluctuate and/or to decline.
We have experienced, and in the future may also experience, significant fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations. Factors that may
contribute to fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations include:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the variation in size and timing of individual purchases by our customers;
seasonal factors that may affect capital spending by customers, such as the varying fiscal year-ends of customers;
the relatively long sales cycles for our solutions;
the request for longer payment terms from us or long-term financing of customers’ purchases from us, as well as additional conditions tied
to such payment terms;
competitive conditions in our markets;
the timing of the introduction and market acceptance of new solutions or enhancements by us and by our customers, competitors and
suppliers;
changes in the level of operating expenses relative to revenues;
quality problems;
supply interruptions;
changes in global or regional economic conditions or in the telecommunications industry;
delays in or cancellation of projects by customers;
changes in the product mix;
the size and timing of approval of grants from the Government of Israel; and
foreign currency exchange rates.

Our costs of revenues consist of variable costs, which include labor and related costs, including costs incurred in software development
customization for projects and deployment costs, the use of hardware, inventory write-offs, packaging, importation taxes, shipping and handling costs,
license fees for software components of third parties, warranty expenses, allocation of overhead expenses, subcontractors’ expenses, royalties to the Israel
Innovation Authority, or IIA, and share-based compensation. A major part of our costs of sales is relatively variable and determined based on our
anticipated revenues. We believe, therefore, that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results may not be a reliable indication of future
performance.
5
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Our revenues in any quarter generally have been, and may continue to be, derived from a relatively small number of orders with relatively high
average revenues per order. Therefore, the loss of any order or a delay in closing a transaction could have a more significant impact on our quarterly
revenues and results of operations, than on those of companies with relatively high volumes of sales or low revenues per order.
We may experience a delay in generating or recognizing revenues for several reasons, including revenue recognition accounting requirements. In
many cases, we cannot recognize revenue from an order prior to customer acceptance, which may take three to 12 months from the commencement of the
engagement. Therefore, a major part of the revenue for any fiscal quarter may be derived from a backlog of orders under delivery and may not correlate to
the date of a customer’s order or the delivery date.
Our revenues for a specific quarter may also be difficult to predict and may be affected if we experience a non-linear sales pattern. We generally
experience significantly higher levels of sales orders towards the end of a quarter as a result of customers submitting their orders late in the quarter.
Furthermore, orders received towards the end of the quarter are usually not delivered within the same quarter and are usually only recognized as revenue
at a later stage.
affected.

If our revenues in any quarter remain level or decline in comparison to any prior quarter, our financial results for that quarter could be adversely

Due to the factors described above, as well as other unanticipated factors, in future quarters our results of operations could fail to meet guidance
we may give to the public from time to time or the expectations of public market analysts or investors. If this occurs, the price of our ordinary shares may
be adversely affected.
We expect our gross margins to vary over time and we may not be able to sustain or improve upon our recent levels of gross margin
which may have a material adverse effect on our future profitability.
We may not be able to sustain or improve upon our recent levels of gross margin. Our gross margins may be adversely affected by numerous
factors, including:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

increased price competition;
local sales taxes which may be incurred for direct sales;
increased industry consolidation among our customers, which may lead to decreased demand for and downward pricing pressure on our
solutions;
changes in customer, geographic or product mix;
increases in costs such as employment costs or third-party service or component costs;
changes in distribution channels;
losses on customer contracts; and
increases in warranty costs.

Further deterioration in gross margins, due to these or other factors, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Our sales derived from emerging market countries may be materially adversely affected by economic, exchange rates, regulatory and
political developments in those countries.
In parallel to our increased sales focus going forward in North America, Western Europe and additional developed markets, we plan to continue
to generate revenue from various emerging market countries. As these countries represent a portion of our existing business and our expected growth,
economic or political turmoil in these countries could materially adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. Our investments in emerging
market countries may also be subject to risks and uncertainties, including unfavorable taxation treatment, exchange rates, challenges in protecting our
intellectual property rights, nationalization, inflation, currency fluctuations, or the absence of, or unexpected changes in, regulation as well as other
unforeseeable operational risks.
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Most of our customers usually require a detailed and comprehensive evaluation process before they order our solutions. Our sales
process may be subject to delays that could significantly decrease our revenues and result in the eventual cancellations of some sale
opportunities.
We derive all of our revenues from the sale of solutions and related services for CSPs. As common practice in our industry, our solutions
generally undergo a lengthy evaluation process before we can sell them. In recent years, our customers have been conducting a more stringent and
detailed evaluation of our solutions and decisions are subject to additional levels of internal review. As a result, the sales cycle may be longer than
anticipated. The following factors, among others, affect the length of the approval process:
●
●
●
●
●

the time involved for our customers to determine and announce their specifications;
the time required for our customers to process approvals for purchasing decisions;
the complexity of the solutions involved;
the technological priorities and budgets of our customers; and
the need for our customers to obtain or comply with any required regulatory approvals.

If customers delay project approval or extend anticipated decision-making timelines, or if continued delays result in the eventual cancellation of
any sale opportunities, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
suffer.

We have experienced periods of growth of our business. If we cannot adequately manage our business, our results of operations may

During 2016, 2017, and 2018 we increased the size of our workforce and we may continue to do so, during 2019, in order to enable us to meet
our obligations, continue enhancing our products and solutions, and grow our business. There is no guarantee that these efforts to increase our work force
will have a positive effect on our business. Future growth may place a significant strain on our managerial, operational and financial resources.
We cannot be sure that our systems, procedures and managerial controls will be adequate to support our operations. Any delay in implementing,
or transitioning to, new or enhanced systems, procedures or controls may adversely affect our ability to record and report financial and management
information on a timely and accurate basis. We believe that significant growth may require us to hire additional personnel. Moreover, competition for
qualified personnel can be intense in the areas where we operate, and the processes of locating, training and successfully integrating qualified personnel
into our operations can be lengthy and expensive. If we are unable to successfully manage our expansion, including by attracting, incentivizing and
retaining highly skilled personnel, we may not succeed in expanding our business, our expenses may increase, and our results of operations may be
adversely affected.
In addition, employees may seek future employment with our business partners, customers or competitors. We cannot be sure that the
confidential nature of our proprietary information will not be compromised by any such employees who terminate their employment with us.
We may lose significant market share as a result of intense competition in the market for our existing and future solutions.
Many companies compete with us in the market for service assurance and CEM solutions. We expect that competition will increase in the future,
both with respect to solutions that we currently offer and solutions that we are developing. Moreover, manufacturers of data communications and
telecommunications equipment with whom we partner or may partner may in the future incorporate into their products capabilities similar to ours, thus
reducing the demand for our solutions.
Some of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater resources, including financial, technological, engineering,
manufacturing, and marketing and distribution capabilities, and several of them may enjoy greater market recognition than us. We may not be able to
compete effectively with our competitors. A failure to do so could adversely affect our revenues and profitability.
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Our non-competition agreements with our employees may not be enforceable under Israeli law. If any of these employees leaves us and
joins a competitor, our competitor could benefit from the expertise our former employee gained while working for us.
We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our key employees. These agreements prohibit those employees, while they work for
us and for a specified length of time after they cease to work for us, from directly competing with us or working for our competitors for a limited period.
Under applicable Israeli law, we may be unable to enforce these agreements or any part thereof against our Israeli employees. If we cannot enforce our
non-competition agreements against our Israeli (or any other) employees, then we may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the
expertise of these former employees, which could impair our business, results of operations and ability to capitalize on our proprietary information.
Our business could be harmed if we were to lose the services of one or more members of our senior management team, or if we are
unable to attract and retain qualified personnel.
Our future growth and success depend to an extent upon the continuing services of our executive officers and other key employees including our
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yaron Ravkaie, the Chief Executive Officer of our U.S. subsidiary, RADCOM, Inc., or RADCOM US, Mr. Eyal Harari, and
our Vice President of Research and Development, Mr. Hilik Itman. We do not have long-term employment agreements with any of our employees.
Competition for qualified management and other high-level telecommunications industry personnel is intense, and we may not be successful in attracting
and retaining qualified personnel. If we lose the services of any key employees, we may not be able to manage our business successfully or to achieve our
business objectives.
Our success also depends on our ability to identify, attract and retain qualified technical, sales, finance and management personnel. We have
experienced, and may continue to experience, difficulties in hiring and retaining candidates with appropriate qualifications. If we do not succeed in hiring
and retaining candidates with appropriate qualifications, our revenues and product development efforts could be harmed.
The complexity and scope of the solutions we provide to larger CSPs is increasing. Larger projects entail greater operational risk and an
increased chance of failure.
The complexity and scope of the solutions we provide to larger CSPs is increasing. The larger and more complex such projects are, the greater
the operational risks associated with such projects. These potential risks include failure to successfully deliver our solution, failure to fully integrate our
solutions with third party products and complex environments in the CSP’s network, and our dependence on subcontractors and partners for the
successful and timely completion of such projects. Failure to complete a larger project successfully could expose us to potential contractual penalties,
claims for breach of contract and in extreme cases, to cancellation of the entire project, and may result in difficulty in collecting payment and recognizing
revenues from such project.
We could be subject to claims under our warranties and extended maintenance and support agreements which may affect our financial
condition.
Our solutions are complex and may sometimes contain undetected errors which can delay introductions or necessitate redesign. In addition, we
are dependent on other suppliers for key components that are incorporated in our solutions. Failures in networks in which our solutions are deployed
arising out of our solutions may result in customer dissatisfaction, contractual claims and, potentially, liability claims being filed against us. Our
warranties require us to correct any errors or defects in our solutions. The warranty period is mostly for one year but could be extended either in the initial
purchase of our solution or after the initial warranty period ends through the purchase of extended support and maintenance. Any failure of a network in
which our solutions are deployed (whether or not our solutions are the cause) and any customer claims against us, along with any associated negative
publicity, could result in the loss of, or delay in, market acceptance of our solutions and harm to our business. In addition, under the warranty and
extended maintenance agreements, we need to meet certain service levels and if we fail to meet them, we may be exposed to penalties.
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We incorporate open source technology in our solutions which may expose us to liability and have a material impact on our product
development and sales.
Some of our solutions utilize open source technologies. These technologies are licensed to us under varying license structures. These licenses
pose a potential risk to our solution in the event they are inappropriately integrated. If we have not, or do not in the future, properly integrate software that
is subject to such licenses into our solutions, we may be required to disclose our own source code to the public, which could enable our competitors to
eliminate any technological advantage that our solutions may have over theirs. Any such requirement to disclose our source code or other confidential
information related to our solutions could, therefore, materially adversely affect our competitive advantage and impact our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
We depend on limited sources for key components and if we are unable to obtain these components when needed we may experience
delays in delivering our solutions.
We currently obtain key components of our software solutions from a limited number of suppliers. With some of our suppliers, we do not have
long-term supply contracts. We may be subject to the following risks:
●
●
●
●

delays in delivery could interrupt and delay delivery and result in cancellations of orders;
suppliers could increase component prices significantly and with immediate effect;
we may not be able to locate alternatives for such components; and
suppliers could discontinue the supply or support of such components which may require us to modify our solutions, and cause delays in
delivery, increased development costs and increased solution prices.

Our proprietary technology is difficult to protect and unauthorized use of our proprietary technology by third parties may impair our
ability to compete effectively.
Our success and ability to compete depend in large part upon protecting our proprietary technology. We rely upon a combination of contractual
rights, software licenses, trade secrets, copyrights, non-disclosure agreements and technical measures to establish and protect our intellectual property
rights in our solutions and technologies. In addition, we sometimes enter into non-competition, non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with our
employees, distributors, sales representatives and certain suppliers with access to sensitive information. We currently have one registered patent, five
pending patent applications and we are in the process of filing additional patent applications. However, these measures may not be adequate to protect our
technology from third-party infringement. Additionally, effective intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which we offer,
or intend to offer, our solutions.
We may expand our business or enhance our technology through partnerships and acquisitions that could result in diversion of
resources and extra expenses. This could disrupt our business and adversely affect our financial condition.
Part of our growth strategy may be to selectively pursue partnerships and acquisitions that provide us access to complementary technologies and
accelerate our penetration into new markets. The negotiation of acquisitions, investments or joint ventures, as well as the integration of acquired or jointly
developed businesses or technologies, could divert our management’s time and resources. Acquired businesses, technologies or joint ventures may not be
successfully integrated with our solutions and operations. We may not realize the intended benefits of any acquisition, investment or joint venture and we
may incur future losses from any acquisition, investment or joint venture.
In addition, acquisitions could result in, among other things:
●
●
●
●
●

substantial cash expenditures;
potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities;
the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities;
a decrease in our profit margins; and
amortization of intangibles and potential impairment of goodwill.
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If we implement our growth strategy by acquiring other businesses, and this disrupts our operations, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected. As of the date of this Annual Report, we have not proceeded with such acquisitions.
Certain privacy and data security laws and regulations may affect the use of our solutions.
Our solutions and their use may be subject to certain laws and regulations regarding privacy and data security including United States federal and
state laws and recently enacted European privacy laws. Generally, attention to privacy and data security requirements is increasing worldwide and is
resulting in increased regulation. Such regulations may impose significant penalties for non-compliance, such as the penalties proposed under the
European data protection regulations which became effective in May 2018. Use of our solutions could be subject to such new regulation, which could
significantly increase the cost of implementing our solutions and impact our ability to compete in the marketplace. Such regulations could also impose
additional data security requirements which will impact the cost of developing new solutions and limit the return we can expect to achieve on past and
future investments in our solutions.
If security measures for our solutions are compromised and as a result, our customers’ data or our systems are accessed improperly,
made unavailable, or improperly modified, our solutions may be perceived as vulnerable, which may materially affect our business and result in
potential liability.
Despite our efforts to implement appropriate security measures, we cannot guarantee that our solutions and systems are fully protected from
vulnerabilities such as viruses, worms and other malicious software programs, attacks, break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering by
computer hackers and others seeking to gain unauthorized access to digital systems for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information,
corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. If a cyber-attack or other security incident were to result in unauthorized access to, or deletion of,
and/or modification and/or exfiltration of our customers’ data, other external data or our own data or our systems or if the use of the solutions we provide
to our customers was disrupted, customers could lose confidence in the security and reliability of our solutions and perceive them not to be secure. This in
turn could lead to fewer customers using our solutions and result in reduced revenue and earnings. The costs we would incur to address and fix these
security incidents would increase our expenses. Additionally, the occurrence of a cyber-attack or security incident with respect to our solutions could
cause our customers to make claims against us for damages allegedly resulting from a security breach, and security incidents could also lead to data or
privacy breaches, regulatory investigations and claims, all of which could increase our liability. These risks may increase as we grow our customer base
and increase instances of deployment and use of our solutions.
Because we received grants from the IIA, we are subject to ongoing restrictions.
We have received an aggregate of $44.8 million in royalty-bearing grants from the IIA for certain research and development activities pursuant
to an incentive program. Accordingly, we are obligated to pay royalties to the IIA on revenues from products developed pursuant to the program or
deriving therefrom. In addition, under the terms of the program our ability to transfer any resulting know-how, especially to parties outside of Israel, is
subject to certain terms and conditions. The Law for the Encouragement of Research, Development and Technological Innovation in the Industry, 19845744, or the R&D Law, generally requires a grant recipient and its controlling shareholders to notify the IIA of changes in the ownership of the recipient
company and to undertake to the IIA to observe the laws governing the grant programs.
Additionally, in May 2010, we received a notice from the IIA regarding alleged miscalculations in the amount of royalties paid by us to the IIA
for the years 1992 through 2009 and the revenues on which the Company must pay royalties. During 2011, we reviewed with the IIA these alleged
miscalculations. We believe that all royalties due to the IIA from the sale of products developed with funding provided by the IIA during such years were
properly paid or were otherwise accrued as of December 31, 2018. However, we cannot be sure that the IIA will accept our arguments mentioned above,
which, if not accepted, may result in the expenditure of financial resources.
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We may be subject to claims of infringement of third-party intellectual property which may have an adverse effect on our business.
Third parties may from time to time assert against us infringement claims or claims that we have violated a patent or infringed a copyright,
trademark or other proprietary right belonging to them. If such infringement were found to exist, we might be required to modify our products or
intellectual property or to obtain a license or right to use such technology or intellectual property. Any infringement claim, even if not meritorious, could
result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources.
Zohar Zisapel and Yehuda Zisapel beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 24% of our ordinary shares and therefore have
significant influence over the outcome of matters requiring shareholder approval including the election of directors.
As of April 15, 2019, Zohar Zisapel (the former Chairman of our Board of Directors) and Yehuda Zisapel, who are brothers, may be deemed to
beneficially own an aggregate of 3,226,481 ordinary shares, including options exercisable for 14,000 ordinary shares that are exercisable within 60 days
of April 15, 2019, representing approximately 24% of our outstanding ordinary shares. As a result, despite the fact that each one of them, to our
knowledge, operates independently from the other with respect to his respective shareholding of our shares, Zohar Zisapel and Yehuda Zisapel have
significant influence over the outcome of various actions that require shareholder approval including the election of our directors. In addition, Zohar
Zisapel and Yehuda Zisapel may be able to delay or prevent a transaction in which shareholders might receive a premium over the prevailing market price
for their shares and prevent changes in control or in management.
We engage in transactions and may compete with companies controlled by Zohar Zisapel and Yehuda Zisapel which may result in
potential conflicts.
We are engaged in, and expect to continue to be engaged in, numerous transactions with companies controlled by Zohar Zisapel and/or Yehuda
Zisapel. We believe that such transactions are beneficial to us and are generally conducted upon terms that are no less favorable to us than would be
available from unaffiliated third parties. Nevertheless, these transactions may result in a conflict of interest between what is best for us and the interests of
the other parties in such transactions. Furthermore, in some cases we may compete, or buy third party components from other companies who compete,
with companies controlled by Zohar Zisapel and/or Yehuda Zisapel.
For more information, see “Item 7.B-Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—Related Party Transactions” and “Item 10.BFiduciary Duties of Shareholders.”
We incurred net losses in the past and may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
In 2018 we incurred a net loss of approximately $2.4 million. Although we were profitable in 2017 and 2016, we may continue to incur losses in
the future or may be unable to sustain profitability, which could materially affect our cash and liquidity and could adversely affect the value and market
price of our shares.
Our growing international presence exposes us to risks associated with varied and changing political, cultural, legal and economic
conditions worldwide and if we fail to adapt appropriately to the challenges associated with operating internationally the expected growth of our
business may be impeded, and our operating results may be affected.
While we are headquartered in Israel, approximately 98% of our sales in 2018, 90% of our sales in 2017, and 98% of our sales in 2016 were
generated outside of Israel. Our international sales will be limited if we cannot continue to establish and maintain relationships with international
distributors and resellers, set up additional foreign operations, expand international sales channel management, hire additional personnel, develop
relationships with international CSPs and operate adequate after-sales support internationally.
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Even if we are able to successfully expand our international operations, we may not be able to maintain or increase international market demand
for our solutions. Our international operations are subject to a number of risks, including:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

legal, language and cultural differences in the conduct of business;
challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations due to the limited number of qualified candidates and due to employment laws and
business practices in foreign countries;
our inability to comply with import/export, environmental and other trade compliance and other regulations of the countries in which we do
business including additional labor laws, particularly in Brazil and India, together with unexpected changes in such regulations;
insufficient measures to ensure that we design, implement, and maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the
future;
our failure to adhere to laws, regulations, and contractual obligations relating to customer contracts in various countries;
our inability to maintain a competitive list of distributors and resellers for indirect sales;
tariffs and other trade barriers;
economic and political instability in foreign markets;
wars, acts of terrorism and political unrest;
lack of integration of foreign operations;
currency fluctuations;
variations in effective income tax rates among countries where we conduct business;
potential foreign and domestic tax consequences and withholding taxes that limit the repatriation of earnings;
technology standards that differ from those on which our solutions are based, which could require expensive redesign and retention of
personnel familiar with those standards;
laws and business practices favoring local competitors;
longer accounts receivable payment cycles and possible difficulties in collecting payments; and
failure to meet certification requirements.

Any of these factors could harm our international operations and have an adverse effect on our business, operating efficiency, results of
operations, financial performance and financial condition. The continuing weakness in foreign economies could have a significant negative effect on our
future operating results.
Because our revenues are generated primarily in foreign currencies (mostly in U.S. dollars but also in other currencies), but a significant
portion of our expenses are incurred in New Israeli Shekels, our results of operations may be seriously harmed by currency fluctuations.
We sell in markets throughout the world and most of our revenues are generated in U.S. dollars. We also generate revenues in Brazilian real, or
BRL, euro and other currencies. Financing activities are also made in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, we consider the U.S. dollar to be our functional currency.
However, a significant portion of our expenses is in NIS, mainly related to employee expenses. Therefore, fluctuations in exchange rates between the NIS
and the U.S. dollar as well as between other currencies and the U.S. dollar may have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
As of today, we have not entered into any hedging transactions in order to mitigate these risks.
Moreover, as our revenues are currently denominated primarily in U.S. dollars, devaluation in the local currencies of our customers relative to
the U.S. dollar could cause customers to default on payment. Also, as a portion of our revenues is denominated in BRL, devaluation in this currency may
cause financial expenses related to our intercompany short-term balances. In the future, additional revenues may be denominated in currencies other than
U.S. dollars, thereby exposing us to gains and losses on non-U.S. currency transactions.
In addition, a material portion of our leases are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, mainly in NIS. In accordance with the new
lease accounting standard, which became effective on January 1, 2019, the associated lease liabilities will be remeasured using the current exchange rate
in the future reporting periods, which may result in material foreign exchange gains or losses.
12

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 19
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Our international sales and operations are subject to complex laws relating to foreign corrupt practices and bribery, among many other
subjects. A violation of, or change in, these laws could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Our operations in countries outside the United States are subject, among others, to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 as amended from
time to time, or FCPA, which prohibits U.S. companies or foreign companies whose shares traded on a U.S. stock exchange, or their agents and
employees, from providing anything of value to a foreign public official, as defined in the FCPA, for the purposes of influencing any act or decision of
these individuals in their official capacity to help obtain or retain business, direct business to any person or corporate entity, or obtain any unfair
advantage. We have internal control policies and procedures with respect to the FCPA. However, we cannot assure that our policies and procedures will
always protect us from reckless or criminal acts that may be committed by our employees or agents. Violations of the FCPA may result in severe criminal
or civil sanctions, and we may be subject to other liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, investigations by governmental authorities as well as legal, social, economic and political issues in countries where we
operate could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. We are also subject to the risks that our employees or agents
outside of the United States may fail to comply with other applicable laws. The costs of complying with these and similar laws may be significant and
may require significant management time and focus. Any violation of these or similar laws, intentional or unintentional, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Any inability to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 regarding effective internal control procedures may
negatively impact the report on our financial statements to be provided by our independent auditors.
Pursuant to rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, adopted pursuant to Section 404, or Section 404, of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we are required to include in our annual report a report of management on our internal control over
financial reporting including an assessment by management of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, because we
qualify as an accelerated filer under the SEC rules, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest to and report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our management or our auditors may conclude that our internal control over financial
reporting is not effective. Such conclusion could result in a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which could
negatively impact the market price of our shares. Further, our auditors or we may identify material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our
assessments of our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in
investigation or sanctions by regulatory authorities and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and on
investor confidence in our reported financial information.
If we determine that we are not in compliance with Section 404, we may be required to implement new internal controls and procedures and reevaluate our financial reporting. We may experience higher than anticipated operating expenses as well as third party advisory fees during the
implementation of these changes and thereafter. Further, we may need to hire additional qualified personnel in order to comply with Section 404. If we
are unable to implement these changes effectively or efficiently, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, financial reporting or financial results and could result in our conclusion that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective.
Risks Related to our Ordinary Shares
Wide fluctuations in the market price of our ordinary shares could adversely affect us and our shareholders.
Between January 1, 2018 and April 15, 2019, our ordinary shares have traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market, or the Nasdaq, as high as $21.50
and as low as $7.10 per share. As of April 15, 2019, the closing price of our ordinary shares on Nasdaq was $7.93 per share. The market price of our
ordinary shares has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors,
including those risks identified in “Item 3.D-Risk Factors”.
In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for Israeli and technology companies in particular, has been highly volatile. Many of
these factors are beyond our control and may materially adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares, regardless of our
performance. Shareholders may not be able to resell their ordinary shares following periods of volatility because of the market’s adverse reaction to such
volatility.
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From time to time we may choose to raise funds. If adequate financing is not available on terms favorable to us or to our shareholders,
our operations and growth strategy may be affected.
From time to time we may choose to raise funds in connection with our operations and growth strategy. We do not know whether additional
financing will be available when needed, or whether it will be available on terms favorable to us. Any such financings may dilute the ownership of
existing shareholders and could adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares. In addition, if adequate financing is not available on terms
favorable to us or to our shareholders, our operations and growth strategy may be affected.
The trading volume of our shares is relatively low and it may be low in the future.
Our shares have been traded at low volumes in the past and may be traded at low volumes in the future for reasons related or unrelated to our
performance. This low trading volume may result in lesser liquidity and lower than expected market prices for our ordinary shares, and our shareholders
may not be able to resell their shares for more than they paid for them. This low trading volume may also result in greater share price volatility as result of
short trading activities or the acquisition or disposition of shares by any single larger or institutional shareholder.
Risks Related to Our Location in Israel
Conditions in Israel affect our operations and may limit our ability to produce and sell our solutions.
We are incorporated under Israeli law and our principal offices and research and development facilities are located in Israel. Accordingly,
security, political and economic conditions in the Middle East in general, and in Israel in particular, may directly affect our business.
Over the past several decades, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel and its Arab neighbors and a state of hostility,
varying in degree and intensity, has led to security and economic problems for Israel. From time to time since late 2000, there has also been a high level
of violence between Israel and the Palestinians. In addition, since 2010 political uprisings and conflicts in various countries in the Middle East, including
Egypt and Syria, are affecting the political stability of those countries. Any armed conflicts or political instability in the region, including acts of terrorism
or any other hostilities involving or threatening Israel, could affect business conditions and could make it more difficult for us to conduct our operations
in Israel, which could increase our costs and adversely affect our financial results.
Further, in the past, the State of Israel and Israeli companies have been subjected to economic boycotts. Several countries still restrict business
with the State of Israel and with Israeli companies. These restrictive laws and policies may have an adverse impact on our operating results, financial
conditions or the expansion of our business.
We currently benefit from government programs that may be discontinued or reduced.
We currently receive grants under Government of Israel programs. In order to maintain our eligibility for these programs, we must continue to
meet specific conditions and pay royalties with respect to grants received. In addition, some of these programs restrict our ability to develop particular
products outside of Israel or to transfer particular technology. If we fail to comply with these conditions in the future, the benefits received could be
canceled and we could be required to refund any payments previously received under these programs. Additionally, these programs may be discontinued
or curtailed in the future. If we do not receive these grants in the future, we will have to allocate funds to product development at the expense of other
operational costs. If the Government of Israel discontinues or curtails these programs, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected. For more information, see “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—Business Overview—Israel Innovation Authority.”
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Provisions of Israeli law may delay, prevent or make difficult a merger or acquisition of us, which could prevent a change of control and
depress the market price of our shares.
The Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, or the Israeli Companies Law, regulates acquisitions of shares through tender offers, requires special
approvals for transactions involving shareholders holding 25% or more of the company’s capital, and regulates other matters that may be relevant to these
types of transactions. These provisions of Israeli law could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control and may make it more difficult
for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders. These provisions may limit the price that investors may be willing
to pay in the future for our ordinary shares. Furthermore, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions undesirable to us or to some of our
shareholders.
Our results of operations may be negatively affected by the obligation of our personnel to perform military service.
Some of our employees are required to perform annual military reserve duty in Israel and may be called to active duty at any time under certain
circumstances. Our operations could be disrupted by the absence for a significant period of one or more of our executive officers or other key employees
due to military service. Any disruption to our operations would harm our business.
It may be difficult to effect service of process, assert U.S. securities laws claims and enforce U.S. judgments in Israel against us or our
directors, officers and auditors named in this Annual Report.
We were incorporated in Israel. All our directors reside outside of the United States, and most of our assets are located outside of the United
States. Therefore, a judgment obtained against us, or any of these persons, including a judgment based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal
securities laws, may not be collectible in the United States and may not necessarily be enforced by an Israeli court. It also may be difficult to effect
service of process on these persons in the United States or to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Additionally, it may
be difficult for an investor, or any other person or entity, to initiate an action with respect to United States securities laws in Israel. Israeli courts may
refuse to hear a claim based on an alleged violation of United States securities laws reasoning that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to
bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not United States law is applicable to
the claim. If United States law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable United States law must be proven as a fact by expert witnesses, which
can be a time consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law. There is little binding case law in Israel
that addresses the matters described above. As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a judgment against us in Israel, you may not be able to
collect any damages awarded by either a United States or foreign court.
As a foreign private issuer whose shares are listed on the Nasdaq, we may follow certain home country corporate governance practices
instead of certain Nasdaq requirements.
As a foreign private issuer whose shares are listed on the Nasdaq, we are permitted to follow certain home country corporate governance
practices instead of certain requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market Rules including requirements regarding the composition of the board of directors,
compensation of officers, director nomination process and quorum at shareholders’ meetings. In addition, we may follow home country practice instead
of the Nasdaq requirement to obtain shareholder approval for certain dilutive events (such as for the establishment or amendment of certain equity-based
compensation plans, an issuance that will result in a change of control of the company, certain transactions other than a public offering involving
issuances of a 20% or more interest in the company and certain acquisitions of the stock or assets of another company).
Accordingly, our shareholders may not be afforded the same protection as provided under Nasdaq’s corporate governance rules. For more
information, see “Item 16G—Corporate Governance”.
law.

The rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by Israeli law and differ in some respects from those under Delaware

Because we are an Israeli company, the rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by our articles of association and by Israeli
law. These rights and responsibilities differ in some respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders in a Delaware corporation. In particular, a
shareholder of an Israeli company has a duty to act in good faith towards the company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing his, her or its
power in the company, including, among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders on certain matters. Israeli law provides that these
duties are applicable to shareholder votes on, among other things, amendments to a company’s articles of association, increases in a company’s
authorized share capital, mergers and interested party transactions requiring shareholder approval. In addition, a shareholder who knows that it possesses
the power to determine the outcome of a shareholders’ vote or to appoint or prevent the appointment of a director or executive officer of the company has
a duty of fairness towards the company. However, Israeli law does not define the substance of this duty of fairness. There is little case law available to
assist in understanding the implications of these provisions that govern shareholder behavior.
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INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY

Both our legal and commercial name is RADCOM Ltd., and we are an Israeli company. We were incorporated in 1985 under the laws of the
State of Israel and commenced operations in 1991. The principal legislation under which we operate is the Israeli Companies Law. Our principal
executive offices are located at 24 Raoul Wallenberg Street, Tel Aviv 69719, Israel, and our telephone and fax numbers are 972-3-645-5055 and 972-3647-4681, respectively. Our website is www.radcom.com. Information on our website and other information that can be accessed through it are not part
of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report.
In 1993, we established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the United States, currently named RADCOM, Inc. In 1996, we incorporated a whollyowned subsidiary in Israel, RADCOM Investments (96) Ltd., or RADCOM Investments, located at our office in Tel Aviv, Israel. In 2010, we established
a wholly-owned subsidiary in Brazil, RADCOM do Brasil Comercio, Importacao e Exportacao Ltda., or RADCOM Brazil. In 2012, we incorporated a
wholly-owned subsidiary in India, RADCOM Trading India Private Limited, or RADCOM India.
In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our capital expenditures were approximately $662 thousand, $790 thousand, and $1.3
million, respectively, and were spent primarily on computers and electronic equipment. We have no current significant commitments for capital
expenditures.
For more information, the SEC maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding us that has been filed electronically with the SEC.
B.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Overview
We are a leading provider of NFV and 5G-ready service assurance, cloud-native network intelligence solutions for CSPs. NFV is a softwarecentric design approach which virtualizes entire classes of network functions into building blocks that may be connected or chained together to create
services in software-based, virtualized network environments. NFV is designed to consolidate and deliver the networking components needed to support
a fully virtualized network utilizing standard technologies that run on high-volume service, switch and storage hardware to virtualize network functions.
NFV is a key enabler of the coming 5G telecommunications infrastructure, helping to virtualize all the various aspects of the network. We have a strong
track-record of innovation.
Our RADCOM Network Intelligence portfolio of solutions includes:
●
●
●

RADCOM Service Assurance (formerly known as MaveriQ) – a “first to market” fully virtualized, on-demand service assurance solution
that integrates an automated, and efficient data acquisition layer of virtual probes with a smart mediation layer thus providing critical
customer and service insights for operators in the form of RADCOM Network Insights;
RADCOM Network Visibility – a cloud-native network packet broker and filtering solution that allows operators to manage network
traffic at scale across multiple cloud environments and control the visibility layer to perform dynamic, on-demand analysis of select
datasets; and
RADCOM Network Insights – a business intelligence solution offering smart insights for multiple use cases, enabled by data captured and
correlated through RADCOM Network Visibility and RADCOM Service Assurance. With RADCOM Network Insights we are able to offer
a comprehensive CEM solution to CSPs.
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Since 2016, we have adapted our solutions to meet the highest-level requirements of AT&T, the first CSP launching a full NFV eco-system. We
built on that success in 2017 and 2018 with our selection as NFV solution provider to additional tier 1 CSPs and the expansion of our footprint with
existing customers by supporting them in their transition to NFV. As new and existing customers seek to manage their existing networks while evaluating
and deploying NFV-based architectures, we believe we are well positioned with our advanced cloud-native solutions and our growing industry track
record.
We specialize in solutions for next-generation mobile and fixed networks, including LTE, LTE-A VoLTE, IMS, VoIP, WiFi, VoWiFi,
UMTS/GSM, mobile broadband, and 5G.
Our portfolio enables CSPs to smoothly transition their networks to NFV and 5G by monitoring and assuring both physical network and NFVbased network and consequentially, ‘hybrid’ networks from tapping point to network insights. With the rate of transition between physical and virtualized
networks taking place gradually, CSPs will need to manage ‘hybrid’ networks for the foreseeable future. As a result, service assurance solutions that
provide service and network performance visibility in both physical and virtual environments are expected to become an important step in CSPs’ NFV
transition.
CSPs across the globe use our solutions to deliver high quality services, reduce churn, manage network performance, analyze traffic and enhance
customer care. Our solutions incorporate cutting-edge technologies and a wealth of knowledge acquired by partnering with many of the industry’s leading
CSPs for over two decades. Our carrier-grade solutions support both mobile and fixed networks and scale to terabit data bandwidths to enable big data
analytics.
Our solutions deliver specialized capabilities for virtualized infrastructure and next-generation networks, such as LTE, LTE-A, VoLTE, IMS,
VoIP, WiFi, VoWiFi, UMTS/GSM, mobile broadband and 5G and allow CSPs to monitor and proactively improve quality of experience for their
subscribers. The key benefits of our solutions are:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

advanced software-based architecture;
ease of deployment and management;
improved customer retention;
reduced subscriber churn rates;
improved service availability and quality;
ability to correlate session information and provide an end-to-end view of the customer experience;
full ability to install the solution as a virtual network function for seamless integration into all NFV infrastructures;
on-demand monitoring capabilities;
scalability for next-generation services;
enhanced ability to collect all network packets for a complete and comprehensive view of the network and the customer experience;
increased operational efficiency and lower costs;
support for multiple protocols for end-to-end network coverage;
the existence of both network-wide views and drilldown to an individual subscriber level and down to each session;
support for the largest scale multi-market networks;
accelerated deployment and migration to NFV and 5G; and
real-time capabilities.

Our fully cloud-native solutions enable CSPs to manage both existing physical networks and next-generation, NFV-based architectures. We
recognized that CSPs would require a new approach for service assurance and CEM solutions in order to monitor huge volumes of data and support NFVbased network deployments. In February 2014, we launched our service assurance solution which incorporates software-based probes, and which
subsequently replaced our OmniQ hardware-based solution. During 2015 and 2016, we launched and substantially enhanced our NFV solution for service
assurance and our CEM solution.
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During 2017 and 2018, we improved our NFV capabilities to meet the stringent requirements of top tier CSPs having a large subscriber base and
a high level of expertise. We have also continued the development and enhancement of our solutions to meet the complicated needs of monitoring 5G
networks and to offer a smart mediation layer which allows us to offer a full end-to-end customer and service view which addresses CSPs’ requirements
for a smart CEM solution.
In December 2015, our service assurance solution was selected by AT&T for its next-generation virtualized network environment. AT&T’s
deployment represents the first NFV networks of scale in the industry. During 2017 we continued the deployment of our software-based NFV solution
with AT&T and commenced deployment with an additional tier 1 CSP following its selection of our solution. We are leveraging this experience and
success in discussions with other CSPs that are looking to manage existing networks while evaluating their transformation to the next-generation NFV
architectures. In 2018 we further expanded our solutions to support existing customers in their transition to NFV and meeting their initial requirements for
5G.
Industry Background
Our Customers and the Markets for Our Solutions
We operate in a large market that is undergoing significant transformation with significant potential for growth. The customers in our market
consist primarily of mobile and fixed CSPs who are responsible for providing mobile and fixed telecommunications services. Our solutions are used by
multiple divisions within a CSP’s organization, including engineering, operations, marketing, management and customer care departments.
CSPs face many challenges in managing their network – from the rapid growth in mobile data traffic to complexities in managing services that
are delivered across multiple vendor technologies. These challenges are intensifying with further traffic growth and the emergence of new technologies
and services, such as machine to machine, IoT and 5G. With the need to manage millions of various network elements and services from multiple vendors
and technologies, deploying a virtualized network intelligence and CEM solution is an essential part of a CSP’s network. In addition, CSPs are facing
strong competition both from other CSPs and from over-the-top (OTT)players who are offering more and more similar services. In order to fight for their
customers’ satisfaction, CSPs will need to gain deeper insight into customer behavior, enabling them to tailor processes based on customer preferences.
Similar to how virtualization has become widely deployed in many data centers and large enterprises, many CSPs are looking to reduce costs and
become more agile by transitioning from physical network elements to software-centric, virtualized NFV architectures. As NFV enables CSPs to replace
dedicated physical network elements with software-based solutions that run-on standard, non-proprietary, third-party hardware, this creates an increasing
demand for NFV solutions such as ours. However, it also results in downward pressure on NFV and service assurance solution pricing in order to allow
the CSPs to obtain cost reduction objectives. Although the pace of NFV transformation is uncertain, major CSPs are currently evaluating and/or moving
parts of their network to support NFV. NFV and software-defined networking, or SDN, are expected to play an important role in 5G networks. For
instance, 5G will support diverse use cases optimized by dynamic network slicing using SDN and NFV architectures and is expected to lead to an
acceleration in NFV transformations.
While NFV provides many benefits, transitioning infrastructure to NFV adds significant complexity when it comes to service assurance and
CEM. Prior probe and management solutions were not designed for NFV. Whereas prior solutions focused on monitoring physical network devices, new
solutions must broaden capabilities to monitor internal virtual machine to virtual machine communications between various virtualized network functions
all hosted on the same server as well as communications between servers. New solutions must also work tightly within the NFV eco-system to provide
benefits from a full closed loop approach, where the monitoring solution acts as a virtualized network function with full automation capabilities.
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Our Strategy
Our objective is to be the market leader for virtualized network intelligence solutions both for virtualized and hybrid networks. We plan to
increase sales by leveraging our leadership and innovation around NFV and cloud-based solutions, as well as take advantage of the experience gained
from implementing the largest, most advanced NFV deployment to date (with AT&T) and another NFV implementation with a top tier CSP. In addition,
we also offer our solutions and expertise to new and existing tier 1 CSPs in our targeted geographical regions. We plan to maintain our technical
advantage over competitors by further extensively investing in our NFV and cloud-based solutions.
Key elements of our strategy include:
●

●
●

●

Targeting CSPs who are evaluating and/or migrating to NFV and 5G. Most of the industry’s largest CSPs are either evaluating NFV or
have started deploying virtualized solutions for their network functionality. The introduction of 5G networks also is expected to drive a
greater transition to NFV and necessitate real cloud-native network intelligence solutions. We believe that our solutions are significantly
more advanced than competitors’ offerings and that we are better positioned than competitors who lack the experience deploying in
virtualized environments or do not offer true cloud-native solutions that can be deployed at large scale. In order to transition to NFV, CSPs
generally need to replace or upgrade their service assurance and CEM solutions with software that can support legacy, NFV-based
architectures and 5G use cases. Our solution, which monitors both existing networks and NFV, ensures a smooth migration and enables
CSPs to future-proof their investment in a network intelligence solution. The deployment of our solutions with AT&T has been noted by
many CSPs. As a result, we believe we are well positioned to leverage our vast experience in true cloud-native and fully virtualized network
intelligence in order to successfully expand our deployment base to other CSPs.
Engaging Tier 1 Customers and CSPs actively transitioning to NFV. With our advanced deployment and our reputation as the NFV
technology leader, we are focusing our sales and marketing activities on tier 1 and galaxy (multi-carrier) operators and other operators
seeking to migrate or actively migrating to NFV.
Utilizing our industry leadership to introduce optimized costing models to the market. As a true software-based company we offer our
existing and potential customers an appealing commercial model that combines both predictable spending on capital and operating
expenditures with lower spending on service assurance and CEM solutions, in comparison to the appliance-based legacy solutions our
competition continues to offer. With our optimized commercial model, we offer our customers several alternatives that enable them to grow
their business and traffic on the network without impacting their spending with us.
Focusing our network insight capabilities to enhance the business value of our solution. RADCOM Network Insights is intended to
meet the need for an end-to-end customer and service experience management solution. In addition to standard reporting and dashboards,
this solution offers advanced capabilities which allow CSPs to gain real-time insights, discern trends, and develop forecasts which will allow
them to improve core operations, enhance the customer experience, and improve marketing efficiency. Through the addition of new
offerings such as those offered by Network Visibility, we aim to provide end-to-end network visibility from virtual tapping point to network
insights.

Products and Solutions
Our Network Intelligence portfolio includes RADCOM Service Assurance, RADCOM Network Visibility and RADCOM Network Insights.
RADCOM Service Assurance (formerly MaveriQ)
RADCOM Service Assurance is a class-leading cloud-native, fully virtualized (NFV), next-generation, probe-based service assurance solution.
RADCOM Service Assurance integrates an automated and efficient data acquisition layer of virtual probes with a smart mediation layer which correlates
and enriches probe-based data with network events to provide critical customer and service insights for operators. RADCOM Service Assurance is the
first solution to support NFV networks and can be deployed, in its entirety, on virtualized and/or bare metal servers using the same software. This enables
customers to use RADCOM Service Assurance on their physical and cloud infrastructures as they transition from legacy hardware-based networks to
NFV-based virtualized networks.
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RADCOM Service Assurance allows CSPs to carry out end-to-end data and voice quality monitoring and to manage their networks and services.
RADCOM Service Assurance offers users a full array of analysis and troubleshooting tools, delivering a comprehensive, integrated network service view
that facilitates performance monitoring, fault detection and network and service troubleshooting from tapping point to network insights.
RADCOM Service Assurance consists of a powerful and user-friendly central management module and a broad range of passive software-based
probes used to gather transmission quality data from various types of networks and services, including VoIP, UMTS, LTE, IMS data and others.
Signaling and media attributes and quality measurement extended detail records collected from the probes in the RADCOM Service Assurance Manager
(the central site-management software) are stored in the solution’s database. These can then be used by the reporting and troubleshooting applications to
perform service performance analysis, drilldown and troubleshooting on key performance indicators, or KPIs, to gauge performance over time and key
quality indicators to gauge the quality of service.
RADCOM Service Assurance monitors multiple types of services such as voice, video and data, employing a comprehensive array of services
and network performance and measurement methodologies to continuously analyze service performance and quality. With its enhanced correlation
capabilities, RADCOM Service Assurance offers the service provider full end-to-end visibility of the network across technologies. RADCOM Service
Assurance displays performance and quality measurements from both the signaling and the user planes, based on a broad range of passive software-based
probes, which are installed on standard, non-proprietary third-party hardware that function together with RADCOM Service Assurance to deliver
essential functionality.
RADCOM Service Assurance provides an advanced set of service assurance monitoring applications: network troubleshooting, network quality
monitoring, service quality monitoring, customer quality of service monitoring, and customer service level agreements monitoring.
RADCOM Service Assurance is designed to enable CSPs to succeed in their efforts to address significant technology challenges, including:
●
●
●
●

deployment of next-generation networks such as LTE and 5G;
migration to and integration of new network architectures;
delivery of advanced, complex services such as VoIP IMS and video quality analytics; and
proactive management and quality assurance for all data sessions and calls on existing and next-generation service providers’ production
networks.

CSPs use RADCOM Service Assurance for a wide array of use cases, such as:
Customer and Service Assurance
●
●
●
●

Troubleshooting – enables CSPs to “drill down” to identify the source of specific problems, using tools ranging from call or session tracing
to a full decoding of the call flow.
Performance monitoring – allows CSPs to analyze and optimize network component performance levels and customer experience with the
goal of identifying faults before they compromise the customer’s experience.
Fault detection – automatic fault detection and service KPIs alert CSPs to network problems as they arise.
Pre-Mediation – generates call detail records needed to feed the solutions’ smart mediation layer as well as third-party operations support
systems and other solutions.
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Roaming and Interconnect Analysis
RADCOM Service Assurance is used by CSPs to monitor their roaming and interconnect traffic. By identifying problematic links, CSPs avoid
revenue loss, detect problems with specific roaming partners, and manage interconnection KPIs.
Customer Experience Management, or CEM
We have developed and are constantly expanding and enhancing our solutions’ CEM capabilities in line with CSPs’ key business drivers. CSPs
need to know what their customers are experiencing in order to retain their customers and maintain their profitability. Our solutions allow CSPs to
optimize their customer experience, increase their revenues, and reduce their costs. Revenue-generating services require a well-managed network and
mature service-delivery processes to meet the high service-level demands of CSPs’ customers.
RADCOM Service Assurance provides the visibility and invaluable data for CSPs to manage both network and service performance and to
ensure quality of experience for its subscribers. RADCOM Service Assurance monitors a wide range of measurement sessions that are meaningful to
CSPs. By analyzing these measurements in real time and applying business intelligence, Service Assurance provides CSPs with insight not only into the
customer quality of experience but also into the corresponding quality of the service provider’s network.
RADCOM Network Visibility
RADCOM Network Visibility, launched in February 2018, virtualizes the traditional network packet broker. Utilizing its advanced smart load
balancing capabilities, RADCOM Network Visibility cost effectively provides operators with end-to-end network visibility for NFV networks. Working
in unison with RADCOM Service Assurance, RADCOM Network Visibility is fully automated under ETSI compliant NFV orchestration for onboarding
and configuration and provides operators with on-demand capabilities, auto-scaling, and auto-healing as well as seamless upgrades.
RADCOM Network Visibility offers operators an integrated cloud-native visibility solution that ensures intelligent traffic distribution, load
balancing and full end-to-end visibility across virtual networks, and provides advanced packet broker capabilities, like packet de-duplication, secure
socket layer decryption and packet slicing. As a cloud-native solution, RADCOM Network Visibility has no dedicated hardware limitations and can be
dynamically deployed and scaled efficiently with an NFV distributed approach to high scale packet brokering.
RADCOM Network Visibility enables CSPs to virtually, intelligently and efficiently:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

manage, scale and load balance the network traffic;
automate and synchronize visibility and assurance, onboarding and configuration;
distribute traffic between the network intelligence probes without having to duplicate traffic and waste network resources;
load balance Mobility Management Entity (MME)/IMS traffic with deciphering support;
filter and analyze traffic with application-based routing;
save network and bandwidth resources by filtering traffic at the tapping point; and
utilize a unified and centralized management solution.
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RADCOM Network Visibility plays a critical role in managing network performance and aggregating live data from the network, performing
session-aware load balancing and filtering before carefully optimizing the traffic flow to virtual probes. Under a unified management solution, RADCOM
Network Visibility is deployed and configured with a simple drop and drag graphic user interface that provides operators with direct interfaces to a suite
of troubleshooting tools and with a single point of access to multiple resources. This approach can deliver significant cost savings as operators can
analyze traffic before it reaches the service assurance tools. Furthermore, with powerful filtering capabilities, this solution’s visibility layer can identify
and manage specific data, thus significantly saving on the use of network resources by filtering the amount of data delivered to RADCOM Service
Assurance.
RADCOM Network Insights
RADCOM Network Insights provides CSPs with real-time actionable business and marketing insights, which are customer centric while still
maximizing revenue streams across the organization. These rich, actionable network insights, allows operators to fully visualize their networks and
improve the service and customer experience, provide customer impact analysis, and proactively handle issues to fully understand the customer
experience and offer an improved Quality of Experience, or QoE, and a reduced customer churn, which is of particular importance in transitioning to
NFV and 5G.
RADCOM Network Insights takes data from the RADCOM Service Assurance and RADCOM Network Visibility solutions, and certain external
systems, to generate automatic alerts when service levels drop below a pre-defined threshold. The solution can provide actionable triggers to external
systems for proactive handling. Operators can view the insights via an interactive dashboard and easily segment the data – deciding the area of the
network on which to focus.
RADCOM’s Network Insights solution takes a proactive approach to handling network issues. By using both internal probe-based data and
certain external data feeds, RADCOM has the network intelligence to know which data to extract in order to provide the actionable insights required. Key
network monitoring metrics can be fed into RADCOM’s key quality indicators and converted to Quality of Service. Combined with customer resource
management feeds and legacy third-party probe data, the solution enables operators to assess the QoE for the subscriber and make proactive decisions.
RADCOM Network Insights’ sophisticated tools are delivered via a powerful data virtualization suite. This enables the CSP to pinpoint
necessary data for actionable insights which are required to improve the CSP’s customers QoE and therefore to improve the CSP’s capital efficiency.
Sales and Marketing Organization
We sell to customers throughout the world mainly via direct channels and through resellers, including through our executives and sales
representatives in the United States, Europe, Israel, Brazil and Asia, but also via indirect channels.
Direct channels:
Most of our sales are made through a direct channel, whereby our customers (the end-users) enter into an agreement directly with us. During
2018, this direct channel was used mainly in North America, South America and Asia.
In North America, we operate through RADCOM US, which sells our solutions to end-users directly and provides support to customers in the
North American market. Our solutions are sold to end-users in North America either by RADCOM US or by RADCOM Ltd.
In Brazil, we operate through RADCOM Brazil, which primarily sells our solutions to end-users in the Brazilian market directly.
In India, we operate through RADCOM India, which primarily provides marketing, customer support and development services worldwide.
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Elsewhere, our solutions are primarily sold to the end-users directly by RADCOM Ltd., including through our sales representatives in Europe
and in Asia, and supported by local representatives and subcontractors in the local market.
Indirect channels:
In several markets we sell our solutions through independent distributors who market our solutions. We continue to search for new distributors to
penetrate new geographical markets and new customers, and to better serve our target markets.
Our distributors and resellers serve as our local representative in certain countries as part of our sales, marketing and support team. They help
sell, deploy and service our solutions, offer technical support in the end-user’s native language, and attend to customer needs during local business hours.
Geographic Markets:
The table below indicates the approximate breakdown of our revenue by territory, based on the location of the end-customer:

North America
Europe
Asia (excluding Philippines)
Philippines
South America (excluding Brazil)
Brazil
Others (including Israel)
Total revenues

Year ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2018
2017
2016
22.2
25.1
19.2
0.4
0.8
0.9
0.9
0.4
0.3
6.2
4.5
5.0
0.7
0.9
0.8
2.9
1.8
2.5
0.8
3.7
0.8
34.1
37.2
29.5

Year ended December 31,
(in percentages)
2018
2017
65.1
67.5
1.2
2.2
2.6
1.1
18.2
12.1
2.1
2.4
8.5
4.8
2.3
9.9
100%
100%

2016
65.1
3.1
1.0
16.9
2.7
8.5
2.7
100%

Competition
The market for our solutions is competitive, and we expect that competition will continue in the future, both with respect to solutions that we are
currently offering and solutions that we are developing. Our principal competitors include Anritsu, Empirix, Exfo, Huawei, NetScout, Polystar, EXFO,
Nexus, Samsung and Viavi. In addition to these competitors, we expect competition from established and emerging communications, network
management and test equipment companies, as well as traditional players in the CEM space such as Sandvine, Neumetrics, Ericsson and Nokia. Many of
our competitors have substantially greater resources than we have, including financial, technological, engineering, manufacturing, marketing and
distribution capabilities, and some of them may enjoy greater market recognition than we do. Furthermore, the transition to NFV and software-based
solutions could possibly open the market to new competitors or bring in competitors from adjacent markets. For more information, see “Item 3.D-Risk
Factors- Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry.”
We believe that we are differentiated from our competitors due to:
●
●
●
●

our recognized class-leading, cloud-native NFV service assurance solutions;
our experience deploying and scaling NFV solutions with Tier 1 CSPs such as AT&T;
our advanced technology offering which provides end-to-end network visibility from virtual tapping point to network insights;
our multi-technology correlation capabilities that can support all major technologies – 4G, 5G, LTE, IMS, VoLTE, VoIP and legacy 3G within the same solution;
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our development of service assurance solutions for the deployment of 5G networks;
our solution full software-based solutions provide cost-efficiency, rapid deployment times and agility in development;
our support for both physical and NFV networks to allow CSPs who have yet to transform to NFV, to accelerate NFV deployments and
smoothly transition from physical infrastructure while using the same solutions; and
our proven flexibility and responsiveness in a dynamic customer and technology environment.

Following our strategic deployment with AT&T and an additional tier 1 CSP and our progress in engaging new customers thereafter, we believe
that we are the leader in NFV, cloud-native network intelligence solutions for CSPs transitioning to NFV and deploying 5G networks.
Customer Service and Support
We believe that providing a high level of customer service and support to end-users is essential to our success, and our strategic goal list to
establish RADCOM as an industry leader in customer satisfaction. Investments that we are making to achieve this goal include:
●

●
●

●

Enhancement of support: We are dedicated to the provision of timely, effective and professional support for all our customers. On-call
support is provided by our direct sales/support force as well as by our representatives, distributors, and Original Equipment Manufacturer, or
OEM, partners. In addition, we routinely contact our customers to solicit feedback and promote full usage of our solutions. We may provide
our customers with a free warranty period which includes bug-fixing and a warranty on our solutions. After the initial warranty period, we
offer extended warranties which can be purchased for multi-year periods. Generally, the cost of the extended warranty is an annual
maintenance fee based on a percentage of the overall cost of the solutions.
Customer-oriented product development: With the goal of continuously enhancing our customer relationships, we meet regularly with
customers, and use the feedback from these discussions to improve our solutions and guide our R&D roadmap.
Regional technical support: As the sale of a system and solutions requires a high level of technical skill, we decided to enhance our
support with local experts located in our regional offices. This strategy is advantageous in terms of the time zone, culture and language. For
example, in our U.S., Brazil and India offices we established local support teams responsible for first level engagements with customers (tier
1).
Support of our sales representatives: We provide a high level of pre- and post-sale technical support to our sales representatives in the
field. We use a broad range of channels to deliver this support, including technical training, marketing material and others.

Seasonality of Our Business
In addition to general market and economic conditions, such as overall industry consolidation, the pace of adoption of new technologies, and the
general state of the economy, our orders are affected by the varying fiscal year-ends of customers. Although this results in fluctuations in our revenues
from quarter to quarter, such fluctuations are not subject to any clear seasonality or consistent seasonal patterns.
Development Facilities
Our corporate office and development facilities are located in Tel Aviv, Israel, and consist primarily of software development, testing, quality
control and installation.
Research and Development
In 2018, most of our research and development efforts focused on developing and enhancing our NFV solutions to meet the stringent
requirements of top tier CSPs having a large subscriber base and a high level of expertise. We expect to continue to invest significant efforts in enhancing
our NFV solutions in 2019 and in developing new features and new solution offerings to meet the requirements of 5G networks.
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The industry in which we compete is subject to rapid technological developments, evolving industry standards, changes in customer
requirements, and new product introductions and enhancements. As a result, our success depends in part upon our ability to continue to enhance our
existing solutions and to develop and introduce new solutions that improve performance and reduce total costs on a cost-effective and timely basis.
We intend to continue developing solutions that meet key industry standards, support important protocols as they emerge, and maintain our
technological leadership.
Israel Innovation Authority
We have received royalty-bearing grants from the IIA for certain research and development activities pursuant to an incentive program, which
are subject to provisions of the R&D Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
In addition, we have filed numerous applications, and in the future may continue to file additional applications, for grants from the IIA pursuant
to the R&D Law. Grants received under such programs are repaid through mandatory royalty payments based on revenues generated from products
developed pursuant to such programs or deriving therefrom. The receipt of such grants is contingent upon our ability to comply with certain applicable
requirements and conditions specified in the R&D Law and under the applicable program. As of December 31, 2018, royalties at a rate of 3% are due on
revenues from sales of products and related services that incorporate know-how developed, in whole or in part, within the framework of projects funded
by the IIA.
The R&D Law provides that the IIA is authorized to determine the ownership requirements of know-how developed under an approved research
and development program and/or rights associated with such know-how including intellectual property, which is not the product that was developed under
such program, or the Funded Know-How.
The R&D Law further provides that Funded Know-How may not be transferred to any third parties, unless certain requirements are met, as
determined in each project separately.
Among others, the IIA may determine that certain Funded Know-How can be transferred to third parties in Israel only if such transferee
company will also be subject to the same terms and conditions that were levied upon the transferor company under the R&D Law prior to the transfer of
such know-how.
The IIA may approve the transfer of Funded Know-How from Israel to abroad, generally, in the following cases: (a) the grant recipient pays to
the IIA up to 600% of the total amount of the grants and interest in consideration for such Funded Know-How ; (b) if the grant recipient receives an
alternative know-how from a third party in exchange for its Funded Know-How, subject to certain requirements, among which the alternative know-how
will generate higher revenues than the Funded Know-How for the company; (c) if such transfer of Funded Know-How arises in connection with certain
types of cooperation in research and development activities; or (d) if such transfer of know-how arises in connection with a liquidation by reason of
insolvency or receivership of the grant recipient and the Funded Know-How is sold for a lower price than the amount of funds invested in it, in which
case the payment set forth in (a) may be reduced.
The R&D Law generally imposes reporting requirements with respect to certain changes in the ownership of a grant recipient. The R&D Law
requires the grant recipient and its controlling shareholders or the foreign interested party of such grant recipient to notify the IIA of any change in control
of the recipient or a change in the holdings of the means of control of the grant recipient that results in a non-Israeli citizen or non-Israeli resident or
corporation incorporated in Israel becoming an interested party directly in the grant recipient, and requires the new interested party to undertake to the IIA
to comply with the R&D Law. In addition, the IIA may require additional information or representations in respect of such events. For R&D Law
purposes, “control” is defined as the ability to direct the activities of a corporation except the ability that stems from serving as an officer or director of the
company. A person is presumed to have control if such person holds 50% or more of the means of control of a company. “Means of control” generally
refers to voting rights in a company’s shareholders meeting or the right to appoint directors or the chief executive officer. An “interested party” of a
company includes a holder of 5% or more of its outstanding share capital or voting rights, its chief executive officer and directors, someone who has the
right to appoint its chief executive officer or at least one director, and a company with respect to which any of the foregoing interested parties owns 25%
or more of the outstanding share capital or voting rights or has the right to appoint 25% or more of the directors. Accordingly, any non-Israeli who
acquires 5% or more of our ordinary shares will be required to notify the IIA that it has become an interested party and to sign an undertaking to comply
with the R&D Law.
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Amendment No. 7 to the R&D Law became effective on January 1, 2016 and established the formation of the IIA in place of the Office of the
Chief Scientist. Accordingly, pursuant to Amendment No. 7, it is expected that the IIA may establish new guidelines and/or amend the existing guidelines
regarding the R&D Law and/or regulations thereunder. Consequently, Amendment No. 7 creates uncertainty with respect to the terms of our existing
and/or future IIA programs and incentives as we do not know what guidelines will be adopted by the IIA or will be amended by it.
In each of the last ten fiscal years, we have received royalty-bearing grants from the IIA. As of December 31, 2018, our total contingent liability
to the IIA in respect of grants received including accumulated interest and accumulated royalties paid was approximately $48.4 million.
In May 2010, we received a notice from the IIA regarding alleged miscalculations in the amount of royalties paid by us to the IIA for the years 1992
through 2009. See “Item 3.D. Risk Factors–Risks related to our Business and Our Industry”.
Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation
Although we have not received any new grants since 1996 and have not been required to pay any royalties since 2003, we have in the past
received funding for the research and development of products from the Israel-U.S. Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation, or the
BIRD Foundation. We are obligated to pay royalties to the BIRD Foundation with respect to sales of products based on technology resulting from
research and development funded by the BIRD Foundation. Royalties to the BIRD Foundation are payable at the rate of 5% based on the sales of such
products, up to 150% of the grant received, linked to the United States Consumer Price Index. As of December 31, 2018, our contingent liability to the
BIRD Foundation for funding received was approximately $381 thousand. Since 2003, we have not generated sales of products developed with the funds
provided by the BIRD Foundation.
Indian Subsidiary and China Office Funding
In April 2012 and in April 2014, the Israeli Ministry of Economy, or MOE, approved our application for funding to help set up our Indian
subsidiary and China office, respectively, as part of a designated grant plan for the purpose of setting up and establishing a marketing agency in India and
China. The grant was intended to cover up to 50% of the costs of the office establishment, logistics, expenses and hiring of employees and consultants in
India and China, based on the approved budget for the plan for a period of three years. We are currently in the process of winding down our China office.
We are obligated to pay to the MOE, over a period of five years commencing as of the lapse of the third anniversary of the grant, royalties of 3%
of increased sales in the target market, with respect to the year during which the grant was approved (2012 for India, and 2014 for China), over a period of
five years but not more than the total linked amount of the grant received. No further grants are expected to be received from this plan.
As of December 31, 2018, the total amount of marketing grants received from the MOE with respect to our offices in China and our subsidiary in
India is approximately $668 thousand. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded an amount of approximately $9 thousand as royalty
expenses to be paid to the MOE.
Proprietary Rights
To protect our rights to our intellectual property, we rely upon a combination of trademarks, contractual rights, trade secret law, copyrights, nondisclosure agreements and technical measures to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our solutions and technologies. We own a registered
trademark for the name Omni-Q®. Trademark registration for the name RADCOM is pending before the USPTO. We currently have one registered patent
and four pending patent applications in the United States, and we are in the process of filing additional patent applications. In addition, we usually enter
into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with our employees, distributors, sales representatives and with suppliers and sub-contractors who
have access to sensitive information.
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Employees
Our total headcount as of December 31, 2018 was 233 including employees and contractors. See “Item 6.D – Directors, Senior Management and
Employees – Employees.”
We consider our relations with our employees to be good and we have never experienced a strike or work stoppage. Except for employees
located in Brazil, none of our employees are represented by labor unions.
Although we are not a party to a collective bargaining agreement in Israel, we are subject to certain provisions of collective bargaining
agreements among the General Federation of Labor in Israel, or the Histadrut, and the Coordinating Bureau of Economic Organizations (including the
Industrialists’ Association), or the CBEO, that are applicable to our Israeli employees by virtue of expansion orders of the MOE, including transportation
allowance, annual recreation allowance, the lengths of the workday and workweek and mandatory general insurance pension. In addition, we may be
subject to the provisions of the extension order applicable to the Metal, Electricity, Electronics and Software Industry. Israeli labor laws are applicable to
all our employees in Israel. These provisions and laws principally concern the length of the work day, minimum wages for workers, procedures for
dismissing employees, determination of severance pay, leaves of absence (such as annual vacation or maternity leave), sick pay and other conditions of
employment.
In Israel, we follow a general practice, which is the contribution of funds on behalf of most of our employees to an individual insurance policy
known as “Managers Insurance” or a pension fund. The contribution rates towards such Managers’ Insurance are above and beyond the legal
requirement. This policy provides a combination of savings plan, disability insurance and severance pay benefits to the insured employee. It provides for
payments to the employee upon retirement or death and accumulates funds on account of severance pay, if any, to which the employee may be legally
entitled upon termination of employment. Each participating employee contributes an amount equal to up to 7% of such employee’s base salary, and we
contribute between 13.8% and 16.6% of the employee’s base salary. Pursuant to changes to Israeli law as well as collective bargaining agreements
entered into by the Histadrut and the CBEO, the amounts that we are required to contribute may increase from time to time.
Effective January 1, 2012, our employment agreements with new employees in Israel are in accordance with Section 14 of the Israeli Severance
Pay Law – 1963, which provide that our contributions to severance pay fund shall cover our entire severance obligation. Upon termination, the release of
the contributed amounts from the fund to the employee shall relieve us from any further severance obligation and no additional payments shall be made
by us to the employee. As a result, the related obligation and amounts deposited on behalf of such obligation are not stated on the balance sheet, as we are
legally released from severance obligation to employees once the amounts have been deposited, and we have no further legal ownership on the amounts
deposited.
We also provide employees of RADCOM with an Education Fund, to which each participating employee contributes an amount equal to 2.5% of
such employee’s base salary and we contribute an amount equal to 7.5% of the employee’s base salary (generally up to a certain ceiling provided in the
Israeli Income Tax Regulations). Israeli employees and employers also are required to pay pre-determined sums which include a contribution to national
health insurance to the Israel National Insurance Institute, which provides a range of social security benefits.
In the United States, we provide benefits in the form of health, dental, vision and disability coverage and matching 401(k) plan contributions, in
an aggregate amount equal to approximately 16.1% of the employee’s base salary.
In Brazil, we provide benefits in the form of health coverage, including health, vision and dental coverage, in an amount that varies from 3% 26% of the employee’s base salary.
In India, we provide benefits in form of health coverage, education fund, house rent allowance and health insurance fund, in an amount equal to
26% of the employee’s salary.
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

In January 1993, we established RADCOM US, which conducts the sales, marketing, and customer support of our products in North
America. In July 1996, we incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary in Israel, RADCOM Investments, for the purpose of making various investments,
including the purchase of securities. In 2010, we established RADCOM Brazil, which conducts the sales, marketing and customer support of our products
in Brazil. In 2012, we established RADCOM India, which primarily provides marketing, customer support and development services worldwide. The
following is a list of our subsidiaries, each of which is wholly-owned:
Name of Subsidiary
RADCOM, Inc.
RADCOM Investments (96) Ltd
RADCOM do Brasil Comercio, Importacaoe Exportacao Ltda
RADCOM Trading India Private Limited
D.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
New Jersey
Israel
Brazil
India

PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT

We currently lease an aggregate of approximately 22,830 square feet of office space in Tel Aviv, Israel, from affiliates of our principal
shareholders. This space includes our development facilities, which consist primarily of programming, documenting, quality control, testing and bug
fixing, as well as from time to time, installation of software components on third party hardware.
In 2018 we paid to affiliates of our principal shareholders aggregate annual lease and maintenance payments in the sum of approximately $787
thousand for our Tel Aviv offices. We may, in the future, lease additional space from affiliated parties.
We also lease an aggregate of approximately 5,946 square feet of office space in Paramus, New Jersey, from an affiliate of our principal
shareholder. In 2018, our aggregate annual lease payments for such premises were approximately $117 thousand.
We also lease an aggregate of approximately 484 square feet of office space in Brazil and 952 square feet in India. The aggregate annual lease
payments for those premises in 2018 were approximately $27 thousand and $113 thousand.
needed.

We believe that our offices and facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or substitute space will be available when

ITEM 4A.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
ITEM 5.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Overview
We provide cloud-native NFV-ready network intelligence solutions for CSPs. Our world leading, innovative solutions are well-positioned to
fulfill the CSPs’ ongoing needs to monitor their networks (fixed and mobile) and assure the delivery of a quality service to their subscribers; both on NFV
networks and non-virtual networks.
28

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 35
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

General
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operation are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our operating and financial review and prospects should be read in conjunction with our financial
statements, accompanying notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.
We commenced operations in 1991. Since then, we have focused on developing and enhancing our products, building our worldwide direct and
indirect distribution network and establishing and expanding our sales, marketing, and customer support infrastructures.
Most of our revenues are generated in U.S. dollars and the financing activities are made in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, we consider the U.S. dollar
to be our functional currency and our consolidated financial statements are prepared in dollars.
As we evaluate our growth prospects and manage our operations for the future, we believe that the adoption of NFV and future deployment of
5G by leading CSPs will drive our growth.
We followed the below sales strategy in 2018 in order to expand our sales pipeline and revenues:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

We focused on leveraging our NFV implementations with AT&T and other customers to expand our value proposition to additional carriers;
We expanded our business with our key existing customers;
We continued our investment in our sales and marketing resources and have expanded our reach through the engagement of local
representatives;
We invested in marketing campaigns globally to enhance our market positioning and open new opportunities;
We increased our investment in research and development to maintain our recognized technological leadership in cloud-based NFV
solutions, to meet the requirements of our customers, and to develop new product offerings and capabilities;
We invested in our professional services team and resources to meet our customers’ deployment, customization and support requirements
and to allow us to successfully deliver multiple proof of concept demonstrations to potential new customers; and
We pursued strategic partnerships, including OEM partnerships, and teaming agreements.

In 2018, we continued expanding the capability and solution offerings of our RADCOM Network Intelligence portfolio. Our leadership in
virtualized solutions has contributed to our 2018 results.
Revenues. In general, our revenues are derived from sales of our products or solutions, fixed-price projects, and sales of extended warranty and
support services. Revenues consist of gross sales, less discounts and refunds, when applicable. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). For further information
regarding this ASU and its impact on our financial results see “Item 5.B—Liquidity and Capital Resources — Critical Accounting Policies and
Estimates”.
Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues consists of labor and related costs, including costs incurred in software development customization for
projects and deployment costs, the use of hardware, inventory write-offs, packaging, importation taxes, shipping and handling costs, license fees for
software components of third parties, warranty expenses, allocation of overhead expenses, subcontractors’ expenses, royalties to the IIA and share-based
compensation. As part of our plan to reduce product cost and improve flexibility, we shifted during the last few years to a model whereby we install our
software-based solutions on standard, non-proprietary third-party hardware that functions together with our software to deliver the product’s essential
functionality.
Our gross profit is affected by several factors, including the introduction of new products, price erosion due to increasing competition, the
bargaining power of larger clients, the number of employees that we have in operations, deployment, software development customization and customer
support, integration of third-party software components into our own, and product mix.
29

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 36
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Research and Development expenses, Net. Research and development expenses, net consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, including
share-based compensation, payments for subcontractors and overhead expenses. Overhead expenses consist of a variety of costs, including rent, office
and associated expenses. The R&D expenses have been partially offset by royalty-bearing grants from the IIA.
Sales and Marketing expenses, Net. Sales and marketing expenses, net consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, including share-based
compensation, commissions and fees to representatives, advertising, trade shows, promotional expenses, domestic and international travels, web site
maintenance, and overhead expenses, net of grants received from the MOE.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses including sharebased compensation, professional fees (which include legal, audit and additional consulting fees), bad debt expenses, other general corporate expenses
and overhead expenses.
Financial Income, Net. Financial income, net, consists primarily of interest earned on bank deposits, bank charges, and gains or losses from the
exchange rate differences of monetary balance sheet items denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies.
Summary of Our Financial Performance for the Fiscal Year Ended 2018 Compared to the Fiscal Year Ended 2017
For the year ended December 31, 2018, our revenues were approximately $34.1 million, compared to approximately $37.2 million in 2017,
reflecting a decrease of approximately 8%. We used approximately $1.9 million in cash in operating activities during 2018, compared to approximately
$10.6 million used in 2017. Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 was approximately $2.4 million, compared with a net income of
approximately $2.9 million for 2017.
As of December 31, 2018, our cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately $62.0 million, compared with cash and cash equivalents and
short-term bank deposit of approximately $62.6 million as of December 31, 2017.
Our 2018 net loss includes non-cash expenses due to share-based compensation of approximately $2.1 million compared to approximately $2.2
million in 2017.
Our revenues decreased relatively less than our cost of revenues which resulted in an increase of our gross margin to approximately 74% in 2018
compared with approximately 72% in 2017.
Reportable Segments
Management receives sales information by customers and by geographical regions. Research and development, sales and marketing, and general
and administrative expenses are reported on a combined basis only (i.e., they are not allocated to product groups or geographical regions). Because a
measure of operating profit or loss by product groups or geographical regions is not presented to management due to shared resources, we have concluded
that we operate in one reportable segment.
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OPERATING RESULTS

Financial Data for Year Ended December 31, 2018 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2017
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain financial data expressed as a percentage of revenues:
Year ended December 31,
2018
2017
100%
100%
26.0
28.2
74.0
71.8

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Less royalty-bearing participation
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Financial income, net
Income (loss) before taxes on income
Taxes on income
Net income (loss)

45.5
4.8
40.7
33.5
10.0
84.2
(10.2)
3.3
(6.9)
(0.2)
(7.1)

28.4
4.3
24.1
29.5
11.2
64.8
7.0
1.0
8.0
(0.2)
7.8

Revenues. In 2018, our revenues decreased by approximately $3.2 million, or approximately 8% compared to 2017 as follows: a decrease of
approximately $14.0 million in revenues from projects, offset by an increase of approximately $6.1 million in revenues from products and related services
and an increase of approximately $4.7 million in warranty and support. The decrease in project revenues primarily reflects the completion in 2018 of
certain deployment phases of the AT&T engagement.
Revenues per geographic region, based on the location of the end-customer
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2018
2017
22.2
25.1
0.4
0.8
0.9
0.4
6.2
4.5
0.7
0.9
2.9
1.8
0.8
3.7
34.1
37.2

North America
Europe
Asia (excluding Philippines)
Philippines
South America (excluding Brazil)
Brazil
Others (including Israel)
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
(as percentages)
2018
2017
65.1
67.5
1.2
2.2
2.6
1.1
18.2
12.1
2.1
2.4
8.5
4.8
2.3
9.9
100%
100%

In 2018, the Company had two customers in the United States and one in the Philippines that amounted to approximately $21.4 million and
approximately $6.2 million, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues. In 2017, the Company had one customer in the United States and one in the
Philippines, that amounted to approximately $24.5 million and approximately $4.5 million, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2018
2017
4.9
4.7
2.8
5.3
1.2
0.5
8.9
10.5
25.2
26.7

Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and support
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

31

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 38
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Cost of Revenues. During 2018, our gross profit as a percentage of revenues, calculated to include variable costs which include salaries and
related expenses, software development customization, use of hardware, royalties to the IIA, license fees paid to third parties, warranty expenses and
inventory write-off, was approximately 74% compared to approximately 72% in 2017, which reflected a larger relative decrease in our cost of revenues as
compared to the decrease in our revenues. The decrease in our cost of revenues is attributed mainly to cost of salaries and related expenses associated with
software development customizations incurred in projects.
Our cost of revenues for 2018 includes an expense of approximately $112 thousand for share-based compensation in 2018, as compared to
approximately $189 thousand for share-based compensation in 2017.
The following table provides the operating costs and expenses of the Company in 2018 and 2017 as well as the percentage change of such
expenses in 2018 as compared to 2017.
Year ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2018
2017
15.5
10.6
1.6
1.6
13.9
9.0
11.4
11.0
3.4
4.2
28.7
24.2

Research and development
Less royalty-bearing participation
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

% Change
2018 vs 2017
46.2
54.4
3.6
(19.0)
18.6

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses, gross, increased from approximately $10.6 million in 2017 to
approximately $15.5 million in 2018. As a percentage of total revenues, research and development expenses, gross, increased from approximately 28.4%
in 2017 to approximately 45.5% in 2018. The increase in our gross research and development expenses is attributable mostly to the increase in the
number of employees, sub-contractors and related expenses as well as to a decrease in the allocation of research and development employees’ salaries and
related expenses to cost of projects associated with software development customizations, in line with the decrease in project revenues. As of December
31, 2018, our total research and development headcount, including contractors, was 116, compared to 89 as of December 31, 2017. Our research and
development costs included an expense of approximately $808 thousand for share-based compensation in 2018, as compared to approximately $473
thousand for share-based compensation in 2017.
We believe that our research and development efforts are a key element of our strategy and are essential to our success. An increase or a decrease
in our total revenues would not necessarily result in a proportional increase or decrease in the levels of our research and development expenditures, which
could affect our operating margin.
Sales and Marketing Expenses, Net. Sales and marketing expenses increased from approximately $11.0 million in 2017 to approximately $11.4
million in 2018. The increase in our sales and marketing expenses from 2017 to 2018 is mainly attributable to the full impact of employees recruited
during the second half of 2017. As a percentage of total revenues, sales and marketing expenses increased from 29.5% in 2017 to 33.5% in 2018. Our
sales and marketing expenses included an expense of approximately $698 thousand for share-based compensation in 2018, as compared to approximately
$499 thousand for share-based compensation in 2017.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased from approximately $4.2 million in 2017 to
approximately $3.4 million in 2018. The decrease in our general and administrative expenses from 2017 is mainly attributed to a decrease in share-based
compensation and bonus accruals. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased from 11.2% in 2017 to 10.0% in
2018. Our general and administrative expenses included approximately $0.5 million for share-based compensation in 2018, as compared to approximately
$1.1 million for share-based compensation in 2017.
Financial Income, Net. In 2018, the financial income, net, was approximately $1.1 million, as compared to financial income, net, of
approximately $389 thousand in 2017. The increase in our financial income, net from 2017 is attributed to an increase in the interest from a short-term
bank deposit.
Taxes on Income. In 2018, we recorded tax expenses of approximately $63 thousand, as compared to tax expenses of approximately $83
thousand in 2017, reflecting withholding taxes that were deducted by our customers as well as tax expenses of RADCOM India and RADCOM US.
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Financial Data for Year Ended December 31, 2017 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2016
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain financial data expressed as a percentage of revenues:
Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
100%
100%
28.2
30.4
71.8
69.6

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Less royalty-bearing participation
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Financial income, net
Income before taxes on income
Taxes on income
Net income

28.4
4.3
24.1
29.5
11.2
64.8
7.0
1.0
8.0
(0.2)
7.8

27.3
5.7
21.6
28.9
15.3
65.8
3.8
2.8
6.6
(0.1)
6.5

Revenues. In 2017, our revenues increased by approximately 26% compared to 2016 as follows: an increase of approximately $8.6 million in
project revenues and an increase of approximately $0.3 million in warranty and support revenues, offset by a decrease of approximately $1.2 million in
revenues from product and related services. The increase in project revenues reflects mainly the execution and expansion of the deal with Amdocs
software, in connection with the AT&T engagement.
Revenues per geographic region, based on the location of the end-customer
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2017
2016
25.1
19.2
0.8
0.9
0.4
0.3
4.5
5.0
0.9
0.8
1.8
2.5
3.7
0.8
37.2
29.5

North America
Europe
Asia (excluding Philippines)
Philippines
South America (excluding Brazil)
Brazil
Others (including Israel)
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
(as percentages)
2017
2016
67.5
65.1
2.2
3.1
1.1
1.0
12.1
16.9
2.4
2.7
4.8
8.5
9.9
2.7
100%
100%

In 2017, the Company had one customer in the United States and one in the Philippines that amounted to approximately $24.5 million and
approximately $4.5 million, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues. In 2016, the Company had one customer in the United States and one in the
Philippines, which amounted to approximately $18.3 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues.
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Year Ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2016
2017
4.7
5.6
5.3
2.9
0.5
0.5
10.5
9.0
26.7
20.5

Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and support
Total Cost of revenues
Gross profit

Cost of Revenues. During 2017, our gross profit as a percentage of revenues, calculated to include variable costs, which include salaries and
related expenses, purchasing, royalties to the IIA, license fees paid to third parties, warranty expenses and write-off of inventory and import taxes, was
approximately 72% compared to approximately 70% in 2016, which reflected the increase in our cost of revenues, mainly cost of salaries and related
expenses associated with software development customization incurred in projects, costs of third party hardware and inventory write-offs.
Our cost of revenues included an expense of approximately $189 thousand for share-based compensation in 2017, as compared to approximately
$118 thousand for share-based compensation in 2016.
The following table provides the operating costs and expenses of the Company in 2017 and 2016, as well as the percentage change of such
expenses in 2017 compared to 2016.
Year ended December 31,
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
2017
2016
10.6
8.0
1.6
1.7
9.0
6.4
11.0
8.5
4.2
4.5
24.2
19.4

Research and development
Less royalty-bearing participation
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Total operating expenses

% Change
2017 vs 2016
32.5
(5.9)
40.6
29.4
(6.7)
24.7

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses, gross, increased from approximately $8 million in 2016 to
approximately $10.6 million in 2017. As a percentage of total revenues, research and development expenses, gross, increased from approximately 27.3%
in 2016 to approximately 28.4% in 2017. The increase in our gross research and development expenses is attributable mostly to the increase in the
number of employees, sub-contractors and related expenses. As of December 31, 2017, we employed 89 research and development engineers, compared
to 78 as of December 31, 2016. Our research and development costs included an expense of approximately $473 thousand for share-based compensation
in 2017 compared to approximately $625 thousand for share-based compensation in 2016.
Sales and Marketing Expenses, Net. Sales and marketing expenses increased from approximately $8.5 million in 2016 to approximately $11.0
million in 2017. The increase in our sales and marketing expenses from 2016 to 2017 is mainly attributable to an increase in the number of employees. As
a percentage of total revenues, sales and marketing expenses increased from 28.9% in 2016 to 29.5% in 2017. Our sales and marketing expenses included
an expense of approximately $499 thousand for share-based compensation in 2017, as compared to approximately $199 thousand for share-based
compensation in 2016.
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General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased from approximately $4.5 million in 2016 to
approximately $4.2 million in 2017. The decrease in our general and administrative expenses from 2016 is mainly attributed to a decrease in share-based
compensation. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses decreased from 15.3% in 2016 to 11.2% in 2017. Our general and
administrative expenses included approximately $1.1 million for share-based compensation in 2017, as compared to approximately $1.5 million for sharebased compensation in 2016.
Financial Income, Net. In 2017, the financial income, net, was approximately $389 thousand, as compared to financial income, net, of
approximately $816 thousand in 2016. The change in our financial expenses, net from 2016 is attributed to an increase in foreign currency translation
expenses.
Taxes on Income. In 2017, we recorded tax expenses of approximately $83 thousand, as compared to approximately $24 thousand in 2016,
reflecting withholding taxes that were deducted by our customers as well as tax expenses of RADCOM India.
Impact of Inflation and Foreign Currency Fluctuations
Most of our revenues are generated in U.S. dollars and the financing activities are made in U.S. dollars. We also generate revenues in BRLs,
euros and other currencies; however, we consider the U.S. dollar to be our functional currency. In the future additional revenues may be denominated in
currencies other than U.S. dollars.
Since a significant portion of our expenses is in NIS, as we pay our Israeli employees’ salaries in NIS, the dollar cost of our operations is
influenced by the exchange rates between the NIS and the US dollar. Fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar, the BRL, euro, and other
currencies in which we generate revenue, and the U.S. dollar, may also have an effect on our results of operations. With respect to our Brazilian
subsidiary, the functional currency has been determined to be their local currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates and
statements of income items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Such translation adjustments are recorded as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.
Because exchange rates between the NIS and the U.S. dollar fluctuate continuously, exchange rate fluctuations will have an impact on our
profitability and period-to-period comparisons of our results. The effects of foreign currency re-measurements are reported in our financial statements as
financial income or expense. Based on our budget for 2019, we expect that an increase of NIS 0.10 to the exchange rate of the NIS to U.S. dollar will
decrease our expenses expressed in dollar terms by approximately $567 thousand per fiscal year and vice versa.
Effective Corporate Tax Rate
As of January 1, 2018, Israeli resident companies were generally subject to corporate tax at the rate of 23%. Israeli resident companies are
generally subject to capital gains tax at the corporate tax rate. We do not generate taxable income in Israel, as we have historically incurred operating
losses resulting in carry forward losses for tax purposes totaling approximately $31.2 million as of December 31, 2018. We believe that we will be able to
carry forward these tax losses to future tax years. We do not expect to pay taxes in Israel, on our incomes from operations, until we utilize our carry
forward tax losses. We may be required to pay taxes on our passive income, if any. For more information on taxation, see “Item 10.E – Taxation.
Our effective corporate tax rate may exceed the Israeli tax rate. Our U.S. and Brazilian subsidiaries will generally be subject to applicable
federal, state, local and foreign taxation, and we may also be subject to taxation in the other foreign jurisdictions in which we own assets, have employees
or conduct business activities.
We recorded a valuation allowance of approximately $12.6 million at December 31, 2018 for all of our deferred tax assets. Based on the weight
of available evidence, we believe it is more likely than not that all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have financed our operations through cash generated from operations, the proceeds from our private and public offerings, proceeds from the
exercise of options and warrants and royalty-bearing participation from the IIA and others. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposit at
December 31, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $62.0 million and $62.6 million.
We believe that our existing capital resources and cash flows from operations will be adequate to satisfy our expected liquidity requirements
through the next twelve months. Without derogating from the foregoing estimate regarding our existing capital resources and cash flows from operations,
we may decide to raise additional funds in 2019. We believe that, if required, we will be able to raise additional capital or reduce discretionary spending
to provide the required liquidity beyond the next twelve months.
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $1.9 million and $10.6 million in
2018 and 2017, respectively.
The negative net cash flow in 2018 was primarily due to net loss of approximately $2.4 million, a decrease in the deferred revenue and advances
from customers of approximately $2.2 million, a decrease in employees and payroll accruals of approximately $0.6 million, a decrease in trade payables
of approximately $0.2 million and a decrease in other accounts payable and accrued expenses of approximately $0.8 million. This was partially offset by
share-based and restricted share compensation expenses of approximately $2.1 million, a decrease in inventories of approximately $0.9 million, a
decrease in other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses of approximately $0.7 million and depreciation of approximately $0.7 million.
The negative net cash flow in 2017 was primarily due to an increase in the trade receivables of approximately $15.9 million, a decrease in trade
payables of approximately $1.2 million, an increase in inventories of approximately $0.6 million and an increase in other accounts receivable and prepaid
expenses of approximately $0.5 million. This was partially offset by net income of approximately $2.9 million, share-based and restricted share
compensation expenses of approximately $2.2 million, an increase in other accounts payable and accrued expenses of approximately $1.4 million,
depreciation of approximately $0.5 million and an increase in employees and payroll accruals of approximately $0.5 million.
The trade receivables and days of sales outstanding, or DSO, are primarily impacted by payment terms, variations in the levels of shipment in the
quarter, and collections performance. Trade receivables for 2018 increased to approximately $20.4 million from approximately $20.3 million in 2017.
We believe that continued expansion of our business may require continued investments in working capital as many customers require commercial terms
which result in longer payment terms.
The decrease in inventories in 2018 was mainly due to the inventory delivered to customers for which revenue criteria have been met and
recognized.
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities. Our investing activities generally consist of the purchase of equipment and investment in a
short-term bank deposit. Net cash provided from investing activities in 2018 was approximately $39.3 million, compared to net cash used in investing
activities in 2017 of $40.8 million. In 2018 we received approximately $40.0 million from the maturity of a short-term bank deposit and invested
approximately $0.7 million for the purchase of equipment. In 2017, we invested approximately $40.0 million in a short-term bank deposit and
approximately $0.8 million for the purchase of equipment.
Net Cash provided by Financing Activities. In 2018, net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $2.1 million from the exercise
of options. In 2017, net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $31.1 million, including net proceeds received from our follow-on public
offering completed in October 2017 of approximately $30.2 million and exercise of options of approximately $0.9 million.
Recent Offering
In October 2017, we raised a net amount of approximately $30.2 million, after deducting underwriters’ discounts, commissions and other
offering expenses, in a public offering, or the “2017 Public Offering”, by issuance of ordinary shares. Under the 2017 Public Offering, we issued
1,661,536 ordinary shares for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $32.4 million, at a price to the public of $19.50 per ordinary share.
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Investments
We may in the future undertake hedging or other similar transactions or invest in market risk-sensitive instruments, if our management
determines that it is necessary to offset risks such as foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations.
Impact of Related Party Transactions
We have entered into a number of lease agreements with the RAD-BYNET Group (as described under “Item 7.B-Major Shareholders and
Related Party Transactions-Related Party Transactions”). The pricing of the transactions with respect to such leases was determined based on
negotiations between the parties. Members of our audit committee of the Board of Directors, or the Audit Committee, Board of Directors and
management reviewed the pricing of the leases and confirmed that these leases were not different from terms that could have been obtained from
unaffiliated third parties. We believe, however, that due to the affiliation between us and the RAD-BYNET Group, we have greater flexibility on certain
issues than what may be available from unaffiliated third parties.
For more information, see “Item 7.B—Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—Related Party Transactions” below.
Please see “Item 5.F—Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations” below for a discussion of
our material commitments for capital expenditures.
Government Grants and Related Royalties
The Government of Israel, through the IIA, encourages research and development projects pursuant to the R&D Law and the regulations
promulgated thereunder. We may receive grants from the IIA at the rates that range from 20% to 50% of the research and development expenses, as
prescribed by the research committee of the IIA in accordance with the R&D Law. We recorded such grants from the IIA in the total amount of
approximately $1.6 million in 2018, $1.6 million in 2017 and $1.7 million in 2016. Pursuant to the specific terms of these grants, we are obligated to pay
royalties of 3% of the revenues generated by sales of products (and certain related services) funded with these grants. In the event that a project funded by
the IIA does not result in the development of a product which generates revenues, we would not be obligated to repay the grants we received for the
product’s development. Royalty expenses relating to the IIA grants included in the cost of revenues for years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016
were approximately $922 thousand, $1.3 million, and $1.0 million, respectively. The total grants regarding projects that we have received from the IIA as
of December 31, 2018 were approximately $44.8 million. For projects authorized as a research and development program under the R&D Law since
January 1, 1999, the repayment interest rate is LIBOR. As of December 31, 2018, the accumulated interest was approximately $18.5 million, the
accumulated royalties paid to the IIA were approximately $14.9 million and our total amount of contingent liability to the IIA in respect of grants
received was, according to our records, approximately $48.4 million. For additional information, see “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—Business
Overview—Israel Innovation Authority.”
We are also obligated to pay royalties to the BIRD Foundation, with respect to sales of products based on technology resulting from research and
development funded by the BIRD Foundation. Royalties to the BIRD Foundation are generally payable at the rate of 5% of the sales of such products, up
to 150% of the grant received, linked to the United States Consumer Price Index. As of December 31, 2018, we had a contingent obligation to pay the
BIRD Foundation aggregate royalties in the amount of approximately $381 thousand. For additional information, see “Item 4.B—Information on the
Company—Business Overview—Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation.”
In April 2012 and in April 2014, the MOE approved our application for funding to help set up our Indian subsidiary and China office
respectively as part of a designated grant plan for the purpose of setting up and establishing a marketing agency in India and China. The grant is intended
to cover up to 50% of the costs of the office establishment, logistics, expenses and hiring of employees and consultants in India and China, based on the
approved budget for the plan for a period of three years. The total marketing grants that we have received from the MOE as of December 31, 2017 were
approximately $668 thousand. No further grants are expected to be received from such plans.
37

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 44
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

We are obligated to pay to the MOE, royalties of 3% on the increased sales in the target market, with respect to the year during which the grant
was approved (2012 for India, and 2014 for China), over a period of five years but not more than the total linked amount of the grant received. During the
year ended December 31, 2018, we accrued approximately $9 thousand as royalty expenses to be paid to the MOE. For additional information, see “Item
4.B—Information on the Company—Business Overview—Israel Innovation Authority.”
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make judgments,
assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note 2 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The accounting policies described below are significantly affected by critical accounting estimates. Such accounting policies require
significant judgments, assumptions, and estimations used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and actual results could differ
materially from the amounts reported based on these policies.
Revenue recognition. In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Under this standard,
which we adopted effective January 1, 2018, as described below, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services
and is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the
standard requires disclosure of the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The FASB
also issued several amendments to the standard, including clarification on identifying performance obligations.
The guidance permits two methods of adoption: retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented (full retrospective method), or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application (the modified retrospective
method). We adopted the new standard, effective January 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not
substantially completed as of January 1, 2018 and recognized the cumulative effect of initially adopting as an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated deficit as of that date. As a result of this adoption, we revised our accounting policy for revenue recognition as follows:
We recognize revenue when (or as) it satisfies performance obligations by transferring promised goods or services to its customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration we expect to receive.
We apply the following five-step approach:
a)

Identify the contract with a customer:
We generally consider either agreements or purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by master agreements, to be contracts
with customers. In evaluating the contract with a customer, we analyze the customer’s intent and ability to pay the amount of promised
consideration (credit risk) and consider the probability of collecting substantially all of the consideration.

b)

Identify the performance obligations in the contract:
At a contract’s inception, we assess the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identify the performance
obligations.
The main performance obligations usually are the provisions of the following:
License for our software solutions (which may include significant customization), professional services, service type warranty and postcontract customer support, each of which are distinct, to be the identified performance obligations.
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Determine the transaction price:
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which we are entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to
a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
We don’t usually grant our customers with a right to return the products sold. However, in some cases, the arrangements may include
refunds, liquidated damages, penalties or other damages if we fail to deliver future goods or services or if the goods or services fail to
meet certain specifications to acceptance criteria. All of the above are accounted for as variable considerations, which may be
considered as adjustments to the transaction price.
We include estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable
consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely on an assessment of
our anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available.
As our standard payment terms are less than one year, the contracts have no significant financing component.

d)

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract:
Our selling price is highly variable. Each contract is different by its scope and price. The transaction price is allocated to the separate
performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. The standalone selling prices of software licenses are typically
estimated using the residual approach. Standalone selling prices of services are typically estimated based on observable transactions
when these services are sold on a standalone basis.

e)

Recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied:
Revenue is recognized when or as performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a
customer. Control is either transferred over time or at a point in time, which affects the revenue recognition schedule.
Projects. Revenues from the software solutions which include software license with significant customization are usually recognized
over time during the customization period based on Man Months ("MM") incurred to date in ratio to total estimated MM which
represent an input method that best depicts the transfer of control over the performance obligation to the customer. Provisions for
estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined.
Products and related services. Revenues from software solutions which include customer acceptance or software license only contracts
which do not include significant customization, are recognized at a point in time of the acceptance of the solution or the point in time
the software license is delivered.
Warranty and support. Revenues related to service type warranty and post-contract customer support are recognized over time on a
straight-line basis.
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Deferred revenues represent unrecognized fees collected as well as other advances and payments received from customers, for which revenue
has not yet been recognized. Deferred revenues are classified as short-term and long-term deferred revenues based on the period in which revenues are
expected to be recognized.
The most significant impact of the standard on our financial statements relates to differences in timing of revenue recognition under the new
standard. The cumulative adjustment as a result of the adoption of this new standard decreased our accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2018 by
approximately $337 thousand, while decreasing our deferred revenues by approximately $80 thousand, increasing our trade receivables by approximately
$233 thousand and increasing our other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses by approximately $24 thousand.
Share-based compensation. Our accounts for share-based compensation are in accordance with ASC 718 “Compensation – Stock-based
Compensation”, or ASC 718, which requires us to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the grant date using an option-pricing model.
We recognize compensation expenses for the value of the awards granted based on the accelerated attribution method over the requisite service
period of each of the awards.
ASC 718 allows entities to make an accounting policy election to either estimate forfeitures or recognize forfeitures as they occur. We elected an
accounting policy of recording forfeitures as they occur.
We selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the most appropriate fair value method for our stock options awards. This option-pricing
model requires several assumptions, of which the most significant are the expected stock price volatility and the expected option term. Expected volatility
was calculated based upon actual historical stock price movements over the most recent periods ending on the grant date, equal to the expected option
term, as management believes that this is the best indicator of future volatility. The expected term was generated by running the Monte Carlo model
pursuant to which historical post-vesting forfeitures and suboptimal exercise factor is estimated by using historical option exercise information. The
suboptimal exercise factor is the ratio by which the stock price must increase over the exercise price before employees are expected to exercise their stock
options. The expected term of the options granted is derived from the output of the options valuation model and represents the period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield from U.S. treasury bonds with an equivalent term to the expected
life of the options. Forfeitures account as they occur. Historically the Company has not paid dividends and in addition has no plans in the foreseeable
future to pay dividends, and therefore use an expected dividend yield of zero in the option pricing model.
Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires the exercise of judgment.
No stock options awards were granted by us during the year ended December 31, 2018.
C.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES

See “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—Business Overview—Research and Development,” “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—
Business Overview—Proprietary Rights”, and “Item 5—Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Research and Development” and “Item 5.A—
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Operating Results”.
D.

TREND INFORMATION

During 2018, we saw an increased interest in NFV capable service assurance solutions as the first step in NFV transitions. Initial inquiries by
CSPs into potential NFV migrations during 2017 and 2018 are now starting to evolve into proof of concept demonstrations and actual deployments.
However, despite the interest in NFV solutions, the pace of transition to NFV in 2018 has been slower than anticipated. Due to the complexity of NFV
transformations, there is variability in the pace of implementation. Some carriers are not yet out of the design phase, others are launching only limited
initial implementations, and yet others electing to delay decision until more information can be gleaned from those CSPS that have elected to embark on
their own NFV transformation. In addition, some CSPs are delaying NFV for now as they focus on future infrastructure plans such as 5G.
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We expect that the NFV market will gain momentum with the deployment of 5G networks, resulting in potential increased interest by CSPs in
our solutions. Key benefits that CSPs will derive from NFV include faster time-to-market, enablement of new services, automatic scaling of resources up
and down to fit the network’s dynamic nature, and significantly lower costs (both capital expenditures and operating expenses).
Customer experience is a major driver for CSPs to invest in solutions that enable to them to better monitor and proactively offer resolution and
upgrade of quality of service.
As services become more technologically complex and their volumes increase, service quality becomes an issue that must be addressed and
specifically must be virtualized to allow for end-to-end visibility across the different network areas. Our Network Intelligence solutions address this need
by providing end-to-end network visibility from virtual tapping point to network insights.
E.

OFF–BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

None.
F.

TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table of our material contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018, summarizes the aggregate effect that these obligations are
expected to have on our cash flows in the periods indicated:

Contractual Obligations
Operating leases obligation (1)
Open purchase orders (2)
Other long-term commitments (3)
Total

Total
$
$

Payments due by period
1-3
4-5
years
years
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
994 $
988 $
164
801
1,795 $
988 $
164

Less than
1 year

2,146
801
458
3,405

$
$

More than
5 years
$
$

-

(1) Represents operating lease costs, consisting of leases for facilities and vehicles.
(2) We purchase components from a variety of suppliers and vendors, in connection with the development and sales of our products.
(3) In addition to the obligations noted above, we have potential liability for severance pay for Israeli employees, which is calculated pursuant to Israeli
Severance Pay Law, based on the most recent monthly salary of the employees multiplied by the number of years of employment as of the balance
sheet date. After completing one full year of employment, our Israeli employees are entitled to one month’s salary for each year of employment or a
portion thereof. Our obligation for accrued severance pay under Israel’s Severance Pay Law as of December 31, 2018, was approximately $3.4
million, of which approximately $3.0 million was funded through deposits in severance pay funds, leaving a net obligation of approximately $458
thousand. The timing of payment of this liability is dependent on timing of the departure of the employees and whether they leave of their own will
or are dismissed.
In addition, we are required to pay royalties of 3% and 5% of the revenues derived from products incorporating know-how developed from
research and development grants from the IIA and BIRD Foundation, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, our contingent liability to the IIA in respect
of grants received was approximately $48.4 million, and our contingent liability to the BIRD Foundation in respect of funding received was
approximately $381 thousand. If we do not generate revenues from products incorporating know-how developed within the framework of these programs,
we will not be obligated to pay royalties under these programs.
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For additional information, see “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—Business Overview—Israel Innovation Authority”, and “Item 4.B—
Information on the Company—Business Overview—Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation.”
We are also obligated to pay to the MOE royalties of 3% on the increased sales in the target market derived in India and China, with respect to
the year during which the grant was approved (2012 and 2014, respectively), over a period of five years but not more than the total linked amount of the
grant received by us. The total marketing grants that the Company has received from the MOE as of December 31, 2017 were approximately $668
thousand. No further grants are expected to be received from such plans. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we accrued an amount of
approximately $9 thousand of royalty expenses to be paid to the MOE.
Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, Significant Accounting policies, in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 18 of part II of this Report, for a full
description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on financial condition and results of
operations.
ITEM 6.
A.

DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table lists our current directors and executive officers:
Name
Rachel (Heli) Bennun
Uri Har (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)
Irit Hillel (1)(2)(4)(5)
Matty Karp (2)(4)(5)
Zohar Zisapel
Yaron Ravkaie
Eyal Harari
Amir Hai
Hilik Itman
Rami Amit

Age
65
82
56
69
70
50
42
53
47
53

Position
Executive Chairman of our Board of Directors
Director
Director
Director
Director
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Executive Officer of RADCOM US
Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Research and Development
Chief Technology Officer and Head of Product

(1) External Director, pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law.
(2) Independent Director, under Nasdaq Stock Market Rules, or the Nasdaq Listing Rules.
(3) Chairman of Audit and Compensation Committees.
(4) Audit Committee Member.
(5) Compensation Committee Member.
Ms. Rachel (Heli) Bennun has served as a director since December 2012 and was appointed as the Executive Chairman of our Board of
Directors in September 2015. In addition, Ms. Bennun has served as a consultant to the Company’s management since January 2012. Ms. Bennun has
over 25 years of professional experience in hi-tech companies. Ms. Bennun co-founded Arel Communications & Software Ltd. (formerly Nasdaq: ARLC)
in 1988, a company focused on offering integrated video, audio and data-enabled conferencing solutions, including real time Interactive Distance
Learning, and served as CEO, CFO, and director, leading the company to its initial public offering on Nasdaq in 1994. Ms. Bennun also co-founded
ArelNet Ltd. (formerly TASE: ARNT), a pioneer in the field of Voice over IP, and served as CEO and as a director, leading the company to its initial
public offering on TASE and until its acquisition by Airspan Network Inc. Ms. Bennun has also served as CEO and director of OrganiTech USA, Inc.
(PINK: ORGT), a pioneer in the cleantech industry. Ms. Bennun holds a M.Sc. and a B.Sc. in Industrial and Management Engineering from Ben-Gurion
University.
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Mr. Uri Har has served as a director since September 2006. He was the Director General of the Electronics and Software Industries Association
of Israel from 1984 until 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Har served for 26 years in engineering and managerial positions in the Israeli Navy where his last
assignment was the Israeli Naval Attaché in the United States and Canada. Among his various positions in the Israeli Navy, he served for three years
(1977 - 1980) as Head of the Budget and Comptroller Department. He holds a B.Sc. and a M.Sc. in Mechanical Engineering from the Technion - Israel
Institute of Technology.
Ms. Irit Hillel has served as a director since October 2007. She has spent the last 20 years as an entrepreneur and senior executive in digital
media, technology and investment firms. She currently serves as Venture Partner at HP Tech Ventures, the corporate venture arm of HP Inc. (Nasdaq:
HPQ), leading partnerships and strategic investments in early stage technology startups. She is also a board member of Imagesat NV. From 2005 until
2008 she was Managing Director at Magnolia Capital Partners, managing the operations in Israel of Thomas Weisel Partners and Nomura, providing
investment banking services to Israeli high tech and healthcare companies. In 2008 to 2009 she served as Head of Interactive at Animation Lab, a JVP 3D
feature animation company. Ms. Hillel served as Head of Mattel Interactive Europe, bringing to market some of Europe’s best-selling computer game
titles. Previously, Ms. Hillel founded and served as EVP business development and board director for PrintPaks, acquired by Mattel Inc. (NYSE: MAT)
in 1997. Prior experience also includes VP at Power Paper Ltd., Advisor to Hewlett Packard Co. (NYSE: HPQ), and Investment Manager at Columbia
Savings in Beverly Hills, California. Ms. Hillel holds an M.B.A. from the Anderson Graduate School of Business at UCLA, and a B.Sc. in Mathematics
and Computer Science from Tel Aviv University.
Mr. Matty Karp has served as a director since December 2009. From 1996 to 2015, he was the managing partner of Concord Ventures, an
Israeli venture capital fund focused on Israeli early stage technology companies, which he co-founded in 1997. From 2007 to 2008, he served as the
Chairman of Israel Growth Partners Acquisition Corp. From 1994 to 1999, he served as the Chief Executive Officer of Kardan Technologies, a
technology investment company, and continued to serve as a director until October 2001. From 1994 to 1997, he served as the President of Nitzanim
Venture Fund, an Israeli venture capital fund focused on early-stage high technology companies. From 1987 to 1994, he served in numerous positions at
Elbit Systems Ltd. (Nasdaq and TASE: ESLT). Mr. Karp has served as a director of a number of companies, including: Elta Ltd.; Galileo Technology,
which was acquired by Marvell Technology Group (Nasdaq: MRVL); Accord Networks which was acquired by Polycom (Nasdaq: PLCM); Saifun
Semiconductors, which merged with Spansion, and El Al Israel Airlines (TASE: ELAL). Mr. Karp received a B.Sc., cum laude, in Electrical Engineering
from the Technion - Israel Institute of Technology and is a graduate of the Harvard Business School Advanced Management Program.
Mr. Zohar Zisapel, a co-founder of our Company, has served as our Chairman of the Board from inception in 1985 until September 2015. Mr.
Zisapel is the Chairman of Ceragon Networks Ltd. (Nasdaq: CRNT) and serves as chairman or director of several private companies in the in the areas of
Communications, Cyber Security and Automotive. Mr. Zisapel holds a B.Sc. and a M.Sc. in Electrical Engineering from the Technion - Israel Institute of
Technology and an M.B.A. from Tel-Aviv University.
Mr. Yaron Ravkaie, our Chief Executive Officer, joined us in January 2016. Prior to joining RADCOM, Mr. Ravkaie served during 2015 as the
Chief Business Officer of RR Media Ltd. (Nasdaq: RRM). Prior to serving at RR Media Ltd., Mr. Ravkaie served as the President of the Mobile Financial
Services Division in Amdocs Ltd. (Nasdaq: DOX) for two years executing an M&A and a successful post-merger integration with a global organization
offering mobile payments and mobile commerce. From 2008 through 2012, Mr. Ravkaie served as President of the AT&T division, the largest in
Amdocs, running sales, client management, strategy, projects, programs, long-term outsourcing and managed services activities. Mr. Ravkaie joined
Amdocs in 1998 and, after a brief stint in the Israel Development Center, he relocated to the U.S., where he performed various director and vice president
roles. Mr. Ravkaie served for nine years in information systems, industrial engineering and logistics with the Israeli Air Force as a Major. Mr. Ravkaie
holds an M.B.A. from the University of Beersheba and a B.Sc. in Industrial Engineering & Management from the Technion, Haifa.
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Mr. Eyal Harari, CEO of RADCOM US, joined us in November 2000 as a software R&D group manager and was appointed to his current
position in November 2016. Before joining RADCOM, Mr. Harari served in the Communication, Computers & Electronics Corps of the Israel Defense
Forces, managing large-scale software projects. Mr. Harari received a B.A. in Computer Science from the Open University of Tel Aviv and holds
an M.B.A. from Tel-Aviv University and an LL.M in Business Law from Bar Ilan University.
Mr. Amir Hai, our Chief Financial Officer, joined us in October 2018. Prior to joining RADCOM, Mr. Hai was Chief Financial Officer of
Smart Medical Systems Ltd., from 2014 to 2018. Before 2014, Mr. Hai served as Chief Financial Officer for several other companies including two
publicly traded companies and served as High-tech Senior Manager for Ernst & Young Israel. Since 2012, Mr. Hai also serves as external director and
chairman of the audit committee of Matrix IT Ltd. Mr. Hai holds a B.A. in Economics from the College of Management Academic Studies in Israel and is
certified in Israel as a CPA.
Mr. Hilik Itman, our Vice President of Research and Development joined us in June 1997 as a software engineer and was appointed to his
current position in 2014. Mr. Itman led the R70S software development and led the MaveriQ development during the company’s transition from
hardware-based products, to software-based probe products. Mr. Itman holds a B.A. in Mathematics and Computer Science from the Open University.
Mr. Rami Amit, our Chief Technology Officer and Head of Product, joined us in February 2017. Prior to joining RADCOM, Mr. Amit served
from 2013 to 2017 as director of engineering in the Cisco NFV Business Unit, which included worldwide deployments by many tier 1 customers. Mr.
Amit was a major contributor to the vision of the evolution to virtualization in that space. Prior to his time at Cisco Mr. Amit was Chief Technology
Officer for Jungo, a leading software provider, founded Surf&Call Solutions, which was later acquired by CosmoCom and was the first employee of the
VoIP industry pioneer, VocalTec, in which he is considered as one of the early inventors of VoIP, building the first ever VoIP gateway shown in public
in the mid-1990s and leading many of the VoIP technologies used today on a daily basis. Mr. Amit holds an electrical engineering degree from Tel Aviv
University.
Ms. Bennun is the life partner of Mr. Zohar Zisapel. Otherwise, there are no family relationships between any of the directors or executive
officers named above.
B.

COMPENSATION

Name and Principal Position
Yaron Ravkaie, CEO
Rami Amit, CTO and Head of Product
Hilik Itman, VP R&D
Eyal Harari, CEO of RADCOM US
Rachel (Heli) Bennun, Executive
Chairman

Year
2018
2018
2018
2018

Salary
($)
268,530
221,779
169,030
250,000

Bonus
($)
45,000
40,000
40,000
45,000

Equity-Based
Compensation
($)(1)
179,037
193,717
250,834
144,915

All Other
Compensation
($)(2)
64,000
51,000
39,000
53,479

Total
($)
556,567
506,496
498,864
493,394

2018

83,240

-

122,412

23,307

228,959

(1)

Equity based compensation includes the cost of non-cash share-based compensation of the Company in 2018. The grants awarded during 2018,
2017 and 2016, were for a vesting term of 3 or 4 years.

(2)

All other compensation includes social benefits and car leasing costs.

The bonus paid to our CEO is based on a formula which takes into consideration three independent measurable and non-measurable components
and which was approved by general meeting of our shareholders on August 16, 2016.
The bonus and commission payments made to our other officers are based on the achievements of goals and objectives that are set and
communicated at the beginning of each year and which are made in accordance with our compensation policy, as approved by our shareholders from time
to time and most recently on August 16, 2016.
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The aggregate direct remuneration paid to all our directors and executive officers as a group for the year ended December 31, 2018 was
approximately $2.0 million in salaries, bonus, commissions and directors’ fees. This amount includes approximately $280 thousand that was set aside or
accrued to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits. These amounts do not include the expense of share-based compensation as per ASC 718.
During 2018, our officers received, in the aggregate, 20,000 restricted share units, or RSUs, under our 2013 Share Option Plan, or the 2013 Plan.
The RSUs have a vesting schedule of four years over equal annual installments commencing as of the date of the grant. Further information regarding the
options and RSU grants to our directors is detailed below.
As of December 31, 2018, our current directors and officers, as a group, held options to purchase an aggregate of 188,260 ordinary shares of the
Company and 87,571 RSUs that were granted under our 2013 Plan. The directors are reimbursed for expenses and receive cash and equity compensation,
which terms are detailed below.
The cash compensation paid to our independent directors and external directors (other than to our Executive Chairman, as of September 10,
2015), is an annual fee of NIS 36,746 (currently equivalent to approximately $10,193) and a per meeting attendance fee of NIS 1,841 (currently
equivalent to approximately $510), which amounts are subject to adjustment for changes in the Israeli CPI and changes in the amounts payable pursuant
to Israeli law from time to time.
On January 29, 2018, our Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors and Board of Directors and on July 19, 2018, our shareholders,
approved Ms. Bennun’s 2017 cash bonus of $50,000.
Share Option Plans
On April 3, 2013, our Board of Directors adopted the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan expires on April 2, 2023. Under the 2013 Plan, we may grant
options to purchase our ordinary shares, restricted shares and RSUs to our employees, directors, consultants and contractors. As of April 15, 2019, we
have granted 1,238,802 options and 653,148 RSUs under the 2013 Plan. 113,800 RSUs granted to our CEO and Board of Directors during February 2019
are pending shareholders’ approval. Options and RSUs granted under our option plans generally vest over a period of between one and four years, with
expiration term for options of five to seven years from the date of grant, subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors, which has the authority to
deviate from such parameters in respect of specific grants. The share option plans are administered either by our Board of Directors or, subject to
applicable law, by our Compensation Committee, which has the discretion to make all decisions relating to the interpretation and operation of the options
plans, including determining who will receive an option award and the terms and conditions of the option awards. On October 30, 2016, the Company’s
Board of Directors resolved to increase the number of outstanding shares reserved under the 2013 Plan to 2,450,000.
The Company measures the compensation expense for all share-based payments (including employee stock options) at fair value, in accordance
with ASC 718. We recorded an expense of approximately $2.1 million for share-based compensation plans during 2018. During 2018, we granted 32,700
RSUs, which will result in ongoing accounting charges that will significantly reduce our net income. See Notes 2(m) and 11(c) of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
RSUs.

As of April 15, 2019, we have under the 2013 Plan a total of 403,760 outstanding options to purchase ordinary shares and 406,207 unvested

Pursuant to Rule 5615(a)(3) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, we follow our home country practice in lieu of the Nasdaq Listing Rules with respect
to the approvals required for the establishment and for material amendments to our share option plans. Consequently, we have adopted share option plans
and material amendments thereto by action of our Board of Directors, without shareholder approval. See also “Item 16G—Corporate Governance.”
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Compensation Policy
On July 10, 2016, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved our compensation policy for our Executive Officers and
Directors, and our shareholders approved the compensation policy on August 16, 2016. See “Item 6.C—Directors, Senior Management and Employees—
Board Practices—Compensation Committee.”
C.

BOARD PRACTICES

Terms of Office
Our current Board of Directors is comprised of Rachel (Heli) Bennun (Executive Chairman), Uri Har, Irit Hillel, Matty Karp and Zohar
Zisapel. Our directors are elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the shareholders, except in certain cases where directors are
appointed by the Board of Directors and their appointment is later ratified at the first meeting of the shareholders thereafter. Mr. Zisapel is currently
serving a one-year term which will expire on our next annual general meeting. Ms. Bennun and Mr. Karp are currently serving three-year terms which
commenced on our annual general meeting which took place in August 2016 and will expire on our next annual general meeting. Our external directors
serve for three-year periods. The three-year term of office for our external directors, Mr. Har and Ms. Hillel, expires in August 2019. None of our
directors have service contracts with the Company relating to their service as a director, and none of the directors will receive benefits upon termination
of their position as a director. For a description of our compensation of directors see “Item 6.B—Directors, Senior Management and Employees—
Compensation.”
External Directors
We are subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law.
Under the Israeli Companies Law and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, Israeli public companies, namely companies whose shares
have been offered to the public or are publicly traded, are required to appoint at least two natural persons as “external directors”.
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, (1) an external director must have either “accounting and financial expertise” or “professional
qualifications” (as such terms are defined in regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law) and (2) at least one of the external directors must
have “accounting and financial expertise.” Our external directors are Mr. Uri Har and Ms. Irit Hillel. We have determined that Ms. Hillel has the requisite
“accounting and financial expertise” and that Mr. Har has the requisite “professional qualifications.”
External directors are to be elected by a majority vote at a shareholders meeting, provided that either:
●
●

a majority of the shares of non-controlling shareholders and shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the election of the candidate
(other than a personal interest that is unrelated to a relationship with the controlling shareholders) voted at the meeting, voted in favor of the
external director’s election; or
the total number of shares of non-controlling shareholders and shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the election of the
candidate (other than a personal interest that is unrelated to a relationship with the controlling shareholders) that voted against the election of
the external director, does not exceed two percent of the aggregate number of voting rights in the company.

The initial term of an external director is three years and may be extended subject to the shareholders’ approval, for up to two additional threeyear terms. In certain special situations, the term may be extended beyond these periods. Each committee of a company’s board of directors is required to
include at least one external director except for the audit committee and the compensation committee, of which all the external directors are to be
members. At our 2016 annual general meeting, held on August 16, 2016, our shareholders approved the re-election of Mr. Uri Har and Ms. Irit Hillel as
our external directors, each for a fourth three-year term. Both Mr. Uri Har and Ms. Irit Hillel qualify as external directors under the Israeli Companies
Law, and both are members of the Company’s Audit Committee and Compensation Committee.
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Audit Committee
Nasdaq Requirements
Our ordinary shares are listed on Nasdaq, and we are subject to the Nasdaq Listing Rules applicable to listed companies. Under the current
Nasdaq Listing Rules, a listed company is required to have an audit committee consisting of at least three independent directors, all of whom are
financially literate and one of whom has accounting or related financial management expertise. Uri Har, Irit Hillel and Matty Karp qualify as independent
directors under the current Nasdaq requirements, and each is a member of the Audit Committee. Irit Hillel is our “audit committee financial expert.” In
addition, we have adopted an Audit Committee charter, which sets forth the Audit Committee’s responsibilities.
As stated in our Audit Committee charter, the Audit Committee assists our Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of the
quality and integrity of our accounting, auditing and financial reporting practices and financial statements, and the “independence” requirements and
performance of our independent auditors. The Audit Committee also has the authority and responsibility to oversee our independent auditors, to
recommend for shareholder approval the appointment and, where appropriate, the replacement of our independent auditors, and to pre-approve audit
engagement fees and all permitted non-audit services and fees.
Israeli Companies Law Requirements
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company is required to appoint an audit committee, which must be
comprised of at least three directors and include all of the external directors. The majority of the members of the audit committee are required to be
“independent” (as such term is defined in the Israeli Companies Law) and the chairman of the audit committee is required to be an external director. Our
independent directors are Irit Hillel, Uri Har and Matty Karp.
In addition: (1) all audit committee decisions must be made by a majority of the committee members, of which the majority of members present
are independent and external directors, and (2) any person who is not eligible to serve on the audit committee is further restricted from participating in its
meetings and votes, unless the chairman of the audit committee determines that such person’s presence is necessary in order to present a certain matter,
provided however, that company employees who are not controlling shareholders or relatives of such shareholders may be present in the meetings but not
in the actual votes and likewise, company counsel and secretary who are not controlling shareholders or relatives of such shareholders may be present in
meetings and decisions if such presence is requested by the audit committee.
The function of the audit committee is to determine if there are any irregularities in the management of our business and if there are any, to
recommend remedial measures. The audit committee is also required, under the Israeli Companies Law, to approve certain related party transactions. In
addition, the responsibilities of the audit committee shall also include classifying company transactions as extraordinary transactions or non-extraordinary
transactions and as material or non-material transactions, in which an officer has an interest (which will have the effect of determining the kind of
corporate approvals required for such transaction); assessing the proper function of the company’s internal audit regime, overseeing the activities of the
internal auditor, determining whether the internal auditor has the requisite tools and resources required to perform his role, and reviewing his work plan;
and to regulate the company’s rules on employee complaints, reviewing the scope of work of the company’s independent accountants and their fees, and
implementing a whistleblower protection plan with respect to employee complaints of business irregularities.
An audit committee of a public company may not approve a related-party transaction under the Israeli Companies Law unless at the time of such
approval, the external directors are serving as members of the audit committee and at least one of them is present at the meeting at which such approval is
granted. All related party transactions have been approved in accordance with this requirement.
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Compensation Committee
Nasdaq Requirements
Under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, a listed company is required to have a compensation committee comprised solely of independent directors. Our
Compensation Committee consists of Uri Har (Chairman), Irit Hillel and Matty Karp, each of whom satisfies the independence requirements under the
current Nasdaq Listing Rules. The Company has adopted a Compensation Committee charter, which sets forth the responsibilities of the Compensation
Committee. The Compensation Committee is responsible for, among other things, assisting the Board of Directors in the reviewing and approving the
compensation structure and policy, including all forms of compensation relating to our directors and executive officers.
As stated in our Compensation Committee Charter, the purpose of the Compensation Committee is to review and approve, or, where required
under the Israeli Companies Law or appropriate at the Compensation Committee’s discretion, recommend to the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors (the “Audit Committee”) and/or the Board of Directors for approval, the compensation policy for “office holders” (office holder is defined in
the Israeli Companies Law as a director, the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and any manager who is directly subordinate to the chief
executive officer) of the Company, the compensation policy for executive officers of the Company (including renewal and reassessment thereof) who are
not “office holders” of the Company within the meaning of the Israeli Companies Law, but who are defined as such according to the Nasdaq Listing
Rules (as defined below), the compensation (including exculpation, indemnification and insurance) of such office holders, and the administration of the
Company’s equity-based plans.
Israeli Companies Law Requirements
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must establish a compensation committee. The compensation
committee must consist of at least three directors who satisfy certain independence qualifications. Under the Israeli Companies Law, the role of the
compensation committee is to recommend to the board of directors, for ultimate shareholder approval by a special majority, a policy governing the
compensation of office holders based on specified criteria, to review modifications to the compensation policy from time to time, to review its
implementation, and to approve the actual compensation terms of office holders prior to approval by the board of directors.
The Israeli Companies Law provides that our compensation policy must serve as the basis for the decisions concerning the financial terms of
employment or engagement of executives and directors, including exculpation, insurance, indemnification or any monetary payment or obligation of
payment in respect of employment or engagement. The compensation policy must be approved (or reapproved) not longer than every three years, and
relate to certain factors, including advancement of the company’s objective, business plan and its long-term strategy and creation of appropriate incentives
for office holders. It must also consider, among other things, the company’s risk management, size and nature of its operations. The compensation policy
must furthermore consider the following additional factors:
●
●
●
●
●
●

the knowledge, skills, expertise and accomplishments of the relevant office holder;
the office holder’s roles and responsibilities and prior compensation agreements with him or her;
the relationship between the terms offered and the average compensation of the other employees of the company, including those employed
through human resource companies;
the impact of disparities in salary upon work relationships in the company;
the possibility of reducing variable compensation at the discretion of the Board of Directors or the possibility of setting a limit on the
exercise value of non-cash variable equity-based compensation; and
as to severance compensation, the period of service of the office holder, the terms of his or her compensation during such service period, the
company’s performance during that period of service, the person’s contributions towards the company’s achievement of its goals and the
maximization of its profits and the circumstances under which the person is leaving the company.

The compensation policy must also include the following principles:
●
●

the link between variable compensation and long-term performance and measurable criteria;
the relationship between variable and fixed compensation, and the ceiling for the value of variable compensation;
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the conditions under which a director or executive would be required to repay compensation paid to him or her if it was later shown that the
data upon which such compensation was based was inaccurate and was required to be restated in the company’s financial statements;
the minimum holding or vesting period for variable, equity-based compensation; and
maximum limits for severance compensation.

On July 11, 2016, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved an amended compensation policy for Executive Officers and
Directors, and our shareholders approved such compensation policy on August 16, 2016.
Internal auditor
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must also appoint an internal auditor proposed by the audit
committee. The duty of the internal auditor is to examine, among other things, whether the company’s conduct complies with applicable law and orderly
business procedure. Under the Israeli Companies Law, the internal auditor may not be an interested party, an office holder or an affiliate, or a relative of
an interested party, an office holder or affiliate, nor may the internal auditor be the company’s independent accountant or its representative. An interested
party is defined in the Israeli Companies Law as a 5% or greater shareholder, any person or entity that has the right to designate at least one director or the
general manager of the company and any person who serves as a director or as a general manager.
Ms. Sharon Cohen, who is a partner at Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co., a member of Deloitte, serves as our internal auditor.
Exculpation, Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers
We have agreed to exculpate and indemnify our office holders to the fullest extent permitted under the Israeli Companies Law. We have also
purchased a directors and officers liability insurance policy. For information regarding exculpation, indemnification and insurance of directors and
officers under applicable law and our articles of association, see “Item 10.B—Additional Information—Memorandum and Articles of Association.”
Management Employment Agreements
We maintain written employment agreements with all our employees. These agreements provide, among other matters, for monthly salaries, our
contributions to Managers’ Insurance and an Education Fund and severance benefits. Most of our agreements with our key employees are subject to
termination by either party upon the delivery of notice of termination as provided therein.
Nominating Committee
Our Board of Directors does not currently have a nominating committee. However, independent directors do retain oversight over director
nominations, and in accordance with the requirements of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, our director nominees will either be selected for or recommended to
the Board of Directors’ by a majority of the independent directors of the Board of Directors.
D.
follows:

EMPLOYEES

Our total headcount as of December 31, 2018 was 233, including employees and contractors, broken down geographically and by function as

Israel
India
United States
Brazil
Other
Total

Research and Sales, Marketing and
Development
Customer Support
90
40
8
14
22
7
18
11
116
94

49

Operations
3
3

Administration and
Management
13
2
4
1
20

Total
Headcount
146
24
26
8
29
233
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We consider our relations with our employees to be good and we have never experienced a strike or work stoppage. Except for employees
located in Brazil, none of our employees are represented by labor unions.
For more information, see “Item 4.B—Information on the Company—Business Overview—Employees.”
E.

SHARE OWNERSHIP

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares by our directors and officers. The
percentage of outstanding ordinary shares is based on 13,718,709 ordinary shares outstanding as of April 15, 2019. Except for Mr. Zohar Zisapel, none of
our executive officers or directors beneficially owns 1% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares.

Name
Zohar Zisapel
All directors and executive officers as a group, except Zohar Zisapel (10 persons)

Percentage
of
Outstanding
Number of
Ordinary
Ordinary
Shares
Shares
Beneficially
Beneficially
Owned(2)(3)
Owned(1)
2,881,672(4)
21.0%
164,016(5)
1.2%

(1) Except as otherwise noted and subject to applicable community property laws, each person named in the table has sole voting and investment power
with respect to all ordinary shares listed as owned by such person. Shares beneficially owned include shares that may be acquired pursuant to options
to purchase ordinary shares that are exercisable within 60 days of April 15, 2019.
(2) In determining the percentage owned by each person or group, ordinary shares for each person or group includes ordinary shares that may be
acquired by such person or group pursuant to options to purchase ordinary shares that are exercisable within 60 days of April 15, 2019.
(3) The number of outstanding ordinary shares does not include 5,189 shares held by RADCOM US, a wholly owned subsidiary, and 30,843 shares that
were repurchased by us.
(4) Includes (i) 2,325,525 ordinary shares held by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, (ii) 299,416 ordinary shares held by Michael & Klil Holdings (93) Ltd or Klil, an
Israeli company, wholly owned by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, (iii) 242,731 ordinary shares held by Lomsha Ltd. or Lomsha, an Israeli company wholly
owned by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, and (iv) 14,000 ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of options, with an average exercise price per share of $13.71,
expiring between the years 2020 and 2021. The options listed above are exercisable currently or within 60 days of April 15, 2019. Mr. Zohar
Zisapel’s brother, Mr. Yehuda Zisapel holds 344,809 ordinary shares. Additionally, Mr. Zohar Zisapel’s life partner and Executive Chairman of the
Company’s Board of Directors, Ms. Heli Bennun holds 21,258 outstanding options of which 15,258 are exercisable, 9,000 unvested RSUs and
17,900 ordinary shares. Mr. Zohar Zisapel disclaims beneficial ownership of the ordinary shares held by Mr. Yehuda Zisapel and by Ms. Heli
Bennun. This information is based on information provided to the Company by Mr. Zohar Zisapel.
(5) Each of the directors and executive officers not separately identified in the above table beneficially owns less than 1% of our outstanding ordinary
shares, including options held by each such party, which are vested or shall become vested within 60 days of April 15, 2019 and have, therefore, not
been separately disclosed. The number of shares is comprised of 112,259 ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60
days April 15, 2019 and 51,757 ordinary shares.
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For a description of our share option plans for the granting of options to our employees see “Item 6.B—Directors, Senior Management and
Employees—Compensation—Share Option Plans.”
ITEM 7.
A.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares as of April 15, 2019, by each person
or entity known to own beneficially 5% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares, based on information provided to us by the shareholders or disclosed
in public filings with the SEC. The voting rights of our major shareholders do not differ from the voting rights of other holders of our ordinary shares. As
of April 15, 2019, our ordinary shares had a total of 21 holders of record, of which 9 were registered with addresses in the United States. We believe that
the number of beneficial owners of our shares is substantially greater than the number of record holders, because a large portion of our ordinary shares is
held of record in broker “street name”. As of April 15, 2019, U.S. holders of record held approximately 65% of our outstanding ordinary shares.
Percentage
of
Outstanding
Number of
Ordinary
Ordinary
Shares
Shares
beneficially
beneficially
owned (2)
owned(1)
2,881,672(3)
21.0%

Name
Zohar Zisapel
Yelin Lapidot Holdings Management Ltd.

1,542,975(4)

11.2%

Raging Capital Management, LLC

1,115,053(5)

8.1%

(1) Except as otherwise noted and subject to applicable community property laws, each person named in the table has sole voting and investment power
with respect to all ordinary shares listed as owned by such person. Shares beneficially owned include shares that may be acquired pursuant to options
to purchase ordinary shares that are exercisable within 60 days of April 15, 2019.
(2) The percentage of outstanding ordinary shares is based on 13,718,709 ordinary shares outstanding as of April 15, 2019. In determining the
percentage owned by each person, ordinary shares for each person includes ordinary shares that may be acquired by such person pursuant to options
to purchase ordinary shares that are exercisable within 60 days of April 15, 2019. The number of outstanding ordinary shares does not include 5,189
ordinary shares held by RADCOM US, a wholly owned subsidiary and 30,843 ordinary shares that were repurchased by us.
(3) Includes (i) 2,325,525 ordinary shares held by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, (ii) 299,416 ordinary shares held by Michael & Klil Holdings (93) Ltd or Klil, an
Israeli company, wholly owned by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, (iii) 242,731 ordinary shares held by Lomsha Ltd. or Lomsha, an Israeli company wholly
owned by Mr. Zohar Zisapel, and (iv) 14,000 ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of options, with an average exercise price per share of $13.71,
expiring between the years 2020 and 2021. The options listed above are exercisable currently or within 60 days of April 15, 2019. Mr. Zohar
Zisapel’s brother, Mr. Yehuda Zisapel holds 344,809 ordinary shares. Additionally, Mr. Zohar Zisapel’s life partner and Executive Chairman of the
Company’s Board of Directors, Ms. Heli Bennun holds 21,258 outstanding options of which 15,258 are exercisable, 9,000 unvested RSUs and
17,900 ordinary shares. Mr. Zohar Zisapel disclaims beneficial ownership of the ordinary shares held by Mr. Yehuda Zisapel and by Ms. Heli
Bennun. This information is based on information provided to the Company by Mr. Zohar Zisapel.
(4) The information with respect to the holdings of Yelin Lapidot Holdings Management, Ltd. is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC by Dov
Yelin, Yair Lapidot, Yelin Lapidot Holdings Management Ltd. Yelin Lapidot Mutual Funds Management Ltd. and Yelin Lapidot Provident Funds
Management Ltd. on February 11, 2019 and reflects the holdings of such persons as of December 31, 2018.
(5) The information with respect to the holdings of Raging Capital Management, LLC is based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC by Raging Capital
Management, LLC and William C. Martin on February 14, 2019 and reflects the holdings of such persons as of December 31, 2018.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Amdocs/AT&T engagements
In 2015, we entered into several material contracts with subsidiaries of Amdocs Ltd., a company with limited liability under the laws of the
Island of Guernsey, or Amdocs. Mr. Zohar Zisapel, the Company’s controlling shareholder and director, also served as a director of Amdocs until January
31, 2019.
On March 23, 2015, RADCOM US, entered into a Master Subcontractor Agreement, or MSA, with Amdocs, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a
significant subsidiary of Amdocs, or Amdocs US, which MSA was subsequently assigned to us by RADCOM US. At the time the MSA was entered into,
there were no business commitments pursuant to such agreement.
On December 30, 2015, we entered into a multi-year supplemental agreement, or the Supplemental Agreement, and together with the MSA, the
Subcontractor Agreement with Amdocs Software Systems Limited, a company formed under the laws of Ireland and a significant subsidiary of Amdocs
Software.
On December 30, 2015, we entered into a value-added reseller agreement with Amdocs Software, or the VAR Agreement, as amended by the
addendum to the VAR Agreement, dated December 30, 2015, or the Addendum. Pursuant to the VAR Agreement and the Addendum, Amdocs Software
is authorized to resell our products to various end user customers as may be agreed upon from time to time by the parties.
On December 28, 2015, we entered into an End User License Agreement with AT&T Services Inc., or AT&T, pursuant to which we granted a
license to use our software. As per the Supplemental Agreement, and in addition to the licenses to our MaveriQ solutions which we granted under the End
User License Agreement and in connection with the Supplemental Agreement, we provide related services in our capacity as a subcontractor of Amdocs
US in accordance with the Subcontractor Agreement.
During the years 2016, 2017 and 2018, we expanded our above engagement, including maintenance agreements.
The pricing and other terms of the abovementioned agreements were determined based on negotiations between the applicable parties.
In March 2019, we entered into a series of agreements with AT&T for the delivery of our solutions and related services. For more information,
see “Item 10.C—Additional Information—Material Contracts.”
RAD-BYNET Group
Mr. Zohar Zisapel, the Company’s controlling shareholder and a director, is the Chairman of the board of Ceragon Networks Ltd., RADWIN
Ltd., RADIFLOW Ltd., Hailo, HiAuto Ltd. and Innoviz Ltd. and director in the following companies: Nuance Hearing Ltd., RAD Data Communications
Ltd., RAD-Bynet Properties and Assets (1981) Ltd., Packetlight Networks Ltd., CyberInt Technologies Ltd., Armis Security Ltd., Cylus Ltd. and several
other private holdings, real estate and medical devices companies. The above list does not constitute a complete list of Mr. Zohar Zisapel’s holdings. In
some of these companies his brother, Mr. Yehuda Zisapel is also a director.
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Mr. Yehuda Zisapel (brother of Mr. Zohar Zisapel) serves also as director in additional companies, including: RADWARE Ltd., Bynet Data
Communications Ltd., Bynet Electronics Ltd., Bynet Semech (Outsourcing) Ltd., Bynet Systems Applications Ltd., Ab-Net Communications Ltd.,
BYNET Software Systems Ltd., Internet Binat Ltd., SecurityDam Ltd., Binat Business Ltd and several other private holdings, real estate and medical
devices companies. The above list does not constitute a complete list of Mr. Yehuda Zisapel’s holdings.
Some of the above companies may be suppliers/distributors/consumers of RADCOM products or may render additional services by arm’s length
transactions or share logistical arrangements with the Company. Some of the above companies are known as the “RAD-BYNET Group.”
Ms. Rachel (Heli) Bennun, who is the Executive Chairman of our Board of Directors, is Mr. Zohar Zisapel’s life partner.
We and other members of the RAD-BYNET Group also market certain of our products through the same distribution channels. Certain products
of members of the RAD-BYNET Group are complementary to, and may be used in connection with, products of ours, and others of such products may be
used in place of (and thus may be deemed to be competitive with) our products.
Supplier and Service Provider Arrangements
We purchase certain products and services from members of the RAD-BYNET group, on terms that are either beneficial to us or are no less
favorable than terms that might be available to us from unrelated third parties, based on quotes we received from unrelated third parties. In some cases,
the RAD-BYNET Group obtains volume discounts for services from unrelated parties, and we pay our pro rata cost of such services. Based on our
experience, the volume discounts provide better terms than we would be able to obtain on our own. The aggregate amount of such purchases was
approximately $2 thousand in 2018.
Members of the RAD-BYNET group may provide personnel, administrative and IT services to us, for which we pay on market terms and rates.
The aggregate amount of such payments was approximately $32 thousand in 2018.
Office Leases
We currently lease office premises in Tel Aviv, Israel and in Paramus, New Jersey, from private companies controlled by Mr. Yehuda Zisapel
and his wife, Ms. Nava Zisapel, and Mr. Zohar Zisapel. When these agreements were signed, the lease payments were at fair market prices based on
quotes we received from third parties for similar space. Historically, we have had some additional flexibility to change the leased space, which we might
not have had with unrelated third parties. The aggregate amount of lease and maintenance payments, together with reimbursement of expenses in
connection with the renovation of our New Jersey office, was approximately $967 thousand in 2018.
We believe that the terms of the transactions in which we have entered and are currently engaged with other members of the RAD-BYNET
Group are beneficial to us and no less favorable to us than terms that might be available to us from unaffiliated third parties. All future transactions and
arrangements (or modifications of existing ones) with members of the RAD-BYNET Group in which our office holders have a personal interest or which
raise issues of such office holders’ fiduciary duties will require approval by our Board of Directors and, in certain circumstances, approval of our Audit
Committee and shareholders under the Israeli Companies Law.
Matrix IT Ltd.
Mr. Amir Hai, our Chief Financial Officer, is a member of the board and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Matrix IT Ltd., or Matrix., an
Israeli technology company offering a broad array of project and technology services. Among other things, Matrix is a certified distributor of the Red Hat
OpenStack platform. The Company, from time to time, has entered and expects to continue to enter into certain limited term engagements with Matrix or
its affiliated companies in connection with specific development projects and/or use of the Red Hat OpenStack platform. The terms of the transactions in
which we have entered and are currently engaged with Matrix and/or its affiliates are believed to be no less favorable to us than terms that might be
available to us from unrelated third parties. All future transactions and arrangements (or modifications of existing ones) with Matrix or its affiliated
companies will require approval by our Board of Directors and, in certain circumstances, approval of our Audit Committee and shareholders in
accordance with the Israeli Companies Law. In 2018, we entered into engagements with Matrix affiliates as a related party in the amount of
approximately $221 thousand of which approximately $4 thousand was incurred in 2018.
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INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

Not applicable.
ITEM 8.
A.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Our consolidated financial statements and other financial information, which can be found at the end of this Annual Report beginning on page F1, are incorporated herein by reference.
Export Sales
In 2018 and 2017, the amount of our export sales was approximately $33.3 million and $33.5 million respectively, which represented 98% and
90% of our total sales.
Legal Proceedings
We are currently not, and have not been in the recent past, a party to any legal proceedings which may have or have had in the recent past
material effects on our financial position or profitability. However, we have been in the past, and may be from time to time in the future, named as a
defendant in certain routine litigation incidental to our business.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance
operations and to expand our business and, therefore, do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
B.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES

Except as otherwise disclosed below and/or in this Annual Report, there has been no significant change affecting our financial statements since
December 31, 2018.
ITEM 9.
A.

THE OFFER AND LISTING
OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

Our ordinary shares are traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “RDCM.”
B.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Not applicable.
C.

MARKETS

Our ordinary shares have been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market since October 1, 2007. Prior to October 1, 2007, and from the date of our
initial public offering on September 24, 1997 our ordinary shares were traded on the Nasdaq Global Market.
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SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

Not applicable.
E.

DILUTION

Not applicable.
F.

EXPENSES OF THE ISSUE

Not applicable.
ITEM 10.
A.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
SHARE CAPITAL

Not applicable.
B.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Our memorandum of association was last amended on December 30, 2015, and our articles of association were last amended on August 16,
2016. The following is a summary description of certain provisions of our memorandum of association and articles of association, in each case as is
currently in effect, and certain relevant provisions of the Israeli Companies Law (as currently in effect) which apply to us. This description is only a
summary and does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to the full text of the memorandum and articles, which are incorporated by
reference and/or filed as exhibits to this Annual Report, and to the Israeli Companies Law.
Objectives and Purposes
We were first registered by the Israeli Registrar of Companies on July 5, 1985, as a private company under the name Big Blue Catalogue Ltd.
and changed our name to RADCOM Ltd. in 1989. We later became a public company, registered by the Israeli Registrar of Companies on October 1,
1997 with the company number 52-004345-6.
The full details of our objectives and purposes can be found in Section 2 of our memorandum of association, as filed with the Israeli Registrar of
Companies and amended from time to time by resolutions of our shareholders. One of our objectives is to manufacture, market and deal – in all ways –
with computer equipment, including communications equipment and all other equipment related in any way to such equipment. Some additional
objectives of our listing include: having business relationships with representatives and agents; engaging in research and development; acquiring
intellectual property; engaging in business actions with other business owners; lending money when we deem it proper to do so; dealing in any form of
business (e.g., import, export, marketing, etc.); and many other general business activities, whether in Israel or in any other country.
Directors
According to our articles of association, our Board of Directors is to consist of not less than three and not more than nine directors, the exact
number to be determined from time to time by resolutions of our shareholders. On December 9, 2009, our shareholders determined that the number of
directors on our Board of Directors would be five. The three-year term of office for our external directors, Mr. Har and Ms. Hillel, expires in 2019.
Election of Directors
Directors, other than external directors, are elected by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the shareholders or appointed by the
board of directors. In the event that any directors are appointed by the board of directors, their appointment is required to be ratified by the shareholders at
the next shareholders’ meeting following such appointment. Our shareholders may remove a director from office in certain circumstances. There is no
requirement that a director own any of our capital shares. Directors may appoint alternative directors in their place, with the exception of external
directors, who may appoint an alternate director only in very limited circumstances. See “Item 6.C-Directors, Senior Management and Employees-Board
Practices”.
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Remuneration of Directors
Directors’ remuneration is subject to our compensation policy and to shareholder approval. Monetary compensation to external directors is
mandated by Israeli regulations, which is subject to approval by the board of directors only in certain circumstances.
Powers of the Board of Directors
Our Board of Directors may resolve to take action at a meeting when a quorum is present, and resolutions must be passed by a vote of at least a
majority of the directors present at the meeting who are entitled to participate in the meeting. A quorum of directors requires at least a majority of the
directors then in office who are lawfully entitled to participate in the meeting, but shall not be less than two.
Our Board of Directors may elect one director to serve as Chairman of the Board to preside at the meetings of our Board of Directors and may
also remove such director.
Our Board of Directors retains all power in running the Company that is not specifically granted to the shareholders. Our Board of Directors
may, at its discretion, cause us to borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money for our purposes at such times and upon such terms and
conditions in all respects as it deems fit, and, in particular, through the issuance of bonds, perpetual or redeemable debentures, debenture stock, or any
mortgages, charges, or other securities on the undertaking or the whole or any part of our property, both present and future, including our uncalled or
called but unpaid capital for the time being.
Subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, the Company may enter into any contract or otherwise transact any business with any
director in which contract or business such director has a personal interest, directly or indirectly; and may enter into any contract of otherwise transact any
business with any third party in which contract or business a director has a personal interest, directly or indirectly.
No person shall be disqualified to serve as a director by reason of his not holding shares in the Company.
Dividends
Our Board of Directors may declare dividends as it deems justified. Dividends may be paid in assets or shares of capital stock, debentures or
debenture stock of us or of other companies. Our Board of Directors may decide to distribute our profits among the shareholders. Dividends that remain
unclaimed after seven years will be forfeited and returned to us. Unless there are shareholders with special dividend rights, any dividend declared will be
distributed among the shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings of our shares for which the dividend is being declared.
Neither our memorandum of association or our articles of association nor the laws of the State of Israel restrict in any way, the ownership or
voting of ordinary shares by non-residents of Israel, except with regard to subjects of countries which are in a state of war with Israel who may not be
recognized as owners of ordinary shares. If we are wound up, then aside from any special rights of shareholders our remaining assets will be distributed
among the shareholders in proportion to their respective holdings.
Our articles of association allow us to create redeemable shares, although at the present time we do not have any such redeemable shares.
External Directors
See “Item 6.C—Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Board Practices—External Directors.”
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Fiduciary Duties of Office Holders
The Israeli Companies Law imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on all office holders of a company.
The duty of care requires an office holder to act with the level of care with which a reasonable office holder in the same position would have
acted under the same circumstances. The duty of care of an office holder includes a duty to utilize reasonable means to obtain:
●
●

information regarding the advisability of a given action submitted for his or her approval or performed by him or her by virtue of his
position; and
all other important information pertaining to such actions.

The duty of loyalty of an office holder includes a duty to:
●
●
●
●

refrain from any conflict of interest between the performance of his or her duties for the company and the performance of his or her other
duties or personal affairs;
refrain from any activity that is competitive with the company;
refrain from exploiting any business opportunity of the company to receive a personal gain for himself or herself, or for others; and
disclose to the company any information or documents relating to the company’s affairs which the office holder has received due to his or
her position as an office holder.

Each person listed in the table above under “Item 6.A—Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Directors and Senior Management”
above is an office holder. Under the Israeli Companies Law, all arrangements as to compensation of office holders who are not directors, or controlling
parties, require approval of the compensation committee to the extent that it complies with the statutory requirements which apply to the compensation
committee, and the Board of Directors. Arrangements regarding the terms of employment and compensation of directors also require approval by the
compensation committee, the Board of Directors and the shareholders.
Approval of Officeholder Compensation
The Israeli Companies Law imposes approval requirements for the compensation of office holders. Every Israeli public company must adopt a
compensation policy, recommended by the compensation committee, and approved by the board of directors and the shareholders, in that order. The
shareholder approval requires a majority of the votes cast by shareholders, excluding any controlling shareholder and those who have a personal interest
in the matter (similar to the threshold described below under ” – Duties of Shareholders”). In general, all office holders’ terms of compensation –
including fixed remuneration, bonuses, equity compensation, retirement or termination payments, indemnification, liability insurance and the grant of an
exemption from liability – must comply with the company’s compensation policy. In addition, any arrangement between a company and one of the
company’s office holders must be approved by the company’s compensation committee and the board of directors. The approval of the company’s
shareholders is required with respect to the compensation of a company’s directors (including a director that also serves as an executive officer) and the
chief executive officer.
Additionally, a special majority of the shareholders is required for the approval of the compensation of the chief executive officer, and in the
event that the compensation to an office holder is not consistent with the company’s compensation policy.
Conflict of Interest
The Israeli Companies Law requires that an office holder of a company disclose to the company, promptly and in any event no later than the
board of directors meeting in which the transaction is first discussed, any personal interest that he or she may have and all related material information
known to him or her in connection with any existing or proposed transaction by the company. A personal interest of an office holder includes an interest
of a company in which the office holder is a 5% or greater shareholder, director or general manager or in which the office holder has the right to appoint
at least one director or the general manager.
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Extraordinary Transactions
In addition, if the transaction is an extraordinary transaction as defined under Israeli law, the office holder must also disclose any personal
interest held by the office holder’s spouse, siblings, parents, grandparents, descendants, spouse’s descendants, as well as the siblings and parents of the
office holder’s spouse and the spouses of any of the foregoing. Under Israeli law, an extraordinary transaction is a transaction which is:
●
●
●

not in the ordinary course of business;
not on market terms; or
is likely to have a material impact of the Company’s profitability, assets or liabilities.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors may approve a transaction between the company and an office holder or a third party in
which an office holder has a personal interest, but only if the transaction is in the best interests of the company. If the transaction is an extraordinary
transaction, the transaction requires the approval of the audit committee and the board of directors, in that order. In certain circumstances, shareholder
approval may also be required. An office holder who has a personal interest in a matter that is considered at a meeting of the board of directors or the
audit committee may not be present at the deliberations or vote on this matter, however, with respect to an office holder, he/she may be present at the
meeting discussions if the chairman determines that the office holder has to present the matter or a majority of the members of the board of directors or
the audit committee, as the case may be, also have a personal interest. If a majority of the members of the board of directors or the audit committee, as the
case may be, also have a personal interest, shareholder approval is also required.
Amending the Rights of Shareholders
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s articles of association, the Company may change the rights of owners of shares of a
class of capital stock only with the approval of a majority of the holders of such class of stock present and voting at a separate general meeting called for
such class of stock. An enlargement of a class of stock is not considered changing the rights of such class of stock.
Shareholder Meetings
The Company has two types of general shareholder meetings: the annual general meeting and the extraordinary general meeting. An annual
general meeting must be held once in every calendar year, but not more than 15 months after the last annual general meeting. We are required to give
notice of general meetings (annual or extraordinary) no less than seven days before the general meetings. We may provide notice of our general meetings
by publishing such notice, either (1) on our website and/or (2) in one international wire service and/or (3) in any other common form of electronic
dissemination. A quorum in a general meeting consists of two or more holders of ordinary shares (present in person or by proxy), who together hold at
least one-third (1/3) of the voting power of the company. If there is no quorum within an hour of the time set, the meeting is postponed until the
following week (or any other time upon which the Chairman of the Board and the majority of the voting power represented at the meeting agree). Every
ordinary share has one vote. A shareholder may only vote the shares for which all calls have been paid, except in separate general meetings of a particular
class. A shareholder may vote in person or by proxy, or, if the shareholder is a corporate body, by its representative. We are exempted by the Nasdaq
Listing Rules from the requirement to distribute our annual report to our shareholders, but we have undertaken to post a copy of it on our website,
www.radcom.com, after filing it with the SEC. See also “Item 16G—Corporate Governance.”
Duties of Shareholders; Extraordinary Transactions with Controlling Shareholders
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the disclosure requirements that apply to an office holder also apply to a controlling shareholder of a public
company. A controlling shareholder is a shareholder who has the ability to direct the activities of a company, including a shareholder that holds 25% or
more of the voting power of a company if no other shareholder owns more than 50% of the voting power of the company, but excluding a shareholder
whose power derives solely from his or her position as a director of the company or any other position with the company. Extraordinary transactions of a
public company with a controlling shareholder or with a third party in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, and the terms of
engagement of a controlling shareholder as an office holder or employee, require the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors and the
shareholders of the company, in such order. The shareholder approval must be by a majority vote, provided that either:
●
●

a majority of the shares of shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction and are present and voting, in person, by proxy or
by written ballot, at the meeting, vote in favor of the transaction; or
the shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction who vote against the transaction do not represent more than two percent of
the voting power of the company.
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It is the responsibility of the audit committee to determine whether or not a transaction is extraordinary. In addition, the audit committee must
also establish: (i) procedures for the consideration of any transaction with a controlling shareholder, even if it is not extraordinary, such as a competitive
process with third parties or negotiation by independent directors; and (ii) approval requirements for controlling shareholder transactions that are not
material.
Agreements and extraordinary transactions with a duration exceeding three years are subject to re-approval once every three years by the audit
committee (or compensation committee, in certain circumstances under applicable law), board of directors and the shareholders of the company.
Extraordinary transactions may be approved in advance for a period exceeding three years if the audit committee determines such approval is reasonable
under the circumstances.
For information concerning the direct and indirect personal interests of certain of our office holders and principal shareholders in certain
transactions with us, see “Item 7—Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions.”
In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law each shareholder has a duty to act in good faith in exercising his or her rights and fulfilling his or
her obligations toward the company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing any power he or she has in the company, such as in shareholder
votes. In addition, certain shareholders have a duty of fairness toward the company, although such duty is not defined in the Israeli Companies Law.
These shareholders include any controlling shareholder, any shareholder who knows that he or she possesses the power to determine the outcome of a
shareholder vote and any shareholder who, pursuant to the provisions of the articles of association, has the power to appoint or to prevent the appointment
of an office holder or any other power in regard to the company.
Exculpation of Office Holders
Under the Israeli Companies Law, an Israeli company may not exculpate an office holder from liability with respect to a breach of his duty of
loyalty nevertheless may exculpate in advance an office holder from his liability to the company, in whole or in part, with respect to a breach of his duty
of care (except in connection with distributions), provided that the articles of association of the company permit it to do so. Our articles of association
allow us, subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, to prospectively exculpate an office holder from all or some of the office holder’s
responsibility for damage resulting from the office holder’s breach of the office holder’s duty of care to the Company.
Insurance of Office Holders
Our articles of association further provide that, subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, we may enter into a contract for the
insurance of the liability of any of our office holders with respect to an act performed by such individual in his or her capacity as an office holder, in
respect of each of the following:
●
●
●
●

a breach of an office holder’s duty of care to us or to another person;
a breach of an office holder’s duty of loyalty to us, provided that the office holder acted in good faith and had reasonable cause to assume
that his or her act would not prejudice our interests;
a financial obligation imposed on him in favor of another person; and
reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the office holder as a result of administrative enforcement proceedings
instituted against him. Without derogating from the generality of the foregoing, such expenses will include a payment imposed on the office
holder in favor of an injured party as set forth in Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968, as amended, or the Israeli
Securities Law, and expenses that the office holder incurred in connection with a proceeding under Chapters H’3, H’4 or I’1 of the Israeli
Securities Law, including reasonable legal expenses, which term includes attorneys’ fees.
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Indemnification of Office Holders
Our articles of association also provide that we may indemnify an office holder in respect of an obligation or expense imposed on the office
holder in respect of an act performed in his or her capacity as an office holder, as follows:
●
●

●

a financial obligation imposed on him in favor of another person by a court judgment, including a compromise judgment or an arbitrator’s
award approved by court;
reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, expended by the office holder as a result of an investigation or proceeding
instituted against him by a competent authority, provided that such investigation or proceeding was concluded without the filing of an
indictment against him and either (A) concluded without the imposition of any financial liability in lieu of criminal proceedings or (B)
concluded with the imposition of a financial liability in lieu of criminal proceedings but relates to a criminal offense that does not require
proof of criminal intent; or in connection with an administrative enforcement proceeding or a financial sanction. Without derogating from
the generality of the foregoing, such expenses will include a payment imposed on the office holder in favor of an injured party as set forth in
Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Israeli Securities Law, and expenses that the office holder incurred in connection with a proceeding under
Chapters H’3, H’4 or I’1 of the Israeli Securities Law, including reasonable legal expenses, which term includes attorney fees; and
reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, expended by an office holder or charged to the office holder by a court, in a
proceeding instituted against the office holder by the Company or on its behalf or by another person, or in a criminal charge from which the
office holder was acquitted, or in a criminal proceeding in which the office holder was convicted of an offense that does not require proof of
criminal intent.

Our articles of association also include provisions allowing us to undertake to indemnify an office holder as aforesaid:
●

●

in advance, provided that in respect of bullet number 1 above, the undertaking is restricted to events which our Board of Directors deems to
be foreseeable in light of our actual operations at the time of the undertaking and limited to an amount or criteria determined by our Board of
Directors to be reasonable under the circumstances, and further provided that such events and amounts or criteria are set forth in the
undertaking to indemnify; and
retroactively.

Limitations on Exculpation, Indemnification and Insurance
The Israeli Companies Law provides that a company may not exempt or indemnify an office holder, or enter into an insurance contract, which
would provide coverage for any monetary liability incurred as a result of any of the following:
●
●
●
●

a breach by the office holder of his duty of loyalty unless, with respect to insurance coverage or indemnification, the office holder acted in
good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the company;
a breach by the office holder of his duty of care if the breach was done intentionally or recklessly (other than if solely done in negligence);
any act or omission done with the intent to derive an illegal personal benefit
a fine, civil fine or ransom levied on an office holder, or a financial sanction imposed upon an office holder under Israeli Law.
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Required Approvals
In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law, any exculpation of, indemnification of, or procurement of insurance coverage for, the Company’s
office holders must be approved by the Company’s compensation committee and the Company’s board of directors and, if the beneficiary is a director or
the chief executive officer, by the Company’s shareholders. The Company’s audit committee, board of directors and shareholders resolved to indemnify
and exculpate the Company’s office holders by providing them with indemnification agreements and by approving the purchase of a directors and
officers liability insurance policy. We currently maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy limited to $23 million, at an annual premium of
$200 thousand.
Anti-Takeover Provisions; Mergers and Acquisitions
The Israeli Companies Law prohibits the purchase of our shares if the purchaser’s holding following such purchase increases above certain
percentages without conducting a tender offer or obtaining shareholder approval. See “Item 3.D-Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our Location in Israel Provisions of Israeli law may delay, prevent or make difficult a merger or acquisition of us, which could prevent a change of control and depress the
market price of our shares” above.
Delivery of Financial Statements
Our articles of association provide that we will only mail out copies of our annual financial statements to those shareholders that submit a written
request for such statements. In accordance with applicable law, our annual financial statements are filed with the SEC and are available at the SEC’s
website, www.sec.gov, and on our website, www.radcom.com.
C.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

For the agreements with Amdocs, see “Item 7.B- Related Party Transactions.”
On March 29, 2019, we entered into a series of agreements with AT&T relating to the sale of our solutions and services to AT&T. The AT&T
agreements include:
●

●

●

Software and Professional Services Agreement, or SPSA – a three-year framework agreement with two additional one-year options which
establishes general terms and conditions for the delivery of products and services. Such terms include, among others, terms relating to
ordering procedures; AT&T site, privacy, and security requirements; terms related to the licensing of intellectual property to AT&T; change
in control provisions permitting AT&T’s termination of the agreement under certain circumstances; intellectual property infringement
indemnity; insurance requirements; and limitations of liability. The SPSA provides the structure pursuant to which the parties may enter into
supplemental agreements for purposes of effectuating specific orders. With regard to such orders, the terms of any supplemental agreements
take precedence over the terms of the SPSA.
Supplement Agreement – a three-year agreement with two additional one-year options governing the sale of our solutions and related
professional services to AT&T. The Supplement Agreement provides the detailed technical scope for our solutions and the prices applicable
to such solutions. Pursuant to the Supplement Agreement, AT&T has committed to issue certain orders related to the continuing
enhancement of existing solutions for the first two years of the agreement and to the expansion of license use rights during the first year of
the agreement and retains options to issue certain additional orders over the three-year term of the agreement.
Supplemental Support & Maintenance Agreement – a three-year agreement for our performance of support and maintenance services for
our solutions deployed on AT&T’s network. This agreement defines the technical aspects of support including error severity levels,
response times, and method of interface, as well as the annual fee for such services.
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EXCHANGE CONTROLS

There are currently no Israeli currency control restrictions on payments of dividends or other distributions with respect to our ordinary shares or
the proceeds from the sale of our ordinary shares, except for the obligation upon Israeli residents to file reports with the Bank of Israel regarding certain
transactions. However, legislation remains in effect pursuant to which currency controls can be imposed by administrative action at any time and from
time to time.
E.

TAXATION

Israeli Tax Considerations
The following is a summary of the current tax structure applicable to companies incorporated in Israel, with special reference to its effect on
us. The following also contains a discussion of the material Israeli consequences to purchasers of our ordinary shares and Israeli government programs
that benefit us.
This summary does not discuss all the aspects of Israeli tax law that may be relevant to a particular investor in light of his or her personal
investment circumstances or to some types of investors subject to special treatment under Israeli law. To the extent that the discussion is based on new tax
legislation which has not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, we cannot assure you that the views expressed in the discussion will be
accepted by the appropriate tax authorities or the courts. The discussion is not intended, and should not be construed, as legal or professional tax advice
and is not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations.
Holders of our ordinary shares should consult their own tax advisors as to the United States, Israeli or other tax consequences of the purchase,
ownership and disposition of ordinary shares, including, in particular, the effect of any foreign state or local taxes.
General Corporate Tax Structure
Taxable income of the Company is subject to the Israeli corporate tax at the rate as follows: 2016 – 25%, 2017 - 24% and 2018 – 23%.
In December 2016, the Israeli Parliament approved the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments for Applying the Economic Policy
for the 2017 and 2018 Budget Years), 2016 which reduces the corporate income tax rate from 25% to 24% effective January 1, 2017 and to 23% effective
January 1, 2018.
Tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 ,or the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law:
In August 2013, the Israeli Parliament enacted the Law for Changing National Priorities (Legislative Amendments for Achieving Budget Targets
for 2013 and 2014), 2013 which includes Amendment 71 thereto, or Amendment 71. Per Amendment 71, the tax rate on preferred income from a
preferred enterprise in 2014-2016 will be 9% in certain areas in Israel designated as Development Area A and 16% in other areas. In 2017, the tax rate for
Development Area A was reduced to 7.5%.
We may claim the tax benefits offered by Amendment 71 in our tax returns, provided that our facilities meet the criteria for tax benefits set out
by the amendment. We are also entitled to approach the Israeli Tax Authorities for a pre-ruling regarding their eligibility for benefits under Amendment
71 (and in some cases are required to apply for such approval).
In December 2016, the Israeli Parliament enacted the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments for Applying the Economic Policy for
the 2017 and 2018 Budget Years), 2016 which includes Amendment 73 thereto, or Amendment 73. Amendment 73, which came into effect in January
2017, prescribes special tax tracks for Preferred Technological Enterprises, granting such enterprises a tax rate of 7.5% in Development Area A and 12%
in other areas, and granting a tax rate of 6% for enterprises that qualify as a Special Preferred Technological Enterprise.
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Under Amendment 73, any dividends distributed to “foreign companies”, as defined in the Economic Efficiency Law, by companies having over
90% foreign (i.e., non-Israeli) ownership, deriving from income from the Preferred Technological Enterprises will be subject to tax at a rate of 4% .
In order to be eligible for the reduced tax rate, a company must meet certain criteria as set forth in Amendment 73 including that R&D expenses
and employee level remain at a certain rate.
We have yet to claim the tax benefits offered under Amendment 73 and accordingly such reduced taxes were not considered in the computation
of the deferred taxes and valuation allowance as of December 31, 2018.
Capital Gains Tax on Sales of Our Ordinary Shares
Generally, as to Israeli residents, the Israeli tax law imposes a capital gains tax on the gain from the sale of any capital assets by Israeli residents,
whether such gain was sourced in Israel or abroad. As to non-Israeli residents, the Israeli tax law generally imposes a capital gains tax on the sale of
assets, including shares, by non-Israeli residents, if those assets are either (a) located in Israel; (b) located outside of Israel and are a direct or indirect
right to an asset or inventory located in Israel; (c) are shares or rights to shares in an Israeli resident corporation; or (d) are rights in a foreign resident
corporation (non-Israeli corporation) that holds, directly or indirectly, assets located in Israel, unless a specific exemption is available or unless a tax
treaty between Israel and the shareholder’s country of residence provides otherwise. Under the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, there
is a distinction between a real gain and inflationary surplus. The inflationary surplus is equal to the increase in the purchase price of the relevant asset
attributable to the increase in the Israeli consumer price index or, in certain circumstances, a foreign currency exchange rate, between the date of purchase
and the date of sale. The real gain is the excess of the total capital gain over the inflationary surplus.
The income tax rate applicable to real gain derived by an Israeli individual from the sale of shares which had been purchased after January 1,
2012, whether listed on a stock exchange or not, is 25%. However, if such shareholder is considered a “Substantial Shareholder” (a person who holds,
alone or together with a family relative or with a person who is not a relative where the person has a permanent cooperation agreement with such nonrelative) 10% or more of the company’s issued share capital or of voting rights in it) at the time of sale or at any time during the preceding 12-month
period, such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%. As of January 1, 2016, an additional tax at a rate of 2% will be imposed on high earners whose annual
income or gains exceed NIS 803,520. As of January 1, 2017, an additional income tax at a rate of 3% will be imposed on high earners whose annual
taxable income or gain exceeds NIS 640,000. As of January 1, 2018, an additional income tax at a rate of 3% will be imposed on high earners whose
annual taxable income or gain exceeds NIS 641,880 (including, but not limited to, dividends, interest and capital gain).
Moreover, capital gains derived by a shareholder who is a dealer or trader in securities, or to whom such income is otherwise taxable as ordinary
business income, are taxed in Israel at ordinary income rates (for fiscal year 2016, 2017 and 2018, up to 50% for individuals and for Israeli resident
corporations, the corporate tax rate is 25%, 24% and 23%, respectively).
Non-Israeli resident shareholders are generally exempt from Israeli capital gains tax on any gains derived from the sale, exchange or disposition
of our ordinary shares purchased after January 1, 2009, provided that such gains were not derived from a permanent establishment or business activity of
such shareholders in Israel. However, non-Israeli corporations shareholders will not be entitled to the foregoing exemptions if an Israeli resident (i) has a
controlling interest of more than 25% in such non-Israeli corporation or (ii) is the beneficiary of or is entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of
such non-Israeli corporation, whether directly or indirectly.
Regardless of whether shareholders may be liable for Israeli income tax on the sale of our ordinary shares, the payment of the consideration may
be subject to withholding of Israeli tax at the source. Accordingly, shareholders may be required to demonstrate that they are exempt from tax on their
capital gains in order to avoid withholding at source at the time of sale.
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U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty
Pursuant to the Convention between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with Respect to Taxes on
Income, as amended (the “U.S. - Israel Tax Treaty”), the sale, exchange or disposition of ordinary shares by a person who (i) holds the ordinary shares as
a capital asset, (ii) qualifies as a resident of the United States within the meaning of the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty and (iii) is entitled to claim the benefits
afforded to such resident by the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, generally will not be subject to Israeli capital gains tax unless either (a) such resident holds,
directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of the voting power of a company during any part of the 12-month period preceding such sale,
exchange or disposition, subject to certain conditions, or (b) the capital gains from such sale, exchange or disposition can be allocated to a permanent
establishment in Israel. In the event that the exemption shall not be available, the sale, exchange or disposition of ordinary shares would be subject to
such Israeli capital gains tax to the extent applicable; however, under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, such residents may be permitted to claim a credit for
such taxes against U.S. federal income tax imposed with respect to such sale, exchange or disposition, subject to the limitations in U.S. laws applicable to
foreign tax credits. The U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty does not relate to state or local taxes.
In some instances where our shareholders may be liable to Israeli tax on the sale of their ordinary shares, the payment of the consideration may
be subject to the withholding of Israeli tax at source. However, where a shareholder is exempt from Israeli taxation as described in the “Item 10.E—
Additional Information—Taxation—Capital Gains Tax on Sales of Our Ordinary Shares”, such exemption takes precedence over the U.S.-Israel Tax
Treaty.
Taxation of Non-Residents on Dividends
Non-Israeli residents are generally subject to Israeli withholding income tax on the receipt of dividends paid on our Shares at the rate of 25% (or
30% for individuals, if such individual is a Substantial Shareholder at the time receiving the dividend or on any date in the 12 months preceding such
date), which tax will be withheld at source, unless a tax certificate is obtained from the Israeli Tax Authority authorizing withholding-exempt remittances
or a reduced rate of tax pursuant to an applicable tax treaty.
A “substantial shareholder” is generally a person who alone or together with such person’s relative or another person who collaborates with such
person on a permanent basis, holds, directly or indirectly, at least 10% of any of the “means of control” of the corporation. “Means of control” generally
include the right to vote, receive profits, nominate a director or an executive officer, receive assets upon liquidation, or order someone who holds any of
the aforesaid rights how to act, regardless of the source of such right.
A non-Israeli resident who receives dividends from which tax was withheld is generally exempt from the duty to file tax returns in Israel in
respect of such income.
For example, under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, Israeli withholding tax on dividends paid to a U.S. resident for treaty purposes may not, in
general, exceed 25%, or 15% in the case of dividends paid out of the profits of an Approved Enterprise, subject to certain conditions. Where the recipient
is a U.S. corporation owning 10% or more of the outstanding shares of the voting stock of the paying corporation during the part of the paying
corporation’s taxable year, which precedes the date of payment of the dividend and during the whole of its prior taxable year (if any) and not more than
25% of the gross income of the paying corporation for such prior taxable year (if any) consists certain interest or dividends, the Israeli tax withheld may
not exceed 12.5%, subject to certain conditions.
Israeli Transfer Pricing Regulations
Section 85A and the regulations thereunder contain elaborate transfer pricing provisions which include the arm’s-length principle, that apply to
any international transaction in which there is a special relationship between the parties to the transaction and for which a price was settled on for
property, a right, a service, or credit.
According to the arm’s length, such international transaction shall be reported in accordance with the market price and conditions and tax shall
be due accordingly. The assessment of whether a transaction falls under the aforementioned definition shall be implemented in accordance with one of the
procedures mentioned in the regulations and is based, among others, on comparisons of characteristics which portray similar transactions in ordinary
market conditions, such as the field of activity, the type of the asset or service, the contractual conditions of the international transaction, the risks taken
by each party and according to additional terms and conditions specified in the regulations.
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United States Federal Corporate Income Tax Considerations
RADCOM US is taxed under United States federal and state tax rules. Income tax is calculated at a federal tax rate of 21% rate.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or TCJA, was signed into law making significant changes to U.S. income tax law,
including a federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the transition of U.S.
international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of
cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017.
United States Federal Income Tax Considerations for U.S. Holders
Subject to the limitations described herein, the following discussion summarizes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder
of our ordinary shares. A “U.S. Holder” means a holder of our ordinary shares who is:
●
●
●
●

an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in the United States or
under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or the District of Columbia;
an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or
a trust (i) if, in general, a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and one or more U.S.
persons have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions, or (ii) that has in effect a valid election under applicable U.S. Treasury
Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

Unless otherwise specifically indicated, this discussion does not consider the U.S. tax consequences to a person that is not a U.S. Holder, or a
Non-U.S. Holder. This discussion considers only U.S. Holders that will own our ordinary shares as capital assets (generally, for investment) and does not
purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to each U.S. Holder’s decision to purchase our ordinary
shares.
This discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, current and proposed Treasury
Regulations promulgated thereunder, and administrative and judicial decisions as of the date hereof, all of which are subject to change, possibly on a
retroactive basis. This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to any particular U.S. Holder in light of
such holder’s individual circumstances. In particular, this discussion does not address the potential application of the alternative minimum tax or U.S.
federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders that are subject to special treatment, including U.S. Holders that:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

are broker-dealers or insurance companies;
have elected mark-to-market accounting;
are tax-exempt organizations or retirement plans;
are financial institutions;
hold our ordinary shares as part of a straddle, “hedge” or “conversion transaction” with other investments;
acquired our ordinary shares upon the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation;
own directly, indirectly or by attribution at least 10% of our voting power or value;
own our warrants;
have a functional currency that is not the U.S. dollar;
are grantor trusts;
are S corporations;
are certain former citizens or long-term residents of the United States; or
are real estate investment trusts or regulated investment companies.
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If a partnership (or any other entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds our ordinary shares, the tax treatment of
the partnership and a partner in such partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Such a partner or
partnership should consult its own tax advisor as to its tax consequences.
In addition, this discussion does not address any aspect of state, local or non-United States laws or the possible application of United States
federal gift or estate tax.
Each holder of our ordinary shares is advised to consult such person’s own tax advisor with respect to the specific tax consequences to such
person of purchasing, holding or disposing of our ordinary shares, including the applicability and effect of federal, state, local and foreign income tax and
other tax laws to such person’s particular circumstances.
Taxation of U.S. Holders of Ordinary Shares
Taxation of Distributions Paid on Ordinary Shares. A U.S. Holder, other than certain U.S. Holders that are U.S. corporations, will be required
to include in gross income as ordinary dividend income the amount of any distribution paid on our ordinary shares, including any non-U.S. taxes withheld
from the amount paid, to the extent the distribution is paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. Distributions in excess of such earnings and profits will be applied against and will reduce the U.S. Holder’s basis in our ordinary shares
and, to the extent in excess of such basis, will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of our ordinary shares. The dividend portion of such
distributions generally will not qualify for the dividends received deduction available to corporations.
Subject to the discussion below under “Medicare Tax” dividends that are received by U.S. Holders that are individuals, estates or trusts will be
taxed at the rate applicable to long-term capital gains (a maximum rate of 20% for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012), provided that such
dividends meet the requirements of “qualified dividend income.” For this purpose, qualified dividend income generally includes dividends paid by a nonU.S. corporation if certain holding period and other requirements are met and either (i) the stock of the non-U.S. corporation with respect to which the
dividends are paid is readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S. (e.g., Nasdaq) or (ii) the non-U.S. corporation is eligible for benefits
of a comprehensive income tax treaty with the United States, which includes an information exchange program and is determined to be satisfactory by the
U.S. Secretary of the Treasury. The IRS has determined that the U.S.-Israel income tax treaty is satisfactory for this purpose. Dividends that fail to meet
such requirements, and dividends received by corporate U.S. Holders, are taxed at ordinary income rates. No dividend received by a U.S. Holder will be
a qualified dividend (i) if the U.S. Holder held the ordinary share with respect to which the dividend was paid for less than 61 days during the 121-day
period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the ex-dividend date with respect to such dividend, excluding for this purpose, under the rules of Code
Section 246(c), any period during which the U.S. Holder has an option to sell, is under a contractual obligation to sell, has made and not closed a short
sale of, is the grantor of a deep-in-the-money or otherwise nonqualified option to buy, or has otherwise diminished its risk of loss by holding other
positions with respect to, such ordinary share (or substantially identical securities); or (ii) to the extent that the U.S. Holder is under an obligation
(pursuant to a short sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to positions in property substantially similar or related to the ordinary share
with respect to which the dividend is paid. If we were to be a “passive foreign investment company” (as such term is defined in the Code) for any taxable
year, dividends paid on our ordinary shares in such year or in the following taxable year would not be qualified dividends. In addition, a non-corporate
U.S. Holder will be able to take a qualified dividend into account in determining its deductible investment interest (which is generally limited to its net
investment income) only if it elects to do so; in such case the dividend will be taxed at ordinary income rates.
Distributions of current or accumulated earnings and profits paid in foreign currency to a U.S. Holder (including any non-U.S. taxes withheld
therefrom) will generally be includible in the income of a U.S. Holder in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate on the day the
distribution is received. A U.S. Holder that receives a foreign currency distribution and converts the foreign currency into U.S. dollars subsequent to
receipt may have foreign exchange gain or loss based on any appreciation or depreciation in the value of the foreign currency against the U.S. dollar,
which will generally be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.
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U.S. Holders, other than certain U.S. Holders that are corporations, may have the option of claiming the amount of any non-U.S. income taxes
withheld at source either as a deduction from gross income or as a dollar-for-dollar credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Individuals who
do not claim itemized deductions, but instead utilize the standard deduction, may not claim a deduction for the amount of the non-U.S. income taxes
withheld, but such amount may be claimed as a credit against the individual’s U.S. federal income tax liability. The amount of non-U.S. income taxes
which may be claimed as a credit in any taxable year is subject to complex limitations and restrictions, which must be determined on an individual basis
by each shareholder. These limitations include, among others, rules which limit foreign tax credits allowable with respect to specific classes of income to
the U.S. federal income taxes otherwise payable with respect to each such class of income. A U.S. Holder will be denied a foreign tax credit with respect
to non-U.S. income tax withheld from a dividend received on the ordinary shares if such U.S. Holder has not held the ordinary shares for at least 16 days
of the 31-day period beginning on the date which is 15 days before the ex-dividend date with respect to such dividend, or to the extent such U.S. Holder is
under an obligation to make related payments with respect to substantially similar or related property. Any days during which a U.S. Holder has
substantially diminished its risk of loss on the ordinary shares are not counted toward meeting the required 16-day holding period. Distributions of
current or accumulated earnings and profits generally will be foreign source passive income for United States foreign tax credit purposes.
Taxation of the Disposition of Ordinary Shares. Upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares, a U.S. Holder will
recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between such U.S. Holder’s basis in such ordinary shares, which is usually the cost of
such shares, and the amount realized on the disposition. A U.S. Holder that uses the cash method of accounting calculates the U.S. dollar value of the
proceeds received on the sale as of the date that the sale settles, while a U.S. Holder that uses the accrual method of accounting is required to calculate the
value of the proceeds of the sale as of the “trade date,” unless such U.S. Holder has elected to use the settlement date to determine its proceeds of
sale. Subject to the discussion below under “Medicare Tax,” capital gain from the sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares held more than
one year is long-term capital gain and is eligible for a reduced rate of taxation for individuals (currently a maximum rate of 20% for taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2012). Gains recognized by a U.S. Holder on a sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares generally will be
treated as United States source income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. A loss recognized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange or other disposition
of ordinary shares generally is allocated to U.S. source income. The deductibility of a capital loss recognized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of
ordinary shares is subject to limitations. A U.S. Holder that receives foreign currency upon disposition of ordinary shares and converts the foreign
currency into U.S. dollars subsequent to the settlement date or trade date (whichever date the taxpayer was required to use to calculate the value of the
proceeds of sale) may have foreign exchange gain or loss based on any appreciation or depreciation in the value of the foreign currency against the U.S.
dollar, which will generally be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.
Medicare Tax. With respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012, certain non-corporate U.S. holders will be subject to an
additional 3.8% Medicare tax on all or a portion of their “net investment income,” which may include dividends on, or capital gains recognized from the
disposition of, our ordinary shares. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the implications of the additional Medicare tax on
their investment in our ordinary shares.
Taxation for Non-U.S. Holders of Ordinary Shares
Except as described in “—Information Reporting and Backup Withholding” below, a Non-U.S. Holder of our ordinary shares will not be subject
to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on the payment of dividends on, and/or the proceeds from the disposition of, our ordinary shares, unless, in the
case of U.S. federal income taxes:
●
●

such item is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business in the United States and, in the case of a
resident of a country which has a treaty with the United States, such item is attributable to a permanent establishment or, in the case of an
individual, a fixed place of business, in the United States; or
the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who holds the ordinary shares as a capital asset and is present in the United States for 183 days or more
in the taxable year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met.
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
U.S. Holders (other than exempt recipients, such as corporations) generally are subject to information reporting requirements with respect to
dividends paid on, or proceeds from the disposition of, our ordinary shares. U.S. Holders are also generally subject to backup withholding (currently at a
rate of 24%) on dividends paid on, or proceeds from the disposition of, our ordinary shares unless the U.S. Holder provides IRS Form W-9 or otherwise
establishes an exemption.
Non-U.S. Holders generally are not subject to information reporting or backup withholding with respect to dividends paid on, or upon the
proceeds from the disposition of, our ordinary shares, provided that such Non-U.S. Holder provides its taxpayer identification number, certifies to its
foreign status, or otherwise establishes an exemption.
The amount of any backup withholding may be allowed as a credit against a U.S. or Non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability and may
entitle such holder to a refund, provided that certain required information is furnished to the IRS.
Certain individuals who are U.S. Holders may be required to file a Form 8938 to report their ownership of specified foreign financial assets,
which may include our ordinary shares, if the total value of those assets exceed certain thresholds. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors
regarding their tax reporting obligations, including the requirement to file a Form 8938.
Brazilian Tax Considerations
RADCOM Brazil is taxed under Brazilian tax rules. Income tax is calculated based on a 34% rate.
F.

DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS

Not applicable.
G.

STATEMENT BY EXPERTS

Not applicable.
H.

DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

We are required to file reports and other information with the SEC under the Exchange Act and the regulations thereunder applicable to foreign
private issuers. We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act applicable to foreign private issuers and fulfill the obligation with
respect to such requirements by filing reports with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC without charge on the SEC’s
website (www.sec.gov). We generally make available on our own website (www.radcom.com) our annual reports as well as other information. However,
as an Israeli publicly traded company, we do not send copies of our annual reports to our shareholders. We will mail out copies of our annual financial
statements only to those shareholders that submit a written request for such statements. See also “Item 10.B—Additional Information—Memorandum
and Articles of Association” and “Item 16G—Corporate Governance.” Information contained on our website is not a part of this Annual Report.
Any statement contained in this Annual Report about any of our contracts or other documents is not necessarily complete. If the contract or
document is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report, the contract or document is deemed to modify the description contained in this Annual Report. We
urge you to review the exhibits themselves for a complete description of the contract or document.
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As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and
our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from reporting and “short-swing” profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the
Exchange Act. In addition, we are not required under the Exchange Act to file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as
promptly as United States companies whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act. A copy of each report submitted in accordance with
applicable United States law is available for public review at our principal executive offices.
I.

SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION

Not applicable.
ITEM 11.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to a variety of risks, including changes in interest rates affecting primarily the interest received on short-term deposits and
foreign currency fluctuations. We may in the future undertake hedging or other similar transactions or invest in market, risk-sensitive instruments if our
management determines that it is necessary to offset these risks.
Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market risks regarding changes in interest rates relates primarily to our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term bank deposits and
to loans we may take that are based on a floating/fixed interest rate. Our cash and cash equivalents are held mainly in U.S. dollars with financial banks
and bear annual average interest range of approximately 1.37-2.70%. For the purposes of specific risk analysis, we use a sensitivity analysis to determine
the impact that market risk exposure may have on the financial income derived from our cash and cash equivalents. The potential loss to us over one year
that would result from a hypothetical change in our annual average range interest rates of 10% is not material.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Our financial results may be negatively impacted by foreign currency fluctuations. Our foreign operations are generally transacted through our
U.S. and Brazil subsidiaries and through our representatives and distributors. Typically, these sales and related expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars,
BRLs or in euros for European countries, while a significant portion of our expenses are denominated in NIS. Because our financial results are reported in
U.S. dollars, our results of operations may be adversely impacted by fluctuations in the rates of exchange between the U.S. dollar and other currencies,
mainly the NIS and BRL. Based on our budget for 2019, we expect that (i) an increase of ten percent (10%) in the exchange rate of the NIS to U.S. dollar
will decrease our operating expenses expressed in dollar terms by approximately $2.0 million per year and vice versa and (ii) an increase of ten percent
(10%) in the exchange rate of the BRL to U.S. dollar will decrease our operating expenses expressed in dollar terms by approximately $102 thousand per
year and vice versa.
See also “Item 5.A—Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Operating Results—Impact of Inflation and Currency Fluctuations.”
ITEM 12.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 13.

DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None.
ITEM 14.

MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.
ITEM 15.
a.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, together with the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures of our financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act), as of December 31,
2018. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were: (1) designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, and by others within those entities, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding the required disclosure, particularly during the period in
which this report was being prepared and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
by the SEC’s rules and forms.
b.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management, under the supervision of the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers,
and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and includes those policies and procedures
that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transaction and dispositions of the assets of the
Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP; (3) provide reasonable assurance that our receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
Board of Directors (as appropriate); and (4) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including its principal executive and financial officers, the
Company conducted an evaluation, and assessed the effectiveness of, our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the
2013 framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control —Integrated
Framework.
Based on our assessment under that framework and the criteria established therein, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2018,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.
c.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Kost, Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global independently assessed
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and has issued an attestation report, which is included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange
Act) that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
ITEM 16A.

AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Irit Hillel is our “audit committee financial expert” (as defined in paragraph (b) of Item 16A of Form
20-F) serving on our Audit Committee. For information on Ms. Hillel’s professional and educational background, see “Item 6.A—Directors, Senior
Management and Employees—Directors and Senior Management.” Ms. Hillel qualifies as an “independent” director under the Nasdaq Listing Rules.
ITEM 16B.

CODE OF ETHICS

Our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which applies to all our directors, officers and employees, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer, as may be amended from time to time, is publicly available on our website at http://www.radcom.com. Future amendments to
our Code of Ethics will be posted on our website.
ITEM 16C.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst and Young Global, is our independent registered public accounting firm. Fees for professional
services in 2018 and 2017 were, respectively:
Audit Fees
Audit Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

$
$
$
$
$

2018
234,500
3,000
31,334
268,834

$
$
$
$
$

2017
224,500
3,000
30,500
110,000
368,000

Audit fees included fees associated with the annual audit, the reviews of our quarterly financial statements, audit fees related to our internal
control over financial reporting, statutory audits required internationally, consents and assistance with and review of documents filed with the SEC.
Audit related fees included fees associated with the annual report for the IIA.
Tax fees included tax compliance, including the preparation of tax returns, tax planning and tax advice, including assistance with tax audits and
appeals, advice related to acquisitions, transactions, transfer pricing and assistance with respect to requests for rulings from tax authorities.
All other fees included fees related to the 2017 Public Offering and other services.
Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
Our Audit Committee oversees our independent auditors. See also the description under the heading “Board Practices” in “Item 6—Directors,
Senior Management and Employees.” Our Audit Committee’s policy is to approve any audit or permitted non-audit services proposed to be provided by
our independent auditors, before engaging our independent auditors to provide such services. Pursuant to this policy, which is designed to ensure that
such engagements do not impair the independence of our auditors, the Chairperson of our Audit Committee is authorized to approve any such services
between the meetings of our Audit Committee, subject to ratification by the Audit Committee, and to report any such approvals to the Audit Committee at
its next meeting. All the fees set forth above were approved by the Audit Committee.
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EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.
ITEM 16E.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

Not applicable.
ITEM 16F.

CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not applicable.
ITEM 16G.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are a foreign private issuer whose Ordinary Shares are listed on the Nasdaq. As such, we are required to comply with U.S. federal securities
laws, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the Nasdaq Listing Rules, including the Nasdaq’s corporate governance requirements. The Nasdaq Listing
Rules provide that foreign private issuers may follow their home country practice in lieu of certain qualitative listing requirements subject to certain
exceptions and except to the extent that such exemptions would be contrary to U.S. federal securities laws, so long as the foreign issuer submits to Nasdaq
in advance a written statement from an independent counsel in such issuer’s home country certifying that the issuer’s practices are not prohibited by the
home country’s laws and discloses that it does not follow such listing requirement and describes the home country practice followed in its reports filed
with the SEC. In addition, a foreign private issuer must disclose in its annual reports filed with the SEC each such requirement that it does not follow and
describe the home county practice followed by the issuer instead of any such requirement. Accordingly, our shareholders may not be afforded the same
protection as provided under Nasdaq’s corporate governance rules.
In accordance with Israeli law and practice and subject to the exemption set forth in Rule 5615 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, we have elected to
follow the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, rather than the Nasdaq Listing Rules, with respect to the following requirements:
●

●

●

Distribution of periodic reports to shareholders; proxy solicitation. As opposed to the Nasdaq Listing Rules, which require listed issuers to
make such reports available to shareholders in one of a number of specific manners, Israeli law does not require us to distribute periodic
reports directly to shareholders, and the generally accepted business practice in Israel is not to distribute such reports to shareholders but to
make such reports available through a public website. In addition to making such reports available on a public website, we currently make
our audited financial statements available to our shareholders at our offices and will only mail such reports to shareholders upon request. As
a foreign private issuer, we are generally exempt from the SEC’s proxy solicitation rules.
Compensation of officers. Israeli law and our amended and restated articles of association do not require that the independent members of
our Board of Directors (or a compensation committee composed solely of independent members of our Board of Directors) determine an
executive officer’s compensation, as is generally required under the Nasdaq Listing Rules with respect to the Chief Executive Officer and all
other executive officers. Instead, compensation of executive officers is determined and approved by our Compensation Committee and our
Board of Directors, and in certain circumstances by our shareholders, either in consistency with our office holder compensation policy or, in
special circumstances in deviation therefrom, taking into account certain considerations stated in the Israeli Companies Law.
Shareholder approval is generally required for executive officer compensation in the event (i) approval by our Board of Directors and our
Compensation Committee is not consistent with our office holders compensation policy, or (ii) compensation required to be approved is that
of our chief executive officer who is not a director or an executive officer who is also the controlling shareholder of our company (including
an affiliate thereof). Such shareholder approval shall require a majority vote of the shares present and voting at a shareholders meeting,
provided either (i) such majority includes a majority of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders who do not otherwise have a
personal interest in the compensation arrangement that are voted on at the meeting, excluding for such purpose any abstentions of
disinterested shareholders, or (ii) the total shares held by non-controlling and disinterested shareholders voted against the arrangement does
not exceed 2% of the voting rights in our company.
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Additionally, approval of the compensation of an executive officer, who is also a director, shall generally require a simple majority vote of
the shares present and voting at a shareholders meeting, if consistent with our office holders compensation policy. Our Compensation
Committee and Board of Directors may, in special circumstances, approve the compensation of an executive officer (other than a director, a
chief executive officer or a controlling shareholder) or approve the compensation policy despite shareholders’ objection, based on specified
arguments and taking shareholders’ objections into account. Our Compensation Committee may further exempt an engagement with a
nominee for the position of chief executive officer, who meets the non-affiliation requirements set forth for an external director, from
requiring shareholders’ approval, if such engagement is consistent with our office holders compensation policy and our Compensation
Committee determines based on specified arguments that presentation of such engagement to shareholders’ approval is likely to prevent
such engagement. To the extent that any such transaction with a controlling shareholder is for a period extending beyond three years,
approval is required once every three years.
A director or executive officer may not be present when the board of directors of a company discusses or votes upon the terms of his or her
compensation, unless the chairman of the board of directors determines that he or she should be present to present the transaction that is
subject to approval.
Shareholder approval. We will seek shareholder approval for all corporate actions requiring such approval under the requirements of the
Israeli Companies Law, rather than seeking approval for corporation actions in accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635. In particular,
under this Nasdaq rule, shareholder approval is generally required for: (i) an acquisition of shares/assets of another company that involves
the issuance of 20% or more of the acquirer’s shares or voting rights or if a director, officer or 5% shareholder has greater than a 5% interest
in the target company or the consideration to be received; (ii) the issuance of shares leading to a change of control; (iii) adoption/amendment
of equity compensation arrangements; and (iv) issuances of 20% or more of the shares or voting rights (including securities convertible into,
or exercisable for, equity) of a listed company via a private placement (and/or via sales by directors/officers/5% shareholders) if such equity
is issued (or sold) at below the greater of the book or market value of shares. By contrast, under the Israeli Companies Law, shareholder
approval is required for, among other things: (i) transactions with directors concerning the terms of their service or indemnification,
exemption and insurance for their service (or for any other position that they may hold at a company), for which approvals of the
compensation committee, board of directors and shareholders are all required, (ii) extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders of
publicly held companies, which require the special approval described below under “Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli
Law – Disclosure of personal interests of controlling shareholders,” and (iii) terms of employment or other engagement of the controlling
shareholder of the Company or such controlling shareholder’s relative, which require the special approval described below under “Approval
of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law – Disclosure of personal interests of a controlling shareholder and approval of transactions.”
In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law, a merger requires approval of the shareholders of each of the merging companies.

Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law
Disclosure of personal interests of a controlling shareholder and approval of transactions
The Israeli Companies Law also requires that a controlling shareholder promptly disclose to the company any personal interest that he or she
may have and all related material information or documents relating to any existing or proposed transaction by the company. A controlling shareholder’s
disclosure must be made promptly and in any event no later than the first meeting of the board of directors at which the transaction is considered.
Extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, including a private placement in
which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, and the terms of engagement of the company, directly or indirectly, with a controlling shareholder
or a controlling shareholder’s relative (including through a corporation controlled by a controlling shareholder), regarding the company’s receipt of
services from the controlling shareholder, and if such controlling shareholder is also an office holder of the company, regarding his or her terms of
employment, require the approval of each of (i) the audit committee or the compensation committee with respect to the terms of the engagement of the
company, (ii) the board of directors and (iii) the shareholders, in that order. In addition, the shareholder approval must fulfill one of the following
requirements:
●
●

a majority of the shares held by shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction and are voting at the meeting must be voted in
favor of approving the transaction, excluding abstentions; or
the shares voted by shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction who vote against the transaction represent no more than
2% of the voting rights in the company.

In addition, any extraordinary transaction with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest with a term
of more than three years requires the abovementioned approval every three years; however, such transactions not involving the receipt of services or
compensation can be approved for a longer term, provided that the audit committee determines that such longer term is reasonable under the
circumstances.
The Israeli Companies Law requires that every shareholder that participates, in person, by proxy or by voting instrument, in a vote regarding a
transaction with a controlling shareholder, must indicate in advance or in the ballot whether or not that shareholder has a personal interest in the vote in
question. Failure to so indicate will result in the invalidation of that shareholder’s vote.
ITEM 16H.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 17.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have responded to Item 18 in lieu of this item.
ITEM 18.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our consolidated financial statements and the report of independent registered public accounting firm in connection therewith are filed as part of
this Annual Report, as noted below:
Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Page
F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets

F-4

Consolidated Statements of Operations

F-6

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

F-7

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

F-8

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

F-9

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-11
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EXHIBITS

The exhibits filed with or incorporated into this Annual Report are listed below.
Exhibit No.

Description

1.1

Memorandum of Association, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to the (i) Registration Statement on Form F-1 of
RADCOM Ltd. (File No. 333-05022), filed with the SEC on June 12, 1996, (ii) Form 6-K of RADCOM Ltd., filed with the SEC on
April 1, 2008 and (iii) Exhibit 99.2 to Form 6-K of RADCOM Ltd., filed with the SEC on November 23, 2015).

1.2

Amended and Restated Articles of Association, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2017).

2.1

Form of ordinary share certificate (incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012, filed with the SEC on April 22, 2013).

4.1

2013 Share Option Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014, filed with the SEC on March 26, 2015).

4.2

Master Subcontract Agreement, dated March 23, 2015, by and between Amdocs Inc. and RADCOM US (incorporated herein by
reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2017)*.

4.3

Value Added Reseller Agreement, dated December 30, 2015, by and between Amdocs Software Systems Limited and the Company
(incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the SEC
on March 30, 2017)*.

4.4

Addendum to the Value Added Reseller Agreement, dated December 30, 2015, by and between Amdocs Software Systems Limited
and the Company (incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016,
filed with the SEC on March 30, 2017)*.

4.5

Supplemental Agreement, dated December 30, 2015, by and between Amdocs Software Systems Limited and the Company
(incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, filed with the SEC
on March 30, 2017)*.

4.6

RADCOM Compensation Policy for Executive Officers and Directors, as amended on August 16, 2016. (incorporated herein by
reference to the Form 6-K of RADCOM Ltd., filed with the SEC on July 12, 2016).

4.7

Software and Professional Services Agreement, dated March 29, 2019, by and between AT&T Services, Inc. and the Company (filed
herewith)**.

4.8

Supplement Agreement, dated March 29, 2019, by and between AT&T Services, Inc. and the Company (filed herewith)**.

4.9

Supplemental Support & Maintenance Agreement, dated March 29, 2019, by and between AT&T Services, Inc. and the Company
(filed herewith)**.
75

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 82
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

8.1

List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith).

12.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) (filed herewith).

12.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) (filed herewith).

13.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) (furnished herewith).

13.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) (furnished herewith).

15.1

Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst and Young Global, dated April 18, 2019 (filed herewith).

101

The following financial information from RADCOM Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; (ii) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2017 and 2016; (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (filed herewith).

*

Confidential treatment was granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to 17.C.F.R. §240.24b-2. Omitted portions were filed
separately with the SEC.
** Certain identified information in the exhibit has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) would likely cause
competitive harm to RADCOM if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURE
The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.
RADCOM LTD.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:
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/s/ Yaron Ravkaie
Yaron Ravkaie
Chief Executive Officer
April 18, 2019
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
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Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer
144 Menachem Begin Road, Building A
Tel-Aviv 6492102, Israel

Tel: +972-3-6232525
Fax: +972-3-5622555
ey.com

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of RADCOM Ltd.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RADCOM Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018
and 2017 and the related consolidated statements of operations, statements of comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2018 and
2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated April 18, 2019 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
A Member of Ernst & Young Global
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.
Tel-Aviv, Israel
April 18, 2019
F-2
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Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer
144 Menachem Begin Road, Building A
Tel-Aviv 6492102, Israel

Tel: +972-3-6232525
Fax: +972-3-5622555
ey.com

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of RADCOM Ltd.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited RADCOM Ltd. and its subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the “COSO Criteria”). In our opinion, RADCOM Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related consolidated statements of operations, statements of
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes
and our report dated April 18, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
A Member of Ernst & Young Global
Tel-Aviv, Israel
April 18, 2019
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
U.S. dollars in thousands
December 31,
2018
2017
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Restricted bank deposit
Short-term bank deposit
Trade receivables (net of allowances for doubtful accounts amounted to $19 and $9 as of December 31, 2018, and
2017, respectively)
Inventories
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Total current assets
SEVERANCE PAY FUND
OTHER LONG - TERM RECEIVABLES
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Total assets

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
F-4

61,988
-

$

22,575
36
40,000

20,381
251
1,766

20,266
1,199
2,685

84,386

86,761

2,967

3,052

346

172

1,832

1,924

89,531

$

91,909
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
December 31,
2017
2018
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Trade payables
Employees and payroll accruals
Deferred revenues and advances from customers
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

1,559
3,420
266
2,281

$

1,828
4,062
2,601
3,428

Total current liabilities

7,526

11,919

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Deferred revenues
Accrued severance pay

100
3,425

21
3,573

Total non-current liabilities

3,525

3,594

Total liabilities

$

11,051

$

15,513

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Share capital:
Ordinary Shares of NIS 0.20 par value: Authorized: 20,000,000 shares at December 31, 2018 and 2017;
13,735,759 and 13,446,007 shares issued and 13,699,727 and 13,409,975 shares outstanding at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

$

Total shareholders’ equity

643 $
135,730
(2,612)
(55,281)
78,480

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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89,531

628
131,491
(2,520)
(53,203)
76,396

$
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

2018
Revenues:
Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and support

$

Year ended December 31,
2017
2016

13,529
12,218
8,303

$

7,457
26,179
3,597

$

8,642
17,534
3,334

34,050

37,233

29,510

4,851
2,825
1,190

4,680
5,321
487

5,603
2,902
477

8,866

10,488

8,982

Gross profit

25,184

26,745

20,528

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Less - royalty-bearing participation

15,503
1,648

10,562
1,599

8,047
1,693

Research and development, net

13,855

8,963

6,354

Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative

11,426
3,391

10,996
4,191

8,528
4,523

Total operating expenses

28,672

24,150

19,405

Operating income (loss)

(3,488)

2,595

1,123

389

816

2,984

1,939

Cost of revenues:
Products and related services
Projects
Warranty and support

Financial income, net

1,136

Income (loss) before taxes on income

(2,352)

Taxes on income

(63)

Net income (loss)

(83)

(24)

$

(2,415) $

2,901

$

1,915

Basic net income (loss) per Ordinary Share

$

(0.18) $

0.24

$

0.18

Diluted net income (loss) per Ordinary Share

$

(0.18) $

0.23

$

0.18

Weighted average number of Ordinary Share used in computing basic net income (loss) per
Ordinary Share

13,630,793

12,039,176

10,406,897

Weighted average number of Ordinary Share used in computing diluted net income (loss) per
Ordinary Share

13,630,793

12,351,566

10,779,547

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
U.S. dollars in thousands

2018
Net income (loss)

$

Year ended December 31,
2017
2016

(2,415) $

2,901

$

1,915

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments

(92)

39

201

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

(92)

39

201

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
Number of
shares

Share
capital
amount

Additional
paid-in capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

Balance as of January 1, 2016

8,638,685 $

372 $

70,270 $

Issuance of Ordinary Shares, net of
issuance costs of $1,721, upon followon public offering
Share-based compensation and RSUs
Exercise of warrants into Ordinary Shares
Exercise of options into Ordinary Shares
RSUs vested
Net income
Other comprehensive income

2,090,909
310,985
508,149
37,500
-

108
16
25
2
-

21,171
2,471
1,069
3,304
(2)
-

11,586,228 $

523 $

98,283 $

1,661,536
109,487
52,724
-

95
7
3
-

13,409,975 $

Balance as of December 31, 2016
Issuance of Ordinary Shares, net of
issuance costs of $2,194, upon followon public offering
Share-based compensation and RSUs
Exercise of options into Ordinary Shares
RSUs vested
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 2017
Cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principles (ASC 606)
Share-based compensation and RSUs
Exercise of options into Ordinary Shares
RSUs vested
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Balance as of December 31, 2018

Accumulated
deficit

Total
shareholders’
equity

(2,760) $

(58,019) $

9,863

201

1,915
-

21,279
2,471
1,085
3,329
1,915
201

(2,559) $

(56,104) $

40,143

30,111
2,216
884
(3)
-

39

2,901
-

30,206
2,216
891
2,901
39

628 $

131,491 $

(2,520) $

(53,203) $

76,396

215,542
74,210
-

11
4
-

2,121
2,122
(4)
-

(92)

337
(2,415)
-

337
2,121
2,133
(2,415)
(92)

13,699,727 $

643 $

135,730 $

(2,612) $

(55,281) $

78,480

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. dollars in thousands

2018

Year ended December 31,
2017
2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used in) by operating activities:
Depreciation
Share-based compensation and RSUs
Change in:
Severance pay, net
Trade receivables, net
Other account receivables and prepaid expenses
Inventories
Trade payables
Employees and payroll accruals
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue and advances from customers

$

(2,415) $

2,901

$

1,915

657
2,121

537
2,216

286
2,471

(63)
13
658
901
(182)
(622)
(848)
(2,169)

42
(15,865)
(520)
(560)
(1,150)
524
1,385
(109)

4
(329)
524
794
1,273
999
266
1,248

(1,949)

(10,599)

9,451

Repayment of (investment in) a short-term bank deposit
Purchase of property and equipment

40,000
(662)

(40,000)
(790)

(1,331)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

39,338

(40,790)

(1,331)

2,133

30,206
891

21,279
1,085
3,329

Net cash provided (used in) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Ordinary Shares, net of issuance costs upon follow-on public offering
Exercise of warrants into Ordinary Shares
Exercise of options into Ordinary Shares
Net cash provided by financing activities

$
F-9

2,133

$
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$
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. dollars in thousands

2018
Foreign currency translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents

$

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposit at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposit at end of the period
(a)

(b)

Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
(145) $

39,377
22,611

(15) $
(20,307)
42,918

346
34,159
8,759

$

61,988

$

22,611

$

42,918

Purchase of property and equipment

$

152

$

239

$

81

Cash paid during the year for:
Taxes on income

$

25

$

83

$

24

Non-cash investing activities:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 1: - GENERAL
a.

RADCOM Ltd. (the “Company”) is an Israeli corporation which provides NFV and 5G-ready service assurance, cloud-native network
intelligence solutions for Communication Service Providers (“CSPs”). The Company’s solutions include RADCOM Service Assurance,
a fully virtualized, on-demand service assurance solution that integrates an automated, and efficient data acquisition layer of virtual
probes with a smart mediation layer thus providing critical customer and service insights; RADCOM Network Visibility, a cloud-native
network packet broker and filtering solution that allows CSPs to manage network traffic at scale across multiple cloud environments
and control the visibility layer to perform dynamic, on-demand analysis of select datasets; and RADCOM Network Insights, a business
intelligence solution offering smart insights for multiple use cases, enabled by data captured and correlated through RADCOM Network
Visibility and RADCOM Service Assurance. The Company specializes in solutions for next-generation mobile and fixed networks,
including LTE, LTE-A, VoLTE, IMS, VoIP, WiFi, VoWiFi, UMTS/GSM, mobile broadband and 5G. The Company’s shares (the
“Ordinary Shares”) are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “RDCM”.
The Company has wholly-owned subsidiaries in the United States and Brazil, that are primarily engaged in the sales, marketing,
deployment and customer support of the Company’s products in United States and Brazil. The Company also has a wholly-owned
subsidiary in India, that primarily provides marketing, customer support and development services worldwide. Additionally, the
Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary in Israel solely established for the purpose of making various investments, including securities
purchases.

b.

In December 2015, the Company entered to a multi-year sales agreement with Amdocs Software Systems Limited (“Amdocs”) for the
resale of the Company’s solutions to AT&T Services, Inc. (“AT&T”), a leading North American Tier-1 telecom operator (the “AT&T
Engagement”). Since then, the Company signed additional agreements with Amdocs in connection with the AT&T Engagement. During
2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized revenues in the amount of $16,296, $24,528 and $18,310 pursuant to the AT&T
Engagement and the additional agreements, which represent approximately 48%, 66% and 62% of the total consolidated revenues of the
Company, respectively. (See also Note 13c).
On March 29, 2019 the Company entered into a series of agreements with AT&T to provide the Company’s solutions to AT&T.
The Company depends on a limited number of contract customers for selling its solution.
If these customers become unable or unwilling to continue to buy the Company’s solution, a loss of any significant customer, a
significant decrease in business from any such customer, a reduction in customer revenue due to adverse changes in the market,
economic or competitive conditions or other factors could adversely affect the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
position.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 1: - GENERAL (Cont.)
c.

Follow-on Public Offerings:
In May 2016, a “shelf” registration statement covering the public sale of up to $50,000 of the Company’s Ordinary Shares was declared
effective by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Following such registration, during May 2016, the Company closed a follow-on public offering (as further described in Note 11b1 and
Note 13e) for a total consideration of approximately $21,279, net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses
of $1,721 payable by the Company.
In October 2017, the Company closed a follow-on public offering (as further described in Note 11b2) for a total consideration of
approximately $30,206, net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses of $2,194 payable by the Company.

NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements are prepared according to United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).
a.

Use of estimates:
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates,
judgments and assumptions. The Company’s management believes that the estimates, judgments and assumptions used are reasonable
based upon information available at the time they are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
b.

Financial statements in U.S. dollars (“$” “dollar” or “dollars”):
Most of the revenues of the Company and its subsidiaries, other than the Company’s subsidiary in Brazil, are denominated in U.S.
dollars. Financing activities are made in U.S. dollars. Therefore, the Company’s management believes that the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are conducted is the dollar, which is used as the
functional currency.
Transactions and balances originally denominated in dollars are presented at their original amounts. Transactions and balances in other
currencies are re-measured into dollars in accordance with the principles set forth in Statement of Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 830, “Foreign Currency Matters”.
Other than in the Company’s subsidiary in Brazil, all exchange gains and losses from re-measurement of monetary balance sheet items
denominated in non-dollar currencies are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations when they arise.
Amounts in the financial statements representing the dollar equivalent of balances denominated in other currencies do not necessarily
represent their real or economic value and such amounts may not necessarily be exchangeable for dollars.
For the Company’s subsidiary in Brazil, whose functional currency has been determined to be its local currency, assets and liabilities
are translated at year-end exchange rates and statements of income items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the
year. Such translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the shareholders’
equity.

c.

Principles of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
d.

Cash and cash equivalents:
The Company considers all highly liquid deposit instruments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to
be cash equivalents.

e.

Restricted bank deposit:
Restricted bank deposit represents restricted cash which is pledged in favor of the bank that provides guarantees to the Company.

f.

Short-term bank deposit:
Short-term bank deposit is a deposit with an original maturity of more than three months but equal or less than one year from the date of
investment and which does not meet the definition of cash equivalents. The deposit is presented according to its terms of deposit.

g.

Concentration of credit risk:
Financial instruments that may subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist mainly of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposit, short-term bank deposit, severance pay fund and trade receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with major financial institutions mainly in Israel. Assets held for severance benefits are
maintained with major insurance companies and financial institutions in Israel. Such deposits are not insured. However, management
believes that such financial institutions are financially sound and, accordingly, low credit risk exists with respect to these investments.
The Company grants credit to customers without generally requiring collateral or security. The risk of collection associated with trade
receivables is reduced by geographical dispersion of the Company’s customer base. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful
accounts based on historical experience, credit quality, the age of the accounts receivable balances and current economic conditions that
may affect a customer’s ability to pay. During the year ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2016, the Company recorded
allowance for doubtful accounts of $10 and $9, respectively. No additional allowances for doubtful accounts were recorded during the
year ended December 31, 2017. No bad debt expenses were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
h.

Inventories:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a “moving average” basis. Inventory write-offs
are provided to cover technological obsolescence, excess inventories and discontinued products.
Inventory write-off is measured as the difference between the cost of the inventory and net realizable value based upon assumptions
about future demand and is charged to the cost of revenues. At the point of the loss recognition, a new, lower-cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent changes in facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or increase in that newly
established cost basis.
No inventory write-offs were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018. The total inventory write-offs during the years ended
2017 and 2016 amounted to $369 and $498, respectively.

i.

Property and equipment:
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Annual rates of depreciation are as follows:
%
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

j.

15 - 33
6 - 33
At the shorter of the lease
period or useful life of the
leasehold improvement

Impairment of long-lived assets:
The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, “Property, plants and equipment”,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of an
asset to be held and used is assessed by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the future undiscounted cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured at the amount by
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, no
impairment losses were identified.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
k.

Revenue recognition:
The Company’s solution is sold to customers directly, through resellers and to lesser extent through distributors. Sales through resellers
are considered final sales per revenue recognition criteria.
The Company recognizes revenue when (or as) it satisfies performance obligations by transferring promised goods or services to its
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive.
The Company applies the following five-step approach:
a)

Identify the contract with a customer:
The Company generally considers either agreements or purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by master agreements,
to be contracts with customers. In evaluating the contract with a customer, the Company analyzes the customer’s intent and ability
to pay the amount of promised consideration (credit risk) and considers the probability of collecting substantially all of the
consideration.

b)

Identify the performance obligations in the contract:
At a contract’s inception, the Company assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies the
performance obligations.
The main performance obligations usually are the provisions of the following:
License for its software solutions (which may include significant customization), professional services, service type warranty and
post-contract customer support, each of which are distinct, to be the identified performance obligations.

c)

Determine the transaction price:
The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company is entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods
or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Generally, the Company doesn’t grant its customers a right to return the products sold. However, in some cases, the arrangements
may include refunds, liquidated damages, penalties or other damages if the Company fails to deliver future goods or services or if
the goods or services fail to meet certain specifications to acceptance criteria. All of the above are accounted for as variable
considerations, which may be considered as adjustments to the transaction price.
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RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
The Company includes estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The
Company’s estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price
are based largely on an assessment of the Company’s anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and
forecasted) that is reasonably available.
As the Company’s standard payment terms are less than one year, the contracts have no significant financing component.
d)

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract:
The Company’s selling price is highly variable. Each contract is different by its scope and price. The standalone selling prices of
software licenses are typically estimated using the residual approach. Standalone selling prices of services are typically estimated
based on observable transactions when these services are sold on a standalone basis. The transaction price is allocated to the
separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis.

e)

Recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied:
Revenue is recognized when or as performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a
customer. Control is either transferred over time or at a point in time, which affects the revenue recognition schedule.
Projects: Revenues from the software solutions which include software license with significant customization are usually
recognized over time during the customization period based on Man Months (“MM”) incurred to date in ratio to total estimated
MM which represent an input method that best depicts the transfer of control over the performance obligation to the customer.
Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined.
Products and related services: Revenues from software solutions which include customer acceptance or software license only
contracts which do not include significant customization, are recognized at a point in time of the acceptance of the solution or the
point in time the software license is delivered.
Warranty and support: Revenues related to service type warranty and post-contract customer support are recognized over time on a
straight-line basis.

Deferred revenues represent unrecognized fees collected as well as other advances and payments received from customers, for which
revenue has not yet been recognized. Deferred revenues are classified as short-term and long-term deferred revenues based on the
period in which revenues are expected to be recognized.
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NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
See also Note 3 for details about the impact from adopting the new revenue standard and other required disclosures.
l.

Cost of revenues:
Cost of revenues are comprised of cost of third-party hardware and software license fees, maintenance fees related to such third-party
hardware and software, employees’ salaries and related costs, shipping and handling costs, subcontractors, inventory write-offs, indirect
taxes, importation taxes and royalties to the Israel Innovation Authority (the “IIA”).

m.

Share-based compensation:
The Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation”, which
requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the grant date using an option-pricing model.
The Company recognizes compensation expenses for the value of its awards granted based on the accelerated attribution method over
the requisite service period of each of the awards. The Company selected the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as the most
appropriate fair value method for its share-options awards. The option-pricing model requires a number of assumptions, of which the
most significant are the expected share price volatility and the expected option term. Expected volatility was calculated based upon
actual historical share price movements over the most recent periods ending on the grant date, equal to the expected option term. The
expected term was generated by running the Monte Carlo model pursuant to which historical post-vesting forfeitures and suboptimal
exercise factor are estimated by using historical option exercise information. The suboptimal exercise factor is the ratio by which the
share price must increase over the exercise price before employees are expected to exercise their share options. The expected term of
the options granted is derived from the output of the options valuation model and represents the period of time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with an equivalent
term to the expected term of the options. Forfeitures account as they occur. Historically the Company has not paid dividends and in
addition has no foreseeable plans to pay dividends, and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of zero in the option-pricing model.
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NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
No options were granted in 2018. The fair value for options granted in 2017 and 2016 is estimated at the date of grant with the
following weighted average assumptions:
2017
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest
Expected life (in years)
n.

2016

0%
0%
46.4%-55.9% 50.7%-59.4%
1.6%-2.1% 0.8%-1.4%
3.43-4.76
2.79-4.99

Research and development costs:
Research and development costs are charged to the statement of operations as incurred except royalty-bearing participation from the IIA
as described in Note 2o.
ASC 985-20, “Software - Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed”, requires capitalization of certain
software development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on the Company’s product development
process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs incurred by the Company between
completion of the working models and the point at which the products are ready for general release have been insignificant. Therefore,
all research and development costs have been expensed.

o.

Government grants:
The Company receives royalty-bearing grants, which represent participation of the IIA in approved programs for research and
development. These amounts are recognized on the accrual basis as a reduction of research and development costs as such costs are
incurred. Royalties to the IIA are recorded under cost of revenues, when the related sales are recognized (see also Note 9a1).
During the years 2012 to 2017, the Company also received grants from the Israeli Ministry of Economy (the “MOE”), up to 50% of
relevant marketing expenses. These grants were presented as a reduction of marketing expenses and amounted to $6 and $75 for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see also Note 9a2).

p.

Income (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted income (loss) per Ordinary Share is presented in conformity with ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share”, for all years
presented. Basic income (loss) per Ordinary Share is computed by dividing net income (loss) for each reporting period by the weighted
average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income (loss) per Ordinary Share is computed by dividing
net income (loss) for each reporting period by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the period plus any
additional Ordinary Shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive securities had been exercised during the period,
calculated under the treasury stock method.
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NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
Certain securities were not included in the computation of diluted income (loss) per share since they were anti-dilutive. The total
weighted average number of shares related to the outstanding options and restricted share units (“RSUs”) excluded from the calculation
of diluted net income (loss) per share was, 731,542 and 70,801 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31,
2016, there were no anti-dilutive securities.
q.

Income taxes:
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. Deferred tax asset and liability account
balances are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company provides a full valuation allowance to
reduce deferred tax assets to the extent it believes it is more likely than not that such benefits will be realized.

r.

Income tax uncertainties:
In accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, the Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are
more likely than not to be sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% of the
amount likely to be realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.
When applicable, the Company accounts for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no liability for unrecognized tax benefits was recorded.

s.

Severance pay:
The Company’s liability for severance pay for its Israeli employees is calculated pursuant to Israeli severance pay law based on the
most recent salary of the employees multiplied by the number of years of employment as of the balance sheet date. After completing
one full year of employment, the Company’s Israeli employees are entitled to one month’s salary for each year of employment or a
portion thereof. The Company’s liability is partially provided by monthly deposits with severance pay funds, insurance policies and by
an accrual. The liability for employee severance pay benefits included on the balance sheet represents the total liability for such
severance benefits, while the assets held for severance benefits included on the balance sheet represent the current redemption value of
the Company’s contributions made to severance pay funds and to insurance policies.
The carrying value of deposited funds includes profits (losses) accumulated up to the balance sheet date. The deposited funds may be
withdrawn only upon the fulfillment of the obligation pursuant to Israeli severance pay law or labor agreements.
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NOTE 2: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
Effective January 1, 2012, the Company’s agreements with new employees in Israel are in accordance with section 14 of the Severance
Pay Law – 1963, which provides that the Company’s contributions to the severance pay fund shall cover its entire severance obligation.
Upon termination, the release of the contributed amounts from the fund to the employee shall relieve the Company from any further
severance obligation and no additional payments shall be made by the Company to the employee. As a result, the related obligation and
amounts deposited on behalf of such obligation are not recorded as part of the balance sheet, as the Company is legally released from its
severance obligation to employees once the amounts have been deposited, and the Company has no further legal ownership of the
amounts deposited.
Severance expenses for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to $1,065, $1,007 and $905, respectively.
t.

Fair value of financial instruments:
The financial instruments of the Company consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposit, short-term bank deposit,
trade receivables, trade payables and other accounts payable and accrued expenses. Due to the short-term nature of such financial
instruments, their fair value approximates their carrying value.

u.

Legal contingencies:
From time to time, the Company may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings. The Company reviews the status of each
matter and assesses its potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding is considered probable and
the amount can be reasonably estimated, the Company accrues a liability for the estimated loss. The Company’s estimations and related
accruals if any are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal
counsel and other information and events relating to a particular matter.

v.

Comprehensive income:
The Company accounts for comprehensive income in accordance with ASC 220, “Comprehensive Income”, which establishes standards
for the reporting and displays of comprehensive income and its components in a full set of general purpose financial statements.
Comprehensive income generally represents all changes in shareholders’ equity during the period except those resulting from
investments by, or distributions to, shareholders. The Company determined that its only item of other comprehensive income relates to
foreign currency translation adjustment and gains or losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a long-term
investment nature in connection with its subsidiary in Brazil.
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w.

Recently issued and adopted accounting standards:
1.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”. The standard replaced
the revenue recognition guidance in US GAAP under ASC Topic 605 and was required to be applied retrospectively to each prior
period presented or applied using a modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect recognized to retained earnings in
the beginning of the period of initial application. Subsequently, the FASB issued several additional ASUs related to ASU No.
2014-09, collectively referred to as the “new revenue standards”, which became effective for the Company beginning January 1,
2018.
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method and applied the standard to those
contracts which were not substantially completed as of January 1, 2018 and recognized the cumulative effect of initial adoption as
an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit as of such date. As a result of this adoption, the Company revised its
accounting policy for revenue recognition as detailed in Note 2k (see also Note 3).

2.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (“ASU 2016-18”),
which requires companies to include amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in cash and
cash equivalents when reconciling beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-18 effective January 1, 2018. The adoption of this new guidance had an immaterial impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, “Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification
Accounting” (“ASU 2017-09”). ASU 2017-09 was issued to provide clarity and reduce both 1) diversity in practice and 2) cost
and complexity when applying the guidance in ASC 718 to a change in the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award.
ASU 2017-09 provides guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity
to apply modification accounting under ASC 718. The Company adopted ASU 2017-09 during the first quarter of 2018. The
adoption of this new guidance had no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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x.

New accounting standards not yet effective:
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 (Topic 842) “Leases” (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 supersedes the lease
requirements in ASC 840, “Leases”. According to ASU 2016-02, lessees are required to recognize assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet for most leases and provide enhanced disclosures. Lessees will also recognize interest expense and depreciation expense
separately. ASU 2016-02 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. In July 2018, the
FASB issued amendments in ASU 2018-11, which provide a transition election to not restate comparative periods for the effects of
applying the new standard. This transition election permits entities to change the date of initial application to the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, or retrospectively at the beginning of the period of adoption through a cumulative-effect
adjustment.
The Company will implement ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019 by using the modified retrospective method, with right-of-use assets
measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, with certain relief options offered in ASU 2016-02 including certain available
transitional practical expedients. The Company expects adoption of the standard to have a material impact on its consolidated balance
sheets which will result in the recognition of lease assets and liabilities in an amount within the range of $5,600 to $6,200. The most
significant impact from recognition of lease assets and liabilities relates to real estate and car leases. However, the Company does not
anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on the operating expenses in its consolidated statements of
operations and its cash flows since the expense recognition under this new standard will be similar to current practice. The Company’s
financial income (expenses), net will be impacted by the revaluation of the lease liabilities in non dollar denominated currencies.
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NOTE 3: - REVENUES
The most significant impact of the standard on the Company’s financial statements relates to differences in timing of revenue recognition
under the new standard as disclosed in the tables below.
The cumulative effect of the changes made to the consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2018 for the adoption of ASC 606 were as
follows:
Adjustments Balance as
of
Balance as of following
December 31, the adoption January 1,
of ASC 606
2018
2017
Deferred revenue and advances from customers
Trade receivables, net
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Accumulated deficit

$
$

(2,601) $
20,266
2,685
53,203 $

80 $
233
24
(337) $

(2,521)
20,499
2,709
52,866

In accordance with the new revenue standard requirements, the disclosure of the impact of adoption on the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations, cash flows, and balance sheets were as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2018
Balances
before
adoption of
As
Effect of
reported
ASC 606
change
Statements of operations
Revenues - Products and related services
Revenues - Warranty and support
Cost of revenues - Products and related services
Sales and marketing, net
Net loss
Loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

Cash flows
Net loss
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables, net
Other account receivables and prepaid expenses
Other accounts payables and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue and advances from customers
F-24

13,529 $
8,303
4,851
11,426
(2,415)

13,068 $
8,311
4,838
11,392
(2,821)

461
(8)
13
34
406

(0.18)
(0.18)

(0.21)
(0.21)

0.03
0.03

(2,415)

(2,821)

406

13
658
(848)
(2,169)

316
624
(861)
(2,019)

(303)
34
13
(150)
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NOTE 3: - REVENUES (Cont.)
December 31, 2018
Balances
before
adoption of
As
Effect of
reported
ASC 606
change
Balance sheets
Trade receivables, net
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses
Deferred revenues and advances from customers
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenues – long term
Accumulated deficit

$

$

20,381 $
1,766
(266)
(2,281)
(100)
55,281 $

19,845 $
1,776
(596)
(2,268)
56,024 $

536
(10)
330
(13)
(100)
(743)

The following table presents the significant changes in the deferred revenue balance during the year ended December 31, 2018:

Balance, beginning of the period
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles (ASC 606)
New performance obligations
Reclassification to revenue as a result of satisfying performance obligation
Balance, end of the period
Less: long-term portion of deferred revenue

Year ended
December 31,
2018
$
2,622
(80)
345
(2,521)
366
(100)

Current portion, end of the period

$

266

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $10,859 of remaining performance obligations not yet satisfied or partly satisfied related to
revenues. The Company expects to recognize approximately 72% of this amount as revenues during the next 12 months and the rest
thereafter.
NOTE 4: - SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSIT

2018
Deposit amount
Interest rate (%)
Maturity date

$

F-25

December 31,
2017
- $
40,000
2.28
- December 27, 2018
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NOTE 5: - INVENTORIES
December 31,
2018
2017
Finished products (*)

$

251 $

1,199

$

251 $

1,199

(*) Includes amounts of $35 and $612 for 2018 and 2017, respectively, with respect to inventory delivered to customers but for which
revenue criteria have not been met yet.
NOTE 6: - OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAID EXPENSES
December 31,
2018
2017
Indirect taxes
Grant receivables
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers
Others

$

667 $
10
752
337

980
740
460
505

$

1,766 $

2,685

NOTE 7: - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Composition of assets, grouped by major classification, is as follows:
December 31,
2017
2018
Cost:
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

Accumulated depreciation:
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

3,122 $
294
169

2,719
231
97

3,585

3,047

1,640
93
20

1,024
83
16

1,753

1,123

1,832 $

1,924

Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to $657, $537 and $286, respectively.
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NOTE 8: - OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
December 31,
2018
2017
Royalties - IIA payable
Commissions to distributors
Accrued expenses

$

761 $
430
1,090

1,096
429
1,903

$

2,281 $

3,428

NOTE 9: - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a.

Royalty commitments:
1.

The Company receives research and development grants from the IIA. In consideration for the research and development grants
received from the IIA, the Company has undertaken to pay royalties as a percentage of revenues from products developed from
research and development projects financed. If the Company does not generate sales of products developed with funds provided
by the IIA, the Company is not obligated to pay royalties or repay the grants.
Royalties are payable at the rate of 3% from the time of commencement of sales of all of the Company’s products until the
cumulative amount of the royalties paid equals 100% of the dollar-linked amounts of the grants received, plus interest at LIBOR.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s total commitment with respect to royalty-bearing participation received or accrued, net
of royalties paid or accrued, amounted to $48,452. The total research and development grants that the Company has received from
the IIA as of December 31, 2018 were $44,833. The accumulated interest as of December 31, 2018, was $18,516 and the
accumulated royalties paid to the IIA were $14,897.
Royalty expenses relating to the IIA grants included in cost of revenues during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 were $922, $1,303 and $1,033, respectively.
In May 2010, the Company received a notice from the IIA regarding alleged miscalculations of the amount of royalties paid by the
Company to the IIA for the years 1992-2009 and the revenues basis on which the Company had to pay royalties. The Company
believes that all royalties due to the IIA from the sale of products developed with funding provided by the IIA during such years
were properly paid or were otherwise accrued. During 2011, the Company reviewed with the IIA the alleged miscalculations. The
Company assessed the merits of the aforesaid arguments raised by the IIA and recorded a liability for an estimated loss.
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NOTE 9: - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Cont.)
2.

In April 2012 and in April 2014, the MOE approved the Company’s application for participation in funding the setting up of the
Company’s India subsidiary and China branch as part of a designated grants plan for setting up and establishing a marketing
agency in India and China. The grant is intended to cover up to 50% from the costs of the office establishment, logistics expenses
and hiring employees and consultants in India and China, based on the approved budget for the plan over a period of three years.
The Company is currently in the process of winding down its operations at the China office. The total marketing grants that the
Company had received from the MOE as of December 31, 2017 were in the amount of $668. No further grants are expected to be
received from such plans.
The Company is obligated to pay to the MOE royalties of 3% on the increased sales in the target market, with respect to the year
during which the grant was approved over a period of five years but not more than the total linked amount of the grant received.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an amount of $9 as royalty expenses to be paid to the MOE.

3.

According to the Company’s agreements with the Israel-U.S Bi-National Industrial Research and Development Foundation
(“BIRD-F”), the Company is required to pay royalties at a rate of 5% of sales of products developed with funds provided by the
BIRD-F, up to an amount equal to 150% of the BIRD-F’s grant, linked to the United States Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) relating
to such products. The last funds from the BIRD-F were received in 1996. In the event the Company does not generate sales of
products developed with funds provided by the BIRD-F, the Company is not obligated to pay royalties or repay the grants.
The total research and development funds that the Company has received from the BIRD-F were $340 (CPI linked amount of
$566). According to the above, as of December 31, 2018, the total royalties commitment the Company may be required to pay is
an amount of up to $849 out of which $468 was paid by the Company in previous years. The remaining commitment with respect
to royalty-bearing participation received, net of royalties paid or accrued, amounted to $381 as of December 31, 2018.
Since 2003, the Company has not generated sales of products developed with the funds provided by the BIRD-F. Therefore, the
Company has not been obligated to pay royalties or repay the grant since such date.
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NOTE 9: - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Cont.)
b.

Operating leases:
Premises occupied by the Company and its subsidiaries are leased under various agreements, part of which are with related parties (see
also Note 13). The rental agreements for the premises of the Company and its subsidiaries expire up to April 30, 2023. The Company
also has several motor vehicle lease agreements for up to 48 months period. As of December 31, 2018, the Company maintains 30
leased cars.
As of December 31, 2018, the future minimum aggregate lease commitments under non-cancelable operating lease agreements are
as follows:
As of the year ended December 31,

Premises

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

928
865
123
123
41
$

2,080 $

Motor
vehicles
66
66 $

Total
994
865
123
123
41
2,146

Total lease expenses amounted to $1,341, $1,248 and $1,023 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
c.

Bank guarantee:
As of December 31, 2018, the Company established a bank guarantee to the Israeli Customs Authority that amounted to $33, which will
expire on April 30, 2019.
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NOTE 10: -TAXES ON INCOME
a.

Israeli taxation:
Taxable income of the Company is subject to the Israeli corporate tax at the rate as follows: 2016 – 25%, 2017 - 24% and 2018 – 23%.
Tax benefits under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (“the Law”):
In August 2013, the Law for Changing National Priorities (Legislative Amendments for Achieving Budget Targets for 2013 and 2014),
2013 which includes Amendment 71 to the Law (“Amendment 71”) was enacted. Per Amendment 71, the tax rate on preferred income
from a preferred enterprise in 2014-2016 will be 9% in certain areas in Israel (“Development Area A”) and 16% in other areas. In 2017,
the tax rate at Development Area A was reduced to 7.5%.
The Company may claim the tax benefits offered by Amendment 71 in its tax returns, provided that its facilities meet the criteria for tax
benefits set out by Amendment 71. A company is also granted a right to approach the Israeli Tax Authorities for a pre-ruling regarding
its eligibility for benefits under Amendment 71 (and in some cases is required to apply for such approval).
In December 2016, the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments for Applying the Economic Policy for the 2017 and 2018
Budget Years), 2016 which includes Amendment 73 to the Law (“Amendment 73”) was published. Amendment 73, which came into
effect in January 2017, prescribes special tax tracks for technological enterprises, granting such enterprises a tax rate of 7.5% (in
Development Area A) and 12% (in other areas).
Under Amendment 73, any dividends distributed to “foreign companies”, as defined in such law, by companies having over 90%
foreign (i.e., non-Israeli) ownership, deriving from income from the technological enterprises will be subject to tax at a rate of 4%.
In order to comply with the new track determined in Amendment 73, a company must meet certain criteria defined within law (among
others R&D expenses and employees at a certain rate).
The Company has yet to claim the above-mentioned tax benefits offered and accordingly such reduced taxes were not considered in the
computation of the deferred taxes and valuation allowance as of December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 10: -TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.)
In accordance with the tax laws, tax returns submitted up to and including the 2013 tax year can be regarded as final. As of December
31, 2018, no final tax assessments have been received for such years.
Tax loss carryforward:
As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s estimated tax loss carryforward and capital loss were $31,234 and $716, respectively. Such
losses can be carried forward indefinitely to offset any future taxable income of the Company.
Research and development expenses carryforward for tax purposes in Israel amounted to approximately $8,837.
b.

Foreign subsidiaries:
U.S. subsidiary:
1.

The U.S. subsidiary is taxed under United States federal and state tax rules. Income tax is calculated based on a U.S. federal tax
rate of 21%.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “TCJA”) was signed into law making significant changes to U.S.
income tax law. Changes include, but are not limited to, a U.S. federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for
tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a
territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of
December 31, 2017.

2.

The U.S. subsidiary’s estimated federal tax loss carryforward amounted to $7,682 as of December 31, 2018. Such losses are
available to offset any future U.S. taxable income of the U.S. subsidiary and will expire in the years 2019-2026 for federal tax
purposes.

3.

The U.S. subsidiary has not received final tax assessments since incorporation. In accordance with the tax laws, tax returns
submitted up to and including the 2014 tax year can be regarded as final.
F-31

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 115
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
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Brazilian subsidiary:
1.

The Brazilian subsidiary is taxed under Brazilian tax rules. Income tax is calculated based on a 34% rate.

2.

The Brazilian subsidiary’s tax loss carryforward amounted to $3,336 as of December 31, 2018, for tax purposes. Tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely but can only be offset up to 30% of the subsidiary’s taxable income for a tax period.

3.

The Brazilian subsidiary has not received final tax assessments since incorporation. In accordance with the tax laws, tax returns
submitted up to and including the 2013 tax year can be regarded as final.

Indian subsidiary:

c.

1.

The Indian subsidiary is taxed under Indian tax rules. Income tax is calculated based on a 25% rate.

2.

The Indian subsidiary has not received final tax assessments since incorporation. In accordance with the tax laws, tax returns
submitted up to and including the 2016 tax year can be regarded as final.

Deferred taxes:
Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and for tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2018
2017
Deferred tax assets:
Carryforward tax losses
Research and development credit
Accrued social benefits and other

$

10,096 $
2,032
472
12,600
(12,600)

Less - valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$
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NOTE 10: -TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.)
The net change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2018 was a decrease of $20. In assessing the
realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in
which those temporary differences and tax loss carryforward are deductible. Management considers the projected taxable income and
tax-planning strategies in making this assessment. In consideration of the Company’s accumulated losses and the uncertainty of its
ability to utilize its deferred tax assets in the future, management currently believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will
not realize its deferred tax assets and accordingly recorded a valuation allowance to fully offset all the deferred tax assets.
d.

Taxes on income are comprised from state tax accrual with regards to the U.S. subsidiary, withholding taxes that were deducted by the
Company’s customers as well as tax expenses of the Indian subsidiary.

e.

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018
Domestic
Foreign

$

(2,372) $
20

4,751 $
(1,767)

3,018
(1,079)

Income (loss) before income taxes

$

(2,352) $

2,984 $

1,939
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f.

Reconciliation of the theoretical tax benefit and the actual tax expense:
Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018
Income (loss) before income taxes, as reported in the statements of operations $
Statutory tax rate in Israel

23%

Theoretical tax benefit

$

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Tax rate differential on foreign subsidiaries
Non-deductible expenses and other permanent differences
Differences in taxes arising from foreign currency exchange, net
Utilization of carry forward tax losses and other temporary differences for
which valuation allowance was provided
Withholding taxes that were deducted by the Company’s customers
Other
Income taxes
g.

(2,352) $

$

2,984

$

24%

(541) $

716

1,939
25%

$

485

(55)
446
208

(166)
987
(856)

(98)
683
(324)

(20)
10
15

(554)
32
(76)

(1,102)
6
374

63

$

83

$

24

Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes:
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits and no interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits have been accrued. The Company does not expect that its position related to unrecognized
tax benefits will change significantly within the next 12 months.
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NOTE 11: -SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
a.

The number of Ordinary Shares outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 does not include 5,189 Ordinary Shares issued, which are
held by a subsidiary, and 30,843 Ordinary Shares issued which are held by the Company.
Ordinary Shares confer all rights to their holders, e.g. voting, equity and receipt of dividends.

b.

Follow-on public offerings:
1.

On May 25, 2016, the Company closed a follow-on public offering of 2,090,909 Ordinary Shares, at an offering price of $11.00
per share for a total consideration of approximately $21,279, net of issuance costs of $1,721. (See also Note 13e).

2.

On October 20, 2017, the Company entered an underwriting agreement related to a follow-on public offering of 1,444,814
Ordinary Shares, at an offering price of $19.50 per share for gross proceeds that amounted to $28,174, before underwriting
discounts and commissions and other offering expenses that amounted to $1,940 (the “2017 Public Offering”).
Under such agreement, the Company granted the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days, to purchase up to an additional
216,722 Ordinary Shares at $19.50 per share.
On October 25, 2017, upon the closing of the 2017 Public Offering, the Company issued 1,661,536 Ordinary Shares, including
216,722 shares sold pursuant to full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, for a total consideration of
approximately $30,206, net of issuance costs of $2,194.
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NOTE 11: -SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)
c.

Share option plan:
1.

The Company has granted options under an option plan as follows:
a)

The 2013 Share Option Plan:
On April 3, 2013, the Company approved a new Share Option Plan (the “2013 Share Option Plan”). The 2013 Share Option
Plan provides for the grant of options to purchase Ordinary Shares to provide incentives to employees, directors, consultants
and contractors of the Company. In accordance with Section 102 of the Income Tax Ordinance (New Version) - 1961, the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) elected the “Capital Gains Route”.
On February 19, 2015, the Board adopted an amendment to the 2013 Share Option Plan pursuant to which the Company may
grant options to purchase its Ordinary Shares and RSUs to its employees, directors, consultants and contractors. The 2013
Share Option Plan expires on April 2, 2023.

b)

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company’s Board approved the grant of 179,002 options and 105,428 RSUs
to certain employees and officers of the Company. The options were granted at exercise prices ranging between $18.90 to
$19.85 per share, which was equal to the market value of the Company’s Ordinary Shares at the date of grant. Such options
and RSUs have vesting schedules of four years, commencing as of the date of grant and an exercise term for the options of
five years from date of grant.

c)

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s Board approved the grant of 32,700 RSUs to certain employees
and officers of the Company. Such RSUs have vesting schedules of four years, commencing as of the date of grant.
As of December 31, 2018, the total number of shares reserved under the 2013 Share Option Plan, is 2,450,000, out of which
947,245 Ordinary Shares are still available for future grants under the 2013 Share Option Plan as of that date.
F-36

f20f2018_radcomltd.htm

Form Type: 20-F

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 120
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

RADCOM LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data
NOTE 11: -SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)
2.

Stock options for the year ended December 31, 2018 under the Company’s plans are as follows:

Number of
options
Outstanding as of January 1, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired and forfeited

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
term
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

679,552 $
(215,542)
(48,500)

13.20
9.87
15.76

3.35 $

4,517

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018

415,510 $

14.62

2.69 $

3

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2018

415,510 $

14.62

2.69 $

3

Exercisable as of December 31, 2018

159,058 $

11.81

2.02 $

3

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value (the difference between the deemed fair value of
the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the last day of fiscal 2018 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money
options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2018.
This amount is impacted by the changes in the fair market value of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2018 represents the intrinsic value of 2,250
outstanding and exercisable options that are in-the-money as of December 31, 2018.
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3.

As of December 31, 2018, stock options under the 2013 Share Option Plan are as follows:
Options outstanding
at December 31, 2018

Exercise price
$
6.00
11.12-14.52
18.90-19.85

Number
outstanding

Weighted average
exercise price
$

2,250
259,558
153,702

Options exercisable
at December 31, 2018
Weighted average
remaining
contractual life
In years

6.00
11.86
19.42

0.56
2.22
3.52

415,510
4.

Number
exercisable

Weighted average
exercise price
$

Weighted average
remaining
contractual life
In years

6.00
11.89
-

0.56
2.05
-

2,250
156,808
159,058

RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2018 under the Company’s 2013 Share Option Plan are as follows:

Number of
RSUs

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
term
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2018
Granted
Vested
Cancelled

240,054
32,700
(74,210)
(29,675)

1.74 $

4,765

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018

168,869

1.40 $

1,253

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2018

168,869

1.40 $

1,253
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5.

No options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2018. The weighted average fair values of options granted during
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were, $8.08 and $6.68, respectively. Grants of options in 2017 and 2016 were at
exercise prices equal to the market value of the Ordinary Shares at the date of grant.

6.

The weighted average fair values of RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $19.68, $19.52
and $14.69 per share, respectively.

7.

The following table summarizes the department allocation of the Company’s share-based compensation charges:
Year ended December 31,
2017(*)
2016(*)
2018(*)

Cost of revenues
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative

$

112 $
808
698
503

189 $
473
499
1,055

118
625
199
1,529

$

2,121 $

2,216 $

2,471

(*) Including $1,359, $1,335 and $1,331 of compensation cost related to RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
8.

As of December 31, 2018, there are $1,967 of total unrecognized costs related to non-vested share-based compensation and RSUs
that are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.03 years.
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a.

The Company applies ASC 280, “Segment Reporting”. The Company operates in one reportable segment (see also Note 1 for a brief
description of the Company’s business).

b.

The following table presents total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and long-lived assets as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
1.

Revenues by geographic region are as follows (prior period amounts have not been adjusted under the modified retrospective
method):
Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018

North America
Europe
Asia (excluding Philippines)
Philippines
South America (excluding Brazil)
Brazil
Other (including Israel)

$

22,164 $
362
923
6,235
671
2,908
787

25,157 $
778
374
4,501
883
1,783
3,757

19,167
946
355
4,959
785
2,496
802

$

34,050 $

37,233 $

29,510

Total revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the end-customer.
In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the amount of export revenues represented 98%, 90% and 98% of the Company’s total revenues.
2.

Major customer data as a percentage of total revenues:
In 2018, the Company had two customers in the United States and one in the Philippines that amounted 63% and 18%,
respectively, of the total consolidated revenues. In 2017, the Company had one customer in the United States and one in the
Philippines that amounted 66% and 12%, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues. In 2016, the Company had one customer
in the United States and one in the Philippines that amounted 62% and 17%, respectively, of the total consolidated revenues.

3.

Property and equipment, net, by geographic areas:
Year ended
December 31,
2018
2017

Israel
Other

F-40
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1,535 $
297

1,781
143

$
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c.

Financial income, net:
Years ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018
Financial Income:
Interest income
Foreign currency exchange gain

$

Financial expenses:
Bank charges
Foreign currency exchange loss

$
d.

1,455 $
784

572 $
215

489
424

2,239

787

913

(15)
(1,088)

(58)
(340)

(23)
(74)

(1,103)

(398)

(97)

1,136 $

389 $

816

Net income (loss) per Ordinary Share:
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per Ordinary Share:
Years ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018
Numerator:
Numerator for basic net income (loss) per Ordinary Share

(2,415) $

$

Effect of dilutive securities:
Share-based compensation granted

-

2,901 $

Numerator for dilutive net income (loss) per Ordinary Share

$

(2,415) $

-

1,915

2,901 $

1,915

Denominator:
Denominator for dilutive net income (loss) per Ordinary Share - weighted
average number of Ordinary Shares
Effect of dilutive securities:
Share-based compensation granted
Denominator for diluted net income (loss) per Ordinary Share - adjusted
weighted average number of Ordinary Shares
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10,406,897

-

312,390

372,650

13,630,793
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NOTE 13: -RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
a.

The Company carries out transactions with related parties as detailed below. Certain principal shareholders of the Company are also
principal shareholders of affiliates known as the RAD-BYNET Group.
1.

The Company is a party to a reseller agreement with Allot Communications Inc, (“Allot”), a company to which the Company’s
controlling shareholder is an interested party, giving Allot the right to distribute the Company’s products.
Revenues related to this reseller agreement are included in Note 13g below as “Revenues”. For the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016, revenues aggregated to amounts of $73, $31 and $139, respectively.
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, effective January 2019, Allot is no longer considered a related party.

2.

Certain premises occupied by the Company and its U.S. subsidiary are rented from related parties (see also Note 9b). The U.S.
subsidiary sub-leased certain premises to a related party until April 30, 2017. The aggregate net amounts of lease and maintenance
expenses were $967, $843 and $624 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The amount in 2018 includes $40 reimbursement of
expenses in connection with the renovation of the U.S. subsidiary office. Such amounts expensed by the Company are disclosed in
Note 13g below as part of “Expenses” and “Capital expenses”.

3.

Certain entities within the RAD-BYNET Group provide the Company and its U.S. subsidiary with administrative and IT services.
The aggregate amounts of administrative and IT services provided were $32, $39 and $35 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Such amounts expensed by the Company are disclosed in Note 13g below as part of “Expenses” and “Capital expenses”.

4.

The Company purchases certain products and services from members of the RAD-BYNET Group. The aggregate amounts of such
purchases were approximately $2, $15 and $1 in 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively. Such amounts expensed by the Company are
disclosed in Note 13g below as part of “Expenses”.
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b.

The executive chairman of the Board (the “Executive Chairman”) since September 10, 2015 is, among other things, also the life partner
of the Company’s former chairman of the Board, a currently serving director and a controlling shareholder of the Company. The
Executive Chairman is entitled to a fixed monthly salary. During the years ended December 2018, 2017 and 2016 the Company
recorded salary expenses with respect to the Executive Chairman in the amount of $108, $183 and $180, respectively. Such amounts
expensed by the Company are disclosed in Note 13g below as part of “Expenses”.

c.

Since 2015, the Company entered several agreements with Amdocs to sell its solution, pursuant to which the Company recorded
revenues in the amount of $16,296, $24,528 and $18,310 related to the AT&T Engagement during the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively (See also Note 1b). Revenues related to this engagement are included in Note 13g below as “Revenues”.
The Company’s controlling shareholder and director served as a director in Amdocs until January 31, 2019.

d.

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer from October 2018 is a member of the board and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Matrix
IT Ltd., (“Matrix”). The Company has entered into certain limited term engagements with Matrix or its affiliated companies in
connection with specific development projects and/or use of software platform. The aggregate amount of the engagements entered with
Matrix or its affiliates as a related party, aggregated to $4 in 2018. Such amount expensed by the Company is disclosed in Note 13g
below as part of “Expenses”.

e.

As described in Note 11b1, on May 25, 2016, the Company closed its follow-on public offering at a price of $11.00 per share, pursuant
to which an aggregate net amount of $21,279 was raised. The Company’s controlling shareholder and director invested $2,200 for the
purchase of 200,000 Ordinary Shares in such public offering.

f.

Balances with related parties:
December 31,
2017
2018
Assets:
Trade receivables, net
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses

$
$

13,596 $
- $

14,329
2

$
$

81 $
12 $

63
140

Liabilities:
Trade payables
Other accounts payables and accrued expenses
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g.

Transactions with related parties:
Year ended December 31,
2017
2016
2018
Revenues

$

16,369 $

24,559 $

18,461

$

163 $

201 $

210

$
$
$

507 $
212 $
191 $

371 $
217 $
293 $

224
142
250

$

40 $

9 $

21

Expenses:
Cost of revenues
Operating expenses:
Research and development, net
Sales and marketing, net
General and administrative
Capital expenses
NOTE 14: -SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
During February 2019, the Company’s Board approved the grant of 377,020 RSUs to certain employees, officers and Board members of the
Company out of which 113,800 RSUs are subject to the approval of the shareholders. Such RSUs have vesting schedules of four years,
commencing as of the date of grant.
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EXHIBIT 4.7
Agreement No. 319103.C
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL
AND (ii) WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO RADCOM LTD. IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. OMISSIONS ARE
DENOTED IN BRACKETS THROUGHOUT THIS EXHIBIT.
Software and Professional Services Agreement

No. 319103.C
Between
RADCOM Ltd.
And
AT&T Services, Inc.
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Agreement No. 319103.C
This Software and Professional Services Agreement No. 319103.C (this “Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the last date signed by a Party
(the “Effective Date”) by and between RADCOM Ltd., an Israeli company incorporated under the laws of Israel, with its office at 24 Raoul Wallenberg
Street, Tel Aviv, Israel (“Supplier” or “RADCOM”), and AT&T Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AT&T”), each of which may be referred to in
the singular as a “Party” or in the plural as the “Parties.” Capitalized terms used herein but not defined within the body of this Agreement shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in Appendix – Definitions.
1.0

Scope of Agreement
1.1

Deliverables

Supplier shall provide to AT&T the Code Deliverables and Service Deliverables collectively known as the “Deliverables” as described in
Appendix A subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as requested in Orders submitted to Supplier by AT&T.
1.2

Pricing

Supplier shall provide the Deliverables at the applicable prices set forth in Appendix C Price(s). If Supplier at any time makes a general price
decrease, then Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T in writing and extend such decrease to AT&T effective on the date of such general price
decrease. Supplier shall strive to reduce its costs and corresponding prices for Deliverables by [**] each calendar year, through the use of
improved processes, supply chain economies and other cost reduction methods.
1.3

Orders

AT&T may, at AT&T’s election, submit Orders for Deliverables to Supplier pursuant to this Agreement (a) in a form agreed to by the Parties or
(b) via AT&T’s electronic ordering system. Subject to agreement on Delivery Dates, Supplier shall accept all Orders submitted to it by AT&T
for Deliverables. The terms of this Agreement govern all Orders for Deliverables that AT&T may place with Supplier. The Parties may vary or
supplement the terms of this Agreement in an Order through Special Terms and Conditions, which shall take precedence over any inconsistent
term of this Agreement and shall only apply to such Order.
1.4

Non-Commitment; Non-Exclusivity

This Agreement does not grant Supplier any right or privilege to provide to AT&T any Deliverables of the type described in or purchased under
this Agreement, except as may be set forth in an Order. AT&T may contract with third parties for materials or services comparable to those
described in or purchased under this Agreement, and AT&T may itself perform such services.
1.5

Affiliates

Affiliates of AT&T may transact business under this Agreement and place Orders with Supplier that incorporate the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. References to “AT&T” herein are deemed to refer to an Affiliate when an Affiliate places an Order with Supplier under this
Agreement, or when AT&T places an Order on behalf of an Affiliate, or when an Affiliate otherwise transacts business with Supplier under this
Agreement. To the extent that the pricing under this Agreement or any Order provides for discounts of any sort based on volume of purchases by
AT&T (including percentage discounts and tier-based pricing) or requires a certain volume of purchases by AT&T, Supplier shall aggregate the
amount of all purchases by AT&T and its Affiliates for purposes of determining any such discounts and volumes. An Affiliate is solely
responsible for its own obligations, including all charges incurred in connection with such an Order or transaction.
1.6
a.

Term of Agreement
This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date and shall continue until March 31, 2022, unless earlier terminated as set forth herein
(the “Contract Period”). This Agreement may be renewed by AT&T on a yearly basis, for up to two consecutive years (the “Renewal
Period”), upon completion of the Contract Period, with at least [**] days written notice from AT&T to Supplier prior to the expiration of
the Contract Period or the first year of the Renewal Period, as applicable. This Agreement may be terminated by AT&T upon [**] days
written notice from AT&T to Supplier, with or without cause. The Contract Period plus the first or both of the two consecutive renewal
years, as applicable, is the “Term”.
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
2

f20f2018ex4-7_radcom.htm

Form Type: EX-4.7

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 3
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Agreement No. 319103.C

2.0

b.

Any Order in effect on the date when this Agreement expires or is terminated shall continue in effect until such Order either (i) expires by its
own terms or (ii) is separately terminated, prior to its own scheduled expiration, as provided in this Agreement. The terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall continue to apply to such Order, as if this Agreement were still in effect.

c.

For avoidance of doubt, the Licenses granted in any Order under the ELSA shall survive any expiration or termination of the Order or this
Agreement.

Delivery, Performance, Acceptance, and Availability
2.1

Delivery of Material

Except for Orders falling within the Subsections below entitled “Delivery of Software” and “Delivery of Services,” Supplier shall ship Material
that strictly conforms to Specifications as follows:
a.

AT&T’s default domestic freight terms are F.O.B. Origin, Freight Collect. Supplier shall use the carrier(s) that AT&T designates for
shipment of Material, and AT&T shall pay the carrier. Any payments AT&T makes to third parties, or additional costs that AT&T incurs,
that result from Supplier’s failure to comply with its obligations under this Section shall be reimbursed to AT&T by Supplier upon AT&T’s
demand.

b.

If an Order expressly requires the Supplier to pre-pay for shipment, then Supplier shall ship, based on the lowest published price, by reliable
common carrier; and shall not combine shipping charges into the price of Material or mark up the shipping charges. If Supplier can arrange
transportation with another carrier on terms more cost effective than those offered by the carrier designated by AT&T, then Supplier shall
notify AT&T and, if AT&T agrees, then Supplier shall ship at the agreed terms by that agreed carrier. Supplier shall charge AT&T for
prepaid shipping, net of any Supplier discounts Supplier is entitled to take, as a separate line item in its invoice. AT&T is not responsible
for, and Supplier shall pay or reimburse AT&T for, any shipping charges in excess of those specified above.

c.

For all Orders shipped Pre-Paid and Add, Supplier shall provide in a separate field on Supplier’s invoice the amount charged for prepaid
shipping. If requested by AT&T, Supplier shall substantiate such charges by providing AT&T with the original freight bill, or a copy
thereof, and details including origin/destination, load details, accessorial charges, purchase orders, and freight cost.

d.

For Orders for: (a) Material whose delivery origin or destination is outside the continental United States (e.g. international), (b) Material
requiring special safety handling precautions in transit or (c) Material that requires provision of Services (such as installation, configuration,
or modification) at the destination, Supplier shall ship F.O.B. Destination Pre-Paid and Add for domestic shipments, or DDP Destination for
international shipments, using the lowest cost reliable common carrier.

2.2

Delivery of Software

For Software, Delivery shall be in the form selected by AT&T, including Electronic Data Interchange (“EDI”), U.S. Mail or a private carrier.
Unless otherwise instructed, Supplier shall Deliver the Software, and any subsequent releases or upgrades of the Software, either by electronic
transfer or by copying the Software directly onto AT&T’s computer, disk, tape or other storage medium selected by AT&T. Unless and until
directed in writing by AT&T to do so, Supplier shall not transfer any disks, tapes or other tangible property containing the Software, or any
subsequent releases or upgrades of the Software, to AT&T.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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2.3

Delivery of Services

For Orders for Services only (other than maintenance Services), or for Orders for Material with Services in connection with the Delivery of the
Material, Supplier shall provide AT&T a written notice of completion after Delivery of such Services.
2.4

Acceptance Test Period

AT&T’s Acceptance Test Period shall commence upon (a) AT&T’s receipt of Supplier’s notice of completion, or (b) upon AT&T’s receipt of
Material from the carrier or Supplier where Supplier provides no Services in connection with the Delivery of the Material.
2.5

Notice of Acceptance

If the Material and Services successfully complete the Acceptance Tests during the Acceptance Test Period, then AT&T shall Accept the
Material, and, if a notice of completion was provided, then AT&T shall indicate its Acceptance by providing a written notice of Acceptance to
Supplier.
2.6

Material or Services Not in Compliance with Specifications

If Material or Services are not in strict compliance with the Specifications at the time of Delivery or at any time during any applicable
Acceptance Test Period, then AT&T shall so notify Supplier and provide Supplier an opportunity to cause such Material and Services to strictly
comply with the Specifications. After prompt corrective action, Supplier shall notify AT&T and AT&T has the right to start a new Acceptance
Test Period. AT&T’s Acceptance shall be deemed to occur: (a) thirty (30) days following the later to occur of Delivery and the expiration of the
applicable Acceptance Test Period if (i) AT&T fails to notify Supplier that the Material or Services are not in strict compliance with the
Specifications or (ii) completion of Acceptance Tests is delayed solely due to an act of omission of AT&T; and (b) upon the occurrence of (i) the
applicable Software being broadly deployed by AT&T into production beyond a limited testing capacity or (ii) completion of Acceptance Tests
with no Critical errors and no more than five (5) Major errors, with workarounds or planned fixes that are acceptable to AT&T. In no event does
AT&T’s use of or payment for Material or Services constitute Acceptance.
2.7

Failure to Remedy Noncompliance

If Supplier fails to take prompt corrective action after having received notice that any Material and Services are not in strict compliance with
Specifications or if, after two (2) or more Acceptance Test Periods, Supplier has failed to correct the defects or if the Material and Services are
not in strict compliance with the Specifications, then AT&T has the right, but not the obligation, to terminate the Order, in whole or in part,
without any liability whatsoever to Supplier other than payment for amounts for any Material and Services delivered and Accepted prior to the
effective date of termination.
2.8

Anticipated Delays

If Supplier becomes aware of any event or circumstance that causes Supplier to anticipate a reasonably certain delay in its performance of its
obligations beyond the Delivery Date, then Supplier shall immediately notify AT&T of the event or circumstance and the length of the
anticipated delay. Other than as provided in Force Majeure, if the events or circumstances causing the anticipated delay are not attributable to
any failure of AT&T, then AT&T may terminate the Order without liability after receipt of such notification. If the events or circumstances may
be attributable to the fault of AT&T, to any extent, and the notice required by this Section fails to so attribute them, or if Supplier fails to give
such notice, then such failure bars any claim or defense of Supplier based on the fault of AT&T. If for any reason AT&T does not terminate such
Order after receipt of a notice under this Section, then AT&T and Supplier shall negotiate in good faith to modify the Order so as to extend the
Delivery Date. If the Parties fail to reach agreement on an extended Delivery Date after negotiating for a reasonable time, or if Supplier fails to
meet an extended Delivery Date, then AT&T may terminate the Order immediately without liability.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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2.9

Shipment Instructions

Unless instructed otherwise by AT&T, or the Parties otherwise agree, all Material shall be shipped, packed and marked in accordance with
AT&T’s
shipping,
packing
and
marking
instructions
located
at
http://www.attsuppliers.com/downloads/WirelineProductMarketingSpecifications.pdf
2.10

Spare Parts

For [**] years following the sooner of (a) the termination or expiration of this Agreement or (b) the discontinuance of any Material, Supplier
shall provide Spare Parts to AT&T upon AT&T’s request, at prices not to exceed the lesser of prices set forth herein or another price mutually
agreed. If Supplier breaches such obligation, or if the Parties fail to agree on price for any Spare Parts for which no price is set forth herein, then
without limitation to AT&T’s other rights and remedies, Supplier shall provide to AT&T, at no cost or expense, the Technical Information and
any other rights reasonably required for AT&T to obtain such Spare Parts from other sources. Supplier shall provide AT&T with no less than
[**] years’ prior written notice of the discontinuance of any Material provided hereunder.
3.0

Title and Risk

Title and risk of loss to Deliverables purchased, but not to Deliverables licensed, will vest in AT&T when the Deliverables has been accepted at the
F.O.B. destination point designated by AT&T. If this Agreement calls for Supplier to perform additional Services after Deliverables have been provided,
such as unloading or installation, then Supplier will retain risk of loss to the Deliverables until the additional Services have been Delivered and Accepted
by AT&T. All AT&T provided materials and equipment shall remain the property of AT&T.
4.0

Invoicing and Payment
4.1
a.

Invoicing
Supplier shall render a correct invoice in duplicate (if paper) with respect to any Material or Services promptly after Acceptance thereof
(unless the relevant Order or an attached Appendix specifies that Supplier may submit invoices for progress payments prior to Acceptance,
as provided below). The invoice must specify in detail, if applicable, (i) quantities of each ordered item, (ii) unit prices of each ordered item,
(iii) whether the item is taxable and the amount of tax per item, (iv) item and commodity codes, (v) total amounts for each item, (vi) total
amount of applicable sales or use taxes, (vii) discounts, (viii) shipping charges, if any, (ix) total amount due, (x) Software right-to-use fees
designated as either “initial operating system license” or “other,” (xi) Agreement number, (xii) remit to address, (xiii) Order number and line
item sequence, (xiv) description of Deliverables, and (xv) special service charges, if any.
AT&T shall initiate payment to Supplier no later than [**] days after receipt of an accurate invoice after Acceptance (as determined under
the Section entitled “Delivery, Performance, Acceptance and Availability”); provided that if such date is a non-business day, then AT&T
may initiate payment to Supplier on the following business day. Unless otherwise agreed, AT&T may provide payment by Automated
Clearinghouse Association transfer. If AT&T disputes any invoice rendered or amount paid, then AT&T shall so notify Supplier. The
Parties shall work in good faith to resolve invoicing and payment disputes expeditiously, and AT&T is not obligated to make any payment
against the disputed or incorrect portion of the invoice until the dispute is resolved or the error corrected. Invoices received by AT&T more
than [**] days after Acceptance of Deliverables are untimely and AT&T has no obligation to pay such invoices.

b.

Invoices for or including freight charges must be accompanied by legible copies of prepaid freight bills, express receipts or bills of lading
supporting the invoice amounts. Such invoices must include (i) the carrier’s name, (ii) date of shipment, (iii) number of pieces, (iv) weight,
and (v) freight classification.

c.

AT&T may deduct any setoff or recoupment claims that it or its Affiliates may have against Supplier from amounts due or to become due to
Supplier, whether under this Agreement or otherwise. Supplier shall pay any amount due to AT&T or its Affiliates that is not applied against
the invoiced amounts within [**] days after written demand by AT&T.
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
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4.2

If an Order or an Appendix specifies that Supplier may submit invoices for progress payments prior to Acceptance, Supplier is permitted to
submit invoices at the end of each month and AT&T will initiate progress payments to the Supplier at [**] day intervals. Such progress
payments shall not exceed [**] of satisfactorily completed Deliverables at the time of billing, as determined by AT&T.
Reimbursable Expenses

AT&T is not responsible for any travel, meal or other business related expense incurred by Supplier, whether or not incurred in its performance
of its obligations under this Agreement, unless reimbursement of expenses is expressly authorized in this Agreement or an Order pursuant to this
Agreement. If reimbursement of expenses is so authorized, then to be reimbursable, each and every such expense must comply with the
requirements of AT&T’s Vendor Expense Policy, a copy of which is located at http://www.attsuppliers.com/downloads/Vendor-ExpensePolicy.pdf. Supplier must provide in a timely manner receipts and other documentation as required by the Vendor Expense Policy and such
additional documentation or information requested by AT&T to substantiate expenses submitted by Supplier for reimbursement.
4.3

[**]

4.4

Taxes

a.

Supplier shall invoice AT&T the amount of any federal excise, state, and local transaction taxes (excluding foreign (i.e., non-U.S.) Value
Added Taxes (VAT) or similar taxes which will be included in the prices for Material and Services and borne by Supplier) imposed upon the
sale of Material and provision of Services under this Agreement. All such taxes must be stated as separate items on a timely invoice listing
the taxing jurisdiction imposing the tax. Installation, labor and other non-taxable charges must be separately stated. AT&T shall pay all
applicable taxes to Supplier that are stated on and at the time the Material or Services invoice is submitted by Supplier. Supplier shall remit
taxes to the appropriate taxing authorities. Supplier shall honor tax exemption certificates, and other appropriate documents, which AT&T
may submit, pursuant to relevant tax provisions of the taxing jurisdiction providing the exemption.

b.

Supplier shall pay any penalty, interest, additional tax, or other charge that may be levied or assessed as a result of the delay or failure of
Supplier, for any reason, to pay any tax or file any return or information required by law, rule or regulation or by this Agreement to be paid
or filed by Supplier.

c.

Upon AT&T’s request, the Parties shall consult with respect to the basis and rates upon which Supplier shall pay any taxes or fees for which
AT&T is obligated to reimburse Supplier under this Agreement. If AT&T determines that in its opinion any such taxes or fees are not
payable, or should be paid on a basis less than the full price or at rates less than the full tax rate, AT&T shall notify Supplier in writing of
such determinations, Supplier shall make payment in accordance with such determinations, and AT&T shall be responsible for such
determinations. If collection is sought by the taxing authority for a greater amount of taxes than that so determined by AT&T, Supplier shall
promptly notify AT&T. If AT&T desires to contest such collection, AT&T shall promptly notify Supplier. Supplier shall cooperate with
AT&T in contesting such determination, but AT&T shall be responsible and shall reimburse Supplier for any tax, interest, or penalty in
excess of AT&T’s determination.

d.

If AT&T determines that in its opinion it has paid Supplier for any taxes in excess of the amount that AT&T is obligated to pay Supplier
under this Agreement, AT&T and Supplier shall consult in good faith to determine the appropriate method(s) of recovery of such excess
payments, which method(s) may include, but is not limited to, (i) Supplier crediting any excess payments against tax amounts or other
payments due from AT&T if and to the extent Supplier can make corresponding adjustments to its payments to the relevant tax authority,
and (ii) Supplier timely filing claims for refund and any other documents required to recover any excess payments and Supplier promptly
remitting to AT&T all such refunds and interest received.

e.

If any taxing authority advises Supplier that it intends to audit Supplier with respect to any taxes for which AT&T is obligated to reimburse
Supplier under this Agreement, Supplier shall (i) promptly so notify AT&T, (ii) afford AT&T an opportunity to participate on an equal basis
with Supplier in such audit with respect to such taxes and (iii) keep AT&T fully informed as to the progress of such audit. Each Party shall
bear its own expenses with respect to any such audit, and the responsibility for any additional tax, interest or penalty resulting from such
audit is to be determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Taxes Section. Supplier’s failure to comply with the
notification requirements of this Taxes Section will relieve AT&T of its responsibility to reimburse Supplier for taxes only if Supplier’s
failure materially prejudiced AT&T’s ability to contest imposition or assessment of those taxes.
Proprietary and Confidential
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f.

In addition to its rights under Subsections c., d., and e. above with respect to any tax or tax controversy covered by this Taxes Section,
AT&T is entitled to contest, pursuant to applicable law and tariffs, and at its own expense, any tax previously invoiced that it is ultimately
obligated to pay. AT&T is entitled to the benefit of any refund or recovery of amounts that it has previously paid resulting from such a
contest. Supplier shall cooperate in any such contest, but AT&T shall pay all costs and expenses incurred in obtaining a refund or credit for
AT&T.

g.

If either Party is audited by a taxing authority or other governmental entity in connection with taxes under this Taxes Section, the other Party
shall reasonably cooperate with the Party being audited in order to respond to any audit inquiries in an appropriate and timely manner, so
that the audit and any resulting controversy may be resolved expeditiously.

h.

AT&T and Supplier shall reasonably cooperate with each other with respect to any tax planning to minimize taxes. The degree of
cooperation contemplated by this Section is to enable any resulting tax planning to be implemented and includes, but is not limited to: (i)
Supplier’s installing and loading all of the Software licensed by AT&T, and retaining possession and ownership of all tangible personal
property, (ii) Supplier’s installing, loading and/or transferring the Software at a location selected by AT&T, and (iii) Supplier’s Delivery of
all of the Software in electronic form.

i.

Supplier and any of its affiliates, as appropriate, receiving payments hereunder shall provide AT&T with a valid United States Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) Form W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8ECI, W-8EXP, W-8IMY, or W-9 (or any successor form prescribed by the
IRS). AT&T may reduce any payment otherwise due Supplier in connection with the sale of Material and provision of Services under this
Agreement by the amount of any tax imposed on Supplier that AT&T is required to pay directly to a taxing or other governmental authority
(“Withholding Tax”). Alternatively, if applicable law permits, AT&T agrees that it will honor a valid exemption certificate or other
mandated document evidencing Supplier’s exemption from payment of, or liability for, any Withholding Tax as authorized or required by
statute, regulation, administrative pronouncement, or other law of the jurisdiction providing said exemption. AT&T shall provide Supplier
with documentation evidencing withholding within a reasonable period of time.

Supplier Personnel and Provision of Services
5.1

Employment and Management Matters

Personnel provided by Supplier shall be considered solely the employees of Supplier or its Subcontractors and not employees or agents of
AT&T. Supplier has and shall retain the right to exercise full control of and supervision over the performance of the Services and full control
over the employment, direction, assignment, compensation, and discharge of all personnel performing the Services. Supplier and its
Subcontractors are and shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to compensation and benefits for all personnel provided by Supplier.
Supplier shall ensure that all persons furnished by Supplier conduct themselves in a professional manner and in accordance with all policies
provided by AT&T.
5.2

Replacement of Personnel

If AT&T requests that Supplier or its Subcontractor remove any person provided by Supplier or its Subcontractor from AT&T’s account for any
lawful reason, then Supplier shall immediately comply with such request. Supplier shall, at no cost to AT&T, provide a qualified replacement.
5.3
a.

Access to AT&T Premises
When appropriate, Supplier Representatives shall have reasonable access to AT&T’s or AT&T’s customers’ premises during normal
business hours, and at such other times as may be agreed upon by the Parties, to enable Supplier to perform its obligations under this
Agreement. Supplier shall coordinate such access with AT&T. Where required by governmental regulations, Supplier shall submit
satisfactory clearance from the U.S. Department of Defense and/or other federal, state or local authorities.
Proprietary and Confidential
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b.

Supplier shall ensure that Supplier Representatives, while on or off AT&T’s premises, (i) protect AT&T’s materials, buildings and
structures, (ii) perform Services which do not interfere with AT&T’s business operations, and (iii) perform such Services with care and due
regard for the safety, convenience and protection of AT&T, its employees, and its property.

c.

AT&T may require Supplier Representatives to exhibit AT&T-issued identification credentials to gain access to AT&T’s or AT&T’s
customers’ premises for the performance of Services. Supplier Representatives shall also exhibit their company’s photo identification, if
any. If, for any reason, any Supplier Representative is no longer performing Services, then Supplier shall immediately inform AT&T and
promptly return any AT&T-issued identification credentials.

5.4

Entry on AT&T Property

To the extent Supplier enters AT&T’s premises, Supplier shall be responsible for inspecting the Services site for visually obvious unsafe
conditions and taking the necessary safety precautions for protection of Supplier, its employees, and its agents and ensuring a safe place for
performance of the Services.
5.5

Background Checks

To assist AT&T’s compliance with the law and its duties to protect its own employees and customers, and subject to any Laws to the contrary
that limit any Supplier action otherwise required by this section, Supplier shall:
a.

make all reasonable efforts, including checking the background and verifying the personal information, to determine all information
necessary to verify whether any Supplier employee, contractor or Subcontractor and any employee or agent of any Supplier contractor or
Subcontractor (each, a “Supplier Person”) whom Supplier proposes to have perform any Service that permits Physical Entry or virtual or
other access to AT&T’s or its customers’ systems, networks, or Information (“Access”) at any time during the term of this Agreement
(provided that the terms of this Section shall not apply to Supplier Persons having escorted access to secured AT&T areas not available to
the general public where such Supplier Persons will not be providing “Services”, delivering/installing “Material”, or otherwise engaged in
work activities under this Agreement, e.g., does not apply to attending meetings, reviewing locations to prepare contract bids, etc.):
i.

has been convicted of any felony, or has been convicted of any misdemeanor involving violence, sexual misconduct, theft or computer
crimes, fraud or financial crimes, drug distribution, or crimes involving unlawful possession or use of a dangerous weapon
(“Conviction”) or is identified on any government registry as a sex offender (“Sex Offender Status”); and

ii. in addition to the requirements of Subsection i above, perform a Drug Screen on any Supplier Person whom Supplier proposes to have
access to Customer Information, Systems, or Physical Entry onto AT&T’s or its customers’ premises, and not permit any such Supplier
Person presenting a positive Drug Screen to have access to Customer Information, Systems, or Physical Entry onto AT&T’s or its
customers’ premises.
b.

Supplier shall comply with the obligations of Subsection a.i above by a Background Check of applicable records for those counties, states,
and federal court districts in which a proposed Supplier Person has identified as having resided, worked, or attended school in the previous
ten (10) years, unless a shorter period is required by any Laws.

c.

It is Supplier’s sole and exclusive responsibility to determine whether a Supplier Person’s Conviction or Sex Offender Status has a
reasonable relationship to the individual’s fitness or trustworthiness to perform the Service or other work activity, subject to applicable Laws
on the consideration of criminal convictions in making employment decisions. If however a Supplier Person needs to have Physical Entry
onto the premises of an AT&T customer, AT&T may require additional background information about and/or drug screening for the
Supplier Person, when required by applicable law or regulation, before permitting that individual to enter the customer’s premises.
Proprietary and Confidential
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5.6

Supplier represents and warrants to AT&T that, to the best of its knowledge, no Supplier Person has (i) falsified any of his or her
Identification Credentials, or (ii) failed to disclose any material information in the hiring process relevant to the performance of any Service
or other work activity. Any Supplier Person who has falsified such Identification Credentials or failed to disclose such information shall not
have Access or perform work for AT&T under this Agreement. Supplier shall maintain records of all Background Checks and Drug Screens
performed for Supplier Persons under this Agreement for a period of ten (10) years, or for such shorter period if provided by applicable law,
for AT&T to verify compliance with this Section.
Material and Services Provided By Others

If any part of Supplier’s Deliverables is dependent upon material or services provided by others, then Supplier shall inspect and promptly report
to AT&T any defect that renders such material or services unsuitable for Supplier’s proper performance. Supplier’s silence shall constitute
approval of such material and services as fit, proper and suitable for Supplier’s performance hereunder.
5.7

Use of Subcontractors

Any use of, including any changes to the use of, a Subcontractor must be approved by AT&T in writing before commencement of the work. A
Subcontractor can never be a Restricted Entity nor can personnel from a Restricted Entity be used by a Subcontractor to perform any services for
AT&T. Supplier shall provide on the Effective Date, annually thereafter and upon request to AT&T a list of proposed Subcontractors including,
among other things, the identity of, the location of, and a complete description of the activities to be performed by such Subcontractor. Supplier
shall remain responsible for the acts or omissions of its AT&T approved Subcontractors to the same extent as if such acts or omissions were
performed by Supplier. Upon AT&T’s request, Supplier shall immediately cease to use any Subcontractor to provide the Services and shall
promptly provide an AT&T approved replacement Subcontractor or perform the Services itself. Supplier shall bind any Subcontractors to terms
and conditions consistent with the terms of this Agreement.
5.8

Offshore Work Permitted Under Specified Conditions

a.

Supplier shall not perform any Services under this Agreement or allow such performance by any Supplier Entity at a location outside the
United States (“Offshore Location”) for the purpose of providing Services under this Agreement in the United States unless AT&T consents
to such Services to be performed by a Supplier Entity at such Offshore Location. In the event of such consent, the physical location where
the Services are to be performed, the Services to be performed at such location, and the identity of the Supplier Entity performing such
Services shall be specifically set forth in Appendix – Offshore Work. Prior to Supplier’s making any additions or deletions to the physical
locations, the Services to be performed at such location, or the Supplier Entities performing Services at an Offshore Location, AT&T must
consent to the proposed change and the Parties shall amend Appendix – Offshore Work accordingly. A change in the location where a
Service is performed from one Offshore Location to another AT&T approved Offshore Location shall not require an amendment to
Appendix – Offshore Work. The requirements of this Section shall be in addition to the Sections entitled “Assignment and Delegation,”
“Material and Services Provided by Others” and “Use of Subcontractors.”

b.

AT&T shall have the right to withdraw its consent to the performance of Services at an Offshore Location by a Supplier Entity at any time
in AT&T’s sole discretion if (i) there has been a breach of the terms of this Agreement with respect to an Offshore Location, (ii) there has
been a violation of any laws or regulations with respect to the Services performed at such Offshore Location, or (iii) the continued
performance of Services at said Offshore Location constitutes, in AT&T’s reasonable determination, a risk to AT&T’s financial or security
interests or could reasonably damage AT&T’s reputation, in which event Supplier shall continue to perform such Services at a location
within the United States, or at another approved Offshore Location, and the Parties shall amend Appendix – Offshore Work accordingly.
Proprietary and Confidential
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Supplier’s compliance with this Section, and all Services performed in Offshore Locations with AT&T’s consent, shall be subject to the
Section entitled “Records and Audits.” Supplier shall provide, and shall ensure that all Supplier Entities provide, physical access to, AT&T,
at no cost, to inspect all Offshore Locations.

d.

Supplier acknowledges that AT&T is constantly reviewing the security requirements for AT&T’s networks, systems and applications, and
access to AT&T Information or Supplier Entity storage of AT&T Information. As a condition to AT&T approving this Agreement and
granting Supplier Entity access to AT&T’s non-public, firewall-protected networks, systems, and applications, or granting Supplier Entity
access to AT&T Information or allowing Supplier Entity to store AT&T Information, Supplier agrees that, in the event AT&T identifies a
security issue involving such access or storage that requires a modification of Supplier Entity’s access or storage granted pursuant to this
Agreement, Supplier will renegotiate such access or storage as necessary for AT&T to resolve the security issue. In the event that the Parties
are unable to successfully renegotiate such access or storage, AT&T shall have the right to terminate this Agreement.

e.

Prior to interconnecting with, or otherwise accessing the AT&T internal company network, or doing any other work at an Offshore
Location, Supplier must be in compliance with all AT&T requirements for such interconnection, access or other Services.

f.

Any Services under this Agreement performed by a Supplier Entity in an Offshore Location without AT&T’s prior consent in accordance
with Subsection “a” of this Section shall be a material breach of this Agreement and, in addition to any other legal rights or remedies
available to AT&T at law or in equity, AT&T may immediately terminate this Agreement without cost, liability or penalty to AT&T other
than for payment for Services rendered.

g.

When AT&T has granted consent for Services to be performed in an Offshore Location, Supplier shall remain fully responsible for
compliance with any applicable foreign, federal, state or local Law for such Services regardless of whether the Service is being performed
by Supplier or another Supplier Entity. Nothing contained within this Agreement is intended to extend, nor does it extend, any rights or
benefits to any Subcontractor, and no third party beneficiary right is intended or granted to any third party hereby.

h.

Supplier shall advise AT&T as early as possible prior to any change of Control of any of the Supplier Entities. “Control” means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies by one person or entity or a
group of persons or entities acting in concert; provided, however, that the legal or beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, by persons or
entities, including governmental entities, acting alone or in concert, of more than thirty percent (30%) of the voting stock for the election of
directors of a party shall always be deemed Control.

i.

Supplier’s resources will be located in the United States, India, Israel, and Brazil. Supplier’s Offshore resources working will be located at
the addresses listed in Appendix K.

j.

Supplier’s offshore resources can only access AT&T Systems/data while physically located in an AT&T-approved Supplier facility as stated
in Appendix K or an applicable Order, and may not at any time remotely access any AT&T System or data from outside such facilities.

5.9

Affordable Care Act

For purposes of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), and in particular for purposes of Section 4980H of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations thereunder, with respect to each individual provided by Supplier to work on AT&T project(s) for at least thirty (30)
hours per week for at least ninety (90) days, whether consecutive or not, Supplier represents and warrants that it or one of its Subcontractors is
the common law employer of such individual and shall be responsible for either providing healthcare coverage as required by ACA (to the extent
applicable) or for paying any Section 4980H assessable payments that may be required for failure to provide to such individual:
i.

health care coverage, or

ii.

affordable healthcare coverage,
Proprietary and Confidential
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Supplier is required to maintain for a period of ten (10) years information to show compliance with the ACA notwithstanding any other provision
in this Agreement to the contrary.
Alternatively, the Supplier represents and warrants that there are no individuals provided by Supplier to work on AT&T project(s) for at least
thirty (30) hours per week for at least ninety (90) days, regardless of whether consecutive.
6.0

7.0

Change of Control and Investment
6.1

[**]

6.2

[**]

Intellectual Property Matters
7.1

[**]

7.2

Publicity

Supplier shall not use AT&T’s or its Affiliates’ trademarks, service marks or logos, except pursuant to a separate written agreement duly
executed between the Parties. In addition, Supplier shall not, without AT&T’s express prior written consent (a) use AT&T’s or its Affiliates’
names, (b) publicly disclose this Agreement, the Deliverables being performed pursuant to this Agreement or the relationship created by this
Agreement or (c) use of any language, pictures, videos, symbols, designs or other graphical representation which could in AT&T’s judgment
imply AT&T or its Affiliates’ identities, or an endorsement by AT&T, its Affiliates or any of its or their employees in any communication of
whatever nature. Supplier shall refer to AT&T any questions from the media or third parties regarding the Deliverables or Supplier’s relationship
with AT&T and shall not discuss the Deliverables or Supplier’s relationship with AT&T with the media or third parties. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Supplier may disclose this Agreement and the terms hereof solely to the extent required pursuant to any applicable Law provided that
Supplier gives AT&T notice prior to such disclosure and that Supplier takes all reasonable steps necessary to seek confidential treatment so as to
minimize the disclosure.
8.0

Compliance
8.1

Compliance with Laws

Supplier shall comply with all Laws attendant upon Supplier’s performance under this Agreement and AT&T’s or its customers’ utilization of
the Deliverables. Supplier shall procure all approvals, bonds, certificates, insurance, inspections, licenses, and permits that such Laws require for
the performance of this Agreement. Supplier shall create and maintain any necessary records, provide any certificate, affidavit or other
information or documentation requested or as otherwise required by AT&T: (a) to show compliance by Supplier and its Subcontractors with
Laws, (b) to comply or otherwise establish AT&T’s compliance with Laws or (c) to allow AT&T to timely respond to any complaints, filings, or
other proceedings.
8.2

AT&T Supplier Information Security Requirements (SISR)

Supplier
shall
comply
with
AT&T’s
Supplier
Information
Security
Requirements
(the
“SISR”)
available
at:
http://www.attsuppliers.com/misc/ATT_SISR_Appx.pdf. Supplier further agrees to comply with the terms and conditions of the SISR, as may be
changed from time-to-time by AT&T. Supplier shall cooperate fully with AT&T, including by completing checklists or similar documentation,
to ensure that Customer Information, Software and/or computer systems Supplier develops, designs, supports and/or uses under this Agreement
comply with the standards and requirements set forth in the SISR.
Proprietary and Confidential
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8.3

Notice of Investigations

Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T of any of the following which is connected with any Deliverables: (a) any investigation, indictment,
material lawsuit, or administrative or other proceeding, or (b) the revocation of any license, permit or other document issued to Supplier by any
governmental authority.
8.4

Supplier Citizenship and Sustainability

a.

Supplier shall conduct business with an abiding respect for corporate citizenship, sustainability, and human rights (“Citizenship and
Sustainability”). To the extent that Supplier has an existing Citizenship and Sustainability program, it shall be no less stringent than
AT&T’s Principles of Conduct for Suppliers available at: http://www.attsuppliers.com/misc/SupplierSustainabilityPrinciples.pdf and the
AT&T
Human
Rights
in
Communication
Policy
available
at:
http://www.att.com/Common/about_us/downloads/Human_Rights_Communications_Policy.pdf (“AT&T Citizenship and Sustainability
Policies”). In the event that Supplier does not have a Citizenship and Sustainability program, or such program does not address all areas
addressed in the AT&T Citizenship and Sustainability Policies, Supplier shall conduct its business operations in a manner consistent with
the AT&T Citizenship and Sustainability Policies.

b.

Upon AT&T’s request, Supplier shall provide to AT&T such information, reports, or survey responses as AT&T deems necessary to
periodically monitor Supplier’s business operations in the context of Citizenship and Sustainability. Supplier shall respond to such requests
within reasonable timelines as set forth by AT&T.

8.5

Utilization of Minority, Women, and Disabled Veteran Owned Business Enterprises

a.

Supplier shall submit annual participation plans in the form set forth at http://www.attsuppliers.com no later than the Effective Date and by
December 31 of each calendar year thereafter, establishing Supplier’s goals for the upcoming reporting period for participation by minority
owned business enterprises (“MBE”), women owned business enterprises (“WBE”), and disabled veteran owned business enterprises
(“DVBE”), with “participation” expressed as a percentage of aggregate estimated annual purchases by AT&T for the reporting period.

b.

By the tenth day following the close of each calendar month, Supplier shall, in a format and manner acceptable to AT&T, report actual
results of its efforts to meet the goals set forth in the applicable participation plan during the preceding calendar month. When reporting
results, shall count only expenditures with entities that are certified as MBE, WBE, or DVBE firms by third party certifying agencies
recognized by AT&T, as listed on http://www.attsuppliers.com.
Quality Assurance – ISO 9001

8.6
a.

Quality. Supplier shall ensure an ongoing commitment to quality in the Deliverables furnished under this Agreement. Supplier shall be
certified to ISO 9001 Quality Management System (QMS) and shall ensure all Subcontractors that provide a portion of the Deliverables are
certified to ISO 9001 QMS. Upon AT&T’s request Supplier shall provide to AT&T:
i.

evidence of its and/or its Subcontractors’ certification to ISO 9001 QMS;

ii. a copy of Supplier’s and each of its Subcontractors’ quality manuals; and
iii. a copy of Supplier’s and each of its Subcontractors’ quality audit plans, audit schedules and most current audit results.
b.

Testing. Supplier shall perform or cause to be performed testing sufficient to ensure the Deliverables perform in accordance with the
Specifications. If testing indicates any of the Deliverables does not conform to the Specifications, then Supplier shall promptly notify
AT&T, in writing, of such non-conformance before shipment or provision of the Deliverables. AT&T will advise Supplier whether Supplier
should Deliver the non-conforming Deliverables. In the event AT&T instructs Supplier to Deliver non-conforming Deliverables, Supplier
shall not be relieved of any of its obligations hereunder, including warranty obligations. AT&T’s receipt of any such non-conforming
Deliverables shall not constitute a waiver of any of AT&T’s rights, warranties, or remedies under this Agreement or elsewhere.
Proprietary and Confidential
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Supplier Performance Management Program and Satisfaction Survey.
i.

Upon AT&T’s request, Supplier shall participate in an AT&T supplier performance management program and/or satisfaction survey
(“Survey”); and

ii. Supplier shall meet or exceed the quality performance requirements in the Survey categories applicable to Supplier. If the Survey
reveals areas needing improvement, Supplier shall provide AT&T a plan addressing such areas within thirty (30) days after Supplier’s
receipt of the Survey results.
d.

Supplier Performance Scorecards. At AT&T’s request Supplier shall:
i.

collect data relating to Supplier’s performance on a schedule established by AT&T;

ii. enter the data in AT&T’s supplier portal (website) available at: http://www.attsuppliers.com/ (subject to change) in a format designated
by AT&T; and
iii. cooperate fully with AT&T’s supplier performance management team to coordinate Supplier’s activities as related to the scorecards,
which may include participation in feedback sessions, audits and issue resolution.
8.7

Business Continuity Plan

Supplier shall maintain and upon AT&T’s request, promptly furnish to AT&T Supplier’s Business Continuity Plan that complies with the
requirements set forth in Appendix – Business Continuity Plan Requirements (BCPR) available at http://attsuppliers.com/downloads/BusinessContinuity-Plan-Requirements-BCPR.pdf, and incorporated herein by reference, which may be changed from time to time by AT&T.
8.8
a.

AT&T Derived Information
Definitions.
i.

“AT&T Data Assets” means the following:
1.

Customer Information,

2.

AT&T employee personal, health or financial information to the extent received or collected by or on behalf of Supplier in
connection with this Agreement, and

3.

Data in any form from AT&T’s network, hardware and/or software components that, in connection with this Agreement, was
either:
A. collected by Supplier or on Supplier’s behalf; or
B. received or stored by Supplier or on Supplier’s behalf.

The term “AT&T Data Assets” does not include any data that came to be in the possession or control of Supplier by a lawful manner
that was unrelated to this Agreement and independent of Supplier’s relationship with AT&T, even if such data is otherwise identical to
AT&T Data Assets and even if the source of such data was an AT&T customer; provided, however, that nothing herein in any way
alters or dilutes the Parties’ obligations to otherwise comply with the relevant provisions of this Agreement including the provisions
relating to AT&T Data Assets and Customer Information.
ii. “AT&T Derived Information” means any information, whether anonymous or not, resulting from processing AT&T Data Assets –
either alone or in combination with other data - by or on behalf of Supplier. As used herein, “processing” includes, without limitation,
aggregation, de-identification, enhancement (e.g., joining with other data sets), reformatting, manipulation, modification, analysis,
translation, condensation, compilation, analysis and evaluation.
Proprietary and Confidential
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Rights and Obligations.
i.

AT&T Derived Information
1.

Prohibitions. Supplier is prohibited from causing (on its own or via a third party) the following (collectively referred to as
“Prohibitions”):
A. the creation or use of any AT&T Derived Information and
B. with regard to AT&T Derived Information, any act or omission that would violate this Agreement’s restrictions on Supplier’s
use of Information.

2.

Notice. Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T if Supplier reasonably believes that any of the Prohibitions in this subsection may
have been violated.

3.

Rights. Supplier hereby assigns to AT&T all right, title and interest it may have in such AT&T Derived Information. Further, upon
AT&T’s request, Supplier shall promptly provide all or any requested portion of such AT&T Derived Information and provide
written certification within fifteen (15) business days to AT&T that such AT&T Derived Information has been returned. AT&T is
not transferring or granting to Supplier any right, title, or interest in or to (or granting to Supplier any license or other permissions
in or to) any or all AT&T Derived Information, including any right by Supplier to use the AT&T Derived Information.

4.

Destruction. Upon request by AT&T, Supplier shall destroy AT&T Derived Information and cease use thereof, including any
copies in Supplier’s possession or under Supplier’s control within ten (10) business days. Promptly thereafter, Supplier shall deliver
to AT&T written certification of such destruction and cessation signed by an authorized representative of Supplier.

ii. AT&T Data Assets - Savings Clause. With regard to the types of data within the definition of AT&T Data Assets, this section is
intended to supplement, but not to amend or alter, the other applicable provisions of this Agreement (e.g., provisions related to AT&T
Information, Customer Information, SISR, Restricted Activities, etc.).
c.
9.0

Applicability. The provisions of this Section shall apply to all AT&T Data Assets and AT&T Derived Information, regardless of whether
such data and information was first received, collected, or created by Supplier before, on, or after the Effective Date of this Agreement.

Warranties
9.1

Warranties Subject to Warranty Period

For the duration of the Warranty Period:
a.

Supplier warrants (i) that Deliverables are new, merchantable, free from defects in design, material and workmanship, and fit and sufficient
for the purposes intended by AT&T, and (ii) that Deliverables furnished hereunder shall strictly conform to and perform in accordance with
applicable Specifications, drawings, models, samples and industry standards.

b.

Supplier warrants that Services provided hereunder are performed in a first-class, professional manner, in strict compliance with the
Specifications, and with the care, skill and diligence, and in accordance with industry standards.
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9.2

If the Parties have identified a System on which Software operates, then Supplier warrants that such Software shall perform on and be
compatible with such System and operate satisfactorily in the System environment.
Warranties Not Subject to Warranty Period

a.

Supplier represents and warrants that there are no actions, suits, or proceedings, pending or threatened, which will have a material adverse
effect on Supplier’s ability to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

b.

Supplier represents and warrants that no consent, approval or withholding of objection is required from any entity, including any
governmental authority, with respect to the entering into or the performance of this Agreement or any Order.

c.

Supplier represents and warrants that (i) Deliverables shall be free from all Liens at the time of Delivery and (ii) Supplier conveys good title
to Material sold. In addition, if Material comes subject to one or more warranties provided by third party manufacturers or vendors to
Supplier (“OEM warranties”), then Supplier warrants that it has the authority to assign, and hereby assigns, such OEM warranties to
AT&T.

d.

Supplier represents and warrants that the Deliverables shall not infringe any patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual
property right. Moreover, as of the Effective Date, no third party claim has been alleged against Supplier that any of the Deliverables
provided hereunder infringes upon such third party’s intellectual property rights.

e.

Supplier represents and warrants that Supplier has all necessary skills, rights, financial resources, and authority to enter into this Agreement
and related Orders, including the authority to provide or license the Deliverables if Supplier does not solely own all intellectual property
rights in such Deliverables.

f.

Supplier represents and warrants that the Deliverables provided to AT&T hereunder will not contain (i) any vulnerability, including any
condition in the instructions of the Software, whether consistent with its Specifications or not, that renders any System susceptible to
unauthorized access and use, or (ii) any harmful code, including computer viruses, worms, trap doors, time bombs, undocumented
passwords, disabling code (which renders Deliverables unusable until a patch or new password is provided), or any similar mechanism or
device; provided that enabling keys provided by Supplier to ensure conformance to product licensing restrictions shall be permitted so long
as these enabling keys do not interfere with the proper use of the Deliverables at any time after initial installation.

g.

Supplier represents and warrants that it or its Subcontractors will provide any notice required under the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016,
18 USC §1833(b)(3), to each individual used or provided by Supplier or its Subcontractors to work on AT&T projects.

h.

Supplier represents and warrants that it has all governmental franchises, permits, licenses, and any similar authority necessary or required
under any Law (including any applicable export control Laws), regulation, rule or ordinance, for its performance under this Agreement,
including, without limitation, for the delivery of the RADCOM Software and the deposits into escrow, including the Deposit Materials
under the terms and conditions of this Agreement which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes the Protective Provisions and their release in
accordance with the terms and conditions thereof.

9.3

Other Warranties; Warranty Survival

a.

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED HEREIN, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATIONS,
CONDITIONS OR WARRANTIES TO THE OTHER PARTY, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING THE IMPLIED
WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. .

b.

Supplier will immediately notify AT&T if, during the term of this Agreement, Supplier becomes aware of any action, suit, or proceeding,
pending or threatened, which may have a material adverse effect on Supplier’s ability to fulfill the obligations under this Agreement or any
Order.
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9.4

Material and Services Warranty Claims Procedure

If following receipt of notice from AT&T alleging a breach of any warranty with respect to any Deliverable Supplier fails, within a reasonable
period of time, to repair or replace the Material or reperform the Services to correct the breach of warranty, then Supplier shall, at AT&T’s
option, either (a) repair or replace the Material or reperform the Services to correct the breach of warranty at no cost to AT&T or (b) credit
AT&T with a commercially reasonable reduction in the price of such Deliverable. Supplier shall bear all transportation costs and risk of loss and
damage in transit with respect to all Material transported in connection with this Section, and all repaired and replacement Material is warranted
as provided herein. If AT&T elects to have Supplier repair or replace the Material or reperform the Services so as to correct the breach of
warranty, and Supplier fails to do so, then, in addition to any other applicable remedies, AT&T may itself repair the Material or correct the
Services, or engage a third party to do so, in either case at Supplier’s expense.
9.5

FOSS

a.

For purposes of this Section, “FOSS” means any and all freeware, open source software or shareware used or included in, or combined by
or on behalf of Supplier with, the Deliverables or otherwise provided by or on behalf of Supplier under this Agreement; and a “FOSS
Disclosure” means a complete, current, and accurate listing of all FOSS, which identifies for each FOSS component: (i) the component
name; (ii) its version or release number; (iii) its web site URL of origin; (iv) the applicable software license and its version number; (v) the
URL where Supplier identifies or sets forth the applicable software license; (vi) a brief (e.g., one-line) description of the purpose of the
component; and (vii) how the component is linked within the Deliverables or as otherwise provided. A FOSS Disclosure may be provided in
the form of a web site made accessible to AT&T where Supplier posts the foregoing information.

b.

Upon AT&T’s request Supplier shall promptly, but in any event within thirty (30) days of such request, furnish to AT&T a FOSS Disclosure
that is complete, current and accurate when furnished. Neither response nor non-response by AT&T concerning the receipt or non-receipt of
any FOSS Disclosure or any reference to FOSS in the Agreement shall be deemed as acceptance, approval or acquiescence by AT&T that
Supplier’s use of the FOSS complies with the legal requirements of applicable FOSS license(s), or is suitable for the intent and purposes
furnished hereunder. After receiving any FOSS Disclosure, AT&T may, upon written notice to Supplier, ask Supplier to use alternate FOSS
(or other alternate software), if reasonably warranted to avert a risk that the rights of AT&T or its third-party suppliers in any proprietary
software may be compromised. In that event, if Supplier cannot or will not use such alternate FOSS, then AT&T may immediately terminate
the applicable Order(s), in whole or in part, and/or relevant purchase or funding commitments under this Agreement, without further cost,
expense or liability to AT&T.

c.

Supplier represents and warrants to AT&T: (i) that Supplier has satisfied all its obligations to any third parties with respect to all FOSS and
the applicable FOSS licenses (including, for example, any obligation to make publicly available the FOSS source code for modifications to
such FOSS); (ii) that the FOSS, in the form provided to AT&T, is suitable for the intent and purposes furnished hereunder; (iii) that use of
the FOSS in such form for such intent and purposes in no manner creates any added obligation on the part of AT&T (including, for example,
the payment of any additional monies), or diminishes, conditions or eliminates any of the rights, title, or interest that Supplier grants AT&T
in or to any Deliverables or that Supplier may otherwise provide AT&T under this Agreement; and (iv) that use of the FOSS in such form
for such intent and purposes, including, but not limited to, AT&T’s use or combination of the FOSS, in the form provided to AT&T, with
any proprietary software of AT&T or AT&T’s third-party suppliers, does not subject AT&T to any obligation of disclosure or distribution to
any third party or to the public of any such proprietary software, or otherwise make such proprietary software subject to the terms of any
FOSS license or impair AT&T’s or its third-party suppliers’ rights, title, or interest in or to such proprietary software.
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10.0

In the event that AT&T notifies Supplier or Supplier becomes aware of Supplier’s noncompliance with any FOSS license term, then in
either case, Supplier shall use all reasonable efforts promptly to cure such noncompliance so as to eliminate risks of public disclosure of
proprietary software and prevent disruption of any AT&T business activity. Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T of all actions taken by
Supplier to cure such noncompliance.

Confidentiality
10.1

Information

a.

In connection with this Agreement or an Order, including Supplier’s performance of its obligations hereunder and AT&T’s receipt of
Material or Services, either Party may find it beneficial to disclose to the other Party (which disclosure may include permitting or enabling
the other Party’s access to) certain of its Information. For the purpose of this Section, AT&T’s disclosure of Information to Supplier
includes any Information that Supplier creates, obtains, generates, observes, collects, harvests, handles, stores, or accesses, in any way, in
connection with this Agreement or an Order. Information (in the case of AT&T, other than Customer Information) of a disclosing Party shall
be deemed to be confidential or proprietary only if it is clearly marked or otherwise identified by the disclosing Party as being confidential
or proprietary, provided that if it is orally or visually disclosed (including Information conveyed via email, text, voice message or similar
medium), then the disclosing Party shall designate it as confidential or proprietary at the time of such disclosure. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a disclosing Party shall not have any such obligation to so mark or identify, or to so designate, Information that the disclosing
Party discloses to or is otherwise obtained by the other Party’s employees, contractors, or representatives (1) who are located on the
disclosing Party’s premises, (2) who access the disclosing Party’s systems, customers, operations, infrastructure, network or facilities, or (3)
who otherwise obtain AT&T Information in connection with this Agreement; any such Information so disclosed shall automatically be
deemed to be confidential and proprietary. Additionally, the failure to mark or designate information as being confidential or proprietary
shall not waive the confidentiality where it is reasonably obvious, under the circumstances surrounding disclosure, that the Information is
confidential or proprietary; any such Information so disclosed or obtained shall automatically be deemed to be confidential and proprietary.
For greater certainty, Information provided by either Party to the other Party (or in the case of AT&T, Customer Information possessed by
Supplier) prior to the Effective Date of this Agreement in connection with the subject matter hereof, including any such Information
provided under or protected by a separate non-disclosure agreement (howsoever denominated) is also subject to the terms of this Agreement.
Neither Party shall disclose Information under this Agreement that includes, in any form, any of the following: customer or employee
personal information, credit card and credit related information, health or financial information, and/or authentication credentials.

b.

With respect to the Information of the disclosing Party, the receiving Party shall: (i) hold all such Information in confidence with the same
degree of care with which it protects its own confidential or proprietary Information, but with no less than reasonably prudent care, (ii)
restrict disclosure of such Information solely to its employees, contractors, and agents (and, in the case of AT&T, also to its Affiliates’
employees, contractors, and agents) with a need to know such Information, advise such persons of their confidentiality obligations with
respect thereto, and ensure that such persons are bound by obligations of confidentiality reasonably comparable to those imposed in this
Agreement, (iii) use such Information only as needed to perform its obligations (and, if AT&T is the receiving Party, to receive the benefits
of the Deliverables provided) under this Agreement, (iv) except as necessary under the immediately preceding Subpart (iii), not sell, assign,
lease, license, copy, distribute, or otherwise use or commercially exploit any such Information or allow anyone else to sell, assign, lease,
license, copy, distribute, or otherwise use or commercially exploit such Information, and ensure that any and all copies bear the same notices
or legends, if any, as the originals, and (v) upon the disclosing Party’s request, promptly return, or destroy all or any requested portion of the
Information to the extent still retained by or on behalf of the receiving Party, and provide written certification within fifteen (15) business
days to the disclosing Party that such Information has been returned or destroyed, provided that with respect to archival or back-up copies of
Information that reside on the receiving Party’s systems, the receiving Party shall be deemed to have complied with its obligations under this
Subpart (v) if it makes reasonable efforts to expunge from such systems, or to permanently render irretrievable, such copies.
Proprietary and Confidential
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Except for Customer Information, neither Party shall have any obligation to the other Party with respect to Information which: (i) at the time
of disclosure was already known to the receiving Party free of any obligation to keep it confidential (as evidenced by the receiving Party’s
written records prepared prior to such disclosure), (ii) is or becomes publicly known through no wrongful act of the receiving Party (such
obligations ceasing at the time such Information becomes publicly known), (iii) is lawfully received from a third party, free of any
obligation to keep it confidential, (iv) is independently developed by the receiving Party or a third party, as evidenced by the receiving
Party’s written records, and where such development occurred without any direct or indirect use of or access to the Information received
from the disclosing Party, or (v) the disclosing Party consents in writing to be free of restriction.

d.

If a receiving Party is required to provide Information of a disclosing Party to any court or government agency pursuant to a written court
order, subpoena, regulatory demand, request under the National Labor Relations Act (an “NLRA Request”), or process of law, then the
receiving Party must, unless prohibited by applicable law, first provide the disclosing Party with prompt notice of such requirement and
reasonable cooperation to the disclosing Party should it seek protective arrangements for the production of such Information. The receiving
Party shall (i) take reasonable steps to limit any such provision of Information to the specific Information required by such court or agency,
and (ii) continue to otherwise protect all Information disclosed in response to such order, subpoena, regulation, NLRA Request, or process
of law.

e.

A receiving Party’s obligations with respect to any particular Information of a disclosing Party shall remain in effect, including after the
expiration or termination of this Agreement, until such time as it qualifies under one of the exceptions set forth in Subsection (c) above.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Customer Information shall remain confidential indefinitely and shall never be disclosed or
used without the prior written approval of an authorized representative of AT&T.

f.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including in this Section), Supplier information related to installation,
operation, repair, or maintenance shall not be considered confidential or proprietary, and AT&T may disclose any such information for
purposes of installing, operating, repairing, replacing, removing, and maintaining the Material.

10.2

Customer Information

a.

As between Supplier and AT&T, title to all Customer Information and customer proprietary network information (“CPNI”) (as that term is
defined in Section 222 of the Communications Act of 1934, 47 U.S.C. §222 (as amended, “Section 222”)) shall be in AT&T. Except as
otherwise provided herein, no license or rights to any Customer Information are granted to Supplier hereunder.

b.

Supplier acknowledges that Customer Information received may be subject to certain privacy laws and regulations and requirements,
including requirements of AT&T. Supplier shall consider Customer Information to be private, sensitive and confidential. Accordingly, with
respect to Customer Information, Supplier shall comply with all applicable privacy laws and regulations and requirements, including the
CPNI restrictions contained in Section 222. Accordingly, Supplier shall:
i.

not use any CPNI to market or otherwise sell products to AT&T’s customers, except to the extent necessary for the performance of
Services for AT&T or as otherwise approved or authorized by AT&T in this Agreement or in writing;

ii. make no disclosure of Customer Information to any party other than AT&T, except to the extent necessary for the performance of
Services for AT&T or except such disclosure required under force of law; provided that Supplier shall provide AT&T with notice
immediately upon receipt of any legal request or demand by a judicial, regulatory or other authority or third party to disclose or produce
Customer Information; Supplier shall furnish only that portion of the Customer Information that it is legally required to furnish and
shall provide reasonable cooperation to AT&T should AT&T exercise efforts to obtain a protective order or other confidential treatment
with respect to such Customer Information;
Proprietary and Confidential
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iii. not incorporate any Customer Information into any database other than in a database maintained exclusively for the storage of AT&T’s
Customer Information;
iv. not incorporate any data from any of Supplier’s other customers, including Affiliates of AT&T, into AT&T’s customer database;
v.

make no use whatsoever of any Customer Information for any purpose except to comply with the terms of this Agreement;

vi. make no sale, license or lease of Customer Information to any other party;
vii. restrict access to Customer Information to only those employees of Supplier that require access to perform Services under this
Agreement;
viii. prohibit and restrict access or use of Customer Information by any of Supplier’s other customers, Supplier’s Affiliates, or third parties
except as may be agreed otherwise by AT&T;
ix. promptly return all Customer Information to AT&T upon expiration or termination of this Agreement or applicable schedule or Order,
unless expressly agreed or instructed otherwise by AT&T; and
x.

11.0

immediately notify AT&T upon Supplier’s awareness of (1) any breach of the above-referenced provisions, (2) any disclosure
(inadvertent or otherwise) of Customer Information to any third party not expressly permitted herein to receive or have access to such
Customer Information, or (3) a breach of, or other security incident involving, Supplier’s systems or network that could cause or permit
access to Customer Information inconsistent with the above-referenced provisions, and such notice shall include the details of the
breach, disclosure or security incident. Supplier shall fully cooperate with AT&T in determining, as may be necessary or appropriate,
actions that need to be taken including the full scope of the breach, disclosure or security incident, corrective steps to be taken by
Supplier, the nature and content of any customer notifications, law enforcement involvement, or news/press/media contact etc., and
Supplier shall not communicate directly with any AT&T customer without AT&T’s consent, which such consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

Limitation of Damages, Indemnities, and Insurance
11.1

Limitation of Damages

NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, EXEMPLARY, OR PUNITIVE
DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOST REVENUE, REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF THE ACTION OR THE THEORY OF RECOVERY,
EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. Additionally, except as provided below, the
total aggregate liability of a Party to the other Party under or in connection with this Agreement, regardless of the form of the action of the theory
of recovery, shall not exceed two times the fees paid or payable under this Agreement.
The limitations of liability set forth in this Section 11.1 shall not apply with respect to: (i) Losses occasioned by the fraud or willful misconduct
of a Party; (ii) amounts paid with respect to third party claims that are the subject of indemnification under this Agreement; (iii) Losses
occasioned by the wrongful termination of this Agreement; or (iv) Losses occasioned by any breach of a Party’s obligations under Article 10.0.
11.2
a.

Indemnity
Except for Covered Losses which are provided for in the Section entitled “Infringement,” Supplier shall indemnify, hold harmless, and
defend AT&T and its Affiliates, as well as their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, distributors and customers, individually or
collectively, as the case may be, in accordance with this Section, against any Loss with respect to any third-party claim (including any claim
by a government or quasi-government entity) or regulatory proceeding to the extent such Loss arises from, or in connection with, or results
from: (i) Supplier’s acts or omissions with respect to this Agreement, (ii) Employment Claims; or (iii) Supplier’s gross negligence or willful
misconduct. Supplier’s duty to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend against Loss shall be proportionately reduced to exclude that portion of
any Loss that may be caused or alleged to be caused in part by the negligence of AT&T and other persons indemnified under this
Agreement.
Proprietary and Confidential
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b.

AT&T shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend Supplier and its Affiliates, as well as their respective officers, directors, employees,
agents, distributors and customers, individually or collectively, as the case may be, in accordance with this Section, against any Loss with
respect to any third-party claims or regulatory proceedings asserted or commenced against any of them to the extent such claim or
proceeding arises from, or in connection with, or results from (i) AT&T’s material breach of its obligations with respect to Supplier’s
Intellectual Property Rights and in particular any licenses granted by Supplier pursuant to this Agreement; or (ii) AT&T’s gross negligence
or willful misconduct.

c.

A Party seeking indemnification (the “Indemnified Party”) under this Section shall notify the other Party (the “Indemnifying Party”)
promptly of any Loss but such notice shall not be a precondition of the Indemnifying Party’s obligations under this Section, and any delay in
such notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this Section, except if and only to the extent that the
Indemnifying Party can show that such delay actually and materially prejudiced the Indemnifying Party. The Parties shall promptly review
information pertinent to the claim to determine which Party will more likely be the Indemnifying Party with respect to such claim.

d.

Defense of Indemnified Claims. The Indemnifying Party shall assume, at its expense, the sole defense of the claim through counsel that it
selects and shall keep the Indemnified Party fully informed as to the progress of such defense. If the Parties are unable to agree upon the
proper Party to defend such claim, each shall retain its own counsel, in which case the responsibility for all reasonable fees, costs, and
expenses incurred by each Party in such defense shall be determined in accordance with the indemnification provisions in the Agreement.
Upon reasonable request of the Indemnifying Party and at the Indemnifying Party’s expense, the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the
Indemnifying Party in the defense of the claim. At the Indemnified Party’s option and expense, the Indemnified Party may retain or use
separate counsel to represent it, including in-house counsel. The Indemnifying Party shall maintain control of the defense, except that if the
settlement of a claim would adversely affect the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party may settle the claim as to the Indemnified Party
only with the Indemnified Party’s consent, which consent shall not be withheld or delayed unreasonably. The Indemnifying Party shall pay
the full amount of any judgment, award or settlement with respect to the claim and all other expenses related to the resolution of the claim,
including costs, interest and reasonable attorneys’ fees, subject to reimbursement by the Indemnified Party for such amounts to the extent
the Indemnified Party is responsible for them in accordance with the indemnification provisions in Subsections (a) and (b) above, as
applicable. If one Party is required to take any action to enforce its indemnity rights under this Agreement, or to assume the defense of any
claim for which it is entitled to receive an indemnity under this Agreement because of the other Party’s failure to promptly assume such
defense, then that Party may also recover from the other Party any reasonable attorneys’ fees (including cost of in-house counsel at market
rates for attorneys of similar experience) and other costs of enforcing its indemnity rights or assuming such defense. Each Party agrees to
take appropriate, reasonable actions to reduce or limit the amount of any damages relating to claims subject to the Parties’ respective
indemnity obligations under this Agreement. Supplier waives any immunity from indemnification that Supplier may hold, by virtue of
Supplier’s compliance with its Workers’ compensation obligations in any jurisdiction, even if such immunity arises under the constitution or
statutes of such jurisdiction (such as, for example, Section 35, Article II, of the Ohio Constitution and Sections 4123.74 and 4123.741 of the
Ohio Revised Code).

11.3
a.

Infringement
Definitions. For purposes of this Section:
i.

“Indemnified Parties” shall mean AT&T and its Affiliates, as well as their respective agents, distributors, and customers, individually
or collectively, as the case may be.
Proprietary and Confidential
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ii. “Loss” shall mean any liability, loss, claim, demand, suit, cause of action, settlement payment, cost, expense, interest, award, judgment,
damages (including punitive and exemplary damages and increased damages for willful infringement), liens, fines, fees, penalties, and
Litigation Expense.
iii. “Litigation Expense” means any court filing fee, court cost, arbitration fee, and each other reasonable fee and cost of investigating or
defending an indemnified claim or asserting any claim for indemnification or defense under this Agreement, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and other professionals’ fees, and disbursements.
iv. “Provided Elements” shall mean any products, hardware, software, interfaces, systems, content, services, processes, methods,
documents, materials, data or information, Deposit Materials or any functionality therein, provided to any Indemnified Party by or on
behalf of Supplier (including by any of Supplier’s sub-suppliers or distributors) pursuant to this Agreement (including under any order,
statement of work, exhibit, or other document under, subordinate to, or referencing this Agreement).
b.

Obligations.
i.

Supplier shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend (which shall include cooperating with AT&T as set forth below in the defense of)
the Indemnified Parties against any Loss resulting from, arising out of or relating to any allegation, threat, demand, claim or lawsuit
brought by any third party (“Covered Claim”), regardless of whether such Covered Claim is meritorious, of:
1.

infringement (including direct, contributory and induced infringement) of any patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, or other
Intellectual Property Right in connection with the Provided Elements, including any Covered Claim of infringement based on:
A. making, repair, receipt, use, importing, sale or disposal (and offers to do any of the foregoing) of Provided Elements (or having
others do any of the foregoing, in whole or in part, on behalf of or at the direction of the Indemnified Parties), or
B. use of Provided Elements in combination with products, hardware, software, interfaces, systems, content, services, processes,
methods, documents, materials, data or information not furnished by Supplier, including use in the form of the making, having
made or using of an apparatus or system, or the making or practicing of a process or method unless the function performed by
the Provided Elements in such combination is of a type that is neither normal nor reasonably anticipated for such Provided
Elements (a “Combination Claim”);

2.

misappropriation of any trade secret, proprietary or non-public information in connection with the Provided Elements;

any and all such Loss referenced in this Subsection (b)(i) being hereinafter referred to as a “Covered Loss.”
ii. Insofar as Supplier’s obligations under Subsection (b)(i) result from, arise out of, or relate to a Covered Claim that is a Combination
Claim, Supplier shall be liable to pay only its Proportionate Share of the Covered Loss associated with such Combination Claim. The
“Proportionate Share” payable by Supplier shall be a portion of the Covered Loss determined, not at AT&T’s sole discretion, but rather
on an objectively fair and equitable basis (taking into account the relevant facts and circumstances and using the same standards that
would be applied by a court or other neutral adjudicator under applicable law) to be attributable to Supplier based on the relative
materiality of the role played by the applicable Provided Elements in the Combination Claim. If Supplier believes AT&T’s assessment
of Supplier’s Proportionate Share is not fair and equitable, then Supplier’s Proportionate Share shall be determined, insofar as possible,
through good faith negotiation between the Parties; provided, however, that a failure of the Parties to agree on Supplier’s Proportionate
Share shall not relieve Supplier of its obligations to pay its Proportionate Share under this Section. Supplier shall make payments in
satisfaction of its Proportionate Share obligation whenever such payments become due. In no event shall Supplier be liable, with regard
to a Combination Claim, for more than its Proportionate Share.
iii. AT&T shall have sole control over the defense of (1) any Combination Claim and (2) any other Covered Claim that involves Supplier
and one or more other suppliers of AT&T or its Affiliates ((1) and (2) being hereinafter referred to separately and collectively as a
“Compound Claim”). Supplier shall cooperate in every reasonable way with AT&T to facilitate the defense and may, at its option and
at its own expense, participate with AT&T in the defense with counsel of its own choosing. Where AT&T controls the defense under
this Subsection (b)(iii), AT&T shall make good faith efforts to enter into a reasonable joint defense or common interest agreement with
Supplier. AT&T shall not settle any Compound Claim in a manner that make any admission on behalf of RADCOM without
RADCOM’s prior approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
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iv. Insofar as Supplier’s obligations under Subsection (b)(i) result from, arise out of, or relate to other than a Compound Claim, Supplier
may control the defense of the Covered Claim provided that, promptly upon any of the Indemnified Parties’ giving Supplier written
notice of the Covered Claim, Supplier delivers to AT&T a written, properly executed, unconditional, irrevocable, and binding promise
to fully indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties from and against all Losses related to the Covered Claim as provided
under this Section. In the event that Supplier controls the defense of the Covered Claim, Supplier shall retain as its lead counsel, subject
to AT&T’s approval, one or more competent attorneys from a nationally recognized law firm who have significant experience in
litigating intellectual property claims of the type at issue, and the Indemnified Parties may, at their option and expense, participate with
Supplier in the defense of such Covered Claim.
v.

AT&T shall notify Supplier promptly of any Covered Claim; provided, however, that any delay in such notice shall not relieve Supplier
of its obligations under this Section, except insofar as Supplier can show that such delay actually and materially prejudiced Supplier.

vi. In no event shall Supplier settle, without AT&T’s prior written consent, any Covered Claim, in whole or in part, in a manner that would
require any Indemnified Party to discontinue or materially modify its products or services (or offerings thereof). In no event shall
Supplier enter into any agreement related to any Covered Claim or to the Intellectual Property Rights asserted therein that discharges or
mitigates Supplier’s liability to the third-party claimant but fails to fully discharge all of AT&T’s liabilities as to the Covered Loss.
c.

Continued Use of Provided Elements Upon Injunction. Without in any manner limiting the foregoing indemnification, if, as a result of a
Covered Claim, (i) Indemnified Parties’ rights under this Agreement are restricted or diminished, or (ii) an injunction, exclusion order, or
other order from a court, arbitrator or other competent tribunal or governmental authority preventing or restricting the Indemnified Parties’
use or enjoyment of the Provided Elements (“Adverse Judicial Order”) is issued or imminent, then, in addition to its other obligations set
forth in this Section, Supplier, in any case at its sole expense (or, in the case of a Combination Claim, at its fairly and equitably apportioned
expense) and at no loss, cost or damage to the Indemnified Parties or their customers, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain for
the Indemnified Parties the right to continue using or conducting other activities with respect to the Provided Elements (or, in the case of a
Combination Claim, shall use commercially reasonable efforts, in cooperation as reasonably needed with other interested parties, to obtain
for the Indemnified Parties the right to continue using or conducting other activities with respect to the Provided Elements in the
combination at issue); provided that if Supplier is unable to obtain such right, then Supplier shall, after consulting with and obtaining the
written approval of the Indemnified Parties, provide modified or replacement non-infringing Provided Elements that are (or, in the case of a
Combination Claim, shall use commercially reasonable efforts, in cooperation as reasonably needed with other interested parties, to provide
a modified or replacement non-infringing combination, with the Provided Elements being modified or replaced as needed therein, that is)
equally suitable and functionally equivalent while retaining the quality of the original Provided Elements and complying fully with all the
representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement; provided further that if Supplier is unable in this way to provide such modified or
replacement non-infringing Provided Elements, then AT&T shall have the right, at its option and without prejudice to any other rights or
remedies that AT&T has in contract, law or equity: (1) to terminate this Agreement or relevant purchase or funding commitments hereunder,
and/or (2) to require Supplier, as applicable, to remove, accept return of, or discontinue the provision of the Provided Elements, to refund to
AT&T the purchase price thereof or other monies paid therefor (subject, in the case of Provided Elements other than services, to reduction
based on the amount of depreciation or amortization over the useful life of the Provided Elements at issue), and to reimburse AT&T for any
and all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of removing, returning, or discontinuing such Provided Elements.
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
22

f20f2018ex4-7_radcom.htm

Form Type: EX-4.7

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 23
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Agreement No. 319103.C
d.

Elimination of Charges. After AT&T ceases, as a result of actual or claimed infringement or misappropriation, to exercise the rights granted
under this Agreement with respect to the Provided Elements, AT&T has no obligation to pay Supplier any charges that would otherwise be
due under this Agreement for such rights.

e.

Exceptions. Supplier shall have no liability or obligation to any of the Indemnified Parties for that portion of a Covered Loss which is based
on (and only to the extent such portion is based on):
i.

use of the Provided Elements by the Indemnified Parties in a manner that constitutes a material breach of this Agreement (including use
of the Materials in a manner that violates any licenses granted under this Agreement); or

ii. an unauthorized modification of the Provided Elements by an Indemnified Party; oran Indemnified Party’s deliberate continued use of
the Provided Elements in their unchanged, unmodified form after the Likely Implementation Date after Supplier has promptly consulted
with such Indemnified Party as to Supplier-provided modifications or changes in the Provided Elements (e.g., a new version of the
Software) required to avoid such Covered Claim and offered to implement those modifications or changes at Supplier’s sole expense if
(i) such Covered Claim would have been avoided by such implementation of such modifications or changes, and (ii) the modified or
changed Provided Elements were functionally equivalent while retaining the quality of the original Provided Elements and complying
fully with all representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement (the “Likely Implementation Date” being the first date by
which all such Supplier-provided modifications or changes could reasonably have been fully and successfully implemented without
causing any material business disruption to the Indemnified Party); or
iii. Supplier’s contractually required conformance to the Indemnified Party’s written specifications, unless any one or more of the
following is true:
1.

there was a technically feasible non-infringing means of complying with those specifications; or

2.

the relevant specifications are designed to bring the Provided Elements into compliance with, or have the Provided Elements
conform to, an industry standard promulgated by a generally recognized industry standards-setting body (e.g., IEEE, ITU, 3GPP,
ETSI, W3C, etc.); or

3.

the Provided Elements are or have been provided by or on behalf of Supplier to any third party at any time; or

4.

the Provided Elements are or have been available on the open market (i.e., provided or offered for general availability to all
interested customers by a third party other than the third party who brought the Covered Claim against the Indemnified Parties) at
any time; or

5.

the relevant specifications for the Provided Elements are of Supplier’s (or one or more of its sub-suppliers’) origin, design, or
selection.

f.

OTHER LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY NOT APPLICABLE. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THIS
AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY (AND WHETHER OR NOT SUCH A PROVISION CONTAINS LANGUAGE TO THE
EFFECT THAT THE PROVISION TAKES PRECEDENCE OVER OTHER PROVISIONS CONTRARY TO IT), WHETHER
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, NONE OF THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY (INCLUDING ANY LIMITATIONS REGARDING
TYPES OF OR AMOUNTS OF DAMAGES OR LIABILITIES) CONTAINED ANYWHERE IN THIS AGREEMENT WILL
APPLY TO SUPPLIER’S OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS SECTION.

g.

NO AT&T OBLIGATIONS. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, AT&T
SHALL HAVE NO OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, OR HOLD HARMLESS SUPPLIER FOR ANY LOSS
RESULTING FROM, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY ALLEGATION, THREAT, DEMAND, CLAIM OR
LAWSUIT BROUGHT BY ANY THIRD PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHT OR
OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHT HELD OR ASSERTED BY SUCH THIRD PARTY.
Proprietary and Confidential
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11.4
a.

In the event Supplier sues AT&T for use of the RADCOM Software outside the Purpose or Protective Purpose as defined in the RADCOM
Agreements (“Use Outside the License”):
i.

Supplier is not required to file a bond in order to pursue an injunction for an IP infringement suit filed against AT&T for Use Outside
the License (“Action”);

ii.

Supplier shall not be liable for cost or damages should AT&T prevail in any Action, however AT&T shall be entitled to attorney fees
and other costs if awarded due to a finding of bad faith by Supplier relating or arising out of the Action; and

iii.

the terms of this Infringement sub-section 11.3(h) are non-transferrable and personal to RADCOM.
Insurance

With respect to Supplier’s performance under this Agreement, and in addition to Supplier’s obligation to indemnify, Supplier shall at its sole
cost and expense:
i.

b.

c.

maintain the insurance coverages and limits required by this Section and any additional insurance required by Laws:
1.

at all times during the term of this Agreement and until completion of all Deliverables associated with this Agreement,
whichever is later; and

2.

with respect to any coverage maintained in a “claims-made” policy, for two (2) years following the term of this Agreement
or completion of all Deliverables associated with this Agreement, whichever is later. If a “claims-made” policy is
maintained, the retroactive date must precede the commencement of Deliverables under this Agreement;

ii.

to the extent that it is not covered under Supplier’s policies of insurance set forth herein, require each Subcontractor who may
perform work under this Agreement or enter upon the work site to maintain coverages, requirements, and limits at least as broad
as those listed in this Section and to include as additional insureds any party that AT&T is required to include as an additional
insured, and other extensions of coverage required of AT&T, from the time when the Subcontractor begins work, throughout the
term of the Subcontractor’s work and, with respect to any coverage maintained on a “claims-made” policy, for two (2) years
thereafter;

iii.

procure the required insurance from a reputable and solvent insurance company eligible to do business in the jurisdiction or
jurisdictions where work will be performed, except that, in the case of Workers’ Compensation insurance, Supplier may procure
insurance from the state fund of the state where work is to be performed;

iv.

upon request, provide to AT&T, certificates of insurance and/or endorsements evidencing the required insurance;

v.

provide or have the issuing insurance company provide at least thirty (30) days’ advance written notice of cancellation, or
reduction in insurance coverage.

The Parties agree that:
i.

the failure of AT&T to request such certificates of insurance or to identify a deficiency will not be construed as a waiver of
Supplier’s obligation to maintain the insurance required under this Agreement;

ii.

the insurance required under this Agreement does not represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect
Supplier, nor shall it be deemed as a limitation on Supplier’s liability to AT&T in this Agreement;

iii.

Supplier may meet the required insurance coverages and limits with any combination of primary and Umbrella/Excess liability
insurance; and

iv.

Supplier is responsible for any deductible or self-insured retention with respect to an Insured event for which the Supplier is
liable at law.

The insurance coverage required by this Section includes:
Workers’ Compensation: insurance where required by law, with benefits afforded under the laws of any state in which the work is to
be performed or the local Statutory equivalent and Employers Liability insurance with limits liability of at least [**] per
employee, insured event [**] in the aggregate.
Proprietary and Confidential
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Third Party Liability insurance insuring Supplier’s liability at law for bodily injury, death or property damage with a limit of liability
of [**] per insured event and in the aggregate.
The said Third Party Liability insurance policy must:
1.

be extended to indemnify AT&T, its Affiliates, and their directors, officers, and employees with respect to their vicarious
liability for acts or omission by the Supplier or anyone acting on its behalf. Upon request, Supplier shall provide a
certificate of insurance with appropriate endorsements evidencing the above.

2.

be primary and non-contributory with respect to any insurance or self-insurance that is maintained by AT&T.

Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions) insurance with limits of at least [**] each claim or wrongful act.
12.0

Records and Audits
12.1

AT&T Audits

Supplier shall maintain complete and accurate records relating to the Deliverables and the performance of this Agreement. AT&T and its
auditors (including internal audit staff and external auditors) and governmental authorities shall have the right to review such records (“AT&T
Audits”), to verify the following:
a.

the accuracy and integrity of Supplier’s invoices and AT&T’s payment obligations hereunder;

b.

that the Deliverables have been and are being provided by Supplier and its Subcontractors in accordance with this Agreement; and

c.

that Supplier and its Subcontractors are complying with Laws and principles of Citizenship and Sustainability.

12.2

Access at Reasonable Times

Upon reasonable advance notice from AT&T, Supplier shall provide and shall require that its Subcontractors provide to AT&T, its auditors
(including internal audit staff and external auditors), and governmental authorities access at all reasonable times to:
a.

any facility at which the Services or any portion thereof are being performed;

b.

systems and assets used to provide the Services or any portion thereof;

c.

Supplier employees and Subcontractor employees providing the Services or any portion thereof;

d.

all Supplier and Subcontractor records, including financial records relating to the invoices and payment obligations and supporting
documentation, pertaining to the Services; and

e.

the most recent financial statements, including but not limited to, cash flow statements, balance sheets and profit and loss statements for the
Supplier and all Key Supplier Entities upon written request from AT&T, in the event that Supplier ceases to be public reporting company.

AT&T’s access to the records and other supporting documentation shall not include access to documents containing information regarding or
belonging to Supplier’s other customers. With respect to such records to which AT&T is granted access, AT&T shall have the right to inspect
and photocopy Supplier’s documentation and the documentation of its Subcontractors, and the right to retain copies thereof outside of their
physical location with appropriate safeguards, if such retention is deemed reasonably necessary by AT&T, subject to the provisions of Section
9.1 above.
Proprietary and Confidential
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12.3

Cooperation with Audits

AT&T Audits may be conducted once a year (or more frequently if requested by governmental authorities who regulate AT&T’s business, if
required by applicable Law, if auditors require follow-up access to complete audit inquiries, or if an audit uncovers any problems or deficiencies)
upon at least seven (7) business days’ advance notice (unless otherwise mandated by Law). Supplier shall cooperate and, subject to the
Subsection below entitled “Audit of Subcontractors”), shall ensure that its Subcontractors cooperate in the AT&T Audits, and shall make the
information reasonably required to conduct the AT&T Audits available on a timely basis.
12.4

Overcharges

If an AT&T Audit indicates that Supplier overcharged AT&T, then AT&T may notify Supplier of the amount of such overcharge and Supplier
shall promptly pay to AT&T the amount of the overcharge along with interest from the date of the overcharge. If any such AT&T Audit reveals
an overcharge to AT&T during any 12-month period exceeding [**] of all charges in the aggregate paid by AT&T hereunder during such period,
then Supplier shall reimburse AT&T for the cost of such AT&T Audit.
12.5

Preservation of Records

Supplier shall maintain and retain the records set forth in the Subsection above entitled “AT&T Audits” during the term of this Agreement and
for three (3) years thereafter (unless a discovery or legal hold request is made with respect to such records, in which case Supplier shall retain
such records until AT&T notifies Supplier that such discovery or legal hold request has expired). Upon notification by AT&T of a discovery or
legal hold request, Supplier shall fully cooperate with such request and immediately preserve any Supplier records covered by such request and
promptly provide such Supplier records requested by AT&T related to the inquiry. Supplier shall provide AT&T, at AT&T’s request, with paper
and electronic copies of documents and information reasonably necessary to verify Supplier’s compliance with this Subsection.
12.6

Audit Expenses

Except as provided in the Subsection above entitled “Overcharges,” all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by AT&T in
connection with an AT&T Audit shall be paid by AT&T. Supplier shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses incurred by Supplier in
connection with its obligations under this Section.
12.7

Audit of Subcontractors

With respect to AT&T requests for audits or inspections of Supplier Subcontractors, the following applies:

13.0

a.

If Supplier’s agreement with its applicable Subcontractor permits an AT&T Audit, then AT&T shall be permitted to conduct such audit
directly or through a third party representative. Supplier shall work with AT&T in facilitating the Subcontractor’s cooperation for an
expeditious and thorough audit or inspection.

b.

If Supplier’s contract with its applicable Subcontractor precludes AT&T from directly conducting an audit or inspection, then Supplier shall
use best efforts to enable AT&T to perform an audit of the Subcontractor with Supplier coordinating the audit process. Failing those efforts,
Supplier shall, upon AT&T’s request, conduct the audit or inspection on behalf of AT&T, subject to terms agreed to by Supplier and AT&T
for the Subcontractor audit, such as areas to be audited, applicable fees, and the timeframe for reporting audit results to AT&T. If AT&T’s
request for a Supplier audit or inspection arises from, in AT&T’s good faith opinion, materially or consistently deficient Service provided by
the Subcontractor under AT&T’s account, and the audit in both Parties’ opinion confirms such deficiencies, then Supplier shall not charge
AT&T a fee for Supplier’s audit of its Subcontractor.

Termination
13.1

Termination for Convenience

AT&T may at any time, for its own convenience and without cause, by providing Supplier [**] days’ written notice, terminate this Agreement
and/or any Order placed hereunder in whole or in part, but for avoidance of doubt the Licenses in the ESLA and in Section 7.1(b) of this
Agreement shall survive any termination. AT&T shall pay Supplier for Services rendered and Material Delivered through the date of
termination.
Proprietary and Confidential
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13.2

Termination for Cause

a.

If Supplier breaches any provision of the ESLA, this Agreement and/or any Order, and (i) if the breach is one that by its nature could be
cured, and such breach is not cured within [**] days after AT&T provides notice, or (ii) if the breach is one that by its nature cannot be
cured, or (iii) upon the occurrence of a Terminable Material Breach, or (iv) if the breach is a violation of Laws, then, in addition to any other
applicable remedies, AT&T shall have the right upon notice to immediately terminate this Agreement and/or any such Order without any
obligation or liability. Failure of AT&T to immediately terminate this Agreement and/or any Order (1) following a breach which continues
longer than such cure period, provided such breach has not been cured prior to AT&T’s provision of a notice of termination, or (2) following
a breach that cannot be cured or that constitutes a violation of Laws, shall not constitute a waiver of AT&T’s rights to terminate. If AT&T
terminates an Order for cause, then, only in the case that AT&T has made payments with respect to such Order prior to Acceptance of the
Material and/or Services provided thereunder, Supplier shall refund any amounts AT&T may have previously paid for Deliverables that
have not been delivered by Supplier by the date of termination, and reimburse AT&T for any cost incurred in returning Material to Supplier
and restoring AT&T’s site to its previous condition. If AT&T returns or rejects any Material to which title has already passed, then title in
such Material shall revert to Supplier when Supplier satisfies its refund and reimbursement obligations under the preceding sentences.
Supplier bears the risk that such Material may be lost or damaged in transit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Licenses granted in Section
3 of the ESLA shall survive termination of this Agreement as well as the Licenses granted in Section 7.1(b) of this Agreement.

b.

If Supplier repeatedly breaches any of its obligations under this Agreement, whether or not (i) the effect thereof could reasonably be
considered material or (ii) such repeated breaches were cured, then AT&T may, by giving notice to Supplier, terminate this Agreement
and/or any Order, in whole or in part, as of the termination date specified in such notice without regard to any cure period.

13.3

Termination for Nonpayment

If AT&T fails to pay any undisputed amounts which have been invoiced in accordance with this Agreement and does not cure such non-payment
within [**] days of notice of such non-payment from Supplier, then Supplier shall have the right upon notice to immediately terminate this
Agreement and/or any such Order without any obligation or liability, provided such breach has not been cured prior to Supplier’s provision of a
notice of termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Licenses granted in Section 3 of the ESLA shall survive termination of this Agreement
as well as the Licenses granted in Section 7.1(b) of this Agreement.
13.4

Partial Termination

Whenever Law or a provision of this Agreement permits AT&T to terminate any Order, AT&T may, at its option, terminate such Order either in
whole or in part. If AT&T terminates an Order in part, then AT&T shall pay only for Deliverables that AT&T Accepts at the prices established
for such Deliverables or, if no such prices are established, in an amount equitably apportioned to the Accepted Deliverables, and, unless a
termination charge applies, AT&T has no obligation to pay for Deliverables that AT&T does not Accept.
13.5

Termination of Related Orders

Whenever Law or a provision of this Agreement permits AT&T to terminate any Order, AT&T may also terminate such other Orders as are
related to the same transaction or series of transactions as the Order in question.
Proprietary and Confidential
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13.6

Obligations upon Expiration or Termination

In the event either Party terminates this Agreement or AT&T elects not to renew this Agreement Supplier shall, (i) cooperate fully in
transitioning, the performance of Supplier’s obligations under the Agreement to AT&T or a third-party supplier designated by AT&T, in a
manner that minimizes the time to complete such transfer provided Supplier shall not be obligated to disclose Supplier’s trade secrets to a
competitor of Supplier; (ii) maintain the highest quality and performance; (iii) cause no disruption to the operations of AT&T’s network; and (iv)
return all papers, materials and property of AT&T held by Supplier. Supplier shall assist in coordinating the transfer of the provision of the
Services to AT&T or a successor supplier, which shall include continuing to provide the required level of Services until the date of expiration or
termination and providing AT&T or such successor supplier with all pertinent information about the Services that does not constitute a Supplier
trade secret, provided Supplier shall not be obligated to disclose Supplier’s trade secrets to a competitor of Supplier. Supplier shall provide such
additional assistance to AT&T pursuant to a separate professional services agreement between the Parties if required; provided, however, the
hourly rates for the individuals performing such professional services shall be reasonable and no greater than those set forth on Appendix N. The
Parties acknowledge and agree that none of Supplier's obligations under this paragraph shall require Supplier to share, license, transfer or
otherwise give a successor supplier any trade secret of Supplier. Any such successor to Supplier shall be required to sign a reasonable
confidentiality agreement before receiving any of Supplier’s confidential information.
14.0

Protective Provisions
[**]

15.0

Miscellaneous
15.1

Electronic Data Interchange

The Parties may exchange Orders, payments, acknowledgements, invoices, remittance notices, and other records (“Data”) electronically, in
place of tangible documents, and unless otherwise agreed shall exchange such Data in accordance with the Telecommunications Industry Forum
EDI Guidelines for use of American National Standards Institute (ANSI) Accredited Standards Committee X12 transaction sets, and shall
reasonably cooperate with requests to do so (including by providing documentation necessary to establish EDI). The following additional
conditions apply to any such exchanges:
a.

AT&T Guidelines. Supplier shall transfer Data in accordance with the guidelines located at http://www.attpurchasing.com.

b.

Statute of Frauds. All Data transmitted pursuant to this clause shall be deemed to be a “writing” or “in writing” for purposes of the Uniform
Commercial Code. Any such Data containing or having affixed to it a Signature shall be deemed for all purposes to: (i) to have been
“signed” and “executed,” and (ii) to constitute an “original” when printed from electronic files or records established and maintained in the
normal course of business.

c.

Method of Exchange. Data shall be exchanged by direct electronic or computer systems communication between AT&T and/or by indirect
communications using a third party service provider to translate, forward and/or store such Data. Each Party shall be responsible for the cost
(s) and associated cost(s) of any such third party service provider with which it contracts.

15.2

Independent Contractor

The relationship of AT&T and Supplier established by this Agreement is that of independent contractors, and nothing contained in this
Agreement shall be construed to (a) constitute AT&T and Supplier, or AT&T and any Supplier Representative, as partners, joint venturers, coowners or otherwise as participants in a joint or common undertaking, or (b) except to the extent expressly set forth in this Agreement, allow any
Party hereto to create or assume any obligation on behalf of another Party hereto for any purpose whatsoever.
15.3

Cumulative Remedies

The rights and remedies of the Parties set forth in this Agreement are not exclusive of, but are cumulative to, any rights or remedies now or
subsequently existing at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise, except in those cases where this Agreement or an Order specifies that a particular
remedy is sole or exclusive, but neither Party may retain the benefit of inconsistent remedies. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy
with respect to one breach of this Agreement or any Order precludes the simultaneous or subsequent exercise of any other right or remedy with
respect to the same or a different breach.
Proprietary and Confidential
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15.4

Assignment and Delegation

Neither Party may assign, delegate, or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement, voluntarily or involuntarily, whether by
merger, consolidation, dissolution, operation of law, or any other manner, without the prior written consent of the other Party, except as follows:
Without securing the consent of Supplier, AT&T may assign its rights, or delegate its duties, or both, in whole or in part: to any present or future
Affiliate of AT&T, to any lender providing financing to AT&T, or to any third party that assumes the operation of or otherwise acquires any
substantial portion of the business of AT&T affected by this Agreement or an Order; and Supplier may subcontract its performance subject to the
Section entitled “Use of Subcontractors.” Without securing the consent of AT&T, Supplier may assign its rights, or delegate or subcontract its
duties, or all of the foregoing, in whole or in part to its wholly-owned subsidiary RADCOM, Inc.; provided, however, that in such event AT&T
shall have the right to request a parental guarantee of performance from Supplier. Each Party may assign its right to receive money due
hereunder, but any assignment of money is void to the extent (a) the assignor fails to give the non-assigning Party at least thirty (30) days prior
notice, (b) the assignment purports to impose upon the non-assigning Party additional costs or obligations in addition to the payment of such
money, or (c) the assignment purports to preclude AT&T from dealing solely and directly with Supplier in all matters pertaining to this
Agreement. Any assignment, delegation or transfer for which consent is required hereby and which is made without such consent given in
writing is void.
15.5

Third Party Administrative Services

A third party administrator may perform certain administrative functions for AT&T in relation to this Agreement. Such administrative functions
may include (a) collecting and verifying certificates of insurance, (b) providing financial analysis, (c) verifying certifications under the Section
entitled “Utilization of Minority, Women, and Disabled Veteran Owned Business Enterprises,” and (d) collecting and verifying Supplier profile
information. Supplier shall cooperate with such third party administrator in its performance of such administrative functions and shall provide
such data as is requested from time to time by the third party administrator. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, AT&T may
provide any information regarding Supplier to such third party administrator. AT&T shall contractually require the third party administrator to
maintain confidentiality of Supplier’s information with rights to use it solely for purposes of the administrative functions. Supplier shall pay the
third party administrator an annual fee for the performance of these administrative functions, which annual fee shall not exceed three hundred
dollars ($300.00).
15.6

Supplier’s Audited Financial Statements

In the event that Supplier is not a publicly traded corporation, Supplier shall provide to AT&T (or its third party delegate), upon request and at
no charge, its bona fide and unedited audited fiscal year financial statements and other financial documents (including, but not limited to,
unaudited periodic financial statements or reports and/or financial presentations) as reasonably requested by AT&T to allow an assessment of
Supplier’s financial condition. If Supplier is a subsidiary of, is owned by, has a majority of its interest held by, or is controlled by an entity that is
not a publicly traded corporation, then Supplier shall furnish such documents for both Supplier and its owning, controlling or parent company. If
Supplier is a subsidiary of, is owned by, has a majority of its interest held by, or is controlled by an entity that is a publicly traded corporation,
then Supplier shall furnish publicly available documents regarding its parent company.
Proprietary and Confidential
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15.7

Entire Agreement

This Agreement, including all appendices, exhibits, attachments and documents and the RADCOM Agreements are incorporated by reference,
constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive expression of the Parties’ agreement on the matters contained in this Agreement. The terms of this
Agreement and an applicable Order shall govern in lieu of all other pre-printed, standardized or other provisions that may otherwise appear in
any other paper or electronic record of either Party (such as standard terms on order or acknowledgment forms, advance shipping notices,
invoices, time sheets, and packages, shrink wrap terms, and click wrap terms). All prior written and oral negotiations and agreements, and all
contemporaneous oral negotiations and agreements, between the Parties on the matters contained in this Agreement are expressly merged into
and superseded by this Agreement. The Parties do not intend that the provisions of this Agreement be explained, supplemented, or qualified
through evidence of trade usage or any prior course of dealings or any course of performance under any prior agreement. In entering into this
Agreement, neither Party has relied upon any statement, estimate, forecast, projection, representation, warranty, action or agreement of the other
Party except for those expressly contained in this Agreement. There are no conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement other than
any expressly stated in this Agreement.
15.8
a.

Force Majeure
A Party is excused from performing its obligations under this Agreement or any Order if, to the extent that, and for so long as:
i.

such Party’s performance is prevented or delayed by an act or event (other than economic hardship, changes in market conditions,
insufficiency of funds, or unavailability of equipment and supplies) that is beyond its reasonable control and could not have been
prevented or avoided by its exercise of due diligence;

ii. such Party gives notice to the other Party, as soon as practicable under the circumstances, of the act or event that so prevents such Party
from performing its obligations; and
iii. such Party continues to use commercially reasonable efforts to recommence performance or observance whenever and to whatever
extent possible without delay.
b.

By way of illustration, and not limitation, acts or events that may prevent or delay performance (as contemplated by this Section) include:
acts of God or the public enemy, acts of civil or military authority, terrorists acts, embargoes, epidemics, war, riots, insurrections, fires,
explosions, earthquakes, floods, and extreme weather events.

c.

If Supplier is the Party whose performance is prevented or delayed as contemplated by this Section, then AT&T may elect to:
i.

terminate this Agreement and/or affected Order, in whole or in part, without any liability to Supplier; or

ii. suspend this Agreement and/or the affected Order or any part thereof for the duration of the delay; and (at AT&T’s option) obtain
Deliverables elsewhere and deduct from any commitment under this Agreement or such Order the quantity of the Deliverables obtained
elsewhere or for which commitments have been made elsewhere; and resume performance under this Agreement or such Order when
Supplier resumes its performance; and (at AT&T’s option) extend any affected Delivery Date or performance date up to the length of
time Supplier’s performance was delayed or prevented. If AT&T does not give any notice within thirty (30) days after receiving notice
under this Section that Supplier’s performance has been delayed or prevented, then the option set forth in this Subsection (ii) shall be
deemed to have been selected.
d.

During any labor dispute between AT&T and the union(s) representing AT&T’s employees, AT&T may modify the scope of Deliverables
under any Order upon notice. Such modification may result in a delay in the resumption of Services when requested by AT&T.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement or the other RADCOM Agreements shall excuse the Parties from performing their
obligations under the Protective Provisions or supplying Services required under this Agreement, including but not limited to Bug Fix
Modifications. In the event Supplier is unable to perform its obligations under the RADCOM Agreements due to an occurrence of an act or event
described in Section 15.8 Force Majeure Event of this Agreement, which event extends, on a continuous basis, for a period exceeding thirty (30)
days unless there is reasonable prospect that the Force Majeure Event will cease within that thirty (30) day period, notwithstanding any other
provision in the RADCOM Agreements, AT&T shall have the immediate right to access the Deposit Materials to fully realize and accomplish
the Protective Purpose; provided that AT&T shall immediately return and cease use of the Deposit Materials upon cessation of the Force
Majeure Event and the resumption of performance by RADCOM. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of an Escrow Force Majeure
Event, the Parties shall work together in good faith to enable RADCOM to perform its obligations under the Protective Provisions .
Proprietary and Confidential
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15.9

Time is of the Essence

Time is of the essence.
15.10

Governing Law

This Agreement and the transactions it contemplates shall be governed, interpreted, construed, enforced and performed in accordance with the
Laws of the State of New York, without regard to conflicts of laws principles.
15.11

Forum

a.

Forum for Judicial Actions. Other than to the extent expressly set forth below in this Section, any legal action or proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or the transactions it contemplates (“Judicial Action”) shall be brought only in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York or in any state court sitting in Manhattan, New York City, New York, and each Party consents to the
exclusive jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts) in any such Judicial Action and waives any claim of forum non
conveniens in connection therewith and objection to venue laid therein. Process in any such Judicial Action may be served on a Party
anywhere in the world, whether within or without the State of Texas. The choice of forum above shall not prohibit the enforcement of any
judgment obtained in that forum or any other appropriate forum.

b.

Arbitration of Disputes.
i.

Except for claims arising out of a breach of a Party’s obligations under Article 9 or for any claims arising out of the Section entitled
“Infringement,” any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be resolved by binding arbitration administered by the
American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) in accordance with its Commercial Arbitration Rules (including the Procedures for Large,
Complex Commercial Disputes) then in effect, as such rules may be modified or supplemented by the provisions of this Subsection (b)
(Arbitration of Disputes), and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.
Arbitration shall be (i) for disputes in an amount less than [**] (“Minor Disputes”), before a single arbitrator agreed upon by the
Parties within [**] days after initiation of the arbitration or, failing agreement, appointed by the AAA from its National Roster utilizing
a list procedure; and (ii) for disputes in an amount greater than [**] (“Major Disputes”), before a panel of three arbitrators. Each Party
shall appoint one arbitrator, and the two Party-appointed arbitrators shall agree on the third arbitrator, who shall serve as chair of the
panel; provided, however, that, if the Party-appointed arbitrators cannot agree on the third arbitrator within [**] days after the second of
the two Party-appointed arbitrators has been appointed, the AAA shall appoint the third arbitrator from its National Roster utilizing a
list procedure.

ii. Any arbitration pursuant to this Subsection (c) (Arbitration of Disputes) shall be held in New York City, New York. The arbitrator(s)
shall render a reasoned award.
iii. In any arbitration regarding a Minor Dispute, each Party shall be entitled to take the following discovery: (1) three (3) depositions of the
adverse party and/or non-party witnesses; (2) service of up to fifteen (15) interrogatories to be answered under oath by the adverse
Party; and (3) document requests directed to the adverse Party. The arbitrator may, for good cause shown, enlarge the extent of
discovery but shall not reduce the foregoing limits.
iv. In any arbitration regarding a Major Dispute, each Party shall be entitled to take the following discovery: (1) six (6) depositions of the
adverse party and/or non-party witnesses; (2) service of up to twenty (20) interrogatories to be answered under oath by the adverse
Party; and (3) document requests directed to the adverse Party. The arbitrators may, for good cause shown, enlarge the extent of
discovery but shall not reduce the foregoing limits.
Proprietary and Confidential
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v.

The decision or award of the arbitrator shall be rendered within fifteen (15) days after the conclusion of the hearing, shall be in writing,
shall set forth the basis therefor, and shall be final, binding and non-appealable (except in cases of fraud or manifest abuse) upon the
Parties and may be enforced and executed upon in any court having jurisdiction over the Party against whom the enforcement of such
decision or award is sought.

vi. In any arbitration conducted pursuant to this Subsection (b) (Arbitration of Disputes), the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover its
Litigation Expenses if awarded by the arbitrator or arbitrators.
vii. Each Party shall bear its own arbitration costs and expenses and all other costs and expenses of the arbitration shall be divided equally
between the Parties; provided, however, the arbitrator may modify the allocation of fees, costs and expenses in the award in those cases
where fairness dictates other than such allocation between the Parties.
15.12

Amendments and Waivers

a.

The Parties may not amend this Agreement or an Order except by a written agreement of the Parties that identifies itself as an amendment to
this Agreement or such Order and is signed by both Parties, or as otherwise expressly provided below in this Section. No waiver of any right
or condition is effective unless given in writing and signed by the Party waiving such right or condition. No delay or omission by either
Party to exercise any right or power it has under this Agreement shall impair or be construed as a waiver of such right or power. A waiver by
any Party of any breach, condition or covenant shall not be construed to be a waiver of any succeeding breach or condition or of any other
covenant. All waivers must be in writing and signed by the Party waiving its rights.

b.

AT&T’s project manager may, at any time, propose changes to the scope of Deliverables, which shall be confirmed in writing, and Supplier
shall not unreasonably withhold or condition its consent. An equitable adjustment shall be made to the charges if such change to the scope
substantially affects the time or cost of performance of the Deliverables.

15.13

Severability

If any provision of this Agreement or any Order is determined to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, then the remaining provisions of this
Agreement or such Order shall remain in full force if both the economic and legal substance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
or such Order are not affected in any manner that is materially adverse to either Party by severing the provision determined to be invalid, illegal,
or unenforceable.
15.14

Construction and Interpretation

a.

This Agreement has been prepared jointly and has been the subject of arm’s length and careful negotiation. Each Party has been given the
opportunity to independently review this Agreement with legal counsel and other consultants, and each Party has the requisite experience
and sophistication to understand, interpret and agree to the particular language of its provisions. Accordingly, the drafting of this Agreement
is not to be attributed to either Party.

b.

Headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and are not to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
The word “include” in every form means to include without limitation by virtue of enumeration and a derivative of a defined term shall have
the meaning appropriate to the context of its use. References to content posted on any website referred to in this Agreement shall mean such
content as it may be revised from time to time. Whenever this Agreement refers to a consent or approval to be given by either Party, such
consent or approval is effective only if given in writing and signed by the Party giving approval or consent. The use of singular words
includes the plural and vice versa.

15.15

Third Party Beneficiaries

Except to the extent expressly set forth to the contrary in this Agreement, there are no third party beneficiaries of this Agreement, and this
Agreement shall not provide any third person or entity with any remedy, claim, liability, reimbursement, claim of action or other legal or
equitable right in excess of those existing without reference to this Agreement.
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15.16

Survival of Obligations

Obligations and rights under this Agreement or an Order that by their nature would reasonably continue beyond the termination or expiration of
this Agreement or an Order (including those in the Sections entitled “AT&T Derived Information,” “AT&T Supplier Information Security
Requirements (SISR),” “Compliance with Laws,” “Confidentiality,” “Forum,” “Governing Law,” “Indemnity,” “Infringement,” “Insurance,”
“Limitation of Damages,” “Notice of Investigations,” “Ownership of Paid-For Development, Use and Reservation of Rights,” “Publicity,”
“Records and Audits” and “Warranties”, “Change of Control” , and “Protective Provisions”) shall survive the termination or expiration of this
Agreement or such Order.
15.17

Payment Card Industry-Data Security Standard Compliance

To the extent Supplier processes, transmits, and/or stores credit cardholder data and/or related transaction status for or on behalf of AT&T,
Supplier must be Payment Card Industry-Data Security Standard certified, as that standard is maintained and updated by the Payment Card
Industry Security Standards Council on www.pcisecuritystandards.org, including any successor standard or website thereto. Supplier must be
compliant with the standards prior to performing such services for AT&T, must have a plan in place to ensure continued compliance in the event
of any change or update to the standard and must promptly submit a copy of Supplier’s most recent executed Attestation of Compliance (AOC)
and a copy of Supplier’s most updated Responsibility Matrix documentation to g18906@att.com. Supplier must also submit certifications of
compliance and Responsibility Matrix documentation on an annual basis and promptly following any modification or update to the standard in
order to continue to provide payment card related services for AT&T.
15.18
a.

b.

Notices

Each Party giving or making any notice, consent, request, demand, or other communication (each, a “notice”) pursuant to this Agreement
must give the notice in writing and use one of the following methods, each of which for purposes of this Agreement is a writing: by hand;
certified mail (return receipt requested and postage prepaid); U.S. Postal Service overnight or priority mail; internationally recognized
overnight courier (in either case with all fees prepaid); or email. If a notice is given by e-mail, then it must be confirmed by a copy sent by
any one of the other methods. Each Party giving a notice shall address the notice to the appropriate person (the “Addressee”) at the receiving
Party at the address listed below:
AT&T:

RADCOM Ltd.

AT&T Services, Inc.
4119 Broadway
Room 650A16
San Antonio, TX 78209
Attn: [**]
Email Address: [**]

24 Raoul Wallenberg Street
Tel Aviv 6971920
ISRAEL
Attn: [**]
Email Address: [**]
Business Number: [**]

A notice is effective only if the Party giving notice has complied with the foregoing requirements of this Section and the Addressee has
received the notice. A notice is deemed to have been received as follows:
i.

If a notice is furnished by hand, on the date of delivery if delivered during business hours on a business day (otherwise on the next
business day);

ii. If a notice is sent by certified mail, U.S. Postal Service overnight or priority mail, or internationally recognized overnight courier, upon
the date of delivery as indicated by the receipt or other tracking record;
iii. If a notice is sent by e-mail, upon successful transmission to the recipient’s email account, if such notice is sent in time to allow it to be
accessible by the Addressee before the time allowed for giving such notice expires, and a confirmation copy is sent by one of the other
methods.
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c.

The addresses and telephone numbers to which notices may be given to the Addressees of either Party may be changed by written notice
given by such Party to the other pursuant to this Section.

15.19

Change Control

The Parties agree that all changes to this Agreement and to an Order must be in writing and signed by the Party against whom enforcement is
sought. Any change to an Order shall take the form of a Change Order. The Parties agree to follow a process substantially similar to that
specified in the Appendices.
15.20
a.

Error Severity Level Description and Resolution Plan

During the term of this Agreement and, in addition to Supplier’s warranty or Maintenance obligations, if Software fails to operate in strict
conformance with the Specifications, or if the following specified errors (“Error”) occur, Supplier agrees to respond and perform as follows:

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

b.

In the case of a FATAL or SEVERE IMPACT Error condition, Supplier shall use its best efforts to acknowledge notification of such Error
condition within the time frames indicated.

c.

Supplier shall correct any and all Errors in the Software in accordance with Error Severity Levels specified above. In addition, at any time
during the Error correction or technical support process, AT&T may invoke the below listed escalation procedure:
i.

Supplier’s escalation process is to ensure that when a problem is not being resolved in a satisfactory manner, (i) both AT&T and
Supplier have a common perception of the nature and criticality of the problem, (ii) the visibility of the problem is raised within
Supplier’s organization, and (iii) appropriate Supplier resources are allocated toward solving the problem.

ii. The following escalation process may be invoked by AT&T when an Error, defect, non-conformity or technical support issue has been
reported to Supplier, the Error substantially affects AT&T's use of the Software, and Supplier has not yet provided a patch or bypass
around the Error.
iii. The escalation processes can be initiated by contacting the next higher management level within Supplier’s organization. Such Supplier
designate will work with AT&T's designated contact and management to bring a satisfactory solution to the situation. The effort will be
focused on developing an action plan and coordinating whatever Supplier resources are required to meet AT&T's needs as rapidly as
possible, within the policy stated above.
iv. During the period of the action plan, regular status update communications will be established between AT&T’s designate and
Supplier’s designate.
v.
d.

If an action plan cannot be agreed to, or if the action plan fails to provide a satisfactory solution within the time frame defined in the
action plan, the problem will be escalated to Supplier’s highest management level.

If any FATAL or SEVERE IMPACT Software Error cannot be corrected by Supplier within the indicated timeframes, Supplier shall
provide a credit, as liquidated damages and not a penalty, in the amount of [**] per day or a portion thereof, that the FATAL or SEVERE
IMPACT Error remains unresolved after the work around/temporary fix resolution period specified above. Such credit may be applied by
AT&T to any of Supplier’s invoices.
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e.

In addition, if a FATAL Error remains unresolved [**] after reporting thereof by AT&T, or, if a SEVERE IMPACT Error remains
unresolved [**] after reporting by AT&T, upon AT&T's request, Supplier shall provide a Software engineer at AT&T's site(s), at no
additional charge, to resolve the Software Error.

f.

The Parties acknowledge that DEGRADED OPERATIONS and/or MINIMAL IMPACT Errors are generally less serious than FATAL or
SEVERE IMPACT Errors. The Parties further acknowledge and agree that elongated resolution of such Errors can be detrimental to
AT&T's use of the Software. Therefore, in the event that DEGRADED OPERATIONS Errors remain unresolved [**] after AT&T's initial
report of the Error, or MINIMAL IMPACT Errors remain unresolved [**] days after AT&T's report of the Error, Supplier shall issue a
credit, as liquidated damages and not a penalty, in the amount of [**] per day or a portion thereof, for each day beyond [**] days for
DEGRADED OPERATIONS Errors and/or [**] days for MINIMAL IMPACT Errors that the Error remains unresolved. Such credit may be
applied by AT&T to any of Supplier’s invoices.

g.

Supplier shall provide AT&T with toll-free telephone hotline assistance related to operation of the Software, including questions about
individual features or suspected malfunctions. In addition, Supplier shall provide AT&T with emergency after-hours or weekend contact
numbers wherein support can be obtained in the event of unavailability of the Software due to a FATAL or SEVERE IMPACT Error. If a
FATAL Error is reported after hours, or during the weekend, Supplier shall begin workaround/temporary fix activities as soon as possible.

15.21
a.

Supplier will determine whether each individual who performs Services for AT&T has performed work as an employee or temporary worker
for AT&T, or any AT&T Affiliate, in the six (6) months preceding the individual’s proposed commencement of work for AT&T. Supplier
will provide AT&T with written notice of any individuals who meet the foregoing criteria. AT&T may require that Supplier provide another
individual to perform the work.

15.22
a.

Previous Services for AT&T

Anticorruption Laws

Supplier hereby represents and warrants that:
i.

The employees, temporary workers, agents, consultants, partners, officers, directors, members or representatives of Supplier and its
Subcontractors, if any, performing Services or other activities under this Agreement (each and any of the foregoing individuals, for the
purpose of this clause, a “Supplier Representative”) shall comply with the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and all applicable
anticorruption laws (including commercial bribery laws);

ii. Supplier Representatives shall not directly or indirectly pay, offer, give, promise to pay or authorize the payment of, any portion of the
compensation received in connection with this Agreement or any other monies or other things of value in connection with its
performance to a Government Official, defined below, to obtain or retain business or secure any improper advantage nor shall it permit
such actions by a third party. “Government Official” means (i) an officer or employee of any government or any department, agency, or
instrumentality thereof, including government-owned or government-controlled commercial entities; (ii) an officer or employee of a
public international organization; (iii) any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any government or department,
agency, or instrumentality or public international organization; (iv) any political party or official thereof; (v) any candidate for political
office; or (vi) any other person, individual or entity at the suggestion, request or direction or for the benefit of any of the abovedescribed persons or entities;
iii. No Supplier Representative performing Services or activities under this Agreement or any affiliate company or other entity of Supplier
is or will become an official or employee of the government during the term of this Agreement without prior written approval of the
AT&T;
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iv. No rights or obligations of, or services to be rendered by Supplier under this Agreement shall be assigned, transferred or subcontracted
to any third party without prior written consent of AT&T. If such written consent is obtained, Supplier shall ensure that each such third
party agrees to abide by all the provisions of this clause in its written contract with Supplier.
b.

Any breach of the representations and warranties in this clause shall constitute a material breach. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in the termination clause, in the event the AT&T has reason to believe that a material breach has occurred or may occur, in
addition to its rights and remedies under the law and this Agreement, AT&T may withhold payments, until such time as it has received
confirmation to its satisfaction that no breach has occurred or will occur. AT&T shall not be liable to the Supplier for any claim, losses or
damages whatsoever related to its decision to withhold payments under this provision.

c.

In the event AT&T has reason to believe that a material breach has occurred or may occur, AT&T shall have the right to audit; or have a
third party acceptable to AT&T at Supplier’s expense conduct the audit, in order to satisfy that no breach has occurred. Supplier shall, and
shall cause Supplier Representatives to, fully cooperate in any audit conducted by or on behalf of AT&T. In the event of a conflict between
this clause and Section entitled, Records and Audits, the provisions of this clause shall control. Audits under this section may be conducted
as often as deemed necessary by AT&T to assure co

15.23

Transmission of Original Signatures and Executing Multiple Counterparts

Original signatures transmitted and received via facsimile or other electronic transmission of a scanned document (e.g., pdf or similar
format) are true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind the Parties to the same extent as that of an original signature. This
Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to constitute an original but all of which together shall
constitute only one document.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.
RADCOM Limited
By:

/s/ Yaron Ravkaie

Name:

Yaron Ravkaei

Title:

CEO

Date:

March 28, 2019

AT&T Services, Inc.
/s/ Amir Hai

By:

/s/ Matt Ritter

Amir Hai

Name:

Matt Ritter

CFO

Title:

Sr. Sourcing Manager

Date:

3/29/19
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Appendix A

Definitions

“Accept” or “Acceptance” or “General Acceptance” means [**].
“Acceptance Tests” means the performance and reliability demonstrations and tests that the Deliverables must satisfy during the Acceptance Test Period.
These tests include: (a) AT&T’s routine business test transactions, (b) tests, demonstrations, or transactions presented or performed by Supplier, and (c)
any other tests, demonstrations or transactions included or referenced in the applicable Order or Specifications to determine whether the Deliverables
meet the Specifications.
“Acceptance Test Period” means the length of time specified in an Order, or, if not so specified, a period of no less than [**] business days, during
which the Acceptance Tests are performed.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any entity, any other entity directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under common control with, such
entity. For purposes of this Agreement, “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management or policies of such entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
“ATTIP” means, AT&T Intellectual Property, LLC.
“Attorney’s Fees” include a charge for the service of in-house counsel at the market rate for independent counsel of similar experience.
“Change of Control” means: (a) the sale or acquisition (including, but not limited to, by way of a share purchase or merger) of more than [**] of any of
the Key Supplier Entities’ voting equity securities (or any class of securities which, if converted to Key Supplier Entities’ voting equity securities, would
represent [**] of the Key Supplier Entities’ voting equity securities), or the majority of the voting power in any of the Key Supplier Entities, to a Person
or individual, in one or more transactions; or (b) the sale of all, or substantially all of any Key Supplier Entity’s assets, including, without limitation, its
intellectual property. For purposes of this definition, a sale of the Intellectual Property Rights in the RADCOM Software shall be deemed a Change of
Control.
“Bug Fix Modifications” means [**].
[**]
“Customer Information” includes, to the extent received, observed, collected, handled, stored, or accessed, in any way, in connection with this
Agreement: AT&T’s or its Affiliates’ customers’ names, addresses, and phone numbers, any such customer’s or its employee’s personal, health or
financial information, authentication credentials, Internet activities, history, and/or patterns of use, information concerning accounts, network
performance and usage information, web browsing and wireless application information, location information, any other information associated with a
customer of AT&T or its Affiliates or with persons in the household of a customer of AT&T or its Affiliates, and any information available to AT&T, its
Affiliates and/or the suppliers of AT&T or its Affiliates (for avoidance of doubt, including Supplier) by virtue of AT&T’s or its Affiliates’ relationship
with customers as a provider of mobile and non-mobile communications, Internet, data, video, information or other services, including the quantity,
technical configuration, location, type, destination, and amount of use of communications or other services subscribed to, and information contained on
the bills of AT&T’s or its Affiliates’ customers.
[**]
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“Deliverables” means all or any portion, as the case may be, of the Material and Services that Supplier is supplying pursuant to this Agreement,
including the RADCOM Software as defined in the ESLA.
“Deliver” or “Delivery” occurs (a) for Material, upon (i) AT&T’s possession of Material at the destination specified in the Order, if Supplier is not
required to provide additional Services (including installation, configuration, or modification, but not including maintenance Services) at the destination,
in connection with providing Material, or (ii) Supplier’s completion of such additional Services, if Supplier is required to provide such additional Services
at the destination in connection with providing Material, (b) for Services (other than maintenance Services), upon complete provision of the Services, and
(c) for maintenance Services, at the end of each calendar month during the maintenance Services term.
“Delivery Date” means the date in the Order or this Agreement on which Supplier is scheduled to complete its Delivery.
“Designated Site” means AT&T’s building or complex of buildings within which AT&T is authorized to use the Software.
“Designated System” means the particular computer system designated by type, serial number(s) and location on the applicable Order.
“Documentation” or “Program Material” means sufficient written explanations of the intended functionality of the Software and other written material
intended to guide the user in the installation of the Software, the use of the Software, the Modification of the Software and the capabilities needed to
diagnose and troubleshoot Errors. Documentation includes written explanations provided on screens displayed by the Software itself as well as
instructions provided in separate user manuals and training materials, and Supplier’s written Specifications, Material associated with Software, flow
charts, data file listings, and input and output formats. If the applicable Order so provides, Program Material will also include the source code for the
Software.
“Drug Screen” means the testing of any individual for the use of illicit drugs (including opiates, cocaine, cannabinoids, amphetamines, and
phencyclidine (PCP)).
[**]
[**]
[**]
“Employment Claims” means any claims by any federal, state or local governmental agency or any of Supplier’s current or former applicants, agents,
employees or Subcontractors, or agents or employees of Supplier’s Subcontractors arising out of the employment relationship with Supplier, or otherwise
with respect to performance under this Agreement, including claims, charges and actions arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, The Equal Pay Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, The Rehabilitation Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, as
amended, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, Workers’ Compensation laws, the National Labor Relations Act and any
other applicable Laws, including any liability, cause of action, lawsuit, penalty, claim or demand, administrative proceeding in which AT&T or its
Affiliates is named as or alleged to be an “employer” or “joint employer” with Supplier.
“Enhancement” means a Modification made to include additional Functionality in a Computer Program. An Enhancement may otherwise be referred to
as an improvement or an upgrade.
“Enterprise-Wide License” means a license granted to all AT&T Affiliates.
“ESLA” means Amended and Restated Enterprise Software License Agreement No. 12639 between Supplier and AT&T
“Excluded Materials” shall mean: i) Supplier’s Pre-Existing Materials; ii) Supplier’s Independently Developed Materials; and iii) Supplier’s Mere
Reconfigurations.
“Hardware” means all tangible products and equipment used to operate the Software and/or all tangible products and equipment provided by or on
behalf of Supplier.
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“Identification Credentials” includes, with respect to each Supplier Person, his or her Social Security number, driver’s license, educational credentials,
employment history, home address, and citizenship indicia.
“Information” means, with respect to a Party, all confidential, proprietary or trade secret information of such Party or of a third party that is in the
possession of such Party, including discoveries, ideas, concepts, know-how, techniques, processes, procedures, designs, specifications, strategic
information, proposals, requests for proposals, proposed products, drawings, blueprints, tracings, diagrams, models, samples, flow charts, data, computer
programs, marketing plans (and in the case of AT&T, Customer Information), employee personal information, health or financial information,
authentication credentials, operations, infrastructure, networks, systems, facilities, products, rates, regulatory compliance, competitors and other technical,
financial or business information, whether disclosed in writing, orally, or visually, in tangible or intangible form, including in electronic mail or by other
electronic communication.
“Intellectual Property Rights” means all patents (including all reissues, divisions, continuations, and extensions thereof) and patent applications, trade
names, trademarks, service marks, logos, trade dress, copyrights, trade secrets, mask works, rights in technology, know-how, rights in content (including
performance and synchronization rights), or other intellectual property rights that are in each case protected under the Laws of any governmental authority
having jurisdiction.
[**]
“Items” shall mean any or all inventions, discoveries, ideas (whether patentable or not), and all works and materials, including but not limited to
products, devices, computer programs, source codes, interfaces, designs, files, specifications, texts, drawings, processes, data or other information or
documentation in preliminary or final form, and all Intellectual Property Rights in or to any of the foregoing.
“Key Supplier Entities” or “Key Supplier Entity” means Supplier, Supplier’s parent and any entity which is directly or indirectly controlled by
Supplier or Supplier’s parent that becomes (a) in control of any Supplier IPR, (b) the grantor of the perpetual Licenses granted herein or in the ESLA or
(c) the provider of Deliverables or Services provided herein.
“Laws” includes all federal, state, provincial, regional, territorial and local laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, rules, executive orders, supervisory
requirements, directives, circulars, opinions, interpretive letters and other official releases of or by governmental authority.
“Lien” means any mortgage, lien, pledge, security interest, charge, claim, restriction or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever.
“Litigation Expense” means any court filing fee, court cost, arbitration fee, and each other fee and cost of investigating or defending an indemnified
claim or asserting any claim for indemnification or defense under this Agreement, including Attorney’s Fees, other professionals’ fees, and
disbursements.
“Loss” includes any liability, claim, demand, suit, or cause of action, regardless of whether meritorious, settlement payment, cost and expense, interest,
award, judgment, damages (including punitive damages), liens, fines, fees, penalties, and Litigation Expense.
“Maintenance” means the Services and training provided by Supplier, including but not limited to; help desk assistance, telephone assistance, on-site
assistance, Documentation and Revisions.
“Maintenance Fee” means the amounts set forth in Appendix C to Agreement No. 319103.001.S.002 between AT&T and Supplier.
“Material” means a unit of equipment, apparatus, components, tools, supplies, material, Documentation, hardware, or firmware thereto, or Software
purchased or licensed hereunder by AT&T from Supplier, including the RADCOM Software or otherwise provided by or on behalf of Supplier, including
third party Material provided or furnished by Supplier. “Material” shall be deemed to include any replacement parts.
“Network Implementation Dates” means the dates set forth in Appendix L for each identified project.
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“Order” means such paper or electronic records (a) as AT&T may send to Supplier in accordance with the terms hereof, for the purpose of ordering
Deliverables hereunder, or (b) as the Parties may execute for the purpose of ordering Deliverables hereunder.
“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, or other form of entity.
“Physical Entry” means that an individual who is performing Services or delivering Materials (i) is permitted to bodily enter, on an unsupervised (or
badged) basis, into secured areas not available to the general public, or (ii) is permitted on a regular basis to have supervised or escorted bodily access into
secured areas not available to the general public for up to thirty (30) days in the aggregate annually. In the event an individual is not performing Services,
delivering/installing Materials, or otherwise engaged in work activities pursuant to an agreement with AT&T (e.g. attending meetings, preparing bids,
etc.) then such individual shall be permitted supervised or escorted access into secure areas not available to the general public without being subject to the
thirty (30) day limitation.
[**]
[**]
[**]
“RADCOM Agreements” means the ESLA, SPSA, the Supplemental Agreement and the Support and Maintenance Agreement.
[**]
“Revision” means an update to the Documentation to reflect the addition, deletion or correction of the previous version of the Documentation. A
Revision may also be referred to as a documentation update.
“Services” means anything that is not otherwise Material, including any labor or service, provided in connection with this Agreement or any Order.
“Software” means [**].
“Spare Parts” means, for any Material provided hereunder, functionally equivalent Material (including component and replacement parts) and
maintenance and technical support Services.
“Special Terms and Conditions” means written terms and conditions that are different from or additional to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement, which are agreed upon by the Parties and included in an Order.
“Specifications” means (a) Supplier’s applicable specifications and descriptions, including any warranty statements, and (b) AT&T’s requirements,
specifications, and descriptions specified in, or attached to, this Agreement or an applicable Order, which shall control over an inconsistency with
Supplier’s specifications and descriptions.
“SPSA” means this Agreement No. 319103.C.
[**]
“Subcontractor” means any person or entity (including an agent) supplying labor or materials to perform any or all of Supplier’s obligations under this
Agreement as well as any person or entity that is providing any type data processing services including data manipulation, data storage, data retrieval,
data disposal, or other data-related services that involve AT&T or any AT&T customer’s data. The term “Subcontractor” specifically includes any person
or entity at any tier of subcontractors, and shall not be limited to those persons or entities with a direct relationship with Supplier.
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“Supplemental Agreement” means agreement No. 319103.S.001
“Supplier Entity” or “Supplier Entities” means Supplier, its Affiliates or its Subcontractors
“Supplier’s Independently Developed Materials” shall mean those Items (including, without limitation, derivatives thereof, e.g., Updates and
Upgrades, fixes and patches) that have been developed by Supplier or its employees, agents, or direct or indirect contractors or suppliers, or on the
aforementioned parties’ behalf (i) without use of any AT&T Items and (ii) independently of any work performed under any Agreements.
“Supplier’s Mere Reconfigurations” means those specific integrations, implementations and/or reconfigurations of Supplier’s pre-existing software
performed by Supplier, or on Supplier’s behalf, but only to the extent that such integrations, implementations, and reconfigurations are alterations to such
software that are strictly required to permit Supplier’s software to function on AT&T’s network or service platform. In no event shall Supplier’s Mere
Reconfigurations include enhancements, modifications, or updates that are not contained in Supplier’s Pre-Existing Materials and that add any features,
functionality, or capabilities.
“Supplier’s Pre-Existing Materials” shall mean those Items (including derivatives thereof) owned by Supplier or by Supplier’s suppliers to the extent
and in the form that such Items (including derivatives thereof) (i) existed prior to the date Supplier began any work under this Agreement and (ii) were
created without any use of any AT&T Items.
“Supplier Representatives” means Supplier’s Subcontractors and Supplier’s and its Subcontractors’ respective partners, officers, directors, members,
employees, temporary workers, contractors, vendors, agents and/or other representatives.
“System” means the hardware, operating system and application Software, interfaces, and databases that interact with Software.
“Technical Information” includes (a) manufacturing drawings and Specifications of all Material, (b) manufacturing drawings and specifications
covering special tooling, raw materials, component parts, and the operation thereof and (c) a detailed list of all commercially available parts and
components purchased by Supplier disclosing the part number, name, location of the vendor and price lists.
“Terminable Material Breach shall mean: (i) Supplier’s breach of the representation or warranty set forth in Section 9.2 (c), (b) and (h) of this
Agreement, (ii) Supplier’s failure to provide a notice required under Section 6.1 or 6.2, or (iii) an Investment in a Relevant Entity by a Restricted Entity.
“Transfer” means, other than a Change of Control as set forth in Section 6.0 of the SPSA, (i) the assignment, delegation, or other transfer of Supplier’ s
rights or obligations under this Agreement, whether in one or a series of transactions, including, without limitation, any agreement subordinate or
supplemental hereto, without limitation, voluntarily or involuntarily, whether by merger, consolidation, dissolution, reorganization, bankruptcy,
insolvency proceeding, operation of law, or any other manner, or (ii) the assignment, delegation, or other transfer, voluntarily or involuntarily, whether by
merger, consolidation, dissolution, reorganization, bankruptcy, insolvency proceeding, operation of law, or any other manner, whether in one or a series
of transactions, of a business unit, enterprise or similar grouping of Supplier assets from which AT&T previously purchased or licensed RADCOM
Software from Supplier within the three (3) years immediately preceding the Transfer.
“Use” or “use” means any lawful operation or use of the Software and Documentation unless specifically excluded in this Agreement or an applicable
Order, including compilation, copying, modifying, linking, and executing all or part of the Software.
“Warranty Period” means, unless otherwise stated in the Order, [**] from the Network Implementation Date for the last project implemented in
AT&T’s Network.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.C
Appendix B

Description of Deliverables

Supplier shall provide the Deliverables in accordance with any Specifications set forth below.
Supplier shall provide the following Software and Services:
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
In connection with such Software and Services, Supplier shall provide to AT&T the following deliverables:
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.C
Appendix C

Price(s)

Supplier shall provide the Software and related Services, if any, including any applicable deliverables for the following prices:
_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Appendix D

Change Control Process

If either Party identifies the need for any change to the Services or Deliverables under this Agreement, the Parties shall proceed in accordance with the
Change Control Process set forth herein.
A. If AT&T is the Party submitting the request, AT&T shall complete Form A and describe in reasonable detail the proposed change and any effects on
other Work. Supplier shall strive to respond to such request as soon as reasonably practical, but no later than ten (10) working days. Supplier’s
response shall be in the form of Form B. Subsequent communication shall use Form A and Form B, respectively, until the Parties either agree upon
the terms pursuant to which the proposed change will be made, or agree that the proposed change will not be made and agree to close the proposed
Change Order. An agreement to proceed with the proposed change must be documented by using Form E.
B. If Supplier is the Party submitting the request, Supplier shall complete Form C and describe in reasonable detail the change it is proposing, and the
effects, if any, on other Specifications, schedule, and cost. AT&T shall strive to respond to such request as soon as reasonably practical, but no later
than ten (10) working days. AT&T’s response shall be in the form of Form D. Subsequent communication shall use Form C and Form D,
respectively, until the Parties either agree upon the terms pursuant to which the proposed change will be made, or agree that the proposed change will
not be made and agree to close the proposed Change Order. An agreement to proceed with the proposed change must be documented by using Form
E.
C. The rights and obligations of both Parties in connection with this Agreement shall not be changed until a proposed Change Order is agreed to by
executing Form E. Until both Parties have executed Form E, each Party shall continue to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement.
D. In the event Form E contains terms that are different than those set forth in this Agreement, the terms contained in Form E shall apply.
E. The Change Control Log, included as Form F, shall be used by the Parties to track and monitor all proposed changes.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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FORM A
AT&T PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: ______________
Date: _______________________
1.

Proposed Changes - [Identify the proposed change(s), including where the affected portions of this Agreement, and summarize them in
reasonable detail.]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change:
Date: ___________________

2.

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Work

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information

Attachments
Direct all Inquiries to AT&T’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ___________________________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Email: ____________________
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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FORM B
SUPPLIER REPLY TO AT&T PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: ______________
Date: _______________________
1.

Proposed Change(s) [Reiterate and summarize Supplier’s understanding of the proposed changes to the Work]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change [Indicate the date the change can be implemented.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Specifications Or Schedule [Indicate the impact on other Work, schedule of delivery,
and cost/budget, if any.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information

Direct all Inquiries to Supplier’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ___________________________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Email: ____________________
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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FORM C
SUPPLIER PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: ______________
Date: _______________________
1.

Proposed Change(s) - [Identify the proposed Changes to Work and describe them in reasonable detail.]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change:
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Work Or Schedule [Indicate the impact on other Work, schedule of delivery, and
cost/budget, if any.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information

Direct all Inquiries to Supplier’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ___________________________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Email: #____________________
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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FORM D
AT&T’S REPLY TO SUPPLIER’S PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: ______________
Date: _______________________
1.

Proposed Change(s) [Reiterate and summarize AT&T’s understanding of the proposed changes to the Work]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change [Indicate the proposed effective date of the change.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Work [Indicate the impact on other Work, schedule of delivery, and cost/budget, if any
AT&T expects may occur as a result of Supplier’s proposed change.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information [Indicate on what basis AT&T would be willing to
agree to Supplier’s proposed change order.]

Direct all Inquiries to AT&T’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ___________________________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Email #: ____________________
Proprietary and Confidential

This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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FORM E
CHANGE CONTROL APPROVAL
Change Order #: ______________
Date: _______________________
1.

Agreed Upon Change To Work: [Identify Work that will be changed.]

2.

Date Scope Change Effective:[State the date the change will be effective.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Describe Scope Change, including any Specifications: [Describe the agreed upon change in full detail.]

4.

Revised price, payment schedule, and delivery schedule, if any, of the proposed change: [State any changes to the original delivery
schedule, original price, and payment schedule.]

5.

Additional Terms and Conditions: [State any terms and conditions that apply to the proposed change.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties approve this Change Order No. ______ and incorporate it into Agreement No. _______. If the terms of this
Change Order are inconsistent with the terms of Agreement No. ______, the terms of this Change Order shall control.
[Insert Supplier’s Name]

AT&T SERVICES, INC.

By:
Printed Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Printed Name:
Title:
Date:

Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.C
FORM F
CHANGE CONTROL LOG
Change
Order
Number

Change Component

Priority
(High, Med., Low)

Description of
Change

Level of Effort

Comments

Status

Status Date

Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third-party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Appendix E

Agreement Regarding Non-Employment Status with AT&T

This Agreement (“Agreement”) dated _________________ is made by the individual named below (“I” or “me”), who is engaged to perform work at
AT&T Services, Inc., as a worker of ________ (“Supplier”) under the terms and conditions of the agreement named below, between Supplier and AT&T.
I.

Status
I have been hired by Supplier as a full or part-time employee, a temporary worker, or as an independent contractor and Supplier will be providing
services to AT&T Company. I understand that no employment relationship between me and the AT&T Company is created by this Agreement or by
my agreement with the Supplier to provide services to Supplier or AT&T Company.
I acknowledge and agree that Supplier shall be solely responsible for all payments to me including payment of compensation, premium payments for
overtime, bonuses, and other incentive payments, if any, and payments for vacation, holiday, sick days or other personal days, if any. Also, I will be
solely responsible for negotiating and agreeing with Supplier for participation in any Supplier benefit plans, including any pension, savings, or health
and welfare plan. Unless AT&T Company expressly provides otherwise in writing, I further understand and agree that I am not eligible to participate
in or receive any benefits under the terms of the AT&T Company’s pension plans, savings plans, health plans, vision plans, disability plans, life
insurance plans, stock option plans, or any employee benefit plan sponsored by the AT&T Company for any period of time. I understand and agree
that the cash payments and benefits which I receive from Supplier shall represent the sole compensation to which I am entitled, and that Supplier will
be solely responsible for all matters relating to compliance with all employer tax obligations arising from the performance of Services in connection
with this Agreement. These tax obligations include but are not limited to the obligation to withhold employee taxes under local, state and federal
income tax laws, unemployment compensation insurance tax laws, state disability insurance tax laws, social security and Medicare tax laws, and all
other payroll tax laws or similar laws.

II. Work Policies and Rules
1.

I understand that it is my responsibility to ensure that my personal conduct and comments in the workplace are ethical, evidence a high degree of
integrity, and support a professional environment free of (i) inappropriate behavior, language, joke or actions; (ii) harassment or biased,
demeaning, offensive, derogatory behavior to others based upon race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, sexual orientation, marital status,
veteran’s status or disability; or (iii) violence. I further agree to refrain from (i) words or conduct that is threatening, intimidating and/or
disrespectful of others, (ii) bringing a firearm or other weapon on any AT&T premises; and (iii) using data services on a wireless device, such as
texting or accessing the mobile web or other distracting activities, while driving to or from AT&T’s premises or while operating a vehicle in the
performance of any work for AT&T.

2.

If AT&T Company provides me access to its computer systems, I agree (a) to use such systems in a professional manner, (b) to use such systems
only for business purposes and solely for the purposes of performing under the agreement named below, (c) to use such systems in compliance
with AT&T Company’s applicable standards and guidelines for computer systems use, and (d) to use password devices, if applicable and if
requested by AT&T Company. Without limiting the foregoing, AT&T Company property, including but not limited to Intranet and Internet
services, shall not be used for personal purposes or for any purpose which is not directly related to the business which is the subject of the
agreement named below. I acknowledge and agree that I must have a valid AT&T Company business reason to access the Intranet and/ or the
Internet from within AT&T Company’s private corporate network.

III. Administrative Terms
1.

This Agreement shall be effective as of the date executed below, and shall remain in effect notwithstanding my termination of employment with
Supplier or termination of my work at AT&T Company.

2.

In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable, then such invalid or enforceable provisions shall be
severed, and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law.
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Agreement No. 319103.C
I have read, understand and agree to abide by this Agreement.
By: ____________________________________________
Date: _______________________________
Print Name: ______________________________________
AT&T User Id (if assigned) ______________
Address: ________________________________________________________________________________
Agreement No. between Supplier and AT&T: ____________
Effective Date: ________________________
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Appendix K Offshore Locations
Country(ies) where services are authorized by AT&T to be
performed (physical location address is also required if the
Services involve Information Technology-related work or if a City(ies) where services will
“virtual” or “work-from-home” address is authorized)
be performed for AT&T
24 Raoul Wallenberg Street,
Israel
Tel Aviv
Tel-Aviv 6971920
Alameda Mamore,503, 13º
ANDAR - CJ. 133
Brazil
Alphaville
Alphaville – Barueri/SP
Level 4, Rectangle 1,
Commercial Complex D-4,
India
New Delhi
Saket, New Delhi - 110017

Services to be performed at
approved Physical Location
Research & Development
(R&D), PS, M&S

Name of Supplier / Supplier
Affiliate, and/or
Subcontractor performing
the services
Radcom

PS, M&S

Radcom

PS, M&S

Radcom

Supplier’s work activities in Brazil and India involving providing support activities for AT&T and/or AT&T customers related to Supplier
products, and/or software at the Offshore Locations specified in Appendix K is permitted conditioned upon Supplier allowing AT&T to perform
the following additional monitoring on an as needed basis regarding Supplier’s obligations under the Agreement at the specified locations as
determined necessary by AT&T including the following:
1. responding to written audits submitted by AT&T regarding the work of Supplier and Subcontractors
2. providing documents requested by AT&T regarding the work of Supplier and Subcontractors
3. allowing physical inspections of the locations where work of Supplier and Subcontractors is performed
In the event that AT&T identifies a security issue involving a Supplier Entity's activities that is deemed by AT&T to be of a critical nature, then
AT&T has the right to immediately terminate Supplier’s work and any customer specific activities as well as access to the support systems and
Information, as well as any other remedies included in this Offshore Work section.
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APPENDIX L
Network Implementation Dates
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]
[**]

[**]
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Appendix M – Escrow Services
[**]
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Agreement No. 319103.C
Appendix N – Dedicated Service Individuals Matrix
The Parties agree that for any new Radcom Software, a new worksheet shall be completed and added to this matrix no later than
contemporaneously with Supplier’s deposit of the corresponding Deposit Materials.
Dedicated Service
Individuals

Agreed Service
Location(s)

Agreed Consideration
(Monthly Amount)

Agreed Completion Consideration
(Annual Amount)

Other Notes
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Agreement No. 319103.C
Appendix O – Form of Three Party Escrow
[**]

Page 58 of 63

f20f2018ex4-7_radcom.htm

Form Type: EX-4.7

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 59
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Agreement No. 319103.C
Exhibit A
[**]
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Exhibit B
[**]
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Exhibit C
[**]
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Exhibit D
[**]
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Exhibit E
[**]
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EXHIBIT 4.8
Agreement No. 319103.S.001
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL
AND (ii) WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO RADCOM LTD. IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. OMISSIONS ARE
DENOTED IN BRACKETS THROUGHOUT THIS EXHIBIT.

Supplement Agreement
No. 319103.S.001
Between
RADCOM Ltd.
And
AT&T Services, Inc.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Overview
This Supplement Agreement is pursuant to and hereby incorporates by reference the terms and conditions of Software and Professional Services
Agreement No. 319103.C dated, March 28, 2019, (the “SPSA”), except to the extent modified or supplemented below. Any such modifications or
supplements are for the purpose of this Supplement Agreement only and shall not affect the SPSA or any other agreement. In the event of a conflict
between this Supplement Agreement and the SPSA, the terms and conditions of this Supplement Agreement will govern for the purpose of this
Supplement Agreement only.
Preamble
This Supplement Agreement No. 319103.S.001 (this “Supplement Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the last date signed by a Party (the
“Effective Date”) by and between RADCOM Ltd., an Israeli company incorporated under the laws of Israel, with its office at 24 Raoul Wallenberg
Street, Tel Aviv, Israel (“Supplier”), and AT&T Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AT&T”), each of which may be referred to in the singular as a
“Party” or in the plural as the “Parties,” for RADCOM Software as defined in the Enterprise Software License Agreement No. 12639.C (the “ESLA”).
Capitalized terms used herein but not defined within the body of this Supplement Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Section 2.0 –
Definitions or in the RADCOM Agreements, as defined in the SPSA.
AT&T and Supplier’s reseller [**] entered into [**] (hereafter collectively referred to as the “[**] Agreements”).
The RADCOM Software license terms and conditions for this Supplement Agreement shall be governed by the ESLA.
1.0

Scope of Agreement
1.1

Deliverables

Supplier shall provide to AT&T the Deliverables, as defined in the SPSA and as described in this Agreement in Exhibits X, Y and Z, subject to
the terms and conditions of this Supplement Agreement and as requested in Orders submitted to Supplier by AT&T all of which shall be
compatible with the Supplier’s Software previously delivered to AT&T as described under the [**] Agreements.
1.2

Pricing

Supplier shall provide the Deliverables at the applicable prices set forth in Exhibit B – Fees. If Supplier at any time makes a general price
decrease, then Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T in writing and extend such decrease to AT&T effective on the date of such general price
decrease. Supplier shall strive to reduce its costs and corresponding prices for Deliverables by [**] each calendar year, through the use of
improved processes, supply chain economies and other cost reduction methods.
1.3

Orders

AT&T may, at AT&T’s election, submit Orders for Deliverables, including RADCOM Software, to Supplier pursuant to this Supplement
Agreement (a) in a form agreed to by the Parties or (b) via AT&T’s electronic ordering system. Subject to agreement on Delivery Dates,
Supplier shall accept all Orders submitted to it by AT&T for Deliverables. Subject to Section 3.1 of Exhibit A (the “SOW”) and the ESLA, the
terms of this Supplement Agreement shall govern all Orders for Deliverables that AT&T may place with Supplier. The Parties may vary or
supplement the terms of this Supplement Agreement in an Order through Special Terms and Conditions, which shall take precedence over any
inconsistent term of this Supplement Agreement and shall only apply to such Order.
1.4

Non-Commitment; Non-Exclusivity

This Supplement Agreement does not grant Supplier any right or privilege to provide to AT&T any Deliverables of the type described in or
purchased under this Supplement Agreement, except as may be set forth in an Order. AT&T may contract with third parties for materials or
services comparable to those described in or purchased under this Supplement Agreement, and AT&T may itself perform such services.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
1.5

Affiliates

Affiliates of AT&T may transact business under this Supplement Agreement and place Orders with Supplier that incorporate the terms and
conditions of this Supplement Agreement. References to “AT&T” herein are deemed to refer to an Affiliate when an Affiliate places an Order
with Supplier under this Supplement Agreement, or when AT&T places an Order on behalf of an Affiliate, or when an Affiliate otherwise
transacts business with Supplier under this Supplement Agreement. To the extent that the pricing under this Supplement Agreement or any Order
provides for discounts of any sort based on volume of purchases by AT&T (including percentage discounts and tier-based pricing) or requires a
certain volume of purchases by AT&T, Supplier shall aggregate the amount of all purchases by AT&T and its Affiliates for purposes of
determining any such discounts and volumes. An Affiliate is solely responsible for its own obligations, including all charges incurred in
connection with such an Order or transaction.
1.6

Term of Supplement Agreement

a.

This Supplement Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date and shall continue until March 31, 2022, unless earlier terminated as set
forth herein (the “Contract Period”). For avoidance of doubt, the Licenses granted in the ESLA shall survive any termination or expiration of
this Supplement Agreement. This Supplement Agreement may be renewed by AT&T on a yearly basis, for up to two consecutive years (the
“Renewal Period”), upon completion of the Contract Period, with at least [**] days written notice from AT&T to Supplier prior to the
expiration of the Contract Period or the first year of the Renewal Period, as applicable. This Supplement Agreement may be terminated by
AT&T upon [**] days written notice from AT&T to Supplier, with or without cause. The Contract Period plus the first or both of the two
consecutive renewal years, as applicable, is the “Term”.

b.

Any Order in effect on the date when this Supplement Agreement expires or is terminated shall continue in effect until such Order either (i)
expires by its own terms or (ii) is separately terminated, prior to its own scheduled expiration, as provided in this Supplement Agreement.
The terms and conditions of this Supplement Agreement shall continue to apply to such Order as if this Supplement Agreement were still in
effect. Likewise, termination or expiration of the SPSA shall not affect the obligations of either Party to the other Party pursuant to this
Supplement Agreement, and the terms and conditions of the SPSA shall continue to apply to this Supplement Agreement as if the SPSA
were still in effect.

1.7

Entire Agreement

This Supplement Agreement, including all appendices, exhibits, attachments and documents incorporated by reference, constitutes the final,
complete, and exclusive expression of the Parties’ agreement on the matters contained in this Supplement Agreement. The terms of this
Supplement Agreement and an applicable Order, together with the SPSA and other RADCOM Agreements, shall govern in lieu of all other preprinted, standardized or other provisions that may otherwise appear in any other paper or electronic record of either Party (such as standard terms
on order or acknowledgment forms, advance shipping notices, invoices, time sheets, and packages, shrink wrap terms, and click wrap terms). All
prior written and oral negotiations and agreements, and all contemporaneous oral negotiations and agreements, between the Parties on the
matters contained in this Supplement Agreement are expressly merged into and superseded by this Supplement Agreement, except for the SPSA,
RADCOM Agreements and any Orders placed pursuant thereto. The Parties do not intend that the provisions of this Supplement Agreement be
explained, supplemented, or qualified through evidence of trade usage or any prior course of dealings or any course of performance under any
prior agreement. In entering into this Supplement Agreement, neither Party has relied upon any statement, estimate, forecast, projection,
representation, warranty, action or agreement of the other Party except for those expressly contained in this Supplement Agreement. There are no
conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this Supplement Agreement other than any expressly stated in this Supplement Agreement.
1.8

Transmission of Original Signatures and Executing Multiple Counterparts

Original signatures transmitted and received via facsimile or other electronic transmission of a scanned document (e.g., pdf or similar format) are
true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind the Parties to the same extent as that of an original signature. This Supplement
Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to constitute an original but all of which together shall
constitute only one document.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Party has caused this Supplement Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized representative.
RADCOM Ltd.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Yaron Ravkaie
Yaron Ravkaei
CEO
March 28, 2019

AT&T Services, Inc.
/s/ Amir Hai
Amir Hai
CFO

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Matt Ritter
Matt Ritter
Sr. Sourcing Manager
3/29/2019

Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Exhibit A: Scope of Work (SOW): [**]
[**]
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Exhibit B: Fees
[**]
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Exhibit C - [**]
[**]
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Exhibit M - Change Order Control Process and Forms
Change Control Process
Prior to Supplier processing any Change Order from AT&T, the Change Order in question shall be approved for both content and cost by AT&T in
writing, by following the Change Control Process as outlined below, and Section 6.0 in Exhibit A.
If either Party identifies the need for any change to the Specifications (“Change Control”) under this Agreement, including any Order, the Parties shall
proceed in accordance with the change Control Process set forth herein.
A. If AT&T is the Party submitting the request, AT&T shall complete Form A and describe in reasonable detail the change it is proposing, and any
effects on other Specifications or on the delivery schedule of which it is aware. Supplier shall strive to respond to such request as soon as reasonably
practical, but no later than ten (10) working days. Supplier’s response shall be using Form B. Subsequent communication shall use Form A and Form
B, respectively, until the Parties either agree upon the terms pursuant to which the proposed change will be made, or agree that the proposed change
will not be made and agree to close the proposed Change Order. An agreement to proceed with the proposed change must be documented by using
Form E.
B. If Supplier is the Party submitting the request, Supplier shall complete Form C and describe in reasonable detail the change it is proposing, and the
effects, if any, on other Specifications, schedule, and cost. AT&T shall strive to respond to such request as soon as reasonably practical, but no later
than ten (10) working days. AT&T’s response shall be using Form D. Subsequent communication shall use Form C and Form D, respectively, until
the Parties either agree upon the terms pursuant to which the proposed change will be made, or agree that the proposed change will not be made and
agree to close the proposed Change Order. An agreement to proceed with the proposed change must be documented by using Form E.
C. The rights and obligations of both Parties in connection with this Agreement, including any Order, shall not be changed, until a proposed Change
Order is agreed to by executing Form E. Until both Parties have executed Form E, each Party shall continue to perform its obligations in accordance
with the Agreement and the Order(s) placed under the Agreement.
D. In the event Form E contains terms that are different than those set forth in the Agreement or the Order(s), the terms contained in Form E shall apply.
E. The Change Control Log, included as Form F, shall be used by the Parties to track and monitor all proposed changes.
F. The standard AT&T feature request form will be used to initiate a request for new features.
8
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
FORM A
AT&T PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: __________________
Date: _________________
1.

Affected Order(s): ___________________

Proposed Specification Changes - [Identify the Specification(s), including where the Specification(s) is described in the Order, and summarize
in reasonable detail the proposed changes to such Specification(s).]

Requester’s name:
2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change:
Date: ________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Specifications Or Schedule

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information:

Identify if the requested change is part of contractual obligation, in other words, chargeable or non-chargeable, and reason why.
Direct all Inquiries to AT&T’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ______________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Fax #: ____________________

Needs to be reviewed and approved by AT&T Tech Arch and/or AT&T Labs.
9
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
FORM B
SUPPLIER REPLY TO AT&T PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: __________________
Date: _________________

Affected Order(s): ___________________

1.

Proposed Specification Changes [Reiterate and summarize Supplier’s understanding of the proposed changes to the Specification(s)]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change [Indicate the date the change can be implemented.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Specifications Or Schedule [Indicate the impact on other Specifications, schedule of
delivery, and cost/budget, if any.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information

Chargeable Items: Yes / No
Justification:
Proposed Cost (if chargeable)
Direct all Inquiries to Supplier’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ______________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Fax #: ____________________

Shall be reviewed and approved by AT&T Tech Arch and/or AT&T Labs.
10
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
FORM C
SUPPLIER PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: __________________
Date: _________________
1.

Affected Order(s): ___________________

Proposed Specification Changes - [Identify the proposed Specification(s) and describe in reasonable detail the proposed changes.]
Requester’s Name:

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change:
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Specifications Or Schedule [Indicate the impact on other Specifications, schedule of
delivery, and cost/budget, if any.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information

Identify if the requested change is part of contractual obligation, in other words, chargeable or non-chargeable, and reason why.
Proposed Cost (if chargeable):
If delivered without approval, AT&T is not liable to pay.
Direct all Inquiries to Supplier’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ______________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Fax #: ____________________

Shall be reviewed and approved by AT&T Tech Arch and/or AT&T Labs.
11

f20f2018ex4-8_radcom.htm

Form Type: EX-4.8

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 12
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Agreement No. 319103.S.001
FORM D
AT&T’S REPLY TO SUPPLIER’S PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER
Change Order #: __________________
Date: _________________

Affected Order(s): ___________________

1.

Proposed Specification Changes [Reiterate and summarize AT&T’s understanding of the proposed changes to the Specification(s)]

2.

Effective Date For Proposed Change [Indicate the proposed effective date of the change.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Summarize Expected Or Possible Impact On Other Specifications Or Schedule [Indicate the impact on other Specifications, schedule of
delivery, and cost/budget, if any AT&T expects may occur as a result of Supplier’s proposed change.]

4.

Specify Any Key Assumptions, Additional Terms, Or Other Important Information [Indicate on what basis AT&T would be willing to
agree to Supplier’s proposed change order.]
Accept / Reject, Chargeability, and reason

Direct all Inquiries to AT&T’s Project Manager:
___________________________________________________________
Submitted by: ______________________________________
Telephone #: _____________________

Fax #: ____________________

Shall be reviewed and approved by AT&T Tech Arch and/or AT&T Labs.
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FORM E
CHANGE CONTROL APPROVAL
Change Order #: __________________
Date: _________________

Affected Order(s): ___________________

1.

Agreed Upon Change To Specification(s): [Identify Specification that will be changed.]

2.

Date Scope Change Effective: [State the date the change will be effective.]
Date: ___________________

3.

Describe Scope Change, including any Specifications: [Describe the agreed upon change in full detail.]

4.

Revised price, payment schedule, and delivery schedule, if any, of the proposed change: [State any changes to the original delivery
schedule, original price, and payment schedule.]

5.

Additional Terms and Conditions: [State any terms and conditions that apply to the proposed change.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties approve this Change Order No. ______ and incorporate it into Order No. _______. If the terms of this
Change Order are inconsistent with the terms of Order No. ______ or the Agreement, the terms of this Change Order shall control.
Shall be reviewed and approved by AT&T Tech Arch and/or AT&T Labs.
RADCOM Ltd.

AT&T SERVICES, INC.

By:
Printed Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Printed Name:
Title:
Date:
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
FORM F
CHANGE CONTROL LOG
Change
Order
Number

Change Component

Priority
(High, Med., Low)

Description of
Change

14

Level of Effort

Comments

Status

Status Date
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Exhibit O
AT&T Supplier Information Security Requirements (SISR)
AT&T Supplier Information Security Requirements (SISR) under Section 7.0 of the SPSA shall apply at no additional cost to AT&T.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Exhibit Q - Software Enhancement Notification Form (SEN)
SOFTWARE ENHANCEMENT NOTIFICATION FORM
Revision # ____________
Supplier Name: _________________________________________________________
Product Name: _________________________________________________________
Software Release (Enhancement) No.: _________________________________________
Software Features Added/Removed from previous releases (Please list any patches included);
_______________________________________________________________________
Software Compatibility (List all previous releases compatible or incompatible with this release):
_______________________________________________________________________
Hardware Compatibility (List all new or additional Hardware requirements or incompatibilities):
_______________________________________________________________________
List applicable Documentation:
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
Date Available to AT&T Labs for testing (including Documentation): __________________
Date of anticipated First Office Application (FOA): ________________________________
Date of General Availability (GA): _____________________________________________
Supplier Contact Name: ________________________________________
Telephone: ________________________________
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:
RADCOM Ltd.

AT&T Services, Inc.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:
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Exhibit X
[**]
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001
Exhibit Y
[**]
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Exhibit Z - Transfer of Responsibility
[**]
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EXHIBIT 4.9
Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THIS EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL
AND (ii) WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO RADCOM LTD. IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. OMISSIONS ARE
DENOTED IN BRACKETS THROUGHOUT THIS EXHIBIT.

Supplemental Support & Maintenance
No. 319103.S.001.S.002
Between
RADCOM Ltd.
And
AT&T Services, Inc.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
Overview
This Agreement is pursuant to and hereby incorporates by reference the terms and conditions of the Software and Professional Services Agreement No.
319103.C dated March 29, 2019 (“SPSA”) and Supplement Agreement No. 319103.S.001 dated March 29, 2019 (“Material Supplement”), except to the
extent modified or supplemented below. Any such modifications or supplements are for the purpose of this Agreement only and shall not affect the SPSA
or any other RADCOM Agreements as defined in the SPSA. In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and the SPSA and any other RADCOM
Agreements, the terms and conditions of this Agreement will govern for the purpose of this Agreement only.
Preamble
This Supplement Support and Maintenance Agreement No. 319103.S.002 (this “Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the last date signed by a
Party (the “Effective Date”) by and between RADCOM Ltd., an Israeli company incorporated under the laws of Israel (“Supplier”), and AT&T Services,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AT&T”), each of which may be referred to in the singular as a “Party” or in the plural as the “Parties.” Capitalized terms
used herein but not defined within the body of this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the SPSA and other RADCOM Agreements
which will supersede any identical term in Appendix A Definitions.
1.0

Scope of Agreement
1.1

Deliverables

Supplier shall provide to AT&T the Deliverables described in Appendix B Description of Deliverables subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement as requested in Orders submitted to Supplier by AT&T.
1.2

Pricing

Supplier shall provide the Deliverables at the applicable prices set forth in Appendix C Price(s). If Supplier at any time makes a general price
decrease, then Supplier shall promptly notify AT&T in writing and extend such decrease to AT&T effective on the date of such general price
decrease. Supplier shall strive to reduce its costs and corresponding prices for Deliverables by [**] each calendar year, through the use of
improved processes, supply chain economies and other cost reduction methods.
1.3

Orders

AT&T may, at AT&T’s election, submit Orders for Deliverables to Supplier pursuant to this Agreement (a) in a form agreed to by the Parties or
(b) via AT&T’s electronic ordering system. Subject to agreement on Delivery Dates, Supplier shall accept all Orders submitted to it by AT&T
for Deliverables. Subject to Section 1.7, the terms of this Agreement govern all Orders for Deliverables that AT&T may place with Supplier. The
Parties may vary or supplement the terms of this Agreement in an Order through Special Terms and Conditions, which shall take precedence
over any inconsistent term of this Agreement and shall only apply to such Order. Supplier shall not reject any Order for Deliverables described in
Appendix B unless the Order includes:
1.

Delivery Dates to which Supplier has not agreed, prior to the placement of the Order, and which Supplier is unable to meet;

2.

Special terms and conditions to which Supplier has not agreed, prior to placement of the Order, and which are objectionable to
Supplier; or

3.

prices contrary to those established under this Supplemental Agreement.

If Supplier rejects an Order, Supplier shall give AT&T written notice stating Supplier’s reasons for rejecting the Order and the modifications, if
any, that would make the Order acceptable to Supplier. Supplier shall furnish Material that conforms materially to the Specifications established
under this Agreement. If Supplier is unable to tender conforming Material, Supplier shall not tender non-conforming Material; the Parties agree
that non-conforming tenders are not an accommodation to AT&T. All Delivery Dates are firm, and time is of the essence.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
1.4

Non-Commitment; Non-Exclusivity

This Agreement does not grant Supplier any right or privilege to provide to AT&T any Deliverables of the type described in or purchased under
this Agreement, except as may be set forth in an Order. AT&T may contract with third parties for materials or services comparable to those
described in or purchased under this Agreement, and AT&T may itself perform such services.
1.5

Affiliates

Affiliates of AT&T may transact business under this Agreement and place Orders with Supplier that incorporate the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. References to “AT&T” herein are deemed to refer to an Affiliate when an Affiliate places an Order with Supplier under this
Agreement, or when AT&T places an Order on behalf of an Affiliate, or when an Affiliate otherwise transacts business with Supplier under this
Agreement. To the extent that the pricing under this Agreement or any Order provides for discounts of any sort based on volume of purchases by
AT&T (including percentage discounts and tier-based pricing) or requires a certain volume of purchases by AT&T, Supplier shall aggregate the
amount of all purchases by AT&T and its Affiliates for purposes of determining any such discounts and volumes. An Affiliate is solely
responsible for its own obligations, including all charges incurred in connection with such an Order or transaction.
1.6

Term of Agreement

a.

This Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date and shall continue until March 31, 2022, unless earlier terminated as set forth
herein.

b.

Any Order in effect on the date when this Agreement expires or is terminated shall continue in effect until such Order either (i) expires by its
own terms or (ii) is separately terminated, prior to its own scheduled expiration, as provided in this Agreement. The terms and conditions of
this Agreement shall continue to apply to such Order as if this Agreement were still in effect. Likewise, termination or expiration of the
SPSA shall not affect the obligations of either Party to the other Party pursuant to this Agreement, and the terms and conditions of the SPSA
shall continue to apply to this Agreement as if the SPSA were still in effect.

1.7

Entire Agreement

This Agreement, including all appendices, exhibits, attachments and documents incorporated by reference, constitutes the final, complete, and
exclusive expression of the Parties’ agreement on the matters contained in this Agreement. The terms of this Agreement and an applicable Order,
together with the SPSA and all other RADCOM Agreements, shall govern in lieu of all other pre-printed, standardized or other provisions that
may otherwise appear in any other paper or electronic record of either Party (such as standard terms on order or acknowledgment forms, advance
shipping notices, invoices, time sheets, and packages, shrink wrap terms, and click wrap terms). All prior written and oral negotiations and
agreements, and all contemporaneous oral negotiations and agreements, between the Parties on the matters contained in this Agreement are
expressly merged into and superseded by this Agreement, except for the SPSA and other RADCOM Agreements and any Orders placed pursuant
thereto. The Parties do not intend that the provisions of this Agreement be explained, supplemented, or qualified through evidence of trade usage
or any prior course of dealings or any course of performance under any prior agreement. In entering into this Agreement, neither Party has relied
upon any statement, estimate, forecast, projection, representation, warranty, action or agreement of the other Party except for those expressly
contained in this Agreement. There are no conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement other than any expressly stated in this
Agreement. In the event of any conflict in terms between this Agreement, Enterprise License Agreement No. 12639.C (the “ESLA”), an Order,
the Material Supplement, or the SPSA, the Parties agree to follow the following order of precedence: the terms set forth in the ESLA, the terms
set forth in an Order, the terms of this Agreement, then the terms of the Material Supplement, and then the terms of the SPSA. Notwithstanding
the aforementioned order of precedence, any Updates, Upgrades, Materials, Releases, deliverables or other output provided in connection with
the Support and Maintenance Services shall be governed in accordance with the ESLA. Acceptance of Material or Services, payment or any
inaction by AT&T shall not constitute AT&T’s consent to or acceptance of any additional or different terms from those stated in this Agreement,
except for terms in an Order placed by AT&T and signed by both Parties. Estimates furnished by AT&T and Supplier are for planning purposes
only and shall not constitute commitments. Supplier and AT&T covenant never to contend otherwise.
1.8

Transmission of Original Signatures and Executing Multiple Counterparts

Original signatures transmitted and received via facsimile or other electronic transmission of a scanned document (e.g., pdf or similar format) are
true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind the Parties to the same extent as that of an original signature. This Agreement
may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to constitute an original but all of which together shall constitute only
one document.
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative.
RADCOM Ltd.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Yaron Ravkaie
Yaron Ravkaei
CEO
March 28, 2019

AT&T Services, Inc.
/s/ Amir Hai
Amir Hai
CFO

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Paula G. Waldron
Paula G. Waldron
Senior Sourcing Manager
March 29, 2019

Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
4

f20f2018ex4-9_radcom.htm

Form Type: EX-4.9

Edgar Agents LLC

RADCOM LTD.

Page 5
04/18/2019 06:05 AM

Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
Appendix A

Definitions

[**]
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Agreement No. 319103.S.001.S.002
Appendix B

[**]

[**]
Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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Appendix C

Price(s)

[**]

Proprietary and Confidential
This Agreement is not for use or disclosure outside of AT&T, its Affiliates, and its and their third party representatives, and Supplier except under written
agreement by the contracting Parties.
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EXHIBIT 8.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

RADCOM, Inc.

New Jersey

RADCOM Investments (96) Ltd.

Israel

RADCOM do Brasil Comercio, Importacao E Exportacao Ltda.

Brazil

RADCOM Trading India Private Limited

India
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EXHIBIT 12.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Yaron Ravkaie, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the company and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: April 18, 2019

/s/ Yaron Ravkaie
Yaron Ravkaie
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 12.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Amir Hai, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the company and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the
annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: April 18, 2019

/s/ Amir Hai
Amir Hai
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 13.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Yaron Ravkaie, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: April 18, 2019

/s/ Yaron Ravkaie
Yaron Ravkaie
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 13.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of RADCOM Ltd. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Amir Hai, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: April 18, 2019

/s/ Amir Hai
Amir Hai
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 15.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8, (File No. 333-111931, No. 333-123981, No. 333190207, No. 333-195465 No. 333-203087, No. 333-211628 and No. 333-215591) pertaining to the Radcom Ltd. 2003 Share Option Plan and the Radcom
Ltd. 2013 Share Option Plan, and Form F-3 (File No. 333-170512 and No. 333-189111) of Radcom Ltd., and in the related prospectus, of our reports
dated April 18, 2019 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Radcom Ltd. and its subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of Radcom Ltd. and its subsidiaries included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Tel-Aviv, Israel
April 18, 2019

/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY and KASIERER
A Member of Ernst & Young Global

